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1. THE MANAGEMENT’S ADDRESS 
  

1.1. Board of Directors Chairperson's address  

In 2015, the company made considerable work on corporate governance improvement, 

ensuring the transparency of its activities, as well as the quality of service and communication of the 

process of working with clients. Openness and transparency in the interaction with shareholders, 

partners, customers, employees and the state institutions are our top priorities. 

In 2015 Kazpost JSC in order to improve the efficiency and quality of service, introduced new 

types of postal, financial and agency services with the use of innovative IT-technologies. 

Looking back in 2014, when the transformation program was launched for a group of Samruk-

Kazyna JSC's companies. Kazpost JSC has become one of the pilot companies, which were to 

become pioneers in the introduction of new performance standards. To date, the company has 

successfully passed all the stages of preparing, diagnosis and business process design, has been 

generated list and plan the implementation of priority projects. And now the pace and the spirit the 

Company's employees took up this initiative inspire confidence in the success of all the key ideas of 

this program. 

Financial and operating achievements of the Company are good, despite the difficulties 

Company and the industry as a whole had this year. 

I'm sure, a great practical experience of the Company's employees and their energy will help 

to overcome any difficulties, will continue to serve for the good of our country, make the most 

advanced services provided throughout a country familiar to Kazakhstan people.  

On behalf of the Board of Directors I would like to thank the management and employees of 

the Company for their dedication to their work and high professionalism.  

  

1.2. Management Board Chairperson’s address 

We would like to present our Annual Report of Kazpost JSC for 2015. This is our fifth annual 

public report. We are the only national and designated postal operator and one of the largest 

Kazakhstani companies which provides services to the population throughout the country and gives 

a permanent job for more than 22 thousand people. 

During the year, significant changes have occurred - we have successfully completed stage 2 

of the Transformation Program that contribute to the development of our Company, taking into 

account the market and economic changes. 

Transformation program is primarily aimed to change consciousness of people and postal 

processes with traditional services. A major challenge facing us is to reach the high qualitative and 

quantitative level of postal traffic with the correct use of fast-growing e-commerce market. 

During the reporting year we have updated and supplemented some company's services and 

launched entirely new initiative - redial using stationary phone and sms-notification about delivery 

of mail items, sms-notification on accrual of funds, as well as reporting on the current accounts of 

pensioners and beneficiaries, automated postal station (postamats) across the country, robots and 

applications to provide certain information to customers, etc. A national free and publicly available 

e-mail (post.kz) was designed. Launch of the National e-mail has allowed us to expand the range of 

online services, as well as simplify the process of delivery. This platform is an analogue to 

subscriber mailboxes in electronic form and can deliver important letters, notices, contracts, 

projects, etc. between public and commercial organizations, and the population of the country. 
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Significant and large-scale projects of the past year include the opening of the first 

supermarket of parcels in CIS - this is a new format of self-service center, which is divided into two 

areas: receipt and sending of parcels within RK. It is worth noting that the supermarket of parcels 

reduces customer time for sending and receipt of parcels, as well as optimizes production costs of 

the company. 

One of the main advantages of our company is the availability of offices in the most remote 

areas of the country, while many second-tier banks close their offices due to low profitability of 

branches. These circumstances will help our offices to become a center of economic activity in rural 

areas, and we will make every effort to do this. During the reporting period we created free Internet 

access points that allow the villagers not only enjoy free access to the Internet, but also organize a 

video conference with the counseling office of the regional branch of "Nur Otan" party and Akim of 

the city/region. This makes it possible to increase the coverage of the citizens, to consider increased 

number of problematic issues, to inform about the activities of state bodies, operation of 

parliamentary faction, anti-crisis measures taken by the state. The initiative was launched in the 

framework of the Company's transformation. Establishment of a free access Internet point helps 

Kazpost JSC to perform its social mission by providing the opportunity to develop and keep pace 

with the times to the population of remote localities. 

One of the strategic priorities of Kazpost JSC is the company's social responsibility to 

employees.  

Our company has more than 16 thousand production staff units. Realizing the responsibility to 

employees, 2015 was declared as the Year of the postman. 

All the initiatives planned that will contribute to improvement of working conditions: health 

insurance, new uniforms, gadgets and devices to reduce the time spent on paper procedures, new 

sorting line, have been implemented and made available. 

It is important for us that each employee aware of their professional and personal 

responsibility, and actively participated in the processes of Company's transformation. 

Undoubtedly, a key role in this process is played by all employees of Kazpost JSC, as 

effectively working team of associates is the key to the business success of the Company.I would 

like to thank the shareholders and partners for their confidence in the team for the efficient and 

professional work and our contribution to Company's development. 
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2. ACHIEVEMENTS AND EVENTS, FACTS AND FIGURES 
  

2.1. Key events 

The previous year was notable for Kazpost JSC with a number of highlights in various areas, 

including on issues related to the opening of new services, optimization of production processes, 

implementation of the transformation program, creation of Internet services, improvement of 

services quality, loyal interrelation with clients, public, social projects and others. 

The following schedule of major events in 2015 shows the major corporate events which 

impacted on our company's activities in the reporting period. 

  

Major achievements and developments over 2015 

      

No 
 

Event Period 

1.  

          

       

2016 - was declared as the Year of the postman. January 

2.  

          

       

Kazpost JSC refused from the use of paper forms (Form 116) when receiving 

parcels. Client companies no longer need to fill out forms in person they just 

shall provide identification to the operator and their contact phone number.  

January 

3.  

          

       

Within the framework of the project "Establishment of own network of 

postamats" we purchased and installed 89 postamats in all major cities of 

Kazakhstan, the network of postamats has expanded from 18 to 107 units. 

January 

4.  

          

       

GPS trackers were installed on 898 units of Kazpost JSC's vehicles for satellite 

tracking of cargo. 
January 

5.  

          

       

In order to optimize costs and increase the environmental component of 

activities the cylinder equipment was installed on 320 units of Kazpost JSC's 

vehicles. 

January 

6.  

          

       

In the cities of Aktobe, Atyrau, Aktau, Uralsk, Kyzylorda, Taldykorgan, Taraz 

the modernized post offices working around the clock with a self-service 

«Post24» area was opened. 

February 

7.  

          

       

A project "Internet access point" was launched in the remote settlements, which 

opens the possibility of the villagers enjoy free access to the Internet. The 

offices also have designated areas with facilities for video-conferencing with 

the counseling office of the regional branch of "Nur Otan" party. 

February 

8.  

          

       

Implementation of a new modern format of subscriptions to periodicals via the 

Internet. Internet subscription is available on www.postmarket.kz web-site, 

which was launched in the framework of the corporate transformation program. 

February 

9.  

          

       

Express money transfers within Kazakhstan «Salem, KZT» was launched 

allowing quickly sending and receipt of cash in local currency at the offices of 

Kazpost JSC. In addition to advantageous rates «Salem, KZT» also has a high 

speed of transfer - 1 minute 

March 

10.  

           

Opening of a new service for car owners: information on existing penalties and 

traffic rules violations, as well as the ability of their repayment can be obtained 

May 
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  at any branch of Kazpost JSC. 

11.  

           

  

Introduction of a new system of zip codes that are assigned to each building. 

The new alphanumeric zip code consists of seven characters. The first character 

indicates the area, the next two - city/region, the remaining four characters 

indicate the building.  

May 

12.  

           

  

Updated postal items tracking service (track.kazpost.kz). Thanks to feedback 

from our customers the company considers each appeal, implements 

constructive ideas, creates a comfortable environment for kazpost JSC's 

customers.  

June 

13.  

           

  

Memorandum between the Republic of Kazakhstan and the United Arab 

Emirates on the joint issue of stamps dedicated to the development of the 

Kazakh-Arab relations with the image of the Heads of State of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan and the United Arab Emirates was signed. 

June 

14.  

           

  

Launch of the campaign of Kazpost JSC and Home Credit Bank Kazakhstan, 

"White Wind" company for the purchase of household appliances on credit. The 

campaign allows people in remote regions buy household appliances in the 

catalog and get credit in the post offices of Kazpost JSC. 

June 

15.  

           

  

From June 1, 2015 Kazpost JSC participates in the project "ICBC" Khorgos", 

the purpose of which is the expansion of bilateral economic relations, the 

development of trade-economic, political, scientific-technical and cultural 

cooperation between Kazakhstan and the People's Republic of China. On the 

territory of ICBC "Khorgos" an infrastructure for reception and delivery of 

mailings was created, individual technological process was developed, the 

processes of interaction with customs and other partners was got right. 

June 

16.  

           

  

Introduction of motivation for employees of rural post offices for receipt of 

packages in the amount of 50% of the tariff for parcel. 
June 

17.  

           

  

The possibility of using the existing address data base of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan and the database of new zip code introduced by Kazpost JSC 

through the open API available on www.postcode.kz web-site. Use of the new 

zip codes system will help to standardize address data of RK. Thus, the service 

of open API address data will enable all interested individuals and legal entities, 

in particular the emergency services, to use the updated addresses database with 

new postal codes in the free mode. The information can be used in both online 

mode and can be downloaded in an unlimited number upon its update. 

July 

18.  

           

  

Introduction of products and projects for EMS "Express Premimum" service 

abroad in the short term; Motivation of operators receiving items in the "receipt 

window" 

July 

19.  

           

  

Introduction of a new service of money transfer without opening an account 

together with Unistream. On direct remittances service allows the sender to 

specify the only country where he/she transfers money to, the recipient will be 

able to pick them up at any service station of Unistream in this country. 

July 

20.  

           

  

Kazpost JSC presented 257 bikes to rural and urban postmen serving suburban 

areas. All bikes have a corporate color and logo. On bikes have front and rear 

racks with a total capacity of 80 kg. In addition, bicycle equipment includes: 

hand pump, a mechanical bell, front headlight with dynamo power generator, 

anti-theft device, a set of service keys and rear reflectors.  

  

21.  

           

  

Launch of a joint project with ABDI Company JSC for the delivery of office 

supplies in the countryside. In post offices across the country using "ABDI" 

Company's catalogue you can place an order to buy stationery for school 

children, students, employees, schools and office workers. 

August 

22.  

           

Introduction of a new service for corporate customers, who can now enter into a August 
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  contract for services by calling the Contact Centre, ph.number 1499. 

23.  

           

  

In all regions of the country postmen were presented 5588 bags, representing 

100% of the need. Shoulder bags for postmen are made of nylon. The side walls 

have pockets with a refractive coating that allows to see user's bag at night 

when light rays hit. 

August 

24.  

           

  

Integration with the Universal Postal Union, which enabled tracking system of 

Kazpost JSC to combine with all the other countries of the UPU. Now the web-

site of Kazpost JSC is possible to track the movement of the postal item, 

regardless of its location. 

August 

25.  

           

  

Presentation of new uniforms, bags, mobile phones to postmen. Given the 

weather conditions, the uniform was made of water-resistant material of 

corporate colors with the logo of "Kazpost" JSC. The smartphone is equipped 

with GPS navigation and special application "Khodovik" designed to optimize 

the paper work the postman, in order to avoid filling the delivery receipt and a 

paper report. 

September 

26.  

           

  

A meeting in the offices of the Company in Moscow with Russian companies of 

distance selling (online stores) to attract to cooperation. 
September 

27.  

           

  

Signing of an agreement with Lithuania Post and China Post as part of the 

product on transportation of transit mail "China-Europe". 
September 

28.  

           

  

Representatives of Kazpost JSC within the delegation of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan took part in the 3rd meeting of the Kazakhstan-China Business 

Council, which was held in Beijing.  

September 

29.  

           

  

Launch of a bot of «Telegram» cross-platform software product - a free 

messenger for smartphones with iOS and Android system, tablet, or computer. 

@KazPostBot has three operations representing information about mail items, 

exchange rates, the existing penalties for violations of RT. Thanks to this 

service, Kazakhstanis will be able to obtain the necessary information in 

seconds. 

October 

30.  

           

  

Launch of a pilot project of a postage envelope with electronic postage stamps 

introduction, allowing the client to keep track of simple letters using track 

number. Envelopes with electronic postage stamps will be delivered to a PO 

box and monitored in the search engine via track number, which is printed on 

the envelope. Now, the client does not need to confirm the payment in the form 

of postage stamps. 

October 

31.  

           

  

Carrying out of Republican contest of professional skills among postmen for the 

World Day of the Post. The winners of the competition were awarded diplomas 

and valuable gifts. Diplomas were also awarded to employees of Company's 

subsidiaries reached significant progress in labor. 

October 

32.  

           

  

Introduction of an agency services on compulsory insurance of civil liability of 

vehicle owners through the branches of Kazpost JSC of the following insurance 

companies: Insurance Company Standart JSC; Kazakhinstrakh JSC; Insurance 

Company Salem JSC. " 

October 

33.  

           

  

Introduction of an agency services for the sale of lottery tickets (draw-based, 

instant) through the offices of Kazpost JSC. 
October 

34.  

           

  

Opening of a new service to notify customers about the receipt of parcels via 

stationary telephone. The service operates in all regional centers of the country, 

in the cities of Astana and Almaty. 

November 

35.  

           

  

Opening of a new service "SMS-Notification" on the receipt and writing off 

funds from the pension accounts of clients.The service provides the opportunity 

to fully monitor the amount and the date of accrual, as well as all consumables 

operations on the pension account of the client. 

November 
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36.  

           

  

Creation of a public e-mail www.post.kz, which links government, business and 

the population to the same communication platform. This platform is the 

analogue of subscriber mailboxes in electronic form, which allows to deliver 

important letters, notices, contracts, projects, business correspondence between 

state and commercial organizations and population of the country. 

November 

37.  

           

  

On the eve of the New Year we launched a campaign "Write a letter to Santa 

Claus", «Аяз Атағаз А «Нап». A special mailbox for letters to Santa Claus 

have been placed in all the branches of Kazpost JSC, shopping centers "Mega" 

in Astana, Almaty, Aktobe. Kazpost JSC received a record number of letters - 

3752, executed more than 800 children's wishes. As a gift, the children asked 

toys, smart phones, musical instruments and household appliances.  
The campaign involved the Head of State Nursultan Nazarbayev who provided 

gifts with a letter of response to children from different regions of the country. 

Some of the letters were posted on the portal post.kz, where everyone could 

choose a letter and bring child's dream into life. More than 50 people sent 

Christmas gifts through this portal. Celebrations were organized in orphanages 

and boarding schools of Kazakhstan. Gifts were presented by dressed Santa 

Claus and Snow Maiden employees, campaign partners and media 

representatives 

December 

38.  

           

  

Opening of the first supermarket of parcels in Astana. This is a new format of 

self-service center, which is divided into two zones: the receipt and sending of 

parcels across the country. 

December 

39.  

           

  

Official site of Kazpost JSC has won first place in the National Internet Award 

Award.kz. National Internet Award AWARD.kz - is the website competition of 

Kaznet. Corporate website of Kazpost JSC was named the best thanks to the 

convenient structure, dynamic design, meaningful content. 

December 

40.  

           

  

Kazpost JSC is the winner of the silver award in international Award Creativity 

Awards 2015 (USA) in the category "Newspaper advertising - consumer." 

Advertising module is called "Clock" and addressed to customers of Express 

Mail Service Kazpost.  

December 

41.  

           

  

Postage stamps on the following subjects were put into circulation: 
1. The postage stamp series "Memorable dates and anniversaries" on the 

subject "550 years of Kazakh khanate" (September 8, 2015); 
2. The standard postage stamp of "EXPO-2017" series on the subject "Astana 

EXPO-2017" (June 18, 2015); 
3. The stamp of art series "EXPO-2017" on the theme of "Astana EXPO-2017" 

( December 25, 2015). 
Carrying out of a joint issue of postage stamps of the Republic of Kazakhstan 

and the United Arab Emirates dedicated to the development of relations 

(October 23, 2015). 

-  

42.  

           

  

Introduction of agency services for the sale of electronic railway tickets 

through the branches of Kazpost JSC. The service allows rural residents to 

purchase electronic train tickets without leaving their village. 

December 

   

  

2.2. Facts and Figures 

Infrastructure 

The network of production facilities. The number of production facilities as of January 1, 2015 

amounted to 3,380 (3137 - 2014) units, including: 

 2 2220 post offices (556 urban and 1664 rural); 
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 629 postal communication points (126 urban and 503 rural); 

 115 mobile POC; 

 188 central operating offices; 

 228 payment points. 

There are also 13 regional branches, 2 General Post Offices ( Astana and Almaty), 4 

specialized divisions and subsidiaries:  

 Information And Logistics Center "South"; 

 Republican Service of Special Communication; 

 «EMS-Kazpost»; 

 "Postal Service"; 

 Branch "Management Information Systems Operation"; 

 Branch "Corporate sales "; 

 Branch "Technical Service". 

Transport. Transportation of mail on intraregional and intra-district routes is provided on 1835 

car routes. 298 units of vehicles were purchased in 2015. Postal vans fleet of the companies includes 

37 units on 14 routes involved. 

  

Employees  

 Staff number - 22 703 people, including: 

 926 administrative staff; 

 21,744 production staff; 

 33 support staff. 

  

Volumes 

Volumes of postal services - 305 million units, incl.: 

 around 189 million periodicals; 

 45 million letter-post items; 

 more than 33 million other volumes (printing, packaging, converting); 

 more than 6.9 million parcels (parcels, small packages, parcels); 

 more than 0.5 million large-sized parcels; 

 around 4.6 million international mail; 

 around 0.6 million of accelerated mail EMS; 

 more than 1.4 million. Special Communication on services. 

The volume of financial services - 905 billion tenge, incl.: 

 about 27 billion tenge remittances; 

 about 77 billion tenge salary payments; 

 about 275 billion tenge of payments accepted; 

 around 526 billion tenge payment of pensions and benefits; 

 about 0.03 bln. Other financial services. 

Market Coverage 1 

 30% market share in the payment of pensions and allowances; 

                                                 
1 Research of mail, courier, logistics and banking services market.   
Alvin Market LLP. 
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 97% market share of periodicals; 

 76% share of the letter post market; 

 62% share of the parcels market; 

 15.2% market share of utilities and other payments. 

  

Modernization               

 purchase of 1,000 computers; 

 545 automated post offices; 

 7 modernized post offices. 
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3. MAJOR PROJECTS 
  

3.1. Kazpost JSC's business transformation program 

About the program  

In 2015, the business transformation program of Kazpost JSC (hereinafter - the Program) has 

been further developed. The program was launched in 2014, with the aim to create a competitive 

and stable company with a high level of corporate governance, improvement of financial and 

operational performance through the revision of the principles of work with the best world practices. 

This is a thorough analysis and re-engineering of core business and production processes, their 

standardization and regulation. 

In the reporting year they defined the business model of the strategic development of the 

Company, which allowed reach an entirely new level of Company's business and management, a 

new level of functioning in accordance with the best international standards. 

Spend the standardization and optimization of business processes and conditions that ensure 

the quality of services, the application of best practices, identification and elimination of 

inconsistencies. As a result of new services there are new requirements for the competence of 

employees of Kazpost JSC. Employees have the opportunity to expand their knowledge and skills, 

acquire new skills. 

Company systematically carried out activities for development of staff, retraining of workers, 

improvement of skills through training system. 

Employees were trained on the use of new methods, tools and procedures in the context of 

business process changes in their daily activities. 

The program is the beginning of Company's transformation that can be changed in terms of 

global challenges and become able to rebuild their businesses. The basis of the success was the 

team's intention to take the path of effective reforms and updates.  

Kazpost JSC represents Kazakhstan at the Universal Postal Union, where constant 

modernization takes place, the world's leading postal administrations reconstruct business processes 

with the new changes in the business environment. 

  

Report on the work performed  

The program is implemented in accordance with the road map and includes key findings 

developed within the implementation of the Program. This program consists of four stages:  

Stage 1 "Diagnosis and Design" - performed and completed on time in 2015; 

Stage 2 "Planning" - 100% performed in 2015 

Stage 3 "Implementation" - preparatory works have started. 
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Within Stage 1 "Diagnosis and Design", the following works were done. 

Standardization and optimization of 162 business processes for all major activities of the 

Company. Target business processes are designed in accordance with best practices, the necessary 

objects of process Input and Output were thought over, the role of the process and their powers, 

prerequisites for process automation were described, process identified potential risks to which 

appropriate controls are developed.  

Performance map was developed for the operational monitoring of the activities of the 

organization. 

As for stage 1 "Diagnosis and Design" conducted audit, they produced recommendations for 

Program's blocks. The action plan was designed based on the recommendations. 

In addition, a target model of the Company's actions management on the main functional areas 

of the Company that create a value-added (sales, operations, finance, personnel, etc.), taking into 

account the best international practices. 

Definition of key performance indicators of Kazpost JSC value "Tree of key performance 

indicators" which reflect the connection with the strategic objectives.  

Diagnostics of IT-landscape (inventory of IT personnel, systems, equipment) and processes 

automation, identification of the most problematic areas.  

Development of Company's values as a model of corporate competencies that support the 

transformation of the employees themselves and the implementation of the target company's 

corporate culture and are critical for the performance of Company's strategy. A target organizational 

structure of the company, which will make the company's management system more efficient by 

reducing the number of management levels and clear assignment of responsibilities. 

For the interest and involvement of employees to the transformation program implementation, 

measures were taken to inform staff about transformation program, improve interaction, efficiency 

and close cooperation with business entities, stakeholders and the central team of the Fund's 

transformation. 

As part of stage 1 target business processes, which in future will enable the company to 

transfer to a new, more efficient operation were redesigned. To implement these targeted business 

process the Program offered more than 300 initiatives, grouped into 11 major projects. For each 

initiative they proposed tentative dates of implementation, implementation priorities, expected 

benefits, estimated risks and number of employees that fall under the impact of changes and so 

forth. We separately elaborated ongoing initiatives, prepared under the Company's strategy update.  

At the end of stage 1 "Diagnosis and Design" we organized and conducted a number of 

activities under the program to inform and engage employees in the process of business 

transformation. 

The first is the information days with the Company's managers and Central Office 

eemployees, to discuss initiatives with the participation of directors of all branches of the company 

and the employees of the branches located in Astana. There were 3 information days in total: For 

members of the Board of Directors to discuss initiatives with the directors of branches, as well as 

reporting one on the work done in the framework of stage 1 "Diagnosis and Design". The results of 

the information days are available on corporate websites postportal, my.kazpost, under the heading 

"Buzz" an interview with the Chairman of the Management Board was posted. 

On a weekly basis there were meetings of the transformation team with the business units and 

subsidiaries. Through various communication channels, sites, news feeds, digest programs they 

provided information to employees of the company. 

As part of the Stage 2 "Planning", the following works were done. 
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The work on the primary grouping of packages describing business processes and initiatives in 

projects, they carried out extended meeting to discuss the list of initiatives involving the Central 

Transformation Team and the EY consultants. 

They designed and approved long and short lists of projects in accordance with the 

methodology for the transformation based on the principles of a comprehensive assessment of 

priorities in areas corresponding to the strategic objectives of Kazpost JSC, which are: The viability 

of the organization; Sales; Operating activities; The front office; Back office.  

Within the implementation of a Stage 2 "Planning", the transformation team work carried out 

primary grouping for the packages describing business processes and initiatives in projects, carried 

out extended meeting to discuss the long list with the participation of the Central transformation 

team and Consultants of LLP «Ernst & Young-consulting services" (hereinafter - CS ).  

The sessions with the participation of the company management and the branch managers 

were conducted with the aim to analyze the initiatives generated in the projects list. As a result of 

works, a long list of projects was generated in accordance with the methodology of transformation.  

As part of the development of a business case, the EY consultants provided training to develop 

a business case, with practical work on a project of a long list. 

The team carried out the work on the formation of a short list of projects based on the 

principles of a comprehensive assessment of priorities in areas corresponding to the strategic 

objectives of Kazpost JSC, this is a Viability of organization; Sales; Operating activities; the front 

office; back office. 

A short list of projects is made up of "quick wins" with the terms of the implementation of up 

to 1 year, and long-term projects. This list also includes special projects, which are implemented 

centrally by the Fund with the participation of employees of the Company. 

Transformation Team prepared the project documentation package on the project from the 

short list, based on detailed and elaborate calculations of business cases with stakeholders for further 

financing.  

In addition, a program which within its implementation combines all the Company's projects: 

the transformation projects and business projects for the purpose of vision to achive strategic KPIs 

of the Company and EVA bring to a positive result. 

It is planned to provide a process for project management of the Company through a single 

project office, also in the framework of special projects they planned to implement the project 

"Unified Project Management System", where the corporate standard for project management taking 

into account the tools will be developed.  

As part of the awareness and involvement of employees in the implementation of business 

transformation programs of Kazpost JSC the communication activities were conducted. Internal 

corporate websites "postportal", "my.kazpost" and electronic library operate. Using 

transformation@kazpost.kz buzz competitions among employees of the company on knowledge of 

the objectives and tasks of transformation were held. 

The regional branches and specialized companies have information stands for transformation 

with the regular update of information about transformation. 

In October 2015 they held a teleconference "Together to the goal" in the form of open 

dialogue between the company management and employees of the branches, workers have received 

answers to all of the questions concerned (coverage amounted to about 1,200 people). 

Information about the stages of the transformation program and activities undertaken as part of 

the transformation program is available on www.kazpost.kz external website in Russian, Kazakh 

and English languages.  
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They organized training of the project team for the transformation by the directions of activity. 

They organized and conducted a series of interviews with the Chairman of the Management Board 

and Chief Business Transformation Officer. 

The company has actively participated in the "LIFE transformation" series, and received the 

prize "For the best series of the film". 

As a result of this work, according to a survey of Corporate Social Fund we received good 

performance, 75% of respondents are informed and involved in the program process, it is the best 

result for the Fund as a whole. 

Modernization Board officially closed Stage 2 "Planning" and stage 3 "Implementation" was 

launched.  

As part of the Stage 3 "Implementations" the following work was carried out. 

The work with a short list of projects started, project teams are formed, preparatory work for 

the procurement procedures are held, Project Charter and work schedule were prepared for approval. 

A road map which includes the key findings for 2016 was developed, persons in charge on the 

roadmap activities were determined. 

3.2. The development of postal services 

Quality and Technology 

Demand for the Company's services depends on the quality of their provision. Quality depends 

on the technology used. Taken together, the quality and technology have a direct impact on the main 

key performance indicators of the Company's activities.  

In 2015, measures were taken to implement systemic changes in the formation of a positive 

image of the Company, aimed at introducing customer-oriented approach as a key resource in 

ensuring the effectiveness and profitability at all levels of the Company. As a result this approach 

will manage relationships with customers, carry out monitoring of customers and the market, 

maintain relationships with existing and attract potential customers. 

Company Development is inextricably linked to its technological development. New types of 

technologies are innovations that provide social and economic benefits only when their practical 

application is found. 

The emphasis on quality, innovative technology has allowed us to implement the following 

projects. 

  

Supermarket of parcels 

In order to improve the quality of delivery of registered mail (letters and parcels with declared 

value, parcels, small packages, EMS items) and the creation of conditions of mail items receipt at a 

convenient time for the customer, we opened the first supermarket of parcels. 

In order to inform the recipients about place of their postal items we developed software that 

provides a link between the number (mail ID bar-code) of postal item and place of its storage on a 

shelf. Shelf, shelving section (plastic containers) received permanent identifiers. The customer (the 

recipient of mail item) when visiting the supermarket indicates the number of the postal item on the 

monitor installed (or personal surname), then the card with the indication of origin is printed (the 

number of the shelf, place number) of postal item location.  

When the postal item is found and took away from the rack section, the customer comes to one 

of the operators to pay cash on delivery (if necessary), or other formalities, and check the identity 

cards.  

In addition to the issuance of registered mail we also organized an area, where customers can 

in semiautomatic mode, send mail, using the already paid mail packaging. 
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Supermarket of parcels is opened daily, without breaks and weekends, from 8 am to 22 pm. 

 

Postmarket.kz 

More than 250 of an order worth more than 1.2 million tenge. The possibility of taking online 

payments. Adoption of the model agreement for the conclusion of the sellers. More than 2,000 

decorated subscriptions via the Internet more than $ 3.2 million tenge. 

 

Telegrams bot (@KazPostBot) 

The company launched the boat in the messengers «Telegram», «Whatsapp». For example, a 

bot is designed for customers to instantly obtain information for tracking postal items, foreign 

exchange rates, the payment of penalties for violation of traffic rules, the nearest address postamata, 

including positions in the Company. Corporate bot for internal use allows to obtain the report data 

by product, service monitoring and server companies, online decision-makers alerts about deviations 

in operation, information on changes in exchange rates. 

  

Postamats 

Postamats (automated postal station) - a self-service terminals for sending or receiving mail 

between corporations and individuals. This project was launched in 2014. The project aims to create 

a network of postamats within the country for reception and delivery of postal items. The service is 

a new type of service in self-service mode. The service is available at least 16 hours a day, 7 days a 

week at the points of concentration of potential consumers of postal services (shopping centers, 

railway stations, etc.).  

In order to implement this project we made supply and installation of 17 postamats  

in the cities of Astana, Almaty and Karaganda, launched the service for issue of parcels. Currently 

the start-up and commissioning of services for the issue of items with cash on delivery and reception 

of parcels in postamats were completed; contracts for delivery of goods to postamats with online 

shops were signed. 

This type of service has several advantages for the customer:  

 you have no need to go to the post office for the parcel receipt, the client can get it in the 

place he visits for his own business, in the business center or shopping centers; 

 postamats are working around the clock; 

 there is no need to stand in queue. 

 In 2015, we purchased and installed 89 postamats in all regional branches, in Astana, 

Almaty and Astana general post offices in shopping malls, business centers, railway stations.  

  

Internet subscriptions 

This service provides the ability to subscribe to periodicals via the Internet. New modern 

periodic subscription format began in 2014. Subscription is available on the website 

www.postmarket.kz , which was created as part of the corporate transformation program. 

Internet users can subscribe to these national newspapers, customers can choose from a 

catalog not only the specified national but also the near abroad countries' publications, the Company 

placed in the catalogue "Newspapers and magazines", without not leaving your home, office.  

The process of registration is simple: you need to register online, select in the catalogue the 

publication you want to subscribe to, make a payment by credit card, the rest of will be made by the 

Company's employees. 

http://www.postmarket.kz/
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Since 2015 since the introduction of the service "Internet subscription" 1724 subscribed via 

the Internet. In total 411 indexes of national, local and foreign publications has been subscribed in 

the amount of 1 569 334.73 KZT. Income amounted to 392 030.78 KZT. 

The amount of subscription via the Internet is 1 785 591.16 KZT, total subscription is 281 

newspapers and magazines. Kazpost JSC's income totaled 365 290.92 KZT. 

  

Data transfer of payments to the state budget 

Spend integration with JSC "National Information Technologies" for online transmission of 

data on payments made in favor of the state budget for further transfer to the state authorities. The 

project is currently at the stage of trial operation. 

 

Situation Centre 

In the reporting period, the project is put into operation, the basic work is completed, work is 

underway on the introduction of satellite navigation. 

The range of opportunities created situation center can improve the quality of service by 

increasing control over the quality of services provided, as well as rapid response to problems 

associated with servicing customers within the Company, including online monitoring: 

 control the timing of passage of postal items; 

 email queue; 

 vehicles Companies connected to the satellite navigation system (GPS). 

Situation Centre and installed equipment to allow video conferencing workshops, distance 

learning 

and video monitoring: 

 front offices at post offices; 

 postal wagons; 

 the process of loading and sorting process in sorting center; 

 Contact Center; 

 postamats. 

Developed and approved job descriptions, rules of interaction operative situational center with 

structural divisions of JSC "Kazpost". During the 2015 meeting through video-communication was 

conducted 92 training, 172 meetings, 11 tests, and 6 hits. 

In addition, during the reporting period to visit a lot of work to ensure the effective 

management of IT systems. It implemented over 100 projects, including: 

 introduction of electronic queue management system and automation of the quality of 

service; 

 implementation of the e-mail address for the operators; 

 centralize functions Service desk; 

 Connection Service desk calls to the contact center; implementing asset directories; 

 implementation of telecommunications systems and communications for the contact center 

of the Company; 

 implementation of telecommunications systems and communication to the Situation Centre; 

 introduction of "telephony-asterisk" system; introduction of "telephony, 

videoconferencing" system; 

 implementation and reduce the cost of a single mechanism for sending sms messages; 

 implementation of a video surveillance system in the front office. 
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 Modernization and development of the Contact Centre 

 To enhance the external communication with customers through electronic channels of 

service and telephone service we established a contact center by providing a single point of 

contact with the customer.  

 At this time 95% of all visits to the Company goes through the Call Center, at least 75% of 

the calls dial within 20 seconds (every day). The routing rules for incoming calls and online 

requests were built, conversations are recorded. They built a reporting system and real-time 

monitoring of the process of reception of calls in real time, which tracks all the main 

indicators of the operators, the state of the calls queue. Customer cards, registration cards of 

applications in the system with the ability to view the history of customer complaints were 

built and implemented. A remote training of operators working in the system was conducted. 

 For fruitful work and ease of operators of the contact center the additional space in Almaty 

post office was allocated, a common operator's room was formed. The contact Center is 

equipped with modern means of communication, operator cabs were installed, there is an 

office for internal training and leisure of operators.  

 In the operating room has surveillance cameras, the image is broadcasted on monitors in 

front of the head of contact center and operational situation center.  

 Development and approval of regulations of the Contact Center, Customer Service Guide for 

phone and voice systems for application by the contact center operators. Arrangement of 

24/7 mode of operation in accordance with the approved schedule of work in compliance 

with the provisions of the labor legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

   

Electronic queue management system , evaluation of quality of service 

The project "Introduction of electronic queue management system and automated quality 

assessment of service" also being implemented in the framework of the action plan "Emergency 

(fast) measures to improve the operations of the Company." The main goal - to control the flow of 

customers, accounting of time and quality service features, taking into account the demand for 

services. 

Results of the project is the installation of electronic queue system equipment in 312 

production facilities. According to the implementation plan that the following events were executed: 

 developed technical specifications; 

 conducted tender and signed contract; 

 made payment control; 

 development of documentation of the equipment and software; 

 approved order "On the use of the EQMS." 

 

Automatic redial on city phone numbers 

Open a new service to notify customers about the receipt of parcels via telephone. Service 

operates in all regional centers of the country, in the cities of Astana and Almaty cities. 

"Kazpost" JSC announces the launch of the service to notify customers about the receipt of 

parcels via telephone. Service operates in all regional centers of the country, as well as in Astana 

and Almaty. 

Automatic redial on city phone with the same robot, who will notify the customer about the 

type of premises, the track number and address of the branch where you can get mail. Voice 

messages You can listen again by pressing the number "1" in the tone mode. The system will 
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automatically ring up customers 3 times a day from 8:00 to 21:00 on weekdays and from 10: 00-21: 

00 on weekends, while a voice message is listened to. 

Video surveillance system 

The project "Implementation of a video surveillance system in the front-offices and mail 

wagons" is being implemented within the framework of the action plan "Emergency (fast) measures 

to improve the operations of the Company. The main purpose - control of offices, safety of 

transported mail, reduction of mail theft risks to minimum. 

Results of the project is the installation of a video surveillance system equipment in 135 

production sites and 35 postal wagons. According to the implementation plan that the following 

events were executed: 

 approved technical specification; 

 conducted tender and signed contract; 

 made payment control; 

 development of documentation of the equipment and software; 

 trained situational center workers; 

 testing of the equipment supplied. 

  

The development of international postal exchange 

Kazpost JSC carries out international postal exchange with the countries near and far abroad, 

providing citizens of the republic with the possibility to send or receive mail for international postal 

network. 

Kazpost JSC's mission is to provide all clients a range of modern high-quality postal, financial 

and logistics services throughout the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan which mostly satisfy 

their needs. 

Today, in connection with the e-commerce market development, online shops started an active 

use of the postal network for the delivery of goods sold to final customers. In particular, there is a 

high increase in the volume of international mail arriving from abroad in Kazakhstan, the bulk of 

which are products of Internet shops (for example, «AliExpress», «Tao Bao», «asos.com», «e-bay» 

etc.) to be delivered to the customer in the form of postal items.  

In order to ensure the safety of mail enclosures of unregistered international postal items (IPI) 

coming from abroad, using a simple procedure a dashed mail id (track number) is assigned with an 

entry of the recipient's mobile phone number to the information system of Kazpost JSC. This makes 

it possible to inform the customer via SMS-notification with further arrangement of IPI issue in 

production facilities of Kazpost JSC. The customers are widely used postamats in Astana, Almaty, 

Karaganda and a parcels supermarket in Astana.  

In August 2015 Kazpost JSC has implemented integration with the Universal Postal Union, 

which enabled tracking system to combine with all the other member countries of the Universal 

Postal Union (hereinafter - UPU). Now the client on the Company's website when entering the 

postal barcode can see the movement in full. For example, a customer orders a package on «eBay» 

and then is able to track its movement, regardless of location.  
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Distribution Center ( Karaganda) 

The project was introduced in order to increase production capacity for transportation, storage, 

sorting and inventory management in accordance with the projected demand by enterprises of 

distance selling and online stores. Now distribution center operates around the clock.  

The basis for project implementation is small mail sorting and transportation area for 

accomplishment of high-quality processing of mailings, lack of the possibility to accept large-size 

loads or heavyweight loads on pallets, shortage of warehouse for transit large-size mailings, and also 

lack of the possibility to construct additional buildings. As a result of project implementation 

production facilities were expanded due to opening of the distribution center based on motor 

transportation workshop and its re-deployment into the parcels processing unit, collection point for 

large-size mailings and the insurance site. Working conditions are created for workers involved in 

acceptance, processing, sorting and seal of mailings 

In addition, the new trunk road routes were opened as an alternative to postal wagons. 

Carriage of postal items in the mail containers to be loaded in heavy trucks has been introduced. 

During project implementation and its introduction repairs of the premises of the distribution 

center in Karaganda were carried out. Containers, racks, roller conveyors were purchased . Road 

routes "Almaty-Astana-Karaganda" were launched, a new road route "Karaganda-Ust- 

Kamenogorsk" through the offices in Ekibastuz, Pavlodar and Semey cities were launched.  

  

Automated line of registered mail 

In order to increase productivity the Company conducts introduction of automated sorting line 

of registered mail.  

The main purpose of the sorting line - automated distribution of postal items into separate 

groups, detailed and general sorting of existing lines. 

During the year, we conducted a pilot testing and sorting line was put into operation around 

the clock, its introduction resulted in optimization of sorters, thus increasing the productivity by 

43% and saving wages fund. 

  

Mobile Postman 

To enhance the competitiveness of postal and financial services company launched additional 

services for clients assuming visit of a postman/courier with a portable unit (PU). 

This device - a tool for rapid collection of information when receiving or issuing postal items, 

as well as remote financial transactions. 

The project introduced postal services: reception and delivery of registered postal items 

(letters, packages, parcels, bulky items of mail, EMS items), delivery of items with cash on delivery, 

added services. You can obtain financial services: payment of utilities and tax payments, acceptance 

of payments in favor of cellular companies, home delivery of pensions and allowances. 

According to the PU connection schedule for the counterparties of regional branches as of 

2015 226 payment codes were connected, and the possibility of cash on delivery receipt, payment of 

pensions and benefits receipt was implemented.  

Pilot project "Home Delivery" for payment of pensions and allowances on current accounts in 

Arshalynsky RPOC of AB "Astana Post Office" and Pavlodar RB through PU - the number of 

recipients participating in the project amounted to 313 people. 

Mobile Postman 3.0. Postmen received 630 smartphone with a prepaid package of 

communication services. This measure optimizes postmen work, allowing making preliminary calls 

to customers and interact more effectively with each other. 



21 

 

  

Hybrid e-mail 

The company is implementing the project "Hybrid e-mail." This service will allow to increase 

volumes and revenues on letter post, reduce the target dates for sending letter post by eliminating 

unnecessary processing unit. HEM includes a full range of services on a single technological chain: 

printing, packaging of materials sent, recipient's delivery.  

As part of the project they implemented information system "Hybrid mail" established 

inserting machines (system for packaging papers into the envelope). A HEM interface for operators 

was developed, testing of HEM information system's subsystem was carried out, and documents 

regulating the HEM process were approved.  

  
For successful implementation of the HEM the Company signed a memorandum of 

cooperation with the Supreme Court of the Republic of Kazakhstan, launched new types of 

documents with "Torelik" system (judicial notice and correspondence with third parties).  

Signed a cooperation memorandum with the Prosecutor General of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan and the "Nur Otan" PDP, in 2016 together with " Single Accumulative Pension Fund" 

JSC we are planning to launch the provision of information to depositors in branches through the 

transfer of information on electronic media to regional representatives of "EAPF" JSC. At the level 

of regional branches of the Company the agreements with the Department of Internal Affairs of 

North Kazakhstan region, "AZ Commerce" LLP (Kostanay regional branch), Karaganda OTD, 

"Kazakhtelecom" JSC (Karaganda regional branch) were signed.  

  

Vehicle monitoring system (GPS) 

In order to ensure remote control over operation of vehicles, equipment and other movable 

objects through the use of satellite navigation and mobile communications, to determine the exact 

location of transport and monitoring of various vehicle parameters, the Company started 

implementation of vehicles monitoring system.  

898 onboard terminals, 121 alarm button, 10 sets of voice communication devices, 5 digital 

cameras, one software license for facilities in the amount of 900 pieces were installed. Vendor 

provided KPS software (postal routes control). All mail routes identical to «CPILS» information 

system were implemented in this software. Situation Centre is working to track all routes.  

Currently the additional terms of reference for the development and improvement of GPS 

software is developed. To monitor the vehicles the work on the integration with the information and 

logistics system "Tulpar" will be carried out, which will enable automatically receive reports about 

vehicles route deviations.  

  

Mobile post offices 

In order to optimize production space it was decided to purchase Mobile postal 

communication offices (MPCO) in 6 areas: 

1. South Kazakhstan RB, Kazygurstky district, village Turbat 

2. South Kazakhstan RB, Saryagash district, village Kaplanbek; 

3. Almaty RB, Panfilov district, village Akzhazyk 

4. Pavlodar RB, village Yevgenevka 

5. Karaganda RB, Zhezdy village 

6. Astana post office, village Arshaly 
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It is planned to purchase 15 MPOC for the following regions: 

 Mangistau RB, Munaily District, Baskudyk, Atameken Kyzan, Zhyngyldy, Tauchik, 

Kyzylozen, Tupkaragan CPOC, Kuryk villages 

 South Kazakhstan RB, Turkestan district,Turkestan  

 Atyrau RB, Aksay village 

 Almaty RB, Ili district, Boroldai village  

 North Kazakhstan RB, Kyzylzhar District, Kyzylzhar RPOC 

 Karaganda RB, Karaganda, "Shakhan" POC 

  

Project «Work Flow» 

In this project, the first phase in 2015, introduced electronic document management system, by 

means of which the Company and systematically eliminated the use of paper documents for internal 

correspondence. Also, automated process for processing applications housekeeping. 

It launched a pilot project on the reception mode EMS-items in the windows of receiving 

communications activities. 

Anti-Money Laundering 

The project "Automation of the Law requirements execution "On counteraction to legalization 

(laundering) of proceeds from crime and financing of terrorism" (AML - Anti Money Laundering). 

Key planned parameters of the project:  

 receive all the data set needed for the AML process management from all transactional 

systems of the Company, as well as storage of all received data in AML system with 

adjustable shelf life; 

 Automatic detection of operations in respect of which there is a suspicion that they are related 

to legalization of proceeds from crime and terrorism financing, as well as transactions subject 

to financial monitoring; 

 upload automatically all the operations identified in the online system subject to financial 

monitoring; 

 forming and receiving messages in exchange format with the Financial Monitoring Committee 

(FMC), related to the provision of data on transactions subject to financial monitoring by 

FMC, on suspicious transactions and automatically obtain the sanction of the FMC to perform 

certain categories of operations in accordance with the requirements of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan Law "On counteraction to legalization (laundering) of proceeds from crime and 

terrorism financing." 

  

Other projects 

In 2015, the Company launched various innovative projects aimed at improving the 

performance of individual areas of activity. 

Internal portal monitor.kazpost.kz. Designed to monitor the current financial, postal and 

operating performance of the Company, a rapid response to the deviation. 

Online payments "Avon". carried out integration with «Avon» Company's system for receiving 

online payments in the Company's offices. 

The fees for the registration of real estate. Spend integration with JSC "National Information 

Technologies" for service checks and receiving online payments for the state fee for registration of 

real estate in the branches of JSC "Kazpost". 
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Penalties for violation of traffic rules (SDA). Spend integration with JSC "National 

Information Technologies" on the service check and receive online payments of fines for traffic 

violations in the branches of JSC "Kazpost". 

FilPassport. The site is designed as a single storage system to-date data on all indicators of the 

Company branches. To date, the system has started and is integrated with the corporate website 

kazpost.kz for data transfer offices. 

Card2cash. Translations from a payment card with the issuance of cash, payment of utilities 

and postal payment cards in the Company's offices. Transfers via internet portal and mobile 

application. 

Payment systems. An agreement on cooperation with the international payment system Master 

Card as part of the business of strategic cooperation. Introduced into service of American Express 

international payment system cards in ATMs and in the Company's terminal devices. 

New postal codes. Launched a pilot project testing in two cities (Astana, Petropavlovsk), and a 

pilot version of the information system Postcode.kz. 

Identification of Customer Identification System. The "identity of the customer identification 

system" is being implemented within the framework of the action plan "Urgent" (fast) measures to 

improve the operations of the Company. The main goal - reducing internal fraud, namely the 

falsification of the customer's signature. 

The result of the project is to identify the identity of customers when applying to the liaison 

offices of "Kazpost" to perform operations on the accounts. 

During 2015 we developed terms of reference for the process connection and the use of 

equipment. Spend the purchase of equipment. 

  

3.3.  Development of financial services 

Deposits 

Approved new terms, the interest rate on deposits for individuals and legal entities. In 

connection with the transition to the regime of freely floating exchange rate made arrangements for 

registration of fixed-term deposits. 

Developed and implemented an online monitoring system in the form of a pop-up window - 

information on the availability and completeness of the formation of customer profiles, the presence 

of the customer's phone number, the presence of the document expired. 

Automated the process of printing the necessary forms when opening a bank account / deposit. 

Enacted Current Account Agreement with an individual (public contracts) for all types of 

current accounts (with the exception of pensions accounts, benefits, and card accounts).  

  

Money transfers 

Salem KZT. Optimized the business processes for immediate transfers within RK - "Salem 

KZT": 

 introduced SMS-service; 

 simplified procedure for receipt and issue of express transfers; 

 optimized forms for receiving and issuing express transfers. 

Changed the maximum amount of express transfers, changed the authorization procedure and 

return of express transfer. Increased life of movement of unclaimed express transfers to the files of 

unclaimed money transfers. Increased daily limits at the post offices, in the central operating areas. 

Western Union, Unistream. The contract was re-concluded for an international transfers WU. 

A new type of international money transfers "Unistream" was launched. 
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Payments 

Online payments. Acceptance of payments in online mode was performed for the benefit of 

suppliers of goods and services such as Astana-ERC, "Kazakhtelecom" JSC and others. The works 

on database integration, software for viewing and payment of penalties for violation of traffic rules 

in online mode were conducted.  

Tax payments. Through the integration we implemented the reception of tax and other 

payments to the budget with the transmission of information about the payment accepted in online 

mode. 

In order to exclude errors and refunds when paying taxes, we implement appropriate controls 

functional of the budget classification code to the corresponding type of tax and territorial tax 

authority 

Implemented re-printing of receipts on received tax and other payments to the budget per the 

trading day, the day of receipt of payment. 

The work on specification in the orders of tax payments a four-digit code under which the tax 

authorities are registered with the Ministry of Finance to reduce refunds of tax payments. 

E-Notary. Measures for integration with the base of E-Notary were taken. The Company's 

offices accept payments for the registration of real estate online using 20-digit application number. 

Cash on delivery. Carried out improvements on a binding in "Colvir" CIS the modules "Cash 

on Delivery" and "Issuance of parcels" with automatic filling of recipient's bank details and payment 

functions of control. An automated control of packages issue after COD payment for the product 

was installed. 

 Implemented payment of utility bills through Post.kz. 

Internet banking 

Launched an updated version of the "Internet Banking" for legal entities, expanded services 

and operations conducted through the system. The updated version includes the modified tasks: 

 creation of a directory of contractors and employees to automatically display details when 

creating a payment document; 

 import of files from the list to transfer of pension, social, salary payments in MT format, 

1C; 

 the formation of the payment into file and export of file in MT 100 format out of the 

Internet banking system; 

 creation of messages automatically when legal entity client sends cashless payments via 

Internet banking system to the manager for corporate clients servicing. 

  

Payment cards 

Implemented payment of postal and utility services in the offices through POS-terminals. 

Implemented free rate for cash withdrawal at ATMs of JSC "Kazkommertsbank" for pensioners. 

Realized translations Card2Cash and Card2Card on the financial Post.kz portal and mobile 

application. Launched a corporate card issuance project for the Company's employees and 

customers. Implemented product on special current accounts by using payment card to enroll 

benefits and social benefits. 

Organized process of servicing cardholders through the Call Center of the Company.  
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Brokerage 

1. Launch "Internet trading" project 

In November of 2015 was put into service platform "Internet trading", which allows the 

Company's customers located in the brokerage services in securities trading on the Kazakhstan 

Stock Exchange by means of remote access to "online" mode. Advantages of online trading for 

customers: 

• Reduce document; 

• Self-trading operations with securities; 

• Implementation of monitoring in real time for state funds and the open positions on the stock 

exchange; 

• Exchange information is available in real time; 

• Tariff packages feature low prices. 

Entrance to the platform "Internet trading" is carried out through the common portal of 

"Kazpost» - www.post.kz. upon registration in the said portal. 

2. The transition to a system of payments transactions in the stock market on T + 2 

(calculations on the second business day after the conclusion of transactions) 

From November 2015 in accordance with the requirements of JSC "Kazakhstan Stock 

Exchange" Company gradually switched to a system of payment transactions in the stock market on 

T + 2. In particular, in a timely and successful work has been done on migrating and completions 

software supporting brokering, and was trained specialists in brokering regional branches. 

3. Receiving the award from the JSC "Kazakhstan Stock Exchange" At the end of 2015 JSC 

"Kazakhstan Stock Exchange" has awarded the Company SILVER diploma "For contribution to the 

development of the exchange of shares of the market in 2015". 

Currency exchange operations 

The work order on exchange transactions corrected in compliance with the requirements of the 

National Bank of RK. Improved exchange transactions with the required filling of IIN, name and 

passport details of the client. A register of bought and sold currency was designed and monthly 

report to the National Bank of Kazakhstan in accordance with the requirements of the NBK. 

  

Settlement and cash services 

Optimized opening of current accounts procedure for legal persons, abolished the requirement 

for notarization of:  

 constituent documents, provided for the opening of the current account; 

 signatures of the persons referred to in the document with the sample signature and seal. 

    Automated services:  

 charging of fees for services rendered by the Company in current bank accounts during the 

period of blocking by tax authority (OSDO- orders and suspension of debit operations, 

except for tax and other fees payment). 

  

Pensions and benefits 

A new agreement with the KRB State Enterprise "State Center for Pension Payments" (SCPP). 

As a result of analysis conducted the "Terms of Service on payment of pensions and allowances in 

Kazpost JSC" were updated. The document was supplemented with the process of automation of the 

calculation of pension benefits, and benefits by providers.  

Conducted activities:  
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 reconciliation of database of recipients of pensions/benefits in rural areas with the data base 

of SCPP; 

 translation of recipients of pensions and benefits to the current account servicing in the 

villages; 

Approved public contracts on the accounts for pensions and benefits, the Plan of measures 

aimed at minimizing operational risk and prevention of fraud in the implementation of the payment 

of pensions and benefits through the offices of "Kazpost" JSC with the SCPP.  

Launched the service "SMS notification" of recipients about pensions and benefits for the pay-

in/expenditure operations. 

  

Minimizing the risk of fraudulent transactions in the provision of financial services 

In order to minimize fraudulent transactions in the provision of financial services carried out 

relevant activities. In particular, it introduced an online monitoring system in the form of pop-up 

windows on the availability and completeness of the formation of customer profiles. Automated 

printing of all the necessary forms when opening a bank account / deposit. The inventory deposits 

for renewal of time deposits for the payment of compensation, in connection with the transition to 

the regime of freely floating exchange rate. Automate the process of closing the bank accounts with 

zero balance, are without traffic more than 1 year. Enacted Current Account Agreement with an 

individual (public contract) for all types of current accounts, including for the payment of pensions 

and benefits in order to avoid issuing templates customer contracts, nonconforming product. 

Implemented on-line control of details and amounts of payment when paying traffic fines, payment 

of tax payments and payments to the budget. Launched a pilot project in the post office and RIBS 

Astana Pavlodar PF payment of pensions and benefits to the lists in the current accounts of 313 

recipients. 

In automated rural post offices with lists, statements on current accounts transferred over 200 

thousand recipients of pensions and benefits for card accounts -. 30 thousand beneficiaries.. The 

Plan of measures to minimize the risks to the Directorate "State Center for Pension Payment" on the 

lists, statements automation. 

Financial monitoring system AML 

In 2015, as part of the investment project "Automation of the process of execution of 

requirements of the Law" On counteraction to legalization (laundering) of proceeds from crime and 

financing of terrorism "implemented" system of financial monitoring of AML "(hereinafter - AML 

system). 

The main purpose of the introduction of a system of AML - automation of financial 

monitoring procedures in accordance with the requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan "On 

counteraction to legalization (laundering) of proceeds from crime and financing of terrorism" law. 

AML system is designed to detect transactions subject to financial monitoring, as well as 

suspicious and unusual transactions carried out in the Company's information systems. 

Subsequently, the information sent to the Financial Monitoring Committee of the Ministry of 

Finance of RK, made delivery of the control and processing additional requests from the 

organization. 

Methodological support 

Decision of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC approved the following documents:  

 rules of provision of pensions and benefits in Kazpost JSC; 

 rules of payment acceptance in Kazpost JSC; 
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 procedure for technical overdraft authorization for payment cards of Kazpost JSC; 

 rules for the performance of operations on the bank accounts of legal entities and 

individual entrepreneurs of Kazpost JSC; 

 order of payment the compensation on term deposits of individuals, opened in Kazpost 

JSC in the national currency (KZT), in connection with the transition to the regime of 

freely floating exchange rate and others. 

    Changes and additions to the following documents: 

 rules for issuing and servicing of payment cards of Kazpost JSC (introduction of special 

accounts by using payment cards); 

 rules of the transactions on the bank accounts of individuals in Kazpost JSC, approved by 

the decision of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC and others. 

  

3.4. Development of agency services 

The development of transfer-agent activity 

In order to optimize the processes of transfer-agent services, automated transmission of 

documents from the employees of the branch in Central Asia. In order to avoid errors when entering 

information in the software implemented system of double data entry. Result: the minimization of 

the number of failures in the reception of transmitted counterparty documents. 

In order to optimize the control and monitoring user activities and movements of documents 

designed reports: "Status changes Magazine" Magazine of documents ", finalized the report 

document processing statistics" developed "error reference." Result: the simplification and 

optimization of the control and analysis of the operators and the movement of documents in general. 

 

C 2015 "Kazpost" JSC is actively embarked on the development of a new direction - Agent 

services. Services provided by the Company, are publicly available and provided to the public at 

relatively low rates. The main objective of this area - the search for solutions to improve the 

efficiency of offices, as well as bringing the socially significant services to the rural population 

through an extensive network of branches. 

In order to develop the Company services agency conducted surveys of rural populations to 

identify needs for agency services. The results showed that the majority of the population in need of 

services to third parties. Since 2015 the following projects were implemented: 

1) the sale of instant lottery tickets; 

2) the service "Registration of tickets for individuals" (Messrs. Astana, Almaty). 

In addition, we conducted a survey of the rural population on the need for agency services. 

Launched a project for the sale of instant lottery tickets, and a pilot project for ticketing to nat. 

individuals (Messrs. Astana, Almaty). In December 2015, implemented in the regions of the service 

"train tickets Making", there is an opportunity to purchase tickets in 800 offices across the country, 

including 500 branches which are located in the regions and rural areas. 

Also, the company started to provide services for compulsory insurance of civil liability of 

vehicle owners the following insurance companies: JSC «Insurance Company« STANDARD 

INSURANCE », JSC« Kazakhinstrakh ", JSC" Insurance Company "Salem." 

The new service provides for the acquisition policies of compulsory insurance of civil liability 

of vehicle owners and residents is available at post offices. 

In 2015, the following rates for agency services were installed. 

  

Fees for agency services 
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Name Fee 

    

Accepting payments for issuing railway tickets 

to individuals 

In the cities, regions - 10% of the ticket price 

(minimum of 300 tenge up to 500 tenge). 

In the villages - 10% of the ticket price 

(minimum of 200 tenge up to 500 tenge). 

Acceptance of payments for registration of the 

return train tickets to individuals 

100 tg 

Cash Loans JSC "Bank Home Credit" 3% (three) of the amounts credited loans 

Commodity loans JSC "Bank Home Credit" 3% (three) of the amount of loans granted to 

the STB through payment for the goods 

Conclusion of insurance contracts for insurance 

companies services 

15% of the issued policy 

 

 

 

3.5. Accounting procedures 

Accounting and tax records 

Without an increase in the number of accounts of employees in CO, we centralized payroll, 

tax records for PIT (personal income tax) and social tax.  

Implemented automated controls with daily closing of cash offices. This enabled timely 

identification of errors, incomplete and questionable cash transactions. Implemented reports on the 

movement of "Money in transit" accounts that allow to control movement in the context of banks. 

Revised accounting for payment of pensions, allowances and wages in order to eliminate the manual 

transactions and increase the transparency of accounting.  

Automate the process of registration and resale of goods of national needs and periodicals in 

offices. This is an important step towards the automation of the account of the agency business. 

Automated calculation of interest on deposits. This reduced the risk of errors and the amount of 

manual processing. 

We have completed the first two stages of automation of the account receivables and payables, 

types of debt "linked" to the personal accounts by IBAN and budget codes (CBC). This allowed to 

automate the ban on debit transactions for the wrong CBC thereby improved the quality and 

accuracy of the management reports.  

Prescribed acceptable model of manual entries. For all manual postings held inadmissible 

access control, the circumstances of each such atypical entry are studied and a decision is made . It 

is also an important step towards the systematization of accounting and reduction of the risk of theft 

and errors. Awareness-raising work for each incorrect entry and great care on the part of accountants 

and operators in the branches should reduce the incidence of atypical transactions. 

As a result of the effort to automate accounting and conducted analysis of the load of 

accountants in the branches in 2015 we optimized the number of accountants by 150 people in the 

whole throughout the company. Updated internal regulations, including accounting policies and tax 

accounting policy.  
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Economic and rates planning 

In 2015, we carried out a successful operation to raise tariffs for universal communication 

services. Carried out calculations on separate accounting procedure, their justification and defense, 

organized work for the public hearings. Introduced tariff diversification for individuals and legal 

entities. Additional income of Company as a result of the tariff increase will be as projected 500 

mln. KZT annually. 

Within the framework of the project on improvement of tariff regulation measures we 

conducted measures on the withdrawal of the universal postal services from the sphere of natural 

monopolies. This issue resolution is a major step towards reduction of the constraints hindering 

initiatives for many new business areas for the company.  

The Company raised the issue in the framework of cooperation with the Universal Postal 

Union on the increase of the land rates by 5%. Additional revenue from this initiative will be about 

40 mln. KZT annually. 

Improved accounting system «Hyperion Planning»: automated process of budget adjustment 

of income and expenditure; automated process of costs planning (fuel, spare parts, cleaning, 

maintenance, cards costs, telecommunications services, rental and transportation of mail); automated 

process of income planning in terms of compensations - repurchase, securities, loans, rental income; 

updated calculation of income planning for postal, financial and agency services.  

Actualized the technique of budgeting, analysis, forecasting and monitoring of revenue and 

expenditure budget implementation. Greatly simplify adjustments approval procedures, allowing 

more flexibility to respond to changing production needs. Made important steps in statistical 

accounting automation for postal services and financial services.  

  

4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY 
  

Kazpost JSC is a Kazakhstani postal operator, which represents Kazakhstan's postal 

administration in the Universal Postal Union being one of the basic elements of the national 

infrastructure. 

The company provides a wide range of postal, financial, brokerage, agency, e-services. 

Kazpost JSC has the greatest branch network in the country, covering almost the entire territory of 

Kazakhstan, especially at the level of regional and rural areas. Postal network is an effective tool for 

the promotion of e-commerce, transport and logistics services, financial services for business and 

population. 

The company is responsible for ensuring the economic, social and environmental 

sustainability, providing public services throughout the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Being aware of its responsibility to contribute to the sustainable development of society, the 

Company commits to socially responsible interaction with all stakeholders. Company's advantage is 

that it is presented in the most remote areas of the country, and under these circumstances the post 

offices will be able to act as a center of economic activity in rural areas, and Company's 

management makes every effort for this purpose.  

The company is actively in the process of modernization and transition to qualitative services 

provision, which means not only improvement of service but also the technical, operational, 

technological, information updates of postal network. The company supports initiatives aimed at 

increasing their participation in government development programs and projects of Samruk-Kazyna 

JSC. The interest to Kazpost JSC's development is expressed at the highest level, which requires a 

special responsibility to treat the task set. 
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4.1.  Services 

The company provides a wide range of postal, financial, agency and other services, as well as 

a system through which information, money and commodity flows pass. 

In accordance with Kazakhstan legislation, the Company provides the following services: 

postal services: 

1) universal postal services; 

2) services of delivery of registered mail; 

3) services of express and courier mail; 

4) distribution of printed publications under subscription and their sale; 

5) sale of philatelic products; 

6) other postal services in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan; 

7) financial activities and financial services: 

8) brokerage, and transfer-agency activity in the order established by the National Bank of 

Kazakhstan; 

9) services for the delivery of pensions and social benefits; 

10) Acceptance of deposits, opening and maintaining of bank accounts of individuals and 

legal entities; 

11) cash transactions; 

12) transfer transactions; 

13) collection of banknotes, coins and valuables; 

14) organization of exchange operations with foreign currency; 

15) settlements on behalf of legal persons for the service of public institutions under bills of 

territorial divisions of the authorized body on budget execution; 

16) opening and maintaining correspondent accounts; 

17) lotteries; 

18) issue of payment cards; 

19) Agency services 

20) Railway tickets registration 

21) registration of credits (commodity, cash); 

22) sale of lottery tickets; 

23) conclusion of insurance contracts for insurance companies services. 

  

4.2. Background information 

Postal History of Kazakhstan consists of three main stages of development of postal services  

on the territory of our state: the pre-revolutionary, Soviet and independent (since 1991). 

The post emerged as a tool for information transfer and the state management and only later it 

became available to the general public. Despite the fact that in recent years the post was essentially 

pushed aside by actively developing telephony and the Internet, it is a kind of example of how 

communication and information contribute to the development of the governance process. For 

centuries later, "e-government" faced similar problems - ensuring access to information and public 

service management.  

The first post office on the territory of modern Kazakhstan was opened in the times of the 

Russian Empire - in 1860 in Verny (now Almaty). Soon it was transformed into the post and 

telegraph office, which subordinated in 1883 14 postal offices. 

In the USSR, from 1924 till 1991 Kazakh SSR Post was an integral part of the unified Soviet 

system of communication and in the republic postage fees were paid using the Soviet Union's 

stamps. 
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Against the background of the formation of the Republic of Kazakhstan as a sovereign state 

the special attention was given to the recognition in the international arena, which meant entering  

to international unions and organizations and provided for the adoption of common rules  

for the development of mutual cooperation in strategically important areas. 

From June 7, 2006 the Company's sole shareholder is "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. 

  

4.3. New Development Strategy 

In 2015, the Company released a new version of the development strategy until 2022 which 

outlined the main priorities and directions of the Company's development in the long term. Major 

efforts were previously done. In particular they held working meetings with the participation of the 

Management Board members, heads of departments, Fund's experts, groups of Company's 

transformation, Fund's Transformation Team, AEO "Nazarbayev University" on the Company's 

development issues, determination of a new mission and vision, new initiatives for the 

implementation, application of the "KPI tree" and "Risks Tree", developed by a group of the 

Company's transformation with the participation of the Fund's transformation team, experts of 

international consulting company "Ernst & Young".  

As a result of work performed the new Strategy proposed a set new strategic goals and 

objectives, a new strategic efficiency, achievement and the realization of which will allow the 

Company to provide Kazakhstanis in urban and rural areas with modern, accessible and high-quality 

products and services to become a reliable guide of state and businesses partner in rural areas, 

become a stable and efficient enterprise. 

Strategy development is based on a review of internal and external factors, benchmarking with 

respect to foreign operators such as Australia Post, Canada Post, PostNord, Posten Norge, Deutsche 

Post and Poste Italiane, the experience of which is useful for the application by the Company due to 

their similarity in ratio of the size of the country and population number, and best practices in the 

development of postal, financial and other potentially applicable services. 

Implementation of the strategy to be carried out in three stages: 

2015-2016: Investing in the quality of services.  

 Allocation of cost by product lines. 

 Development and implementation of quality standards that meet international standards; 

 Development and implementation of monitoring and quality control system. 

 Introduction of new products/services. 

 The development of custom channels (focus on manufacturability). 

 Ensuring the transparency of business processes. 

2016-2018: Formation and development of competencies. Improvement of the platform to 

engage in market share. 

 The launch of new products to market. 

 Identification and work with target customer segments. 

 The introduction of the coating pattern (urban-rural). 

 The introduction of targeted business processes in all areas of business activity. 

 Implementation of margins control. 

 Development of corporate culture. 

 Optimization of the ratio between sales channels (translation to low-margin services in 

remote channels). 

2019-2022: employment and an increase in the Company's market share. 

 Active promotion of goods and services on the market 

 Implementation of the strategy of product and technology leadership 

 Sales growth in targeted segments 
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 Increased margins 

 The launch of new technological solutions 

 Increased share in target segments 

 Increased external image among the population 

 

Mission 

Kazpost connects the cities and villages, countries and continents, reduces the time and 

distance to communicate, provide Kazakhstan with modern, comfortable and high-quality products 

and services of postal and financial sectors. 

  

Vision 

Kazpost should ensure the availability of all necessary basic products and services in any of its 

branches in a city or village. 

  

Strategic goals and objectives 

1. Customer focus in order to improve service quality and public confidence. 

2. Improved efficiency of business - processes. 

3. A technological breakthrough. 

4. Business Growth in the towns and villages in the target segments. 

Based on the strategic objectives the Company defines the following tasks: 

 expansion of the core business - "postal services": 

 strengthening of logistics functions and preparation to enter the foreign market; 

 the development of financial services; 

 increased operational efficiency; 

 development of reliability and quality brand; 

 development of institutional capacity. 

Current trends in the postal industry demonstrate a high degree of variability, especially under 

the influence of the current economic crisis in the world.  

The main reasons affecting the dynamics of changes in the traditional model of work of the 

national postal operator, are: 

 reduction in the volume of traditional mail (paper), as a result of the transition to electronic 

transmission of information; 

 growth in parcel deliveries as a result of rapid growth dynamics 

 e-commerce market; 

 growth of financial services in connection with a high level of confidence in the mail and the 

availability of a wide branch network. 

As a result, the Company's management body and its management took a decision to adjust or 

to develop a new, updated Development Strategy of Kazpost JSC up to 2022. 

  

The main focus of the new Development Strategy of Kazpost JSC 

For the global postal industry, as an integral part of the global economy, as it was recognized 

at the conference on the Universal Postal Union Strategy, the key concepts of a successful and 

sustainable development are: 

 Diversification - expansion of existing and development of new adjacent markets, entrance 

to these markets of complementary products; 
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 innovations - new processes and products based on the achievements of modern information 

and communication technologies, on the use of the achievements of the economy, 

knowledge, which are the main priority of successful postal administrations. 

The Company's business diversification should be based on key market trends, where there is 

a need to amend the existing postal and financial businesses with new directions, we have to clearly 

distinguish, namely:  

 Agency services 

 logistics services; 

 e-commerce services. 

 sales channels should also be clearly diversified into the following types: 

 physical sales channels: customer service by visiting the Company's existing branch network 

(direct contact of Company's employees and the client); 

 automated sales channels: independent servicing of customers without the participation of 

employees of the Company (postamats network and terminals for the reception and transfer 

of money). 

 remote/online sales channels: service through the Company website and mobile applications. 

  

The implementation of the strategic objectives 

Expansion of "Postal services" business. To achieve this goal, the Company has taken 

measures to improve the speed and safety of parcel shipments through the modernization of 

production processes and logistics capacity of production facilities. The technological scheme of 

production processes optimization and sorting of postal items in the branch "Sorting Center" was 

developed. The technology of transportation of parcel deliveries in the shipping container in 

directions: Almaty, Aktobe, Astana, Aktobe. 

The analysis of existing technological processes of mail processing. Development of the 

conceptual process optimization scheme by processing mail using conveyor mechanisms, 

specialized jobs. Carried purchase, carried out installation, commissioning of conveyor mechanisms. 

The equipment was put into operation. 

Developed and launched specialized products for e-commerce market. In particular, the 

project on "Creation of postamats network in the Republic of Kazakhstan" was implemented. 

Currently postamats were installed in all major cities of the country.  

We opened an independent subsidiary of EMS-Kazpost to improve the quality control of all 

production processes involved in the creation of services and flexibility in making operational 

decisions. Introduced new services: "Premium Express Shipping to CIS and far abroad", "EMS 

Import". 

Comprehensive market research measures were taken to identify products and services 

("Marketing Mix", the Company's position in the market, satisfaction analysis and segmentation, 

etc.). Studied markets of postal, courier, banking and logistics services. Conducted an advertising 

campaign for the services and products. 

To create a postal service in accordance with the market needs we introduced the functionality 

for postal services payment through POS terminals. Created the possibility of cash on delivery 

through multi-function portable device (MPD). Marketing services for online subscription were 

implemented. Perfected sending of SMS-notification about parcels. 

Strengthening of logistics functions and preparation to enter the foreign market. Measures 

were taken to ensure the growth of the postal business by maximizing the performance of logistics 

processes on the main routes. Optimization of logistics operations to reduce costs and increase the 

safety of transportation. In particular, simulations of logistics system were carried out, optimization 
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of the main routes. Launched road routes for transportation of mail: Almaty-Astana through 

Karaganda with a in a day frequency; Almaty-Ust-Kamenogorsk through Taldykorgan, Taskesken, 

Ayagoz, Kalbatau; Karaganda-Ust-Kamenogorsk through Ekibastuz, Pavlodar, Semey with an in a 

day frequency. Created nodal exchange points on main routes of Kandyagash, Tobol, Makat to 

reduce the time of delivery of letters and periodicals for the western and northern regions. Increased 

frequency of mail wagons.  

Implemented measures for fleet modernization to serve the main routes, including the 

replacement of the railway routes to road ones, in order to reduce the control time of delivery of 

postal items. Spent automation of sorting parcels. 

Increase the return on the portfolio of financial services. Measures were taken to increase the 

availability of quality of services, through the development of self-services (payment terminals, 

internet and mobile banking), to reduce the period of international transfers of up to 1 hour, to 

increase the customer base. In particular launched express electronic mail transfers between the CIS 

countries in the World postal service system. Cinducted advertising and promotions for international 

money transfers. Acquisition of new ATMs, corporate cards were launched. Introduced tax 

payments implemented through POS terminals network of the Company. Development of new card 

products for transfer of salaries and social benefits. For example, introduced money transfers 

between the company card in Internet banking and approved tariffs. Introduced services for 

pensioners related to free cash withdrawal on payment cards in ATMs of Kazkommertsbank JSC. 

Also, for pensioners and public sector employees organized a free release and reduced annual 

service on payment cards VISA Classic. The advertising campaign for the promotion of new card 

products was held.  

Increase of operational efficiency. Measures for the implementation of the project "Re-

engineering of business processes" in order to identify and eliminate unnecessary operations and 

costs. Measures to increase productivity are also implemented through automation and 

mechanization of processes and staff. Carried out work to improve the level of efficiency of the 

corporate information system (CIS) by increasing production capacities, adaptation of server 

architecture for growing data streams of transactional systems to ensure their smooth operation. 

Widespread integration of all production facilities in the CIS and the introduction of innovative 

information technology for the effective implementation of Company's business objectives allowed 

to reach a new level of operational efficiency. Implemented new projects: "E-stamp" system, 

"Mobile Postman" and others. 

Development of reliability and quality brand. Strengthen the control over compliance and 

monitoring within the milestone dates in order to increase the proportion of letters and parcels 

delivered on time within the country, ensure the safety of postal items. Video equipment was 

installed in postal vans. On a regular basis, check of the mail wagons for transportation of 

unregistered cargo, unauthorized and prohibited items. Conducted testing of the traveling teams.  

In order to reduce the number of failures of servicing/delivery of parcels due to failure of 

information systems, equipment, depreciation of vehicles the Company has updated fleet of vehicles 

and postal equipment, purchased 300 units of vehicles. To improve the quality of service in post 

offices by reducing waiting times, improvement of the design and improvement of equipment in 

offices of Company we created model post offices, introduced an electronic queue management 

system and automation of customer service quality evaluation in the central operating areas of 

regional branches.  

The development of institutional capacity. Works on automation of HR administration and 

accounting of labor costs and accrual for the concentration of HR-departments on the development 

objectives and human resource capacity. Developed and implemented a comprehensive system of 

selection, recruitment, adaptation, evaluation, promotion and motivation. Implemented measures to 
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create conditions for reduction of flow and improvement of employee satisfaction, the creation of 

the necessary social benefits, and continuous staff development. Executed activities for the 

implementation of project system management, balanced scorecard, improvement of corporate 

governance.  

  

4.4. The legal form and management structure 

Legal organizational form 

The company was established in accordance with the Resolution of the Government of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan as of December 20, 1999 № 1940 "On reorganization of the republican state 

enterprise of postal communication and its affiliated state-owned enterprises."  

The company is now a legal entity established in the legal form of a joint stock company, and 

operates in accordance with the legislation of Kazakhstan, the Company Charter, the provisions of 

the Corporate Governance Code and internal documents. 

100% of shares belong to Samruk-Kazyna JSC. 

  

  Subsidiaries and affiliated companies of Kazpost JSC  

As of 31.12.2015 

              

Name 
Place of 

registration 
Operating activity 

Ownership share 

2012 2013 2014 2015 

 

Elektronpost.KZ 

LLP 

RK Printing and publishing 33% 100% 100% 100% 

Ltd  

JV Kazpost GmbH 
Germany Postal - logistic activities 50% 50% 50% 100% 

        

  

The functional structure of control 

In accordance with the legislation of Kazakhstan the Company's management structure 

consists  

of the following controls: 

 the supreme body - the sole shareholder - Samruk-Kazyna JSC; 

 management body - the Board of Directors - responsible for general management and control 

over the activities of the Company and Management Board; 

 executive body - the Management Board - supervises the current activities of the Company;  

 Internal Audit Service (IAS) - exercises control over financial and economic activities of the 

Company, assesses internal control, risk management, execution of documents in the field of 

corporate governance and counseling in order to improve the Company's operations. 

Enforcement of procedures by authorities and officials of the Company, aimed at ensuring the 

rights and interests of the Sole Shareholder and the Company as well as meeting the provisions of 

the laws and regulations in the field of corporate governance, provisions of the Charter and other 

internal documents of the Company is assigned to the Corporate Secretary. Corporate Secretary as 

part of its control over the preparation and conduct of BoD meetings, ensures the formation of the 

materials on the agenda issues for the meeting of the Board of Directors, controls access to them. 

Corporate Secretary shall ensure the timely receipt by the members of the Board of Directors 

the accurate and clear information. The Company's Management Board, as a collegial executive 

body, takes decisions on all operational issues. 
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      Samruk-Kazyna JSC       

                

      Board of Directors       

                

Internal Audit Service 
  

MB 
  

Corporate Secretary 

Administration 

                

      
Central office 

  

Representative office 

in the Russian 

Federation 

                

                

Branches 
  

Subsidiaries and 

affiliated 

organizations  

                

Republican service of 

special communication   

Almaty General Post 

Office   

Elektronpost.KZ LLP 

(100%) 

                

Postal service 
  

Astana General Post 

Office   

Kazpost GBMH 

(50%) 

                

Information Systems 

Operations Department   
Regional branches (13) 

      

                

Technical service 

  

Corporate Sales 

Administration 

      

                

Information and Logistics 

Center "Yug"   
Branch "EMS-Kazpost" 

      

        

  

Management over affiliates, subsidiaries of the Company is made by the following processes:  

1)    the formation of a common policy for the branches, subsidiaries of the Company; 

2)    conduct of reporting meeting of the administrative board on the results of affiliates, 

subsidiaries performance; 

3)    preparation and monitoring over the execution of Management Board's expectations letter 

to affiliates, subsidiaries. 

As part of the branch management, subsidiaries carried out the planning of targets, making 

available to the recipient, information about the Company's expectations, control and monitoring, as 

well as analysis of the performance of branches, subsidiaries of the Company.  
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4.5. Review of the regulatory environment 

State regulation of activity of Kazpost JSC by the Ministry of Investment and Development of 

Kazakhstan. In the area of financial services (acceptance of deposits, opening and maintaining bank 

accounts of individuals), broker, dealer and transfer-agent activity is regulated by the National Bank 

of Kazakhstan. 

In accordance with the order of the Chairman of the Committee on Regulation of Natural 

Monopolies and Protection of Competition under the Ministry of National Economy of the Republic 

of Kazakhstan (as od 20.10.2015, No 413-OD) the Company was excluded from the Republican 

section of the State register of natural monopolies on the universal postal service. 

According to the above mentioned order the Company at the same time was included in the 

State Register of market entities having dominant or monopolistic position by type of activity: 

universal postal services with a share of over 35% within the geographic boundaries of the Republic 

of Kazakhstan.  

In this regard, the Company is related to the subjects of the regulated market and is not a 

natural monopoly.  

In accordance with Article 7-3 of the Law on Monopolies the Company is obliged to comply 

with the obligations set for the subjects of the regulated market. 

The requirements laid down in Article 5 of the Law on Monopolies concerning the prohibition 

and restriction of activity of subjects of natural monopolies, in terms of other activities of the 

Company are not applied. 

The company is also a subject of the regulated market on subscribed periodicals destribution 

services and registered letters sending services, within the geographic boundaries of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan, with the share of dominance over 35% for each service.  

According to the changes in Kazakhstan legislation, the service of cash transactions in the 

settlements, according to which the company had previously been included in the State Register of 

market entities having dominant or monopolistic position, now does not belong to the sphere of the 

regulated markets. In this regard, the Company has not entered into the State Register of market 

entities having dominant or monopolistic position. 

  

4.6. Licenses  

The Company's activity is based on the following licenses: 

 license for broker-dealer activities in the securities market 

with the right to manage client accounts as a nominal holder  

(Number 0401200704 as of 03.02.2004, issued by the Republic of Kazakhstan Agency for 

Regulation  

and supervision of financial market and financial organizations); 

 license to conduct banking operations in national and foreign currency at the reception of 

deposits, opening and maintaining bank accounts of individuals 

(Number 14 as of 24.02.2006, issued by the Agency for financial market and financial 

organizations regulation and supervision); 

 license on transfer-agent activity (No 001 as of 12.05.2006, issued by the Agency for 

financial market and financial organizations regulation and supervision); 

 State license for activities related to narcotic drugs trafficking (series No 16004191 as of 

28.01.2011, issued by the Anti-Narcotics Committee 

and the control of drug trafficking under the MIA of RK); 

 State license for activities related to the trafficking of precursors and psychotropic 

substances; 
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 State license for activities related to the trafficking of psychotropic substances. 

  

4.7. Transport.  

Vehicles fleet, postal vans and postal equipment 

Road transport is the means of transportation of mail on intraregional and intra-regional 

routes. On trunk routes of the road transport the carriage of mail is organized in 6 postal routes. 

Transportation of mail on intraregional and intra-district routes is provided on 1835 car routes. The 

company strives every year to gradually increase the quantity and quality of the vehicle fleet.  

The percentage of vehicles wear compared to the same period last year reduced from 57% to 

50%. 298 units were purchased in 2015 in the amount of 1,034,802,300 KZT. Company carried out 

the following types of mandatory repairs of postal vans: Capital Repair (CR-1), depot repair and 

maintenance (M 3), factory repair of wheel pairs, replacement of batteries, maintenance (M 1). 

  

Transportation of mail and target dates 

On trunk routes of Kazakhstan the railway transport is the main means of mail transportation. 

Postal vans fleet of the companies includes 37 units on 14 routes involved. These cars provide a 

permanent link between the cities of Astana, Almaty and all regional centers.  

To reduce the time of mail items passage and the delivery of periodicals the Company 

provides transportation of mail by air on 73 air routes for many years. 

To fulfill the quality standards of postal items: letter post, parcels.  

When the prescribed rate requirement for transportation of mail the execution amounted to: 

 on trunk routes (between the regional centers) - 100% with the daily norm; 

 on intraregional routes (from the regional center to RPOC) - 100% with a 4 times a week 

standard; 

 on intra-district routes (from the district center to the VPOC) - 100% with a 2 times a week 

standard. 

 The average frequency of mail transportation as of 01.01.2016 in the Company is as follows:  

 by intraregional routes (from the regional center to RPOC) - 5.5 times per week; 

 for intra routes (from the district center to the VPOC) - 3.7 times a week; 

 As a result of this work, the time for delivery reduced and the delivery terms of letter post 

shipped from Almaty are:  

 D+1 - for the cities of Astana, Taldykorgan; 

 D+2 - for Atyrau, Aktau, Aktobe, Karaganda, Kokshetau, Kyzylorda, Kostanay, Pavlodar, 

Petropavlovsk, Uralsk, Ust-Kamenogorsk, Taraz, Shymkent; 

 due to the change of the day and frequency of postal routes, reduced the maximum time for 

delivery of periodicals from "Day+8" to "day+3" for rural post offices. 

 Since April 2015 we established the nodal exchange points on main routes Kandyagash, 

Tobol, Makat to reduce the time of delivery of letter post and periodicals for the western and 

northern regions. 

  

Main routes transportation  

Total number of routes has increased by 4% and amounted to 1835. To meet the target dates of 

passage of postal items in 2015, the works on optimization and discovery of new main rail and road 

routes were held. 
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Railway route 

Increased frequency of mail wagons in the train No 57/58 from 2 times a week by the rate "in 

a day", with a shipment from Astana on the even days. Also, changes in the scheme of mail wagon 

in the train 45/46 and provision of running of the postal wagon in a day (dispatch from Almaty in 

odd numbers) to Pavlodar without cutaway in Astana. 

In connection with the change of schedule of passenger train No 15 'Almaty-Petropavlovsk" 

with the shipment from Almaty from the even numbers to odd numbers, which coincided with a 

train 45/46 "Almaty-Astana-Almaty" (also in odd numbers), and therefore, to meet the mail 

transportation frequency, running of the route "Almaty-Astana-Almaty" on even days. 

Due to cost overruns for the transportation of mail the frequency of mail wagons in the train 

NO 327/328 "Astana-Kostanay-Astana" was reduced and a timetable for dispatch from Astana in a 

day on odd days was set;  

Due to the weather conditions during the winter period we resumed running of a mail train in 

the train number 674/673 "Astana-Pavlodar-Astana", 32/31 "Almaty-Pavlodar-Almaty", NO 3/4 

"Almaty-Astana-Almaty". 

Increased frequency of mail wagons in the train No 57/58 from 2 times a week by the rate "in 

a day", with a shipment from Astana on the even days.  

Made changes to the scheme of mail wagon in the train 45/46 and provided running of the 

postal wagon in a day (shipment from Almaty on odd days) to Pavlodar without cutaway in Astana.  

In connection with the change of schedule of a passenger train No 15 "Almaty-Petropavlovsk" 

shipment from Almaty from the even numbers to odd numbers, running of vehicles along the route 

"Almaty-Astana-Karaganda" was changed with the shipment from Almaty from odd days to even 

days.  

In connection with the overruns of the mail transportation costs we runned the postal route 

"Almaty-Astana" through Karaganda on odd numbers. 

  

Car route 

In 2015, in order to ensure timely delivery of mail the Company launched the following postal 

routes: 

 Almaty-Astana through Karaganda with a frequency of every other day; 

 Almaty-Ust-Kamenogorsk through Taldykorgan, Ayagoz, Kalbatau;  

 Karaganda-Ust-Kamenogorsk throughEkibastuz, Pavlodar, Semey with a frequency of every 

other day;  

 Almaty-Petropavlovsk through Karaganda, Astana, Kokshetau from Almaty;  

  

The length of the route for 2014-2015. 

                          

Name of 

route 

Total 

number of 

routes per 

day 

Services by land and 

departmental transport 

The total 

length (th. 

km/day) 

Serviced land and 

departmental transport (th. 

km) 

2014 2015 
2014 2015 2014 2015 

2014 2015 
2014 2015 2014 2015 

Rented Dep. Rented Dep. 

Urban 176 197 4 0 172 197 25 22 0 0 25 22 

Intraregional 134 173 29 45 105 128 59 61 13 14 46 47 

Intradistrict 1453 1465 562 544 891 921 326 247 59 55 267 192 
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Total:  1763 1835 595 589 1168 1246 410 330 72 69 338 261 

             

  

Alternative fuel 

The measures to optimize costs and increase the environmental component of the activity of 

the Company is the project to transfer vehicles to alternative fuel - natural gas.  

In 2015, the Company completed the installation of gas equipment on the 320 units of 

vehicles. To date, this type of equipment experienced running test. Mechanics and drivers of motor 

areas got acquainted in practice with the features of the use of LPG equipment.  

As a result, the savings from the use of LPG equipment in road transport in 2015 amounted to 

67.2 mln. KZT. Savings allowed to purchase additional LPG equipment in the amount of 204 units. 

The total number of vehicles with installed gas equipment is 524 units. 

  

4.8. Security 

The main principles of the safety management system including the information are: 

observance of Kazakhstan legislation, winning customer trust, confidentiality, and availability and 

integrity of information assets of the Company. 

As for any instances of violations the relevant activities are conducted in a timely manner. The 

Company has defined target groups for which the work is carried out. We analyze each case of 

violation, establish causal link, and send letters to the Company's structural subdivisions with 

proposals to address them, as well as regional offices to review the facts occurred and to take 

appropriate measures to prevent them. 

At the same time the recommendations of a preventive nature are made, such as: 

 develop the necessary effective measures to eliminate the causes and conditions that create 

opportunities to commit theft of money and loss of postal items; 

 to strengthen financial and economic discipline in order to reduce and exclude cases of theft; 

 qualitatively inspect candidates applying for vacant positions in the course of search of HR 

related to material values, objectively express an opinion on compliance with the 

qualification requirements, or refusal of acceptance/appointment and translation by legal 

reasons, as well as in the future, organize training to improve skills; 

 regularly consider at the meetings of the BoD and MB the security issues of cash, valuables 

preservation and activities to prevent their loss; 

 to verify compliance with the requirements for technical strengthening and equipping the 

means of security and fire alarm at the facilities of the Company and cash warehouse, 

according to the requirements of the National Bank of RK. 

Approved action plans aimed at ensuring the safety of postal items, avoiding sending in postal 

items the prohibited enclosures. 

Conducted control over parcels and packages that simulate explosive devices in Aktau, Atyrau 

and Aktobe. Revealed facts of unformed cargo delivery, violations of labor discipline. The workers 

were disciplined.  

Video equipment was installed in 35 postal vans. Each PV was equipped with 6 cameras, the 

unit for recording from the video cameras with hard drive. We installed two antennas on the 

platform of the deadlock in ILC "Yug" branch. Installed the server to collect information from video 

surveillance of postal vans and the transfer of this information to the Situation Centre of Astana. 

Conducted analysis on the delivery of prohibited items in postal items with the submission of 

reporting to the Company's management. 
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Employees of the Specialists Training Center on anti-terrorism in the ILC "Yug" conducted 

training on "Terrorism and its manifestations." A film about the terrorist attack in Cine (the 

explosion of 17 parcels sent via post offices) was demonstrated. 

In the area of customs control in conjunction with dog experts of the State Revenue 

Department for the city of Almaty the event for the detection of drugs in mailings using search dogs 

was held. 

Company took part in five meetings of the Coordinating Council on the rule of law, system of 

justice and the fight against crime at the General Prosecutor's Office of the Republic of Kazakhstan.  

State utility company on the right of economic management "Center for study and analysis" of 

the Directorate of Religious Affairs of Almaty in ILC "Yug" held a training seminar on the theme 

"Fight against extremism and terrorism in the framework of the implementation of the state policy in 

the religious sphere." 

Carrying out of a training of employees in ILC " Yug" of Almaty involved at the reception, 

processing, inspection of postal items on the basis of the Aviation Training Center  

of Almaty International Airport JSC on the course "Operators of X-ray television systems", received 

certificates of "aviation security expert." 

  

4.9. Feedback 

On the corporate website of the Company there is a blog of Chairman of the Management 

Board  

of Kazpost JSC and the page "Contact Us". These Internet site platforms receive appelas of 

consumers and employees of the Company which are further inspected, and the follow-up responses 

are provided to the authors. Timely and qualitative representation of the responses to the appeals of 

external blogs - The Prime Minister, Minister of Transport and Communications of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan and other state bodies. 

Personal blog of the head of the Company is one of the most visited in the group companies of 

the Fund. Employees of the Company appeal to the Chairman of the Management Board through his 

personal blog on staffing levels, wages, working conditions, to share their suggestions and ideas to 

improve the quality of work. 

The "Contact Us" page is appealed by visitors on the following issues: tracing of postal items 

(international, domestic), financial services, card business, delivery time for subscriptions, poor 

performance of mail tracking system, work schedule of post offices, the time required for postal 

items processing in the sorting center, etc.  

  

4.10. Image and information policy 

The company annually increases the efficiency of the work on information openness and 

transparency. Monitors information for public consideration, develops internal legal documents, 

corporate documents are translated to the state, Russian and English languages. 

Information transparency process is governed by the Charter of Kazpost JSC, the Information 

Disclosure Regulation governing the list and dates of public information to interested parties of the 

Company.  

According to the RK legislation, internal regulations of Kazpost JSC, financial and non-

financial information about the company's activities during the reporting period is available in a 

timely manner and to the extent necessary on the corporate website of the Company, the Fund's 

depository of financial statements of the RK Ministry of Finance. 

The Company approved regulations (Rules of preparation and disclosure of information in the 

annual report, Regulations for information posting on the Company's website) necessary to ensure a 
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structured process of information disclosure, which define the format for authorities, officials and 

functional units responsible for the disclosure and presentation of information, including their 

defined roles and responsibilities as part of the disclosure process. 

Publication of financial statements of Kazpost JSC is regulated by the Decree of the 

Management Board of the National Bank of Kazakhstan as of August 31, 2012 No 282 "On 

Approval of the financial statements publishing rule by joint-stock companies and financial 

institutions."  

The company discloses in the notes to the financial statements the information about 

transactions with related parties. Also discloses to the public the related party transactions as defined 

by the legislation of RK about the JSC.  

In 2015 there was a record number of published information materials about the activities of 

Kazpost JSC in the media - 4346 materials (2.6 times more than in 2014). As for the tone of 

mentions in the media the neutral materials make up 70.2%, positive - 27.8%, negative - 2%. Thus, 

the information with a positive tone published in the media is 2.6 times more than in 2014. Also, 

compared to the 2014 year, a positive tone mentions about Kazpost JSC in the national media has 

increased by 254%, and customer loyalty rate rose by 61.5% (from 28.5% to + 33%). By category of 

publications leading is the main activity of the Company (the expansion of the portfolio of services, 

automation of processes, creation of mobile applications, public awareness, interaction with public 

authorities in public service, the global tracking of postal items, achievements of the company, 

corporate events).  

The company is part of the public sector of the economy, and participates in government 

programs that do not remain without attention of national and regional media (Message of the 

President of the Republic of Kazakhstan to the nation, the Roadmap, the National Movement 

"Kazakhstan-2050", cooperation with the National Bank of Kazakhstan and the SCPP, the 

implementation of the Business transformation program, creation of free public email post.kz, 

integration of information systems of the Company and National information technologies of 

Kazakhstan JSC, property legalization program, the possibility to obtain PSC services in remote 

villages of the country).  

In addition, the Company is a socially-oriented company providing services in the remote 

areas of the country, due to which the social orientation of the company is often mentioned in the 

media of Kazakhstan (customer service through mobile PSCs, the reception of documents for the 

purpose of social payments, the new standards of customer service, the activities of regional 

branches of Kazpost JSC, cooperation with the leading trading platforms, online shopping, delivery 

of pensions and social benefits, access to the Internet for villagers via rural post offices, delivery of 

periodicals).  

Information materials on the activities of the Company are posted mostly in online 

publications (interviews, articles, news, competitions, social, charity campaigns). Less information 

materials is published out on the pages of print media and news agencies newslines.  

Video clips on the activities of Kazpost JSC are broadcasted on national and regional TV. In 

most cases the materials are published in Russian, but in the future it is planned to increase their 

number in the state language.  

Top management is frequently mentioned in the media, since the company built effective 

channels of communication, thought out themes of information in the media, which do not require 

financing. In 2015, the company has not published any paid material in national and regional media.  

The company is actively represented in social networks with the official accounts. Content is 

updated daily, the constant work with social media users and customers is held. The total number of 

subscribers to the social accounts of the Company is 15774 people. 
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4.11. Philately 

Pursuant to the National Action Plan on organization and holding of the Year of Assembly of 

People of Kazakhstan and the 20th anniversary of the Constitution of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 

approved by the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan as of 21.11.2014, No 1223 the 

Company issued: 

 postage block with a stamp series "Memorable dates and anniversaries" on the theme "20 

years of the Assembly of People of Kazakhstan" (order of CCII under MID RK as of June 

17, 2015 No 161); 

 postage stamp series "Memorable dates and anniversaries" on the theme "20 Years of the 

Constitution of the Republic of Kazakhstan" (order of CCII under MID RK as of August 24, 

2015 No 218). 

Pursuant to the Plan of measures on preparation and holding the 550-year anniversary of the 

Kazakh Khanate in 2015, approved by the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan as of 

31.12.2014, No 1448 Company issued commemorative postage stamp dedicated to the 550th 

anniversary of the Kazakh Khanate. 

Issued a postage stamp, a stamp booklet and a thematic special cancellation stamps for 

cancellation of a postage stamp of the member countries of the Eurasian Economic Union (EEU) to 

the EEU Intergovernmental meeting held on May 29, 2015 in v.Borovoye, Akmola region with the 

participation of Heads of Government of the EEU Member States. 105 thematic booklets devoted to 

EEU were sent at the adress of the Eurasian Economic Commission.  

In order to strengthen co-operation and integration of the Republic of Kazakhstan with foreign 

postal administrations in 2015 a memorandum on the joint release of stamps with the United Arab 

Emirates (UAE) was signed and a joint issue of postage stamps of the Republic of Kazakhstan and 

the United Arab Emirates was carried out. 

On behalf of the Presidential Administration in 2015 new series "Mangilik el" and "Uly dala 

eli" stamps were issued: 

 souvenir series block of "Uly dala eli" themed "My Kazakhstan.Aktobe region"; 

 stamp series "Mangilik eli": 

 postage stamp themed "Happy Nauryz!"; 

 postage stamp series "EXPO-2017" themed "Astana EXPO-2017"; 

 stamps series "The Regional Commonwealth in the communication field" themed 

"Architectural monuments of capitals"; 

postage stamps themed "Legends of Kazakhstani Sport. Kazhimukhan Munaitpassov." 

In 2015, we held celebrations on stamps putting into operation: 

1. On May 6, 2015, Astana, held a solemn cancellation of a postage block dedicated to the 

70th anniversary of the Victory in the Great Patriotic War. The philatelic products in the amount of 

50 sets was sent to ACs RCC. 

2. On behalf of the Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan as of May 22, 2015 a stamp 

dedicated to EEU was put into operation. For the conduct of special cancellation of stamp a thematic 

booklet was designed and sent to meeting of the Eurasian Intergovernmental Council with the 

participation of Heads of Government of the EEU Member States EAEC (Moscow). Special 

cancellations took place on May 29, 2015 in the village Burabay in Akmola region. 

3. Pursuant to the National Action Plan on organization and holding of the Year of the 

Assembly of the people of Kazakhstan and the 20th anniversary of the Constitution of the Republic 

of Kazakhstan the Company put into circulation: 

- Postage block devoted to the Year of the Assembly of People of Kazakhstan with the 

participation of Astana philatelists Astana.  
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- Postage stamp dedicated to the 20th anniversary of the Constitution of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan with the participation of Chairman of the Constitutional Council of Kazakhstan Igor 

Rogov, the members of the Constitutional Council, deputies, philatelists and the media. 

4. Postage stamp dedicated to the 550th anniversary of the Kazakh Khanate with the 

participation of Deputy Prime - Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan B.Saparbayev, deputies, 

philatelists, Media 

5. Joint issue of postage stamps of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the United Arab Emirates, 

within the development of relations in the framework of the International Investment Forum "Astana 

Invest 2015" with participation of Deputy Akim of Astana N. Aliyev, with the delegation of the 

UAE, Investment Forum participants and the media. 

6. Postage stamp dedicated to "Happy postcrossing" involving postcrossers and philatelists. 

7. Postage stamp series "Space" themed "Kazakhstan cosmonaut Aydin Aimbetov in space" 

with the participation of Chairman of the Aerospace Committee of the RK MID Musabayev T.A. 

and Aimbetova A.A., philatelists and the media. 

8. Postage stamp series "EXPO-2017" themed "Astana EXPO-2017" with participation of 

Deputy Chairman of "NC Astana EXPO - 2017" JSC Ye. Shormanov, philatelists and the media. 

For the first time carried out the release of a postage stamp series "Nauryz" with UV coating 

technology. 

This year, we organized and carried out the following exposition of postage stamps of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan: 

1. Organized exhibition of postage stamps of the Republic of Kazakhstan on the 70th 

anniversary of Victory Day in the Great Patriotic War (Moscow, Minsk, Belarus) 

2. Organized exhibition of postage stamps of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the exhibition 

"Belfila-2015". Received a gold medal for the representation. 

3. Organized exhibition of postage stamps of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the exhibition of 

the national currency and postage stamp of the Republic of Kazakhstan (Moscow) Company 

received a letter of thanks for participation in the exhibition. 

4. Conduct of a week-long exhibition of stamps in Astana in the SEC "Saryarka" in 

celebration of the Day of the First President. 

  

4.12. Interaction with stakeholders 

The Company adopted the Assessment Procedure and Map for Kazpost JSC's stakeholders 

(Methodology) in which there are questions of interaction with stakeholders. 

Effective communication with all stakeholders is one of the conditions for  

sustainable development. Fundamental corporate values are integrity, reliability and professionalism 

of employees to the interested parties and the Company as a whole. 

The method lists all the stakeholders with whom the Company interacts, evaluated the degree 

of interaction, strength of support/counter to each stakeholder. 

The Company's stakeholder groups are divided into internal and external:  

1) Internal - The sole shareholder; Board of Directors; Governing body; Company personnel; 

subsidiaries and affiliated companies - "JV Elektronpost.KZ" LLP (Kazakhstan), Kazpost GmbH 

(Hamburg, Germany);  

2) external - the state bodies; financial institutions (creditors); partners; international 

organizations; competition; providers; public, non-governmental organizations; mass media; 

customers; union.  

The criterion for the definition of stakeholder depending on the Company's exposure to them 

and their impact to the Company are as follows: Company's strategic priorities, transparency and 
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disclosure, sectorial development programs, social issues, initiatives and proposals of stakeholders 

and others. 

  

The international cooperation 

The company is a member of the Universal Postal Union (UPU), the Association of European 

public postal operators PostEurop, the Regional Commonwealth in the Field of Communications 

(RCC). At the same time the national postal operator of Kazakhstan develops cooperation with 

foreign postal administrations (FPA) in the bilateral format. In 2015, employees of Kazpost JSC 

made a meeting with the foreign partners from Russia, Latvia, Lithuania, UAE, Japan, China, 

Turkey, Indonesia, Hong Kong. 

  

UPU 

Employees of "Kazpost" JSC took part in the spring and autumn sessions of the Postal 

Operations Council and the Administrative Council of the Universal Postal Union. The key issues 

discussed during the meeting was the preparation for the 26 th Congress, scheduled to take place in 

September 2016, as well as proposals to reform the Union. 

  

Regional Commonwealth in the field of communication  

The active position of the company in the work of the RCC provides constant coordination 

with the member countries of the RCC, the exchange of best practices, development of 

standardization programs of information and communication technologies and e-mail. The parties 

are working together to improve the security of postal exchange between the member countries of 

the RCC, the joint efforts form a unified position in other international organizations. 

April 2, 2015, Bishkek (Kyrgyz Republic) - a joint 39/28 meeting of the RCC Commission on 

postal communication with the Council of the RCC Postal Operators. The meeting was attended by 

representatives of 6 RCC Communications Administrations, including Kazakhstan, the RCC 

Executive Committee and UPU. 

The meeting discussed the implementation of decisions of the 25th Congress of the Universal 

Postal Union (UPU), the preparation for the Regional Round Table Discussion on the UPU future 

strategy and the UPU Strategic Conference. They also discussed issues of preparation of the RCC 

Communications Administrations for the celebration of the 70th anniversary of the Victory in the 

Great Patriotic War 1941 -.1945, shared their experiences about the activities in the field of 

marketing and advertising of e-mail, financial and commercial services, including e-government. 

They discussed the opening of a regional training center for specialists of the RCC postal service. 

  June 18, 2015, Minsk (Belarus), the Delegation of the Company took part in the Regional 

Conference for Europe and the CIS countries on the reform of the postal sector, organized by the 

UPU International Bureau jointly with the RCC Executive Committee and Communications 

Administration of Belarus. The purpose of the conference - to discuss the methodology of the 

Comprehensive Plan of postal reform and development. They considered the main directions for 

postal UPU reform, the importance of the determination of the universal postal service and the 

regulation of the postal sector. Participants discussed the presented analysis of the main stages of the 

reform of the postal sector at the regional level and the implementation of European directives for 

the postal sector in the countries of South-Eastern Europe. 

October 8, 2015, Astana, Republic of Kazakhstan - a joint 40th meeting of the RCC Postal 

Commission and 29th meeting of the Board of the RCC Postal Operators. The joint meeting was 
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attended by members of the RCC Postal Commission, members of the postal operators of the RCC, 

representatives of the RCC Executive Committee and UPU International Bureau. The agenda of the 

joint meeting was notable for different saturation and involvement of a large number of specialized 

professionals for the discussion. 

Noting the importance and timeliness of the discussion and the development of modern digital 

postal financial services, Intervale Group of companies made a presentation "Money transfer from 

card accounts for the issue through post offices and USSD transfers." 

At the joint meeting a decision was made on the relevance of active development of today's 

digital postal financial services by all designated operators of the RCC participants, both nationally 

and internationally, using existing technological capabilities of the UPU, which will greatly increase 

the service and as a result, increase the revenue of the designated operators. 

Communications Administration of the Republic of Kazakhstan reported at a meeting the 

information on legislative support for the development of postal services. They also discussed issues 

of preparation to celebrate the 25th anniversary of the RCC and update of work plan for 2013-2016. 

RCC Postal Commission, the Board of the RCC Postal Operators and the Working Groups of the 

Council of the RCC Postal Operators. 

  

Bilateral cooperation 

Within the framework of bilateral cooperation and expansion of relations in 2015, the 

following activities were carried out. 

Postal delegation of Lithuania visit on January 21-23, 2015, Astana, to hold a series of 

meetings with the structural units of Kazpost JSC on postal items transit. 

In January 2015, a delegation of Kazpost JSC visited Moscow. We visited a number of 

production facilities of the Russian Federation designated operator "Russian Post" to study the 

experience of construction of the logistics system of the hybrid electronic mail, etc. 

In February 2015, visit of a delegation of «Toshiba» company (Japan), Director of the 

development of postal and logistics systems (USA) and Director of the Department of industrial and 

infrastructure equipment «Toshiba» CIS (Russia). Company delegates visited the facilities of 

Kazpost JSC in the cities of Almaty and Astana. Delegates considered processes of development and 

implementation of sorting centers. 

In March, a delegation of Kazpost JSC visited Moscow to meet with Russian companies of 

OTTO group, Limonti, Studio Moderna LLC, Courier Service TNX, Yves Rocher Vostok LLC and 

discussed the delivery of mail by road from Russia to Kazakhstan. 

June, the visit of the Chairman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC to the United Arab 

Emirates for the purpose of signing a memorandum between the Republic of Kazakhstan and the 

United Arab Emirates on the joint issue of stamps dedicated to the development of the Kazakh-Arab 

relations, which depicts the head of state - President of Kazakhstan Nursultan Nazarbayev and 

President of the UAE sheikh Khalifa bin Zayed Al Nahyan. The ceremony of signing the 

Memorandum on the joint issue of stamps was held on June 9 this year in the United Arab Emirates 

in Dubai. 

September 2015 - a meeting of representatives of Kazpost JSC with representatives of the 

Invest Hong Kong JSC. The purpose of the meeting: to discuss cooperation in the field of 

investments. The meeting addressed issues and the feasibility of the economic belt of the Silk Road, 

taking advantage of Hong Kong; practical aspects of the organization of business in Hong Kong to 

maintain activity in the territory of the PRC; opportunity to raise capital in Hong Kong; discussion 

of the capability for joint activities of business opportunities of the Republic of Kazakhstan in Hong 

Kong and China, and vice versa. 
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September - a meeting of representatives of Kazpost JSC, Liaison information and data 

Committee under MID RK with the delegation in the field of communication of the People's 

Republic of China in Astana and Almaty in order to discuss issues of mutual cooperation in the field 

of postal services.  

From September 27 to October 2, a trip of Chairman of the Management Board to Paris, 

France and Berlin, Germany to participate in the international exhibition PostEXPO-2015, as well as 

visits to production facilities of La Poste and Deutsche Post. 

October 2015 - a meeting of representatives of Intervale Kazakhstan JSC and Kazpost JSC. At 

the meeting parties discussed issues of development of modern postal and financial services, and the 

prospects of their introduction in Kazpost JSC. There was a review and discussion of the project 

"Transfers with payment cards for the payment to the recipient in cash at the offices of postal 

administrations" (hereinafter-Card to Cash on international transfers of the UPU) via STEFI module, 

and features and possibilities of Card to Cash project implementation for UPU international postal 

money orders in Kazpost JSC. 

Within the framework of the VI International investment forum Astana Invest in September 

2015 in Astana, a delegation of «Emirates Post» made a visit for the arrangement of a stamp 

cancelleation dedicated to the development of relations of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the 

United Arab Emirates with the image of the President of Kazakhstan N.A. Nazarbayev and 

President of the UAE Sheikh Khalifa bin Zayed Al Nahyan. 

In November 2015 a delegation of Lietuvos paštas made a visist to consider new projects to 

increase the transit potential of Kazpost JSC in the direction of "Europe" and the development of e-

commerce. 

Also in November 2015 as part of the "Road Map - 2020" the delegation of the Government of 

Bandung (Indonesia) made a visited in Astana to search for potential partners and expand business 

cooperation, investment activities and joint projects. 

  

Participation in charters and associations 

The company does not carry out any kinds of donations to political parties, politicians and 

related organizations, as well as any investment in the communities. During the reporting period, 

within the work on the interaction with external parties, Kazpost JSC assumed no obligation and did 

not support any charter or initiatives in economic, environmental and social spheres. 

  

Membership in associations, international advocacy organizations 

The company cooperates with the Association of Financiers of Kazakhstan on issues related to 

improvement of financial activity, study of existing and emerging regulatory legal acts regulating 

the financial sector. Kazpost JSC participates in the development of appropriate regulations, laws. 

In accordance with the Law "On the National Chamber of Entrepreneurs of Kazakhstan" 

Kazpost JSC since 2013 is a member of the National Chamber of entrepreneurs (hereinafter - 

NCHE). The objectives of the NChE is to consolidate the business community, representation, 

promotion and protection of the rights and legitimate interests of businesses, organization of 

effective interaction between businesses and their associations (unions)  

with public authorities, to promote the creation of favorable legal, economic and social conditions 

for the implementation of entrepreneurship in Kazakhstan, participation in the process of 

improvement of the RK legislation affecting businesses. 

The company is a member of the Kazakhstan Association of Online Business and Mobile 

Commerce (KAOB). This non-profit organization the main goal of which is the development of the 
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industry of e-commerce, as well as the protection of rights and interests of business entities the 

activities of which relate to the Internet. 

Kazpost JSC is also a member of "KAZLOGISTICS" Union of Transport of Kazakhstan. The 

objectives of the Union are the interaction with public authorities on the development of transport 

and logistics systems, and the development of public-private partnership, participation in the 

development of legislative and regulatory acts, the support for members of the Union in the 

implementation of transportation services projects, the development of multimodal transportation in 

the region, assistance for the implementation of innovations in the field of logistics, assistance in the 

promotion and integration of transport and logistics system of Kazakhstan into the global transport 

system. 

  

Interaction with state bodies 

In order to support the development of postal services throughout the country the company 

cooperates with the state authorities. 

So, in 2015 the Company achieved the following positive results in cooperation with state 

authorities. 

As previously mentioned the Company is excluded from the National Register of natural 

monopolies, which enables it to provide services and carry out other activities without the consent of 

the authorized body, there is no need for approval and agreement of the following documents with 

the competent authority: 

 technical and technological norms of consumption of raw materials, fuel, energy; 

 normative number of staff; 

 staffing; 

 maximum level of remuneration of executives of administrative staff; 

 Annual cost estimates aimed at repair and overhaul and other repair works thet do not lead to 

an increase in the cost of fixed assets. 

Receipt of the permission of the Commission on the strategic objectives of the Government of 

the Republic of Kazakhstan on the lease of 407 vacant sites of the Company. 

Increased fee for Company's services for the payment of pensions and benefits from 1.25% to 

1.65%. Agreed allocation of additional financial resources to pay for services in the payment of 

pensions and benefits from the Republican budget for 2016-2018. 

Agreed with the authorized body on the Company's tariffs increase for universal postal 

services. Tariffs for legal entities increased from 01.07.15 by 46% (from 60 to 112 KZT.), and 5-7% 

in the coming years. Tariffs for natural persons remained unchanged. 

Changes in the State Register of market entities having dominant or monopolistic position in 

terms of replacement of the name of service for delivery, distribution and shipment of periodicals in 

the following wording "subscribed periodicals distribution service." The wording is aligned with the 

terminology established by the Law of RK "On mail" and the Rules of postal services. 

The bill "On mail" in the new version was agreed with the state authorities and submitted to 

the Majilis of the Parliament of the Republic of Kazakhstan, by the RoK Government's resuolutions 

dated November 27, 2015 No 953, 954. Signed a memorandum with Akimat of Astana on the use of 

new zip codes. Cooperation in accordance with the Memorandum in the following directions: 

 the use of new zip code in projects of Akimat of Astana 

 assist in the implementation of the concept "Astana-smart city"; 

 assist in scaling up the use of new zip codes. 
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5. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Company's corporate governance system is based on legislation of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan, statutory and internal documents of the Company. This system is aimed at consistent 

and detailed construction of a balanced system of relationships with all stakeholders and 

improvement of the efficiency of operations.  

As part of the main course of development we carried out significant work to improve 

corporate governance and transparency of the Company's activities. Openness and transparency in 

cooperation with shareholders, partners, customers, employees and government institutions are 

essential priorities. 

To date, the Company has made significant progress in the development of corporate 

governance system. Implemented a number of important initiatives in this area, as well as developed 

and refined internal documents of the Company. In particular, the company has made great strides in 

strengthening the role of the Board of Directors in making key decisions, strengthening the internal 

audit function, increasing transparency, etc. 

In 2015, the Company's corporate governance diagnostics was carried out by PWC in 

accordance with the procedure of diagnostics of corporate governance in the companies group of 

Samruk-Kazyna JSC during the period from July to November 2015.  

According to the results of diagnostics of corporate governance of the Company for 2015 the 

overall level of corporate governance best practice requirements was 79%. 

  

5.1. Board of Directors 

The general management of the Company is carried out by the Board of Directors, except for 

the issues referred to the exclusive competence of the Sole Shareholder. 
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Activities of the Board of Directors are based on the principles of rationality, efficiency, 

activity, integrity, honesty, responsibility, accuracy, professionalism, diligence, objectivity and 

regularity. 

In August 2015 the Company's Board of Directors was elected for a new term. 

  

The composition of the Board of Directors (as of 31.12.2015) 

      

No Full name Position 

      

1 Yelena Leonidovna 

Bakhmutova 

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors, representative of the Sole 

Shareholder - Managing Director of Finance and Operations of 

"Samruk-Kazyna" JSC, a member of the Management Board of 

Samruk-Kazyna JSC 

2 Nurzhan Talipovich 

Baidauletov  

Member of the Board of Directors, representative of the sole 

shareholder - General Manager of Asset Management in "Samruk-

Kazyna" JSC, a member of the Appointments and Remuneration 

Committee under the Board of Directors 

3 Adamas Olegas 

Ilkyavichyus  

Member of the Board of Directors, representative of the Sole 

Shareholder - Managing Director of Transformation and special 

projects of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC, member of the Committee for 

Strategy and Development under the Board of Directors 

4 Adriaan Ian Houwink Senior Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, a member of the 

Appointments and Remuneration Committee under the Board of 

Directors, a member of the Audit and Risks Committee under the 

Board of Directors, member of the Committee for Strategy and 

Development under the Board of Directors 

6.  Zhanat Kolanovna 

Berdalina  

Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, Chairwoman of the Audit and 

Risks Committee under the Board of Directors, member of the 

Committee for Strategy and Development under the Board of 

Directors 

7 Oraz Aliyevich 

Zhandossov  

Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, Chairman of the Committee 

for Strategy and Development under the Board of Directors 

8 Dmitriy Nikolayevich 

Zhukov  

Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, Chairman of the 

Appointments and Remuneration Committee under the Board of 

Directors, Member of the Internal Audit Committee under the Board 

of Directors 

9 Bagdat Batyrbekovich 

Mussin  

Member of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Management 

Board  

of Kazpost JSC 

   

  

The composition of the Board of Directors (as of 01.11.2016) 

      

№ Full name Position 
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1 Yelena Leonidovna 

Bakhmutova 

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors, representative of the Sole 

Shareholder - Managing Director of Finance and Operations of 

"Samruk-Kazyna" JSC, a member of the Management Board of 

Samruk-Kazyna JSC 

2 Saudabayev Serik 

Bolatovich 

Member of the Board of Directors, representative of the Sole 

Shareholder of the Directorate -Director of Telecommunications 

"Samruk-Kazyna", a member of the Appointments and Remuneration 

of the Board of Directors 

3 Ilkyavichyus Adamas 

Olegas 

Member of the Board of Directors, representative of the Sole 

Shareholder - Managing Director of Transformation and special 

projects of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC, member of the Committee for 

Strategy and Development of the Board of Directors 

4 Adrian Ian Houwink Senior Independent Director of JSC "Kazpost", a member of the 

Appointments and Remuneration of the Board of Directors, a 

member of the Audit Committee and Risk Management Board of 

Directors, member of the Committee for Strategy and Development 

of the Board of Directors 

5 Mark David Hughes Independent Director of JSC "Kazpost", a member of the Audit 

Committee and Risk Management Board of Directors, member of the 

Committee for Strategy and Development of the Board of Directors 

6 Jandosov Oraz 

Aliyevich 

Independent Director of JSC "Kazpost", Chairman of the Committee 

for Strategy and Development of the Board of Directors 

7 Zhukov Dmitri Independent Director of JSC "Kazpost", Chairman of the 

Appointments and Remuneration of the Board of Directors, Member 

of the Internal Audit Board of Directors 

8 Musin Bagdat 

Batyrbekovich 

Member of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Board 

JSC "Kazpost" 

 

 

 

 

Members participation in meetings of the  

Board of Directors in 2015 

          

No Full name 

Number 

of 

meetings 

TOTAL 

Participation % 

          

1 Yelena Leonidovna 

Bakhmutova 

14 14 100% 

2 Nurzhan Talipovich 

Baidauletov  

14 12 86% 

3 Adamas Olegas Ilkyavichyus  14 13 93% 

4 Adriaan Ian Houwink 14 14 100% 

6.  Zhanat Kolanovna Berdalina  14 13 93% 
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7 Oraz Aliyevich Zhandossov  14 13 93% 

8 Dmitriy Nikolayevich Zhukov  14 14 100% 

9 Bagdat Batyrbekovich Mussin  14 14 100% 

10 Skodovs Gynts Yanovich 7 7 100% 

     

  

Records of members of the Board of Directors 

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors - the managing director of finance and operations - a 

member of the Management Board of Samruk-Kazyna JSC Bakhmutova Yelena Leonidovna. 

Born on February 27, 1962. She graduated in 1983 from the Almaty Institute of National 

Economy. She worked in senior positions in the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 

the Ministry of Labor and Social Protection of Population of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the 

National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan, headed the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan on 

Regulation and Supervision of Financial Market and Financial Organizations.  

From June 2013 to present time - the Chairwoman of the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC. 

From January 2016 - Managing Director of Finance and Operations, Member of the Management 

Board  

of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. 

Member of the Board of Directors - General Manager of Asset Management in Samruk-

Kazyna JSC Nurzhan Talipovich Baidauletov . 

Born on September 1, 1960. He graduated in 1986 from the Moscow Institute of Railway 

Transport. From 1986 to 2006 he worked in the railroad industry, then worked in leading positions 

of the Ministry of Transport and Communications of the Republic of Kazakhstan. From 2006 to 

present - General Manager on Assets Management of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. From April 2014 to 

present - member of the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC. 

Member of the Board of Directors - Managing Director of Transformation and special projects 

of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC Ilkyavichyus Adamas Olegas, born on December 10, 1975. In 2000 he 

graduated from the Open University, Bachelor in Business Administration and Computer Sciences, 

Tel Aviv, Israel, and then in 2007 - Business School BMI, Master of International Business 

Administration BMI-197, Copenhagen, Denmark. For several years worked at IBM Global Business 

Services, the manager of global business transformation program of the Eurasian Natural Resources 

Corporation, business management and technologies (ENRC BTS). From November 26, 2013 to 

March 2, 2014 was an Advisor to the Chairman of the Management Board of "Samruk-Kazyna" 

JSC, since March 3, 2014 to January 10, 2016 held the position of Chief Business Transformation 

Officer of  the "Sovereign Wealth Fund "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. From January 11, 2016 to present - 

Managing Director of Transformation and special projects of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. 

From January 27, 2014 to present - member of the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC. 

Independent Director - Adriaan Ian Houwink, was born on 29 November 1957, a Dutch 

citizen. He graduated in 1978 the Erasmus University (Rotterdam), Department of Economics (BA), 

in 1983 - University of Groningen (the Netherlands), an MBA (Master of Business Administration), 

and also received additional education on subjects of tax law, IFRS and corporate performance at 

the University of Amsterdam and Harvard business school.  

Over the years, he held senior positions in the bank ABN AMRO and Royal Bank  

of Scotland Plc (Royal Bank of Scotland, London, Amsterdam), specialized in M&A transactions, 

restructuring, management over expenses and income, the preparation of managerial statements, 

budgeting and forecasting issues. 
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Since 2011, an independent consultant in the «Bishopsfield Capital Partners» (London), a 

member of PGGM Advisory Board Alternative Funds. 

Since August 7, 2012 to present - Independent Director of Kazpost JSC. Since September 10, 

2015 was elected as a Senior Independent Director of Kazpost JSC.  

Independent Director - Berdalina Zhanat Kolanovna, was born on July 3,1957. 

In 1988 she graduated from Alma-Ata Institute of National Economy, as an economist, in 

1998 - the University of Bristol (UK, International Business Diploma). In 1999 - Ecole Nationale 

des Ponts et Chaussees (France, MBA, MBA Executive). In 1994 received a qualification certificate 

of the auditor RK No. 0000007.  

Until October 1993 worked in the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan 

authorities (head of taxation department for foreign economic activity of the main tax office of 

Kazakhstan) and the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan on statistics (Economic Analysis 

Office). She is the founder and director of the consulting firm "Bureau Zhanat". From February 

1996 to December 2010 is the co-founder, Managing Partner, President, Senior Advisor to KPMG 

international audit company in Kazakhstan and Central Asia. From November 2008 to May 2012 - 

Member of the Board of Directors, Independent Director, Chairwoman of the Audit Committee of 

Kazakhstan Stock Exchange JSC. 

In combination since July 2013 to the present time is a member of  the Board of Directors, 

Independent Director, Chairwoman of Audit Committee in the National Agency for Technological 

Development JSC. 

Since April 1, 2014 to present day - Independent Director of Kazpost JSC. 

Independent Director - Zhandossov Oraz Aliyevich, was born on October 26, 1961. 

In 1983 he graduated from M.V. Lomonossov Moscow State University, majoring in 

economics, cybernetics. He worked at the Institute of Economics of the Academy of Sciences of 

Kazakhstan. Over the years, he served as Chairman of the Management Board of the National Bank 

of the Republic of Kazakhstan, First Deputy Prime Minister - Chairman of the State Committee of 

the Republic of Kazakhstan on investments, Deputy Prime Minister - Minister of Finance of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan, President of KEGOC JSC, Assistant of the RK President, Chairman of the 

Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan on regulation of natural monopolies and protection of 

competition. 

He is currently a Director of the Center for Economic Analysis "Rakurs", a member of the 

National Chamber of Entrepreneurs of Kazakhstan. 

Since April 1, 2014 to present day - Independent Director of Kazpost JSC. 

Independent Director - Zhukov Dmitry Nikolayevich, was born on February 3, 1973, 

in 1994 he graduated from T. Ryskulov State University of Economics.  

specialized in economics. In 2000 he graduated from the State University of New York, MBA - 

Marketing and Information Systems of Management, Binghamton, NY, USA. More than 15 years 

was working in the financial sector, he held senior positions in the Central Asian American 

Enterprise Fund LLP, The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development JSC, Vos Savant 

Projects LLP.  

Since January 11 served as Projects Manager of Eurasian Bank JSC, since January 2016 is the 

Chief Financial Officer of Kokshetau mineral water JSC.Also, since January 11, 2012 to present day 

is the General Director of MCO ProstoKredit LLP. 

Since April 1, 2014 to present day - Independent Director of Kazpost JSC. 

Chairman of the Management Board - Mussin Bagdat Batyrbekovich, was born on March 3, 

1983. 

In 2004 he graduated from Suleyman Demirel University and Kazakh Institute of Law and 

International Relations of Almaty.  
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From 2010 to 2011 - Deputy Director of Department of state policy in the field of Information 

Technology under the Ministry of Communications and Information of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

From 2011 to 2012 - Deputy Chairman of the Committee for the control over automation of state 

services and coordination of PCSs operation under the Ministry of Communications and Information 

of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

From 2012 to 2014 - Chairman of the Committee for the control over automation of state 

services and coordination of PSCs operation under the Ministry of Transport and Communications 

of Kazakhstan. In April 2014 he was appointed as a Chairman of the Management Board of National 

Information Technologies JSC. 

  

Board of Directors’ Committees  

To address the most important issues and prepare the recommendations for the BoD the 

following committees were established: the Audit and Risk Committee; Committee  

for Strategy and Development; The Appointments and Remuneration Committee. 

The purpose of the Committee is to improve the quality of decisions made by the Board of 

Directors of the Company. 

  

The Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Committee (hereinafter - ARC) under the Board of Directors of "Kazpost" 

JSC was established in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC as 

of September 22, 2006.  

The tasks of the Committee is deep and thorough consideration of the issues  and make 

recommendations to the Management Board of the Company on: 

1) establishment of an effective system of control over Company's financial activities 

(including, for the completeness and accuracy of the financial statements); 

2) assurance the reliability and effectiveness of internal control  and risk management systems;  

3) monitoring over the independence of the external and internal audit process; 

4) improvement of the corporate governance of the Company; 

5) other matters proposed for consideration at the Committee meeting by the members of the 

Committee under the Board of Directors of the Company. 

ARC operates in accordance with the Regulation on the Audit and Risks Committee under the 

Board of Directors of the Company approved by the Board of Directors on October 21, 2015.  

According to the Company's Board of Directors resolution as of September 10, 2015 No 

10/15, the composition of the ARC under the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC: 

  

Composition of the Audit and Risks Committee 

(as of 31.12.2015) 

      

No Full name Position 

      

1 Zhanat Kolanovna Berdalina  Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, Chairperson of the 

Committee 
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2 Adriaan Ian Houwink Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, member of the 

Committee 

3 Dmitriy Nikolayevich Zhukov  Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, member of the 

Committee 

4 Zhanadil Yernar Director of Audit and Control Department  

of Samruk-Kazyna JSC, member of the Committee (the 

expert without voting rights) 

   

  

In 2015, the ARC held eight (8) full-time meetings. In accordance with the agendas of the 

ARC meetings 72 (seventy-two) issues were discussed and appropriate recommendations were 

provided to the Company's Board of Directors. 

  

Participation of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee in meetings 

in 2015 

          

No Full name 

Number 

of 

meetings 

TOTAL 

Participation % 

          

1 Zhanat Kolanovna Berdalina  8 7 88 

2 Adriaan Ian Houwink 8 8 100 

3 Dmitriy Nikolayevich Zhukov  8 8 100 

4 Zhanadil Yernar 5 4 80 

5 Mynsharipova Caya Naymanbaykyzy  1 1 100 

     

  

ARC considered the issues of financial reporting, internal control and risk management, 

internal and external audit, the results of the internal audit of the Transformation Program of 

Kazpost JSC. In accordance with international best practice the ARC held four (4) meetings with the 

external auditors on the preparation of the annual financial statements.  

Over 2015 ARC fully complied with the goals, objectives and responsibilities in accordance 

with the Regulation on the Audit and Risk Committee as well as the work plan of ARC for 2015. 

Considered in details all the issues of agendas of meetings, provided weighed and detailed 

recommendations, which were adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company. 

ARC work greatly improve the efficiency of the Board of Directors. In turn, this has a positive 

effect on the rating of the Company's corporate governance, as well as the positive impact on the 

improvement of business processes, improvement of the efficiency of the internal control system, 

transparency and risk management in the Company. 

  

The Committee for Strategy and Development 

The Committee for Strategy and Development (hereinafter - the CSD) under the Company's 

Board of Directors was established in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors as of 

September 22, 2006.  
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The tasks of the Committee is deep and thorough consideration of the issues and presentation 

of recommendations to the Board of Directors of the Company on: 

1) determination of the Company's development strategy and its implementation monitoring; 

2) review and approval of the strategic goals and objectives of the Company's development in 

the long term; 

3) realization of the innovation strategy of the Company; 

4) implementation of the investment activities of the Company; 

5) implementation of the Company's Transformation Program; 

6) other matters proposed for consideration at the Committee meeting by the Committee 

members or the Board of Directors. 

CSD operates in accordance with the Regulations on the Committee for Strategy and 

Development under the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC, approved by the Board of Directors of 

the Company as of October 21, 2015. 

According to the resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company dated September 10, 

2015, minutes No 10/15, determined by the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC: 

  

The composition of the Strategy and Development Committee 

(as of 31.12.2015) 

      

No Full name Position 

      

1 Oraz Aliyevich Zhandossov  Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, Chairperson of 

the Committee 

2 Zhanat Kolanovna Berdalina  Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, member of the 

Committee 

3 Adamas Olegas Ilkyavichyus  Managing Director of Transformation and special 

projects of Soverign Welth Fund" Samruk-Kazyna JSC, 

member of the Committee 

4.  Adriaan Ian Houwink Senior Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, member 

of the Committee 

5. Dagarova Aliya Meyramovna Chief Expert of the Directorate of transport and 

communication assets of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC, 

member of the Committee (the expert in an advisory 

capacity) 

   

  

In 2015 CSD held seven (7) full-time meetings. In accordance with the agenda of the meeting 

Committee considered 36 (thirty six) issues and provided appropriate recommendations to the 

Company's Board of Directors. 

  

Participation in meetings of the members of the Strategy and 

Development Committee in 2015 
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No Full name 

Number 

of 

meetings 

TOTAL 

Participation % 

          

1 Oraz Aliyevich Zhandossov  8 7 88 

2 Zhanat Kolanovna Berdalina  8 8 100 

3 Adamas Olegas Ilkyavichyus  8 8 100 

4 Adriaan Ian Houwink 5 4 80 

5 Dagarova Aliya 

Meyramovna 

1 1 100 

6 Nurzhan Talipovich 

Baidauletov  

5 4 80 

7 Dmitriy Nikolayevich 

Zhukov  

5 5 100 

8 Skodovs Gynts Yanovich 4 4 100 

     

  

SDC addressed issues of strategic development, investment and innovation, transformation of 

Kazpost JSC, and others. SDC participated in the development of the Development Strategy of 

Kazpost JSC until 2022. According to the recommendation of the Board of Directors member of 

Kazpost JSC Adamas Ilkyavichyus with the participation of the BoD members, representatives of 

the Sole Shareholder and the Management of the Company, the session was held on the theme: 

"Kazpost JSC's Development Strategy Revision", where recommendations for its further 

development were given. As a result, on September 10, 2015 the Board of Directors approved 

amendments and additions to the Development Strategy of Kazpost JSC until 2022. 

During 2015 the SDC fully met the goals, objectives and responsibilities in accordance with 

the Regulations on the Committee, and the Committee's work plan for 2015 Unscheduled meetings 

were also held. A detailed analysis of all the Committee's meeting agenda issues was made, 

weighted and detailed recommendations, which were adopted by the Board of Directors of the 

Company were made.  

It should be noted that the work of the SDC meets the expectations of the Sole Shareholder 

with respect to improvement of the efficiency of the Company's BoD and the Company's corporate 

governance rating. 

  

The Appointments and Remuneration Committee  

Appointments and Remuneration Committee under the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC 

hereinafter - ARC) was established in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors of 

Kazpost JSC on September 22, 2006. 

The tasks of the Committee is deep and thorough consideration of the issues and making 

recommendations to the Board of Directors on the issues of: 

1)    election, performance evaluation, succession planning of the BoD members, as well as 

proposals for the remuneration of candidates for independent directors; 

2)    election (appointment) of candidates to the Management Board, to the positions of the 

Corporate Secretary Office and other positions, according to Company's bylaws; 
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3)       establishment of motivational KPIs for members of the Management Board, Corporate 

Secretary and other employees according to internal documents of the Company; 

4)       remuneration and succession planning of the BoD members, the Corporate Secretary and 

other employees, according to internal documents of the Company; 

5)    corporate and social responsibility of the Company. 

ARC operates in accordance with the Regulation on the Appointments and Remuneration 

Committee under the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC, approved by the Board of Directors of the 

Company on October 21, 2015. 

According to the resolution of the Company's Board of Directors as of September 10, 2015, 

the composition of ARC is as follows: 

  

The composition of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee 

(as of 31.12.2015) 

      

No Full name Position 

      

1 Dmitriy Nikolayevich 

Zhukov  

Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, Chairperson of the 

Committee 

2 Adriaan Ian Houwink Senior Independent Director of Kazpost JSC, member of the 

Committee 

3 Nurzhan Talipovich 

Baidauletov  

General Director of Asset Management of "Samruk-Kazyna" 

JSC, member of the Committee 

4 Dagarova Aliya 

Meyramovna 

Chief Expert of the Directorate of transport and 

communication assets of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC, member of 

the Committee (the expert in an advisory capacity) 

   

  

In 2015 the Committee held 7 in-person meetings. Considered 41 (forty-one) question, issued 

the relevant recommendations to the Company's Board of Directors. 

  

Participation of members of the Appointments and Remuneration 

Committee in meetings in 2015 

          

No Full name 

Number 

of 

meetings 

TOTAL 

Participation % 

          

1 Dmitriy Nikolayevich Zhukov  2 2 100 

2 Nurzhan Talipovich Baidauletov  2 2 100 

3 Adriaan Ian Houwink 7 7 100 

4 Dagarova Aliya Meyramovna 7 7 100 

5 Skodovs Gynts Yanovich 3 3 100 

6 Zhanat Kolanovna Berdalina  5 4 80 
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ARC discussed issues of organizational structure, key performance indicators of the 

Company's executives, social issues, the election of candidates for the position of deputy chairman 

and members of the Management Board, Chief Director of Transformation of the Company, the 

main auditors of the Company and others. 

It should be noted that at the meeting of ARC they held a meeting with representatives of trade 

unions: a chairwoman of ALE "Association of Trade Unions of Informatization and Communication 

Workers' G. Spatayeva and with the chairman of the NGO "The branch trade union of 

communication and telecommunications workers of Kazakhstan" A. Baysariyev to discuss 

approaches of the Collective agreement in the conditions of transformation of Kazpost JSC.  

The Committee considered and approved the qualification requirements for members of the 

Management Board of Kazpost JSC and Chief Business Transformation Officer of Kazpost JSC.  

During 2015 ARC fully implement the goals, objectives and responsibilities in accordance 

with the Regulations on the Appointments and Remuneration Committee as well as the work plan 

for 2015 Committee also held unscheduled meetings. A detailed analysis of all the Committee's 

meeting agenda issues was made, weighted and detailed recommendations, which were adopted by 

the Board of Directors of the Company were made.  

It should be noted that the work of ARC improved the efficiency of the Board of Directors of 

the Company and a positive impact on improvement of corporate governance rating. 

  

Report of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors shall conduct meetings in accordance with the annual work plan,  

and as needed. 14 meetings were held in 2015 (including 9 full-time and 5 part-time meetings) of 

the Board of Directors, which reviewed 163 issues. 

Particular attention of the Board of Directors was paid on:  

 Development Strategy Design; 

 Company's transformation; 

 Anti-corruption and fraud in the Company; 

 Risk management and internal audit. 

 The Board of Directors has introduced the practice of regular review of the work plan. 

 The Board of Directors quarterly considers reports and evaluates the activities of the Internal 

Audit Service and the Corporate Secretary of "Kazpost" JSC. 

 Considered quarterly reports:  

 on the status of execution of business Transformation Program of "Kazpost" JSC; 

 on the implementation of the Development plan of Kazpost JSC for 2014-2018; 

 on the execution of measures for the implementation of the Company's development 

strategy; 

 on the risks of execution of Actions Plans for red zone risks management; 

 on marketing and sales and business development; 

 staff development; 

 social responsibility, transparency, anti-corruption and fraud, and others. 

 Approved a number of strategic documents:  

 Changes and additions to the Development Strategy of Kazpost JSC until 2022; 

 The Company's development plan for 2016-2020; 

 new version of the Transformation Roadmap; 

 New version of the Risk Management Policy of "Kazpost" JSC; 
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 New version of accounting policy of Kazpost JSC; 

 Changes and additions to the tax accounting policy of Kazpost JSC; 

 Changes and additions to the Information Security Policy 

of Kazpost JSC. 

In 2015, the Board of Directors paid special attention to the introduction of the new Corporate 

Governance Code as well as the Board of Directors considered the report on the results of the 

analysis of deviations from the provisions of the new Corporate Governance Code of Kazpost JSC 

(Gap-analysis). Based on the discussion of the report with the advice received from the Company's 

Board of Directors developed a plan for the preparation of the activities of Kazpost JSC to eliminate 

inconsistencies with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, which was approved by the 

Board of Directors in July 2015.  

The Board of Directors attaches great importance to the implementation of kazpost JSC's 

Business Transformation Program, at every in-person meeting of the Board of Directors they 

consider the information on the implementation of the Transformation Program of Kazpost JSC, in 

July 2015 the Board of Directors reviewed the implementation of the second stage of the 

Transformation program of Kazpost JSC .At the initiative of the Kazpost JSC's Board of Directors 

member Adamas Ilkyavichyus the Company regularly holds an "Information Days" for the BoD 

members allowing for more detailed discussion of issues such as Transformation Program and the 

activities of the Company as a whole.  

Board of Directors' members took an active part in seminars (advanced trainings): 

 "The new Corporate Governance Code" was organized by the 

"Samruk-Kazyna" JSC together with «PricewaterhouseCoopers PwC» LLP; 

 "The system of anti-corruption and anti-fraud" was arranged by 

"Samruk-Kazyna" JSC together with «PricewaterhouseCoopers PwC» LLP; 

 "The quality of the materials for the meetings of the Board of Directors" arranged by 

"Samruk-Kazyna" JSC together with «PricewaterhouseCoopers PwC» LLP. 

Also, members of the Board of Kazpost JSC visited facilities in Almaty and "ILC "Yug" 

branch in the Almaty region.  

In addition, the Board of Directors participated in the panel session: Transformation program 

of «Samruk-Kazyna» JSC as part of the Astana Economic Forum. 

During 2015, three meetings were held with the external auditors on the preparation of the 

annual financial statements.  

  

5.2. Management Board 

The Management Board is a collegial executive body of the Company, which provides its 

development and sustainable growth, has the right to make decisions on any issues of the activities 

which are not referred by law, other legislative acts of the RK and the Company's Charter to the 

competence of the Sole Shareholder and the Board of Directors, is responsible to the sole 

shareholder and the Board of Directors for the performance of its tasks. 

The rights and obligations of the members of the Board are determined by the legislation of 

the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Charter, the Regulations on the Management Board of Kazpost JSC 

and labor contracts. 

  

Composition of the Management Board (as of 31.12.2015) 

    

Full name Position 

Bagdat Batyrbekovich Mussin  Chairman of the Management Board  
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member of the Board of Directors 

Azat Yerkinovich Mashabayev  

Deputy Chairperson of Kazpost JSC's 

Management Board  

Member of the Management Board  

Ainura Sovetovna Kunhozhayeva  

Deputy Chairperson of Kazpost JSC's 

Management Board  

Member of the Management Board  

Saule Dyussembayevna Yegemberdiyeva  

Deputy Chairperson of Kazpost JSC's 

Management Board  

Member of the Management Board  

Dykanbayeva Aliya Maratovna 

Deputy Chairperson of Kazpost JSC's 

Management Board  

Member of the Management Board  

  

  

  

Composition of the Management Board (по состоянию на 31.12.201) 

  
ФИО Должность 

Musin Bagdat Batyrbekovich 
Chairman of the Board, member of the Board of 

Directors 

Mukushev Nariman Nurlanovich 
Managing Director of Innovation and Information 

Technology, Member of the Board 

Kunhozhaeva Ainura Sovetovna 
Managing Director of Financial Services, 

board member 

Egemberdieva Saul Dyusembaevna 
Managing Director for postal services, 

board member 

Dykanbaeva Alia Maratovna 
Managing Director for Economics and Finance, 

board member 

 

The track record of Management Board's members 

Chairman of the Management Board - Mussin Bagdat Batyrbekovich, was born on March 3, 

1983. 

In 2004 he graduated from Suleyman Demirel University and Kazakh Institute of Law and 

International Relations of Almaty,  

From 2010 to 2011 - Deputy Director of Department of state policy in the field of Information 

Technology under the Ministry of Communications and Information of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

From 2011 to 2012 - Deputy Chairman of the Committee for the control over automation of state 

services and coordination of PSCs under the Ministry of Communications and Information of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan. 

From 2012 to 2014 - Chairman of the Committee for the control over automation of state 

services and coordination of PSCs operation under the Ministry of Transport and Communications 

of Kazakhstan. In April 2014 he was appointed as a Chairman of the Management Board of National 

Information Technologies JSC. 

Since August 1, 2014 to present time - Chairman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC. 
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Deputy Chairman of the Management - Azat Yerkinovich Mashabayev, was born 

on June 8, 1979. He graduated from T.Ryskulov Kazakh Economic University.  

Majoring in "Accounting and Auditing"; Bremen State University under President's of the Republic 

of Kazakhstan "Bolashak" scholarship, "Law"; Al-Farabi Kazakh State University - "International 

Law".  

 

From 2005 to 2012 he worked in subsidiaries of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. RSE "Public Service 

Center", Strategy Partners Kazakhstan LLP.  

Since January 2008 till now is a member of the Board of Directors in the status of an 

independent director of "APF "Republic" JSC.  

Since November 10, 2014 - Deputy Chairman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC. 

Deputy Chairwoman of the Management Board - Kunhozhayeva Ainura Sovetovna, was born 

on December 11, 2015 She graduated from the Leningrad Institute of Soviet Trade named after  

F.Engels (1983-1987), specialty - "Economy and merchandising." From 2008 to 2013 she worked in 

executive positions in BTA Bank JSC.  

Since August 1, 2013 - Deputy Chairwoman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC. 

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board - Yegemberdiyeva Saule Dyussembayevna, was 

born on March 31, 1962. She graduated from the Novosibirsk Electrotechnical Institute, specialty 

"Economics and organization of communication", specialization "communications engineer-

economist". 

1984-2011 worked in various positions in the branches of Kazpost JSC from an ordinary 

economist to the branch manager. 2011-2015 Director of the Department of postal business, head of 

business solutions development unit of Kazpost JSC's Competence Center. 

Since May 19, 2015 to present - Deputy Chairwoman of the Management Board  

of Kazpost JSC. 

Chief Financial Officer - Dykanbayeva Aliya Maratovna, was born on December 12, 1973. 

She graduated with honors from Al-Farabi Kazakh National University (1991-1995) - "International 

Economic Relations".  In 2001 she received a master's degree in "financial economy" of the 

American University, Washington. From 2001 to 2013 she worked  

in leadership positions of CJSC "Kazgiproneftetrans", "PetroKazakhstan Kumkol Resources" JSC, 

branch of the "BG group", "PetroKazakhstan Oil Products" LLP (Shymkent Refinery). 

On October 7, 2013 to the present day CFO of Kazpost JSC.  Since December 11, 2014 - 

Member of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC. 

  

Report on the work of the Management Board 

In 2015, the Management Board held 53 meetings, at which reviewed and made decisions on 

476 issues regarding the current activities of the Company referred by the Company's Charter to the 

competence of the executive body. The range of issues under consideration by the Management 

Board is the need to make managerial decisions both on scheduled and on urgent matters of the 

Company.  

The priority areas of work of the Management Board in 2015 were the development of postal 

and financial services. Particular attention was paid to issues related to the improvement of the 

quality of the Company's services, improvement of customer focus in the company, the 

implementation of new projects and services for customers, such as the establishment of the center 

of the postal services (Supermarket of parcels), Corporate Services Sector of the Central operative 

site, the provision of postal services with the use of envelopes with e-postage stamps, the provision 

of agency services as the sale of air and railway tickets, the approval of various campaigns "Spring 
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with Kazpost", "Receipte window", sending emails to recipients of pensions and benefits included in 

the mandatory category of citizens (people with disabilities and participants of the Great Patriotic 

war, the recipients of pensions and benefits have reached the age of eighty years, invalids of the first 

group, persons with a medical report about a need of constant care and who are unable to attend for 

post offices due to health conditions) on a free basis, and others. The Management Board also, on a 

systematic basis considers issues related to improvement of the working conditions of employees, 

their skills and motivation, increase of the efficiency and productivity of administrative 

management, reduction of critical risks of the Company, management over subsidiaries and 

affiliated organizations. 

During the reporting year, the Management Board approved and updated a number of internal 

regulations, including:  

 Terms of reference for the procurement of services and audit of the branches of Kazpost 

JSC; 

 The rules for determining systemic violations in the field of quality in the branches of 

Kazpost JSC; 

 The rules of respond to information security incidents of "Kazpost" JSC; 

 Terms of access to premises of e-mail items receipt in Kazpost JSC; 

 Terms of hybrid items delivery services; 

 Terms of pricing in Kazpost JSC; 

  Valueables of Kazpost JSC: 

 Competence Model of "Kazpost" JSC 

 Regulation for closure of the period and preparation of financial statements of Kazpost JSC; 

 The evalustion methodology for satisfaction of internal customers of Kazpost JSC; 

 Internal control rules in order to prevent legalization (laundering) of proceeds from crime 

and terrorism financing in Kazpost JSC and others. 

  

5.3. Assessment of activity 

The Board of Directors. According to the Rules of the BoD performance evaluation a decision 

on the assessment is made by the Company's Board of Directors. This decision defines the specific 

timing of the evaluation, methods and resources. According to the decision of the Board of 

Directors, upon the availability of the appropriate justification, the assessment of all or some of its 

forms can be carried out two or more times a year. 

The process of evaluation and its results (questionnaires, interviews, etc.)  

or report submitted by consultant is coordinated and summarized by the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors. 

The evaluation is of a comparative nature with the results of evaluation for the previous 

period, the evaluation results are discussed at a BoD meeting. Evaluation of the Chairperson of the 

Board of Directors is carried out under the guidance of one of the independent directors. 

Following the discussion, the Chairman of the Board of Directors provides feedback to all 

directors. With regard to the Chairman of the Board of Directors the feedback is provided by an 

independent director. 

Management Board. According to the Rules of evaluation and remuneration of executives of 

"Kazpost" JSC based on their performance for the year, during the evaluation the motivational key 

performance indicators (KPI), which characterize the effectiveness of financial and industrial 

activity of the Company area applied. Motivational KPIs are developed by the working group by 

cascading strategic goals into concrete figures for the business areas of the Company's processes in 

the form of a KPI map with the target values. 
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Remuneration:  

The Board of Directors. According to the remuneration policy for the Board of Directors of 

Kazpost JSC members of the Board of Directors who are public servants and exercising their 

powers under official duties, do not receive the remuneration. Chairman of the Management Board 

does not receive remuneration for serving in the Board of Directors. The remuneration is received 

only by independent directors. Terms and procedure of remuneration and compensation to members 

of the Board of Directors are determined by resolution of the Sole Shareholder. 

The main forms of remuneration: 

     the total annual fixed remuneration for membership in the Board of Directors; 

     additional remuneration for participation in each meeting ofCommittees under the Board of 

Directors of Kazpost JSC as a member or chairman; 

     compensation costs (travel, accommodation, per diem) related to the visit of the Board of 

Directors for the meeting, held outside the place of permanent residence of independent directors. 

In the case of participation of independent directors in less than half  

of all in-person and in-absentee meetings of the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC in the reporting 

period, except for the absence on in-person meetings due to illness, vacation, business trip, a fixed 

remuneration is not paid.  

Management Board. The order of the remuneration and compensation of the Management 

Board members is defined by the Regulations on the Management Board of Kazpost JSC and the 

Regulations on remuneration for employees of the central office of Kazpost JSC. 

The Board of Directors determines the amount of salaries and terms of remuneration for the 

Chairman and members of the Management Board in accordance with the above instruments on a 

differentiation basis, according to the individual approach, depending on the complexity of their 

work, position. 

The payment system for the Chairman and members of the Management Board includes a base 

salary  

and an award by the end of the year. 

Annual remuneration for managerial personnel of Kazpost JSC is paid for the financial year 

after approval in due course the results of financial-economic activity of Kazpost JSC on the basis of 

audited financial statements. The remuneration on the year results is not of a constant nature. 
  

5.4. Combination and election 

The company was established according to the Decree of the Government of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan as of December 20, 1999 No 1940 "On reorganization of the republican state enterprise 

of postal communication and its state-owned subsidiaries." 

According to Kazakhstan legislation and internal documents the Company is a legal entity 

established in the legal form of the company, and does not provide for the combination of the 

positions of Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Management Board. 

Process for determining the composition of the Board of Directors and the Management Board 

is carried out in the manner prescribed by Charter which specifies all the necessary requirements for 

candidates. 

For example, candidates for the members of the Board of Directors and Management Board 

must have relevant work experience, knowledge, qualification, positive achievements and 

impeccable reputation in business and industry environment, necessary for the performance of their 

duties and the effective operation of the entire Board of Directors and the Management Board in the 

interests of the Sole Shareholder and the Company . 
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5.5. Internal Audit Service 

The Internal Audit Service provides the organization and implementation of internal audit in 

the Company, directly subordinate and accountable to the Board of Directors. 

Service's mission is to provide the necessary assistance to the Board of Directors  

and the Management Board in carrying out their duties to achieve the Company's strategic goals.  

The main objective of Service - presentation to the Board of Directors the independent and 

objective information to ensure effective management of the Company by bringing a systematic 

approach to the improvement of risk management, internal control and corporate governance. 

In accordance with its tasks the service performs the following functions: 

 assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system 

in company; 

 assesses the completeness of the application and effectiveness of the risk assessment 

methodology 

and risk management procedures of the Company; 

 assesses for the implementation and compliance with accepted principles of corporate 

governance, appropriate ethical standards and values of the Company, and others. 

Managers and employees of the Service shall be appointed by the Board of Directors of the 

Company. Activities of the Service are managed by the Internal Audit Committee. On a regular 

basis, the Service Head meets with the Chairman of the Internal Audit Committee on the activities 

of the Service.  

The Board of Directors approves annually the oriented Annual Audit Plan of the Service, as 

well as the key performance indicators of the Service and its head. The Service quarterly and 

annually submits reporting to the Committee for Internal Audit and the Company's Board of 

Directors. 

The annual audit plan of the Service for 2015 provides for implementation of 19 audit 

engagements. The audit plan is executed in full. 4 unscheduled engagements were additionally 

performed on behalf of the Board of Directors. 

Based on the results of audits for 2015 in order to enhance the effectiveness of internal control 

and risk management, corporate governance, the Service issued 168 recommendations. 

On a quarterly basis, the Service monitors the implementation of the recommendations issued 

by the Service and the external auditors. 

  

5.6. Risks Management 

The Company's policy for risk management is aimed at building an effective system for 

identification, elimination, minimization and prevention of risk recurrence. The company is 

constantly working to improve risk management, systematically carrying out activities for 

identification, evaluation and control measures. 

The main objectives of the Policy are: 

1) building of an effective integrated system and the creation of an integrated risk management 

process, as part of the Company's management, as well as the continuous improvement of activities 

based on a single standardized approach to the methods and procedures for risk management; 

2) ensuring the adoption of risks acceptable for the Company, appropriate scale of its 

activities; 

3) determination of retention ability and ensuring the effective management of risks occurred. 

Policy is aimed at the following objectives: 

1) the creation of a full-fledged basis for decision-making and planning; 
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2) provision of a continuous coherent risk management process based on timely identification, 

evaluation, analysis, monitoring, control to ensure achievement of the set objectives; 

3) the introduction and improvement of the management system, which allows to prevent and 

minimize the impact of potentially negative events; 

4) more efficient use and allocation of resources; 

5) prevention of damages and losses by improving the efficiency of the Company, ensuring 

the protection of the Company's assets and equity; 

6) assurance of the effectiveness of business processes, the reliability of internal and external 

reporting and the promotion of legal norms. 

The risks management system of the Company involves Board of Directors, Management 

Board, Risk Management Service, Internal Audit Service and structural divisions of the Company. 

The Company's risks are divided into the following categories: 1) strategic risks; 2) financial 

risks; 3) operational risks; 4) legal risks. 

1) Strategic risks of the Company - The Company today expirinces business transformation 

stage. Business transformation is a program for the implementation of large-scale changes in the 

activities and the optimization of business processes, which ultimately should lead to an increase in 

the value and attractiveness of the Company. Business Transformation Team is staffed by specialists 

from different areas of activity, which will undoubtedly have a positive impact on the results of the 

program. As well, the Company is permanently working to improve the core activities and planning 

of the Company's development. 

2) The financial risks of the Company - The Company permanently improves methods of 

financial risk management, and implements processes to identify and minimize the impact of market 

risks, liquidity risks and credit risks on the Company and follows a conservative policy in managing 

financial instruments of the Company.  

3) Operational risks - due to the fact that the Company has an extensive branch network with a 

deep penetration into the regions of the country consisting of more than 3 thousand branches, it 

regularly has a risk of operational risks occurrence in the provision of postal, financial, brokerage 

and agency services. The Company permanently working to optimize business processes, IT and 

supply chains, improve the quality and accessibility of services. A number of implemented measures 

such as the introduction and expansion of electronic queue system and training of staff on various 

issues relating to the front and back office, commissioning of situation and contact center improve 

the processes of the Company and the customer satisfaction with the services received.  

4) Legal risks - due to the fact that the Company carries out its activities in a regulated market 

and is a subsidiary of «Samruk-Kazyna» JSC there is the possibility of changing the regulatory and 

legal requirements in the Company's activities. The main methods of legal risk management in the 

Company is continuous monitoring of changes and additions to the legislative acts of the Republic 

of Kazakhstan, control and compliance with the implementation of Kazakhstan legislation by the 

Company and its obligations to suppliers of goods and services, management over compliance risks, 

monitoring of timely implementation of the requirements of regulatory bodies and a sole 

shareholder. 

  

5.7. Internal control 

The Company's internal control system is a set of organizational policies, procedures, 

standards of conduct and actions, practices and internal controls established by the Management 

Board and the Board of Directors of the Company to ensure effective internal control over financial 

and economic activities of the Company, and to achieve Company’s objectives and reduce the risks 

in carrying out activities to minimum. 
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The participants (subjects) of the internal control system are the Board of Directors, the Audit 

Committee under the Board of Directors, the first director of the Company, the Management Board, 

Internal Audit Service, a structural subdivision of the Company on internal control issues 

(Department of Audit and Control) and a structural unit on risk management (Risks Management 

Service), Risks Committee, as well as officials and employees of the Company, its subsidiaries and 

affiliates, responsible for the implementation of control procedures, internal documents of the 

Company they are regulated by. 

Internal control aims to provide reasonable assurance in achieving the Company's strategic and 

operational goals and is implemented by arrangement  of the internal control system in the 

Company, the main tasks is which are: 

 improvement of efficient operations; 

 assurance of assets and the efficient use of resources; 

 assurance of the completeness, reliability and accuracy of financial and managerial 

statements; 

 compliance with requirements of the legislation of Kazakhstan and internal regulatory 

documents; 

 reduction of the probability of occurrence of risk and the size of potential losses 

(Including losses, reduction of credit rating, etc.); 

 monitoring over the effective operation of the main and auxiliary business processes and 

analysis of the performance; 

 assistance in the construction of an optimal organizational structure, etc. 

The Company's internal control system is an integral part of the corporate governance system 

that covers all levels of government, all internal processes and operations of the Company.  

 

Organization of the internal control system provides for the construction of the Company's 

management system that can respond quickly to risks, monitor the main and auxiliary business 

processes and daily operations of the Company, as well as to the immediate notification of the 

appropriate level of management of any significant deficiencies and areas for improvement. 

Reliable and efficient operation of the internal control system requires the involvement and 

constant interaction of officials and employees at all levels of the Company in the framework of 

internal control. 

The Company's system of internal control consists of five interrelated components:  

1) the control environment;  

2) risk assessment;  

3) control procedures;  

4) Information and its transfer;  

5) monitoring. 

Company's Internal Audit Service is responsible for the direct assessment of the effectiveness 

of the internal control system, arrangement and reporting to the Committee for Internal Audit and 

the Board of Directors.  

Evaluation of the internal control system effectiveness is used to determine the likelihood of 

errors that affect the achievement of the objectives and the accuracy of the statements of the 

Company, determine the materiality of these errors and the ability of the internal control system to 

ensure the implementation of its goals and objectives. The internal audit service shall timely report 

on the evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control system to the Committee for Internal 

Audit and the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for the disclosure of 

information about the internal control system in the annual report submitted to the Sole Shareholder 
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In order to improve the efficiency of the internal control system and performance of the audit 

unit the Company has three regional management department of audit and control of the Company: 

Northern Regional Authority, Southern regional authority and the West Regional Authority, with the 

possibility of audit coverage of financial and economic activities in all branches of the Company 

once a year, with the use of available resources. 

Coordination of regional offices is performed by audit and control department.  

The work of the Department of Audit and Control, and regional offices is organized on the basis of a 

single annual plan of inspections.  

As a result of the centralized arrangement of the audit service the Company received the 

following features and benefits: 

     full coverage of the financial and economic activities of all branches once a year; 

     increase of the auditors responsibility for the quality of internal audits; 

     conducting of risk - oriented internal audits; 

     high quality of tasks execution of the members and the Chairman of the Management 

Board. 

     increase of the number of thematic and off-site inspections to minimize the risks. 

In order to improve the qualitative composition of the audit system and improve the efficiency 

of internal audits, the qualification requirements to the specialists of audit were increased, and job 

descriptions were changed.  

The solution of the problems and achievement of the objectives is performed in cooperation 

with the Internal Audit Service and other objects of the Company's internal control system. On the 

basis of risk assessments the ranging of issues in terms of risk level is performed. In the course of 

the audit of financial and economic activities of Company's subsidiaries the auditors conducted 

counseling of audit facilities for improvement of the internal control and risk management systems, 

provided methodological assistance, worked to improve the methods and practices of inspections, 

carried out constant monitoring of the implementation of plan of corrective and preventive actions, 

designed by objects of inspection in accordance with the recommendations based on the results of 

audits conducted. 
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6. Economics 
  

6.1. Macroeconomic analysis 

Factors of development 

Kazakhstan took a ply for innovative development, the development of information and 

communication technologies. There has been a significant increase in the number of Internet users in 

the country, e-commerce is rapidly developing, the number of service providers and consumers of 

"e-government" services is growing. Country has a needs in the provision of quality financial 

services to the population and businesses, particularly in rural areas where there is no other 

structures except for mail. There is a growing demand for transport and logistics services, both 

domestically and from the international business, given the unique geographical position of the 

country between the major economies such as China, Southeast Asia and Europe.  

Political factors. Cancellation of licensing activities in the field of postal services has reduced 

barriers to entry to the market for new players. The company has no ability to track the entry or exit 

process of new/existing players from the postal services market from official sources, there is no 

transparency of the market.  

Implementation of the Development Strategy of the transport sector of the state until 2017 will 

lead to the development of transit potential of the country and, as a consequence, an increase in 

traffic on the territory of the country. This fact lead to a tightening competition in the market of 
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cargo transportation, under which the Company will need to develop its transport and logistics 

system to offer competitive services on the market.  

Economic forces. To date, the Company's competitors offer their customers more and more 

services and additional services in the market of postal services, which creates a risk of lowering the 

attractiveness of the Company's services and requires the Company to more detailed study of its own 

portfolio of services.  

Restoration and development of business activity in the country has a positive effect on the 

Company's activities in the form of increased demand for services in the segment of "business". This 

factor requires Company's concentration on the segment of "business", the preparation of special 

solutions/products for businesses, and the revitalization of the sales in this segment of services. 

Social factors. The observed increase in the standard of living of the population leads to  

an increase in the purchasing power of consumers and the shift of their preferences  

towards more quality services, despite the high cost. This factor requires the Company to 

differentiate its portfolio of services to the requirements of different customer segments and 

introduce additional services which increase the value of services to customers.  

Technological factors. The development of the Internet and the number of its members 

provides the Company the opportunity to develop electronic and online services, to work with e-

retailers and distance selling companies.  

  

Macroeconomic indicators 
        

Name  2013 2014 2015 

Consumer price index, % 6,0-8,0  6,0-8,0  6,0-8,0  

The world price for crude oil (Brent), USD. Per barrel 98 99 55 

The exchange rate of the KZT against the US dollar,  

KZT per $ 1 on average per year 
150 182 222 

Real GDP growth,% 6 4 1.2 

    

  

Market analysis 

Letter Post Shipment 

The main market segments are letters (ordinary, registered, etc.), invoices, notices, 

publications and promotional mails.  

According to the data of the Statistics Committee of the Republic of Kazakhstan under MNE 

volume of postal services by the end of 2014 amounted to 10 702.32 mln. KZT, and the number of 

items - 51 899.83 th units. These figures do not include the number of Direct Mail and the income 

derived from their distribution.  

The basic amount of the letters is from Almaty - 12 104.7 th. units, which is 23.3% of the 

total. 

Given the global trends and dynamics of the items of simple letters of Kazpost JSC, it can be 

assumed that the reduction in the number of ordinary letters will continue at the level of 2% -3% per 

year. Preservation of ordinary letters will contribute to the tightening of control over the 

implementation of the Law No 94-V of the Republic of Kazakhstan "On personal data and their 

protection", which will lead to the transition from non-converted accounts to converted ones. 

The growth potential in the segment is in the registered letters in B2B - provided to improve 

the quality of services (primarily, the speed and reliability of delivery) a transition of the customers 

from the segment of courier services is probable. 
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Parcel Delivery 

The main segments are: common and large parcels, parcels. According to the Committee on 

Statistics of the Republic of Kazakhstan under NEM in 2014 there were 4 380 930 units of ordinary 

parcels and 767,110 units of large parcels, as well as 952 240 units of wrapped parcels sent in the 

Republic of Kazakhstan. 

The main volume of sent parcels -. 3 743.9 thousand units account for Almaty, representing 

85.5% of the total volume. At the same time, 2 539.5 thousand units of parcels were sent from the 

sorting centers of Kazpost JSC. 

Also, Almaty accounts for the bulk of outcoming bulky items and parcels - 456.9 thousand 

units (59.6% share) and 417.2 thousand units (43.8% share), respectively. 

Total revenue from the provision of postal services related to parcels and packages by the end 

of 2014 amounted to 7 788.6 mln. KZT, with 67.2% or 235.4 5 mln.tg account for Almaty.  

Total revenue from the provision of postal services for the delivery of large shipments totaled 

928.2 mln tg. of which 532.7 mln.tg or 57.4% were of Almaty.  

Estimation of the number of parcels delivery distribution by region is shown in the following 

diagram. 

Subject to the development of quality of services and intensification of efforts to attract 

customers, the Company's share of the market could increase by 3% -5% by 2017.  

  

Courier services and express mail 

Currently, courier services in Kazakhstan are available in more than 50 companies. The size 

and level of business organization of courier services market can be divided into several segments. 

First of all, it's big international companies: DHL, FedEx, TNT, DPD, Pony Express. These 

companies seek to maintain a high level of service and introduce international standards of work. 

Companies have officially registered branches and representative offices in the regions of the 

Republic, warehouse infrastructure, road, etc. 

Followed by companies such as Exline, AlemTAT, Avis Logistics, Direct Delivery and others 

are also seeking to develop the services and infrastructure to ensure the presence on the territory of 

Kazakhstan by opening their representative offices or staff of agents. 

Most companies do not have their own vehicles for the organization of interregional transport 

and use services of transport companies and/or hire a private driver with road transport, as well as 

use the services of Kazpost JSC and luggage transportation of "NC" KTZ" JSC. 

The third group consists of small companies that operate in local markets, have a small staff or 

do not have a permanent staff of couriers, service is oriented to a single locality. A significant part 

of this segment are companies, the business mode of which can be called as "uncivilized" because of 

low quality of service, use of buses' druvers to deliver items (like mail and parcels), conductors, 

passing trucks, etc. 

According to the Statistics Committee under the NEM RK, in the period from 2012-2014 the 

revenues from the provision of courier services increased 1.6 times - from 8 208.2 mln.tg, to 13 

174.2 mln. KZT  

The share of revenue from the provision of courier services increased from 40.8% to 45.4% of 

total service revenue of postal and courier activities in the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

With regard to Pony Express, DPD, Alem TAT companies we noted a moderate increase, 

which, according to experts, is due to a more vigorous actions of these companies to attract 

customers. The experts noted that in the B2B segment, may be an increase in these companies due to 

the redeployment of existing customers to the market, but not at the expense of new ones. 
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Financial services 

In the financial services market competitors of "Kazpost" JSC are second-tier banks. For the 

purposes of further analysis among the second-tier banks (STB) in Kazakhstan we identified banks 

that are focused on services for individuals and legal entities, which have the widest service network 

that issue credit cards, accept payments, etc.  

Thus, as major competitors defined as follows:  

1. Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC  

2. Kazkommertsbank JSC  

3. Tsesnabank JSC  

4. SB Sberbank JSC  

5. Bank CenterCredit JSC  

6. Kaspi Bank JSC  

7. ATF Bank JSC  

These organizations are the leaders of Kazakhstan banking market and consolidate the bulk of 

banking assets and infrastructure of the country. 

The main competition between the banks and the Company develops in the segment of non-

lending services, which are commonly referred to as commissions - committed in the name of, on 

behalf and at the expense of customers. A fee for such services is usually charged as a commission 

fee to be determined depending on the amount of transaction or operation, or in the form of a certain 

fixed amount. 

The main banking services, which form the fee and commission income are as follows: public 

service on a monthly and one-time mandatory payments, including utilities and tax, money transfers 

by individuals and payment of purchases by bank transfer, settlement and cash services for legal 

entities, provision of bank guarantees, exchange operations, brokerage and custody services, etc. 

In addition, the commission income is the income derived from transactions with bank cards, 

online banking and instant payments through ATMs and terminals. 

Fee and commission income are more stable than the interest, and in the face of deteriorating 

economic environment and the decrease in income from basic banking activities are an important 

additional source of profit, which leads to increased competition in the market. This is due to the 

actual of that in a crisis the first thing that is reduced is funding of the real sector of economy, 

enterproses invest less in the development of business, respectively, interest income of banks is 

falling. The number of transactions in the economy is reduced not so much, thus for the banks it is 

very important to have a significant share of commission income in total income. Over 40% are 

"other" revenues, which may include income earned from transactions with payment cards, SMS-

notifications, remote banking services, etc. 

Fee and commission for transfer transactions are in second place and amount 22.5%. A 

significant income is also received for cash transfer services - 14.9%. The share of the seven leading 

banks account for over 70% of total fee and commission income of STB in Kazakhstan. 

  

Industry average 

Postal and courier services 

Within five years, the volume of postal and courier activities almost doubled, having increased 

from 15 721.2 to 29 039.2 mln.tg. Throughout the analyzed period, the market growth rate remained 

high and averaged 16.6% per year. 

In January-June 2015 the volume of postal and courier activities amounted to 13 008.9 mln.tg 

that is more than in the same period of the last year by 21.1%. However, since the second half of the 
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year the market growth is slowing - growth in January-September 2015 amounted to 14.1% 

compared to 2014.  

  

The volume of postal and courier activities in the Republic of Kazakhstan  

in 2010-2014 period in terms of money 

        

Name 2012 2013 2014 

        

The volume of postal and courier activities - mln.tg 

Total 

20 

136,50 

24 

287,00 
29 039,20 

Rate,% 14,00 20,00 19,00 

of them: 3,00 
21 

000,00 

26 350 

000 

population mln.tg 5 322,60 6 640,80 7 657,00 

Rate,% 3,5 24,8 15,3 

share,% 26,4 27,3 26,4 

in the countryside, mln.tg 867,60 2 095,90 1 535,0 

Rate,% 54,5 12,2 -26,8 

share,% 9,3 8,6 5,3 

    

  

Financial services 

Provision of financial services is carried out personally, ie, in the offices of banks, and 

remotely - via the Internet. Currently, for the development of retail banking services the availability 

and accessibility of bank branches for customers is of importance. 

The cash settlement offices service the natural and legal persons, which includes: the opening, 

maintenance, closing of bank accounts, provision of various information, exchange (conversion) 

transactions and transfer transactions. 

More than twenty banks carry out reception of payments for utilities, mobile and fixed 

telephony, cable TV, Internet, as well as taxes and other obligatory payments to the budget. 

Provision of instant transfer of money through money transfer systems is carried out by 30 

banks 

  

Leading STB of Kazakhstan as of 01.01.2015. 

              

Name 
Assets as of 

STB (bln. KZT, 

the share) 

STB branch 

network (un. 

share) 

The number of 

ATMs (un., 

share) 

              

"Kazkommertsbank" JSC 
2869 

15 311 

815 333 14.0% 2208 24.0% 

"Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan" 

JSC 2634 4.  542 1 2270 7)  
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"Tsesnabank" JSC 1317 7.2% 157 -6.6 161 1.7% 

SO "Sberbank" JSC 1284 2.7.  106 5. 417 5. 

Bank CenterCredit JSC 1101 2.6.  167 2.7.  712 7.62% 

"Kaspibank" JSC  2 991 5. 265 11,2% 185 2.0% 

ATF Bank JSC 937 5.  105 4.  732 8.0% 

Total:  18239 100% 2375 100% 9206 100% 
       

 Distribution of banking infrastructure in the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan is 

extremely uneven. As of July 2014, the 50 largest settlements of Kazakhstan accounted for 86% of 

the network of certain banking facilities and 51% of the population. 

The least number of banking facilities is in rural areas, where in average one bank premise 

covered 23 808 people. 

The level of concentration of the banking infrastructure is very high: the three leading banks 

hold 48% of the regional banking infrastructure: Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC - 22.8%, 

Kazkommertsbank JSC (including BTA Bank) - 14%, Kaspi Bank JSC - 11,2%. Shares of more 

than 5% in the national banking network: Bank CenterCredit JSC - 7%, Tsesna Bank - 6.6%. 

  

Commission STB RK revenues from the provision of financial 

services (mln. KZT) 

        

Name 2012 2013 2014 

        

Kazpost JSC 11 398 12 451 13 199 

Kazkommertsbank JSC 27 470 31 535 41 316 

Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC 51 082 51 406 58 638 

Tsesnabank JSC 8 166 9 016 9 867 

SO Sberbank JSC 9 084 13 310 18 821 

Bank Center Credit 20 059 22 524 21 848 

Kaspibank 39 342 67 733 78 379 

ATF Bank 11 525 11 678 12 574 

Total:  217 178 296 255 309 067 

    

  

6.2. Economic results 

Key performance indicators 

Indicator «ROACE» amounted to 7.1% in 2015 against 2014 levels of 1.2%, due to a 

significant increase in net income. 

Reduced «EBITDA margin» indicator compared to the same period of 2014 by 0.7% due to an 

increase in production costs by 10% and general and administrative expenses by 30%. 

According to results of the 2015 net income was in the amount of 2,595,925 thousand KZT, 



75 

 

more than in 2014 2,450,866 thousand KZT. 

  

Key performance indicators 

  

Name 2013 2014 2015 

ROACE,% 1,3 1,2 7,1 

EBITDA margin,% 7,4 5,9 5,5 

Net income, thousand 

KZT 164 547 145 059 2 595 925 

  

 Main financial and economic indicators 

  

Financial and economic indicators 

              

Name 2013 2014 2015  

Total revenue, thousand KZT  30 489 025 32 764 904 40 007 560  

Total expenses, thousand KZT 30 376 885 32 471 779 37 136 467   

Share in income/(loss) of companies accounted 

for using the equity method thousand KZT  

 

0 - -  

The corporate income tax, thousand KZT -52 408 148 066 646 763  

Net income/(loss), thousand KZT 164 547 145 059 2 595 925  

           

 

Key performance indicators by segment   

Operations efficiency 

 

Name 2013 2014 2015 

Volume of postal services, thous. items 374 450 327 640 304 757 

Volume of finance services, thous. tg. 822 099 000 874 408 800 904 434 200  

Volume of agency services, thous. tg. 48 834 600 24 335 000 24 437 000 

 

6.3. Structure of assets 

Balance sheet total in 2015 was 60 765 392 thousand KZT, in 2014 the balance sheet totaled 

51,198,044 thousand KZT. 

The value of long-lived assets in 2015 amounted to 33,971,807 thousand KZT, in 2014 was 

33,227,548 thousand KZT.  

  

Structure of assets (thousand KZT) 

        

Name 2013 2014 2015 

long-term assets 

Fixed assets  18 692 387 19 852 501 23 058 531 
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Investment property  1 431 356 1 223 017 1 384 294 

Intangible assets  544 439 679 209 564 409 

Investment securities available-for-sale 10 735 358 10 172 347 7 863 295 

Loans to employees, long-term portion  689 059 721 210 545 716 

Other non-current assets and prepaid expenses  534 269 579 264 593 808 

Total:  32 626 868 33 227 548 34 010 053 

        

short-term assets  

Resources  715 166 746 572 745 036 

Trade and other receivables and other current assets  3 185 591 3 660 323 8 608 852 

Loans to employees, current portion 51 027 49 520 22 255 

Advance payment of income tax  182 892 137 317 24 017 

Investment securities available-for-sale 483 987 1 421 321 2 472 034 

Deposits in banks  500 1 000 000 4 200 000 

Cash and cash equivalents  11 459 872 10 955 443 10 683 146 

Total:  16 578 535 17 970 496 26 755 340 

Total assets: 49 205 403 51 198 044 60 765 393 

    

  

6.4. Segmental analysis. Ыtructure of the income, expenses. 

Incomes 

During 2015 revenues amounted to a total of 40 503 316 thousand KTZ, which is higher than 

the level of 2014 by 24% or 7 738 412 thousand KZT. 

  

The structure of income, thousand KZT 

          

Name 2013 2014 2015 

Revenues from postal services  13 625 740 15 864 996 17 201 104 

Revenues from financial services 12 451 046 13 198 607 15 445 134 

Revenues from agency services 1 129 139 599 903 691 664 

Income from investment portfolio 1 103 814 1 663 423 2 084 736 

     

  

Income from operations amounted to 36,159,527 thousand KZT, which is higher than the 

same period of the last year by 4,128,503 thousand KZT or 13% due to increase in the following 

types of income. 

According to postal services by 1,336,108 thousand KZT or by 8% due to growth in revenues 

from the letters (2%), parcels (24%), international unequal exchange (19%) and express mail 

services (7%).  

As for financial services by 2,246,527 thousand KZT or 17% due to growth in revenues  

for the implementation of social benefits (21%), acceptance of utility and other payments (12%), 

money transfers (14%) and other services (44%, collection and transfer-agent services activities) as 

a result of expansion of the customer base and the development of services. 
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As for income from agency services by 91,761 thousand KZT or 15% due to the introduction 

of new products.  

As for income from financing by 441 122 thousand KZT or 26%. 

As for income from operating leases by 81,953 thousand KZT or 18%. 

Revenues from non-core activities as compared to the level of 2014 (733 880 thousand KZT) 

were higher by 3 485 748 thousand KZT mainly due to foreign exchange gains, which amounted to 

3,843,555 thousand KZT.  

  

Costs 

In the reporting period, expenditures amounted to a total of 37,136,467 thousand KZT, which 

is higher than the same period of 2014 by 14.3% or 4,664,688 thousand KZT due to increased 

production by 10% and general and administrative expenses by 30%. 

Operating expenses totaled at 29,445,003 thousand KZT, which exceeds the level of 2014 to 

2,685,001 thousand KZT or 10% mainly due to rising costs 

labor costs at 1,676,849 thousand KZT, depreciation of fixed assets 254 198 thousand KZT. 

General and administrative expenses amounted to a total of 6,877,009 thousand KZT, 

that 1,601,761 thousand KZT higher than the level of 2014, mainly due to the implementation 

of the program of business transformation process of the Company on 641 094 thousand KZT, 

allowance for doubtful accounts 566 979 thous. m. 

According to results of the 2015 net income of the Company amounted to a total of 

2,595,925 thousand KZT, which is higher than 2014 2,450,866 thousand KZT.   

 

  The structure of expenditures, thousand KZT 

             

Name 2013 2014 2015 

Total: 29 062 608   32 514 441 37 411 636 

General and administrative 

expenses 
4 862 726 5 277 295 6 776 757 

Cost of sales/services 23 864 673 26 760 180 29 409 000 

Advertising and Marketing 78 984 50 110 89 334 

Finance costs 331 816 381 103 392 886 

Other expenses -23 183 -102 314 96 896 

Corporate income tax -52 408 148 066 646 763 

        

  

The main consumers of postal and courier activities are legal entities - about 80% in 2015. The 

volume of services rendered to the population increased by 1.7 times - from 4.6 billion KZT to 7.6 

billion KZT. 

The most attractive segments of the market of postal services in the courier activity are the 

cities and regional centers of the country, where there are the highest population figures and the 

number of legal entities. 

Less attractive are rural areas with low population density. The share of services of postal and 

courier activities provided in rural areas decreased from 7.2% in 2010 to 4% in 2015. 

The bulk of processed items is the distribution of periodicals - 68.9%, a significant share 

accounts for letters - 19.0%. The most profitable segment of courier services account for about 5.5% 

of the total shipments. 
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In the period of 2010-2015 the number of companies providing services in the field of postal 

and courier activities increased by 40% from 82 units to about 120 units. Currently the market 

involved the national postal operator "Kazpost" JSC, RSE "State Courier SErvice of Kazakhstan of 

the Prime Minister Office", major international integrators: DHL, FedEx, TNT, Russian express 

carriers: Pony Express, local courier service companies providing transportation services. 

"Kazpost" JSC is the largest player in the postal and courier services market. However, due to 

the actual of that the growth rate of the Company's revenues from the provision of postal and courier 

services in the period of 2012-2014 was lower than the market average, the share of "Kazpost" JSC 

reduced from 59.6% to 54.6%. Lower income growth is explained, including the fact that tariffs on 

certain types of services are regulated by the state, and are not set by the Company itself. 

According to expert estimates, the Company's market share in the service of reception and 

delivery of promotional materials, taking into account all stakeholders, including advertising 

agencies is 20%. Constraining factors in the development of services is the lack of control over the 

delivery of parcels and segmented databases for mailing. Also, on the city-level this service is 

provided by local companies with the ability to service small amounts. Competition in the market of 

the Company constitute the courier company and the free advertising newspapers: «Direct Delivery» 

LLP, «City ServExpress» LLP, “Alapost Courier Service", Atshabar. Company fees for the delivery 

of advertising materials are losing their appeal upon the increase in the number sent out promotional 

material, as competitors offer lower tariffs than those set by the Company. This fact is observed at 

the level of all branches of the Company, since distribution of advertising materials is carried out not 

only by newspaper publishers, but private entrepreneurs at more attractive prices. 

In addition, based on the information provided by branch "ILC "Yug" for 5 months of 2015, 

an analysis of the workload of postal wagons routes was conducted, which showed that the volume 

of transported LPI in opposite direction by an average 40% less than when sent from the cities of 

Almaty, Astana to the regions. 

In view of the above, in order to increase the volume of advertising material mailings, 

invoices, notices and LPIs, increasing the profitability of postal routes, performance of tasks on 

income within the approved budget, the Directors of the subsidiaries were assigned a self-approval 

of tariffs for reception and delivery of promotional materials, invoices, notices and LPIs, ie rates are 

decentralized for the period up to 31.03.2016, with the obligations to ensure compliance with budget 

targets, by services. 

  

Post services 

During 2015 revenues from postal services amounted to a total of 17 201 104,2 thousand. 

Tenge, which is higher than the level of 2014 by 8.4%, or 1 336 108.0 thous. Tenge. Volumes of 

postal services made in the amount of 304.76 million. Units, below the level of 2014 by 7%, or 22.9 

million. Units. 

 

Post services 

        

Name 2013 2014 2015 

        

Volume of postal services (mln. items), incl.: 374,97 327,63 304,76 

written correspondence 58,66 49,15 45,84 

promotional materials 13,83 16,78 33,27 

parcels 3,70 3,84 3,32 
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bulky departure 0,96 0,71 0,54 

periodicals 214,49 213,83 188,94 

express mail service 0,55 0,54 0,60 

services SCS 1,37 1,365 1,443 

international postal items 5,93 6,86 7,92 

other 75,48 34,55 22,90 

    Revenues from postal services (th. tg.), incl.: 13 625 740 15 864 996 17 201 104 

written correspondence 3 525 377 3 645 698 3 774 970 

promotional materials 271 187 362 637 374 799 

parcels 2 265 316 2 497 029 3 087 710 

bulky parcels 911 001 861 914 564 386 

periodicals 1 710 084 2 113 233 2 005 922 

express mail service 887 165 1 103 656 1 183 733 

special communication services 1 996 860 2 243 175 2 409 521 

international postal items 1 286 194 2 470 237 3 084 272 

other 772 556 567 417 715 791 

 

 

Financial services 

During 2015 revenues amounted to a total of 15,445,134 thousand KZT, which is higher than 

the level of 2014 by 17% or 2,246,527 thousand KZT. The volumes for 2015 amounted to 904 434 

mln. KZT, which is higher than the level of 2014 by 3.4% or by 30 025 mln. KZT. 

  

Financial services, thousand KZT 

        

Name 2013 2014 2015 

        

volumes  822 098  874409 918129 

payment of wages  80 324  88 146 538 460 

payment of pensions and 

benefits: 
 473 610  505 456 274 676 

receipt of payments  249 925  260 126 27 862 

money transfers  17 638  20 576 77 131 

  
   Incomes 1073655 1357774 15 445 134 

from payment of pensions 1 065 421 1 058 100 6 185 996 

from receipt of payments 4 757 094 5 110 945 5 554 155 

from money transfer 4 915 399 4 953 148 817 465 

Other income  639 477 718 640 1 950 025 

from payment of wages 1 073 655 1 357 774 937 493 
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6.5. Accounting policy 

Financial accounting in Kazpost JSC is carried out on the basis of the Accounting Policy of 

Kazpost JSC, approved by the Board of Directors of Kazpost JSC. In 2015, amendments and 

additions to this policy were made.  

Due to the fact that the scope of the changes and additions to the accounting policy is more 

than 50% of the text content it is requested to approve the accounting policies as amended, as 

according to the Rules of management over the internal regulatory documents of "Kazpost" JSC 

(approved by the Management Board of "Kazpost" JSC, the minutes number 10 as of 06.03.2013) in 

the case of changes/additions to the draft document of more than 50% of the text content, the 

document is approved as amended. Please also note the introduction of the following new standards: 

 IFRS (IFRS) 15 "Revenue from contracts with customers"; 

 IFRS (IFRS) 9 "Financial Instruments". 

We shall additionally note that the "Accounting policy" draft sent was developed in 

accordance with the new corporate accounting policy of "Samruk Kazyna" JSC with changes and 

additions, which will come into effect from 2016. 

This accounting policy establishes the procedure for accounting in the Company, in 

accordance with which the Company fulfills the obligations arising out of the activities carried out 

in the manner and on terms established by law the rules in force at the time of their occurrence. 

Key provisions of the accounting Policy are presented in the Notes to the 2015 Consolidated 

Financial Statements. 

  

Information about the external auditor 

External auditor of Kazpost JSC is "KPMG Audit" LLP. The company is a global leader in 

audit, tax, transactional support and advisory services.  

Basic services of "KPMG Audit" LLP: 

 auditing services; 

 tax and legal services; 

 consulting services. 

  

Information about reserves 

Provisions for receivables and write-off of inventories, thousand KZT 

        

Name  2013 2014 2015 

Allowance for doubtful and bad debts, 

thousand KZT 

934 087   1 001 838 1 500 257  

Provision for write-off of inventories, 

ths.KZT 

11 706 7 640 7 978 

    

  

6.6. Support from the government and the Fund  

From the state 

The Ministry of Finance issued a guarantee for a loan taken by Kazpost JSC  

in the Islamic Development Bank. The maturity of the loan - June 2019.  
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From the Fund 

A gradual increase in the authorized capital program of JSC "Kazpost". This program is 

approved by the Board of the Fund, would increase the Company's share capital at the expense of 

own funds of the Fund. In order to implement the key activities that can improve the company's 

competitiveness, and to ensure and achieve its strategic objectives, including productivity 

improvement activities and increase market share, the Fund increased its authorized capital by 2.084 

billion. KZT in 2013, in 2014 -1815 mln. KZT, in 2015 -. 4565 m. 

  

6.7. Related party transactions 

Transactions with related parties of the Company 

In accordance with the Company's Charter, a decision on the conclusion of major transactions 

or transactions of Company's concern, in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan is within the exclusive competence of the Company's Board of Directors. 

Transactions of the Company's concern are held by the Company in accordance with the 

Republic of Kazakhstan Law "On Joint Stock Companies" and "On Soverign Wealth Fund". The 

Company didn't conclude major transactions in the reporting period.  

In 2015 the total amount of concluded transactions with subsidiaries of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC 

amounted to more than 3.9 billion KZT. Relations between the parties are of a commercial nature on 

the basis of mutually beneficial cooperation. Significant terms of the transactions include the 

provision of special communication services to the Company, distribution of periodicals by 

subscription, receipt of payments, collection of money, the provision of postal and financial services 

(including brokerage ones), as well as the purchase of goods and services by the Company from 

subsidiaries of Samruk-Kazyna JSC .  

The process of transaction approval is a contract between the parties. Transactions and 

relations between the Company and third parties are carried out on a normal commercial basis 

within the legislation of Kazakhstan. 

  

Transactions with persons having special relationships with the Company 

Transactions approval procedures with related parties are in accordance with the requirements 

of the legislation of Kazakhstan and appropriate internal regulatory documents of the Company. 

During the reporting period the Company concluded transactions for the opening of current accounts 

and personal accounts in the system of nominal holding.  

No transactions with the changed standard terms and conditions, the usual examination and 

approval procedures. No operations, which were formed as a result of outstanding balances, 

representing a concentration of credit risk were registered. 

  

6.8. Financial activities 

Equity and debt securities and market capitalization 

«Samruk-Kazyna» JSC is the sole shareholder, owning 100% of the Company's shares. 

Company has no convertible securities. The total number of authorized shares as of 31.12.2015 

amounts to 18,632,276 (eighteen mln. six hundred thirty-two thousand two hundred seventy-six) 

shares, including:  

 common shares: 14,067,052 (fourteen mln. sixty-seven thousand and fifty-two) shares; 

 no preferred shares. 
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In accordance with the decision of the Sole Shareholder of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC, minutes No 

30/15 as of 07.07.2015 they approved the issuance of additional common shares in the amount of 

4,565,224 shares totaling 4,565,224,000 thousand KZT. In 2015, the issued ordinary shares were 

fully paid up by "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC in cash. The carrying value of the shares: 

 2011 - 917 KZT; 

 2012 - 934 KZT; 

 2013 - 344 KZT; 

 2014 - 889 KZT; 

 2015 - 1097 KZT 

Over the past 10 years, growth in the number of authorized shares of the Company was  

on average 30% per year. As a result, during this period the number of authorized shares was more 

than 14 mln. pcs., which is six times higher than the figure for 2004. 

"Kazpost" JSC has been working to attract long-term borrowing by second-tier banks to 

finance investment projects. The total amount of borrowings as of 01.01.2016 amounted to 2,899,93 

mln KZT. During the reporting of 2015, borrowed funds were not involved. 

Indicators of capital adequacy , liquidity 

  

capital adequacy 

        

Name 2013 2014 2015 

        

Equity bln.KZT 10,7 12,6 20,5 

Assets bln.KZT 49,2 52,4 62,2 

Adequacy ratio of own funds (not less than 0.12) 0,2 0,2 0,3 

        

        

Capital Liquidity 

        

Name 2013 2014 2015 

        

Highly liquid assets, bln.KZT 25,6 16,0 17,8 

Due on demand, bln.KZT 33,8 36,7 35,7 

Current ratio (at least 0.3) 0,5 0,5 0,5 

    

  

  

Investment portfolio 

According to the investment policy of temporarily surplus funds of Kazpost JSC in the 

financial market, the Company's investment portfolio is a collection of investments in government 

securities and other financial instruments.  

As of January 1, 2016 the investment portfolio included: government securities, corporate 

securities, deposits, transactions under reverse repurchase transactions. 
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The structure of the investment portfolio: 

 government securities - 45%; 

 non-government securities - 24%; 

 reverse REPO 

 deposits 

Investment policy is designed as a tool to ensure the safety of temporarily surplus funds 

(hereinafter - TSF) of the Company according to the changing conditions in the financial markets, 

by identifying the mechanisms and tools of own portfolio quality management, providing a 

moderate level of profitability of operations at low risk of investments in the framework of 

requirements established by the Republic of Kazakhstan legislation. 

The Company determines the investment strategy of temporarily surplus funds in the financial 

market, as a conservative. Conservative strategy is aimed at preservation of the TSF by minimizing 

investment risk. The Company does not seek to maximize current income size from investments, 

giving priority to the security of investments. The form of such a strategy is the formation of a 

conservative investment portfolio. 

Company's investment portfolio management is regulated by a common policy on money 

management of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC and legal entities, all the voting shares (stakes) of which are 

owned by "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. According to the Single Policy of the Fund the main parameters 

of the investment portfolio are developed, including its reference distribution and deviations from it, 

as well as the proportion of financial instruments. The structure of the Company's investment 

portfolio does not violate the limits set by basic parameters of "Kazpost" JSC's portfolio. 

In order to manage the risks associated with investment activities in the financial market, the 

Company applies a policy of setting limits on balance sheet and off-balance sheet liabilities for 

counterparty banks of companies of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC by complying with the limits set by the 

Fund, as well as sub-limits, approved by the company. 

  

Financial liabilities 

In the course of its financial activities the Company on a monthly basis conducts the 

appropriate analysis for compliance with the covenants and terms of the agreements for existing 

credit and loan agreements. 

In order to timely fulfill financial obligations in accordance with the Company's internal 

documents the appropriate schedules were approved. The amounts on these obligations are paid in a 

timely manner. In particular, on a periodic basis there is a monitoring of the principal debt 

repayment, the same procedure shall apply in respect of accrued interest on borrowed loans. 

During the reporting period the Company did not borrow funds. Earlier involved means 

according to the Company's development strategy until 2022 are intended for financing and 

refinancing approved of capital expenditure necessary for the implementation of projects.  

The Fund is currently working on the implementation of the target of the treasury management 

function model in the framework of this program, the Company carried out the relevant work with 

the second-tier banks. 

  

Interest rates on financial assets and liabilities 

The Company is taking steps to strengthen and diversify the investment portfolio. The main 

purpose of investing is the preservation of temporarily surplus funds, maintainance of the optimal 

structure of financial assets and income with investment reliability through diversification. The 2015 
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average total volume of the investment portfolio amounted to 17.81 billion KZT at weighted average 

rate of 10.81% per annum. 

  

6.9. Investment activities 

Investment projects 

Investment activity of Kazpost JSC is aimed at implementation of a set of measures to ensure 

the stable functioning of postal services of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the strategic objectives 

of the Company indicated in the Development Strategy of the Company until 2022. 

In 2015, total investment amounted to 5.3 bln.KZT, which is 3 times more than in 2014. 

About 1.1 bln KZT were allocated for the modernization of postal communication objects, 

including the strengthening of technical and repair costs amounted to 927 mln. KZT, which is 5 

times more than in the previous year. 

The company spent about 2 bln KZT for the most important area of investment in 2015 - 

development of postal and logistic infrastructure. In 2015 Company purchased 268 units of new 

vehicles, thereby reducing wear on the park from 57% to 47%; installed 89 postamats (self-service 

terminals for sending and/or receiving mail) across the country; and an automated sorting line of 

registered mail; as well as other realized investment projects for the organization of production 

processes. 

Investments in the development of IT infrastructure and security amounted to 834 mln. KZT 

in 2015. In this area, the Company has equipped subsidiaries with computer and office equipment 

(more than 5 th. pcs.), has made the purchase of telecommunication and server equipment as well as 

technical equipment/safety equipment. 

  

Total development expenses (investments, thousand KZT) 

        

Name 2013 2014 2015 

        

Investment projects 116 017,8 343 656,0 1 184 724,0 

Maintainance of operational productive assets and 

other fixed assets directly involved in the production 

process  

4 352 951,2 1 583 407,0 4 074 602,0 

% of plan execution   30,9 81,0 

Total:   4 468 969,03   1 927 063,00   5 259 326,00  

    

  

6.10. Arrangement of procurements 

Carrying out the procurement of goods, works and services in Kazpost JSC is governed by the 

Rules of procurement of goods, works and services of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC and organizations, 

fifty and more percent of voting shares (participation) of which are directly or indirectly belong to 

«Samruk-Kazyna» JSC on the right of ownership or trust management, approved by the decision of 

the Board of Directors of Samruk Kazyna JSC and the procedure for the purchase of goods, works 

and services of Kazpost JSC, which provides certain benefits and preferences for domestic 

producers, suppliers, entrepreneurs. The share of local content in Company's procurements under the 

contracts concluded amounted to 64% in 2015. 

The structure of concluded contracts: 
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 services - 42 

 goods - 42%; 

 wprks - 16% 

Indicators of Kazakhstan content: 

 2014 actual - 64% 

 2015 actual - 64%  

During the reporting period no risks and rights violations towards suppliers to exercise 

freedom of association and collective bargaining were registered. 

Interaction with suppliers and contractors is governed by procurement rules. In order to detail 

the internal procurement procedures and definitions of responsibility between structural units in 

terms of procurement and supply of goods (works, services) there is a procedure for procurement of 

goods, works and services in Kazpost JSC.  

The Company has also developed standard contracts for the procurement of goods, works and 

services, providing the rights and obligations of the Customer and the Supplier. 

  

6.11. Tariff policy 

The company is in the State Register of market entities having dominant or monopolistic 

position on the regulated markets. In 2015, it was excluded from the State Register of subjects of 

natural monopolies by the order of the Chairman of the Committee on Regulation of Natural 

Monopolies and Protection of Competition of the Ministry of National Economy of Kazakhstan No. 

413-ОД. 

The state regulates and controls the Company's operations in tariffs by the authorized body - 

the Liaison, Information and Data Committee under the Ministry of Investment and Development of 

the Republic of Kazakhstan.  

In accordance with the Law "On Competition" the company is regulated by the Authorized 

body in the following types of services included in the Register of entities with dominant or 

monopoly position: 

1) distribution service of periodicals by subscription; 

2) universal postal services;  

3) service for sending registered letters within the Republic of Kazakhstan;  

4) the activity of "cash operations in the settlements". 

Regulation of tariffs for postal services included in the register of market entities having 

dominant or monopolistic position is made by the authorized body by setting limits on the level of 

prices in accordance with the Rules of pricing in regulated markets, approval and adjustment of the 

investment program (project) of the regulated market subject. 

In 2015 price limits on the universal postal services were differentiated for legal and natural 

persons, legal entities. In July 2015, there was an increase of prices for the simple letters and simple 

wrapper for Kazakhstan up to 112 KZT. In other regulated services prices remained unchanged in 

2015. 

In accordance with the Law "On Competition" the Company was is included in the State 

Register of market entities with dominant (monopolistic) position with a share of over 35% withuin 

the geographical boundaries of the Republic of Kazakhstan in terms of provision of services: 

 on cash transactions in "settlements" (settlements - cities of regional importance, and rural 

areas), tariffs for 2014 

have not changed; 

 on registered letters sending. 

Company standardized rates of local, national and international periodicalsI, set a new ceiling 

of reasonable prices for services on distribution of periodicals by subscription. 
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In 2015, the following rates for agency services have been installed: 

Fees for agency services 

    

Name Commission 

    

Acceptance of payments for issuing railway 

tickets to individuals 
In the cities - 10% of the ticket price 

(minimum - 300 KZT, maximum - 500 

KZT).  
In districts and villages - 10% of the ticket 

price (minimum - 200 KZT, maximum - 500 

KZT). 
Acceptance of payments for registration of 

the returned train tickets for individuals 
100 KZT  

Acceptance of payments for registration of 

railway tickets for legal entities 
500 KZT  

Acceptance of payments for registration of 

the returned train tickets for legal entities 
100 KZT  

Cash Loans of Bank Home Credit JSC 3% (three) of the amounts of credited loans 

Commodity loans of Bank Home Credit JSC 3% (three) of the amount of loans granted by 

the STB through payment for the goods 

Conclusion of insurance contracts for 

insurance companies services 
15% of the issued policy 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

7. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND PERSONNEL 

DEVELOPMENT 
  

One of the key requirements to ensure sustainable development of the Company IS A social 

responsibility. Every year, the Company is assigned to the so-called social stability rating, reflecting 

the indicators characterizing the different categories of social status, mood, socio-demographic and 

professional job structure of the Company. 

the social stability rating of the Company for 2015 in the independent evaluation was 68%, 

relative to 2014 (67%) increased by 1% in comparison with 2013 (55%) grew by 13%.  

According to the results of a poll the actual number of respondents was 3 150 people. In 

overall, the study captures a favorable social situation in Kazpost JSC. Social stability rating (RCC) 

increses within three years (in 2013 - 54%, in 2014 - 67%, 2015 - 68%) and, according to the 

established scale, ranked as "above average". In most branches (12 out of 18) a positive trend is 
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observed. A significant increase of the SSR is observed in Mangystau RB (12 percentage points), in 

the East Kazakhstan RB (11 percentage points), in Atyrau RB (9 percentage points). These offices' 

rating increased from "average" to "above average".  

RSS expiriences a notable decline in 2015 compared to 2014 as recorded in South Kazakhstan 

RB - from 82% to 67%, the rating has moved from a "high" level to "above average". The indicator 

decreased due to reduction of all the social attitude indicator' components - involvement indicator, 

social well-being and social peace indicator.  

Moreover, the Company's social development index remained at a consistently high level, ie, 

the gap between the personnel moods and official social indicators increased. Reduction of the SSR 

also happened in Kostanai RB, Zhambyl RB and Kyzylorda RB, by 5-7 percentage points, but the 

rating in the branches remained at the same level. In general, the overall situation in branches 

remains favorable. 

  

Performance of CSR 

              
No indicator name Un. 2013 2014 2015 +/- 

Personnel 

1.  
Payroll number of personnel as of 01.01 of the 

reporting year 
pers. 21956 22907 22703  -204 

2.  
The actual number of employees on average per year 

* 
un. 16709 16822 16789 -33 

3.  wages fund  KZT mln 14 847 17 787 19 503 1716 

4.  Employee income on average per year ** 
thousand 

KZT 
88 74  96 22 

5.  training costs  KZT mln 22,8 23,6 37  13,4 

6.  Turnover *** % 23 20 20  0 

Insurance: 

7.  
Compulsory insurance of the employee by employer 

from accidents 
thousand 

KZT 
4 607,70 3 982, 1 5641,7  625,6 

8.  Voluntary insurance 
thousand 

KZT 
- - - - 

Occupational Safety and Health 

9.  The number of accidents at work per thousand people % 0,3 0,63 0,48  0,15  

Ecology 
10.  The amount of pollutant emissions  ths. tons 0,56 0,96 0,87  0,09 

       
  
* The actual number of employees on average for the year is determined by summing the actual number of employees for the months of the reporting 

year and dividing this amount by 12 months; 
** Employee income average for the year is determined by dividing the wage fund for the period by the actual avarage number per year and 12 

months; 
*** Employee turnover is determined by dividing the laid-off workers (on their own, for negative reasons, and tjose who did not pass the probationary 
period) by the average number of employees during the reporting period; 

  

For 2015 the Company's turnover amounted to 20%, ie, remains at the same level as in the 

past (in 2014 - 20%). The decrease in this indicator is due to the improvement of material and non-

material stimulation of employees, increase of wages of production personnel. 

  

Talent pool 

In order to organize the work on the selection of candidates for executive positions of the 

central office and branches of the Company has a Qualification Commission.  
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In 2015 the Commission held 34 meetings, 54 candidates were appointed as heads of structural 

divisions of the central office and key positions in branches. To the above-mentioned category 34 

employees were assigned from the internal reserves, representing 63% of the total number of 

appointments to key positions. 

  

Appointments 

            

No Positions 

2014 2015 

Total 
Pers. 

reserve 
Total 

Pers. 

reserve 

            
1.  To the position of Director of SD CO 13 4 15 8 

2.  To the position of branch director 7 4 9 6 

3.  To the position of Deputy Branch Director  7 6 20 12 

4.  Chief Accountant 6 6 3 1 

5.  To the position of Deputy Chief Accountant  20 14 7 7 

  Total:  53 34 54 34 

      

  

7.1. Insurance 

In 2015, the Company signed an agreement of compulsory insurance of workers against 

accidents while fulfilling thier job duties with «Life Insurance Company «Grandes» JSC (No 

04050315020002 TC-2015-71 as of 05.03.2014) 

Company employees insured against accidents in the amount of 17 342.19, of which: AP- 

845.0, PP-16 465.19 SP -32 totaling 5,641,726 KZT. 

  

7.2. Complaints and appeals 

For the purposes of prevention, settlement of complaints and appeals, avoiding of social and 

labor conflicts among employees, the Company has Conciliation Commission, Mobile group.  

Since the beginning of 2015 Company received 53 complaints on conflicts mostly related to 

issues of quality of services and labor disputes. The appropriate actions were taken for their 

resolution. Compared with the previous period (2014 - 65 appeals) there is a decline - 18.5%. 

For social and labor settlement in 2015 the Company received 20 appeals, 5 of them were 

justified, ie at the fault of the employees of the branches. 

Appropriate measures were taken for their resolution, responsible workers were brought to 

disciplinary responsibility, the applicants provided timely responses in the manner prescribed by the 

legislation of Kazakhstan. 

During the reporting period the total number of complaints received by the Company, 

including through the Call Center, was 345,201 (an increase by 19.6% to 2014.), of which: 5174 

statements (1.5% of the total number of calls, an increase by 11% to 2014.) and 1166 complaints ( 

0.3% of the total number of calls, an increase by 63.5% to 2014.).  

  

7.3. Collectively-contractual relationship 

Since January 1, 2014 a new Collective Agreement was enacted for 2014-2016, concluded by 

the Company with the NGO "Kazakhstan Communications Workers' Union" and ULE "Association 
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of trade unions of workers of information and communication", which provides additional social 

guarantees to employees in terms of payment, material assistance, occupational safety and health, 

etc.  

In addition, in March 2014 the Ministry of Transport and Communications of Kazakhstan, 

NGO "Kazakhstan Communications Workers' Union", the Company and Kazakhtelecom JSC signed 

industrial agreement that establishes general principles for the regulation of social and labor 

relations at the sectorial level, and joint efforts to implement them .  

The collective agreement provides for new types of monetary compensation, social benefits 

employees of the Company. In order to ensure the indexation of payments, the amount of social 

payments are set with reference to the MCI. 

This industrial agreement fixed social guarantees, benefits and compensation for workers in 

the communications industry. Minimum notice period regarding significant changes in the 

Company's operations, according to the collective agreement terms is 1 month.  

Taking into account the emerging issues of concern, the Company, together with the trade 

unions considered proposals to improve the conditions of the Collective Agreement for 2014-2016. 

On 08.06.2015 they signed a supplementary agreement to the Collective Agreement of the Company 

for 2014-2016, which provides for an increase in types and sizes of social benefits and privileges, 

including the motivation of workers of production personnel, including reimbursement for travel or 

purchase tickets for postment, increase of the financial assistance to the vacational leave, etc.  

One of these, for example, is as follows: 

1) the provision of tickets or payment of monetary compensation within the funds available in 

the Company's budget - the postman while performing work for the delivery of postal items, 

pensions (benefits), telegrams, seizure of letters from mailboxes on foot, with the mandatory use of 

public transport within the haul sections (except for workers using bicycle in summer), in the 

following amounts: 

     for Astana, Almaty, Karaganda, Ust-Kamenogorsk - not more than 3 MCI; 

     for regional cities, Semey - no more than 2 MCI; 

     for cities of district importance - not more than 1 MCI. 

At the same time, the postman, employed at less than 0.5 daily rate, monetary compensation is 

paid at the rate of 50%, respectively. 

2) upon the provision of annual paid leave to branches' employees of the Company they 

receive one-time annual paid financial assistance, provided work for the Company in excess of one 

(1) year at a rate of one salary, with a total length of service in the Company (in the state 

organizations of postal service of the Republic of Kazakhstan) over 20 years - 1.5 salary;  

3) Company employees who have received encouragement from the authorities of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan, including state awards, with the exception of the title of "Kurmetti 

bailanysshy"/"Uzdik bailanysshy", receive the lump sum bonus in the amount of one minimum 

wage established by the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan; 

4) employees of Kazpost JSC's branch - "Information and Logistics Center "Yug" engaged in 

automobile transportation and transfer of international mail receive additional per diem established 

by internal regulations governing travel in the following amounts: in the case of staying outside the 

customs borders of the Republic of Kazakhstan over 4-x hours for each day of stay - 50% of the 

daily amount established by the Company for the payment of workers' travel, traveling abroad. 

As part of the collective agreement provided for the issuance of one-time payments for various 

social reasons to consider the commission created with the participation of the trade union, these 

funds are allocated on a monthly basis.  

In addition, in accordance with the amendments and additions to the collective agreement in 

2015 from August the budget includes the funds for the purchase of tickets or payment of monetary 
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compensation for travel expenses of 14 958 thousand KZT, and in 2016 the amount of 51,444, 9 

thousand KZT is planned for these expenses. In addition, due to the increased size of material aid to 

the vacation of production personnel the Company additionally allocated 42 992 thousand KZT. 

Thus, the following social welfare payments and benefits were made in 2015, including in the 

framework of the Collective Agreement (total - 3,972,300 thousand KZT.). 

  

Social payments and benefits for 2015 
including in the framework of the Collective Agreement of Kazpost JSC for 2014-2016 

      

No indicator 
Amount 

(thousand 

KZT) 
1 Financial assistance for the recovery to the leave 1 130 652,00  

2.  Lump sum in connection with the adoption, birth of a child  51 143,00  

3.  The funeral allowance for the worker died, also for the organization of employee funeral 28 420,00  

4.  The benefit for the retirement leave from the system of Kazpost JSC 24 119,00  

5. 
Financial assistance in connection with the treatment/surgery of employee or persons who are 

dependent on him 
2 248,00  

6.  
Surcharge for the title of "Uzdik bailanysshy" as well as a one-time monetary award fivefold 

minimum wage 
25 200,00  

7 
Encouraging employees of the Company in the amount of one salary for honest work to 

anniversaries - 50, 60 years, and to 55 years old date 
54 901,00  

8 Cash compensation to postmen: 123 233,00  

9 - For the purchase of summer shoes - at a rate of four MCI; 54 775 

10 - For the purchase of winter shoes - in the amount of five MCI. 68 458  

11 
Provision of uniforms and special clothing to postmen, operators, access control personnel 

(security), drivers - collectors, couriers - uniforms sewing is performed at the expense of the 

employer 
175 981,00  

12 
Insurance of Company's employees from accidents (in the amount of 17 342.19, of which: AP - 

845.0, PP - 16 465.19, SP - 32) people 
5 642,00  

  Total: 1 676 314,00  

   

  

7.4. Motivation 

Company management on an ongoing basis takes measures to seek internal reserves to 

increase wages, improve social support for employees of the branches. 

In order to improve working conditions and motivation new internal documents and 

amendments to the Company's internal documents governing the regulation of labor, forms, 

payment system, wage rates and salaries, allowances and bonuses to employees of the Company 

were enacted. 

Today, employees of branches in addition to the basic salary receive a commission for the 

provision of postal, financial and agency services and other services, in addition to the basic salary 

the postmen are paid a commission for delivery of utility bills, pension notices (statements). Also, 

the Company is working to expand the list of services, for the provision of which a commission will 

be paid. 

Thus, in 2015 the employees of the branches received incentive payments: 

Current premium of affiliates employees was 1,295,952 thousand KZT.; 

     One-time bonuses - 930 816 thousand KZT. 

     One-time promotion to anniversaries - 54 901 thousand KZT. 

     The commission to wage - 125 028 thousand KZT.. 
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In order to further enhance the material incentives to improve the efficiency of production, 

improve the quality of services, improve the professional level, (within the approved plan of labor 

costs), the order of the Branch Director or his authorized representative establishes the incentive 

bonuses: 

1) The allowance for honorary title for workers with honorary title "Kurmetti 

bailanysshy"/"Yzdik bailanysshy", in the amount of 10% (ten percent)  of the salary; 

2) allowance for professional skill of administrative employees (except for designated 

succession employees)  and industrial branches staff of no more than 50% of the salary. 

Surcharge for training of specialists is set for the conduct of studies on retraining and skills 

upgrading and training of workers of mass professions (operator, postman, sorter, etc.), depending  

on the actual training time per month in the following amounts: 

     up to 10 hours - no more than 10% (ten percent) of salary; 

     up to 20 hours - no more than 15% (fifteen percent) of the salary; 

     more than 20 hours - no more than 20% (twenty percent) of the salary. 

The Company provides commissions for services, such as: 

     money transfer services - 50 KZT per 1 transaction: 

     design of plastic cards - 100 KZT. 

In 2015 in order to motivate employees for productive work, their professionalism and high 

achievement the following events were held: 

Medal in honor of the 20th anniversary of the Assembly of Peoples of Kazakhstan was awarded to 1 

person; honorary title "Uzdik bailanysshy" - 18 employees. Nominated for the Medal of the 20th 

anniversary of the Constitution of the Republic of Kazakhstan - 25 employees; 

In honor of the World Postal Day celebration 110 employees were awarded the Honorary Diploma 

of Kazpost JSC (27-CO employees, 83 - employees of branches), the Letter of thanks of Kazpost 

JSC; 

Iin honor of the Republic of Kazakhstan Independence Day celebrations they awarded: 

 Order "Kurmet" - 1 employee; 

 The medal "Yeren yenbegi ushin" - 2 employees; 

 Certificate of Merit of the Republic of Kazakhstan - 2 employees; 

 honorary title "Uzdik bailanysshy" - 18 employees; 

 Certificate of Merit of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC - 25 employees. 

 Certificates of Honour and Gratitude of "Kazpost" JSC to the state and professional holidays 

were awarded to 153 employees of the Company. 

The city of Astana held an event to honor labor dynasties on May 15, 2015 with the 

participation of Chairman of the Management Board of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC. The Company 

introduced a postal dynasty of Novgorodtsevs (Akmola RB) with a total experience of 95 years. 

In October 2015 following the hearing of the postmen the following winners were determined: 

     in the nomination "Құрметті пошташы" - the postman of PO No 6, Aktobe, Aktobe 

regional branch - Shukeyev Torgyn Sayranonvich (order No144 as of 16.10.2016, premium - 100 

000 KZT ) 

     in the category "Ең үздік пошташы" - postman of Bukhar-Zhyrau RPOC of Karaganda 

regional branch - Vikhareva Marina Andreyevna (order No 144 as of 16.10.2016, premium - 70 000 

KZT.); 

     in the category "Үздік пошташы" - postman of PO No 4 of Astana General post office - 

Petrova Vera Abdrashitovna (order No 144 as of 16.10.2016, premium - 50 000 KZT); 

     in the nomination "The best idea" - postman, PO No 5, Kyzylorda, Kyzylorda regional 

branch - Mussabayeva Madina Abdullayevna (prize - a laptop); 
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     in the nomination "realization of a dream" - postman, 4-UODP, Shymkent, South 

Kazakhstan regional branch - Raissova Dinara Berikovnu (prize - a tablet); 

     in the nomination "The best representation of the region" - the postman of PO No 14 of 

Almaty post office - Petrova Irina Alekseyevna (prize - a smartphone). 

  

7.5. Training. 

During 2015 the structural subdivisions of the central office of Kazpost JSC held 13 corporate 

seminars in the framework of which the Company raised qualification of 343 employes.  

Corporate seminars held on the themes: changes management, card business, practical and 

methodological assistance in the provision of EMS services, legal support of Kazpost JSC's activity, 

improvement of the quality of special services, the development of sales of postal and financial 

services, planning and budget analysis in hyperion planning system, automation of accounting 

processes at branches and the concept of accounting and reporting development, client focus for 

managers, modernization and development of special communications service, the principles of 

team building, the new Labour Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the classification of production 

facilities.  

For training of workers at the regional level 4 regional training manager are currently take an 

active part. 

During 2015 training involved 15 regional branches. Educational events (seminars / 

workshops/presentations) were held on the topics: the transformation program, new products of 

Kazpost JSC, the quality standards of customer service in the production facilities of Kazpost JSC, 

conflict management, effective sales services of "Kazpost" JSC, Lean manufacture (Kaizen 

Technology ), training for trainers, RB mentors training. 

In addition, within the framework of ITT (Industrial and technical training) 522 training events 

were held in subsidiaries. The number of participants was 13,089 people. In 2015 staff training costs 

amounted to 36,759 thousand KZT. 

Affiliates of the Company concluded an agreement on dual training with five colleges: Almaty 

College of Communication at the Kazakh-American University, Almaty College of Engineering and 

Telecommunications, Aktobe College of Communication and Electrical Engineering, College of 

Radio Engineering and Communications of the Department of Education of the East Kazakhstan 

region, College No 4 of the Education Department of South -Kazahstan region. Under this program, 

136 students had industrial practice. 

              Additionally Almaty General Post Office in cooperation with the College of 

Engineering and Telecommunications in the period from March to May 2015 conducted paid 

courses for service providers (training - 1 month; practice in POC - 2 weeks). After the exams, 30 

trainees received certificates, of whom 13 people were employed. 

  

7.6. Cultural events. Charity and Sponsorship 

In order to raise the level of corporate culture, strengthening the Company's image and 

continuity of traditions cultural events were held. The following holidays and charity events were 

held in the Company. 

March 8 - a celebratory concert for women.  

March 23 - (Nauryz) a festive meal for customers. 

May 6, 2015 - solemn event dedicated to the Day of Defender of the Fatherland.  

May 9, 2015 (Victory Day) - carried out the work for the celebration of the 70th anniversary 

of Victory Day, with the involvement of media representatives. Special working committee was set 

up for the event. CO Commission developed and approved a plan of measures on preparation and 
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celebration of the 70th anniversary of Victory Day in World War II, including the activities of 

strategic and social nature. World War II veterans, home front workers, employees of Kazpost JSC, 

who took part in liquidation of consequences of the Chernobyl disaster in 1986-1987 and the 

participants of the war in Afghanistan, registered in Kazpost JSC received monetary compensation 

according to the rules and sponsorship (or) charitable assistance of "Kazpost" JSC.  

"Kazpost" JSC provided to participants and invalids of the Great Patriotic War, from April 29 

to May 15, 2015 free services for sending simple letters, parcels, packages and letters with declared 

value within the Republic of Kazakhstan. At the corporate portal of Kazpost JSC was created a 

SECTION "70 years of Victory" with thematic rubrication: "The competition of children's drawings 

"Thank you for the Victory", " Postal worker's children rescue WWII veterans", "Great feat of war 

veterans ", "Pride for deeds of relatives in World War II'' (stories of postal workers about relatives).  

CA employees of Kazpost JSC voluntarily raised funds for GPW veterans for the formation of 

the front rations in special bags with the "70th Anniversary of Victory Day" logo. Improvised 

frontline rations include a grocery cart, which was during the Second World War. In a festive 

atmosphere the frontline rations have been handed over to veterans-winners. 

Also, within the celebration of the 70th anniversary of the Victory the contest of children's 

drawings, "Thank you for the Victory!" was held. The competition accepted drawings made by 

children on their own in any genre and technique (gouache, ink, drawing, watercolor, pastel, mixed 

technique). The creative competition was held in two stages: the first - in the branches of the 

Company, the second - in the Central Office. The competition was attended by children of 

Company's employees from 5 to 15 years old. More than 80 children sent their creative works from 

all regions of Kazakhstan.  

In Astana, in the CO of "Kazpost" JSC the Gallery of drawings of first-stage winners was 

arranged. Children drawings sustained military theme, reflected feats and courage of the soldiers, 

who presented the humanity a peace and freedom. According to the results of the competition three 

creative works have been awarded and the winners were awarded in a festive atmosphere with the 

participation of parents and relatives. Children were awarded certificates and valuable gifts. All 

participants of the competition, "Thank you for the Victory!", Dedicated to the 70th anniversary of 

the Victory in the Great Patriotic War received gifts, bought at the personal funds of Kazpost JSC's 

CO. 

The campaign "Postal workers' children rescue veterans" took place from March 1st to May 9, 

2015 During this time, children of employees of Kazpost JSC visited the apartments and homes of 

the Great Patriotic War veterans in all regional branches of Kazpost JSC. Volunteers helped in 

cleaning apartments and houses, cleaning up residential buildings and yards. Repaired fences and 

gates, brought food. The campaign participants expressed concern and care for the elderly, among 

whom there are those who can not move independently. 

June 1 (International Children's Day) - a special event for children of employees of the 

Company. Organized bright, cheerful holiday with gifts and sweets for children. 

In order to improve the level of working profession, for the increase of importance of working 

profession this year was declared as the Year of the postman and the best representatives of working 

professions were repeatedly determined and awarded. The trade union organization has been 

involved in these activities and allocated funds for awarding the best representatives of the 

profession. The Company has held competitions at the regional level, "Best Cinematography", "Best 

postman", "Best Team". 

At the national level the "Құрметті пошташы – 2015" competition was held dedicated to the 

World Post Day - 9 October. Winners in the nominations were determined and postmen were 

encoureged: 
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     "Құрметті пошташы" - T.S. Shukeyev postman of PO No 6, Aktobe RB - was awarded a 

cash prize of 100 thousand KZT. 

     "Ең үздік пошташы" - Vikhareva M.A. postman of Buhar-Zhyrau RPOC, Karaganda RB - 

70 thousand KZT. 

     "Үздік пошташы" - Petrova V.A. postman of PO No 4 of AB "Astana General Post 

Office" - 50 thousand KZT.. 

The incentive prizes wee also awarded to postmen who won in the nomination "The best 

idea", "Realization of a dream", "The best representation of the region." 

In December 2015 more than 800 children received gifts from Santa Claus thanks to the 

campaign "Write a letter to Santa Claus." The response letter of congratulation of Santa Claus were 

received by more than 3,000 children from all over Kazakhstan. In all post offices of regional 

centers "Mega" shopping and entertainment center in the cities of Astana, Almaty, Aktobe special 

mailboxes for letters to Santa Claus were placed. Kazpost has received a record of 3752 letters. As a 

gift, the children asked toys, smart phones, musical instruments and household appliances.  

The campaign "Write a letter to Santa Claus" was supported by the Head of the State 

Nursultan Nazarbayev who has presented the long-awaited gifts to children with the most sincere 

wishes to become worthy citizens of Kazakhstan. Some of the letters were posted on the portal 

post.kz, where everyone could choose a letter and bring child's dream into life. More than 50 people 

sent Christmas gifts through this portal. Celebrations were organized in orphanages and boarding 

schools of Kazakhstan. Gifts were presented by dressed Santa Claus and Snow Maiden employees, 

promotions partners and media representatives. The leading companies of the country, 

representatives of small and medium-sized enterprises, employees of Kazpost JSC actively 

participated in the promotion action.  

The event was held to honor labor dynasties with the participation of Chairman of the 

Management Board of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC in Astana in May 2015. The Company introduced a 

postal dynasty of Novgorodtsevs (Akmola RB) with a total experience of 95 years. 

  

7.7. Charity and Sponsorship 

The event was held to honor labor dynasties with the participation of Chairman of the 

Management Board of "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC in Astana in May 2015. The Company introduced a 

postal dynasty of Novgorodtsevs (Akmola RB) with a total experience of 95 years. 

  

Social projects in the field of charity  
and sponsorship (thousand KZT) 

        
Name 2013 2014 2015 
        

Day of Older Persons 5 503 5 916 689  

Financial assistance to persons working in the organization 

in accordance with the collective agreement (former 

employees)  
1 891 3 350 1 966  

Collective agreement: 26 350 26 350 26 350 

The acquisition of vouchers for spa treatment 8 000 8 000 8 000 

Purchase of vouchers to children's health camp  8 000 8 000 8 000  

Cultural and sports events 5 000 5 000 5 000  

The acquisition of New Year's gifts for children of 

employees  
5 350 5 350 5 350  

Total: 33 744 35 616 29 005 
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7.8. Conflict Management 

The company pays close attention to the settlement of corporate conflicts and conflicts of 

interest. Trade unions take an active part in the consideration of appeals of workers or complaints in 

respect of acts or omissions of employees, considering the conflict, in the conduct of appraisals 

within specially created commissions or conciliation commissions, etc. 

For the purposes of prevention, settlement of complaints and appeals, avoiding social and 

labor conflicts among workers of Kazpost JSC a permanent commission for the settlement of social 

and labor conflicts was established.  

The Company has a systematic approach to strengthen the corporate culture, prevent and 

manage industrial disputes, establish the rules of conduct, values and loyalty.  

To this end, there are: 

 the Ombudsman institute; 

 Commission for the settlement of social and labor conflicts; 

 professional communities; 

 mobile teams in accordance with the Action Plan on Corporate Social Responsibility in order 

to clarify the policy of corporate social responsibility of the Company. 

The rules on the regulation of corporate conflicts and conflicts of interest in Kazpost JSC, 

which define the concept of conflict of interest, a common list of possible situations of conflict of 

interest, as well as fixed procedure for their settlement. An Ombudsman was appointed, whose 

responsibility are taken by the Corporate Secretary. The Ombudsman's functions include: the 

organization of work on updating the internal documents, provision of opinions, monitoring of 

corporate conflicts, participation in assurance of communication channels development, settlement 

of conflict of interests (in terms of issues of distribution of competence) and the consideration of 

violations of the principles of the procedures laid down in the Code of Business Conduct. 

The Policy on the work with the possible or known facts of fraud, abuse and other illegal acts 

included a mechanism for review of information on violations of the Code of Conduct and the 

Company's policy. 

For the settlement of labor relations, compliance with the workers' rights, creation of social 

security of workers and members of their family Kazpost JSC concluded a collective agreement 

between the "Trade Union of Communications Workers of Kazakhstan" and "Association of trade 

unions of workers of information and communication." 

As part of corporate social responsibility in the Company, as well as for the purpose of 

prevention, settlement of complaints and appeals, avoiding social and labor conflicts among workers 

of Kazpost JSC a mobile team from among the Company's central office employees was established. 

In addition, in order to enhance social stability, the Company approved a plan of measures to 

improve the level of social stability of "Kazpost" JSC for 2015-2018, which provides activities such 

as check of HR records keeping and management in Company's subsidiaries, explanatory work 

through the organization of meetings and briefings with the Company's branches employees to 

resolve social and labor disputes and conflicts.  

Mobile group of the Company in 2015 made trips to the most troubling areas which require 

special handling and special preventive measures according to a study of the social stability rating in 

the branches of East Kazakhstan, Mangystau, Karaganda, Almaty, Akmola, South Kazakhstan 

region, AB "Almaty general post office." About 70% of the production facilities were visited 

(CPOC, RPOC, POCs, OPDP), meetings with the teams, discussions and advocacy were held. 

During the conversation with the personnel of the section for the processing and delivery of mail a 

satisfactory social and moral atmosphere in the team was observed. As a result of visits to 

manufacturing facilities, problematic issues, weaknesses of the branches were identified and 
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branches' management received appropriate recommendations to prevent labor conflicts, set targets 

to improve the social stability of workers. 

During his visit to the branches a number of observations that can affect the social well-being 

of workers were found, such as: 

     lack of transparency and equitable approach to recruitment. The decision on hiring is taken 

alone by the head of the branch, without a competitive selection according to internal documents of 

the Company, as well as employees that do not meet the qualification requirements for the position 

(without work experience, lack of length of service in the proposed position or relevant education); 

     there is evidence of unfair treatment for intangible promotion. There was a case of award 

of workers with a minimum length of service of the non- production staff (economist, driver), 

whereas the production staff workers with the experience of 20 or even more years, are completely 

ignored, with the punishment of disciplinary nature exceeded 10 times quantity versus promotion, 

the share of which accounts for 1% of the total population of the whole team; 

     unfair setting of wage categories, respectively salaries that cause tension and resentment 

among staff, some workers without experience during the probationary period have the increased 

size of the salary to a maximum tariff level range without any special achievements and registration; 

     when visiting the production facilities we revealed that the management of the branch did 

not give due attention to create normal living conditions for production staff (necessary furniture, 

home appliances, offices are not ready for the heating season), etc. Since the beginning of 2014 the 

Company received 41 appeal on labor conflicts. An appropriate decisions were taken for each appeal 

in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan.  

During 2015 53 complaints of different nature were received for consideration, including: 

a. anonymous - 6 appeals; 

b. on assistance (to close the debt owed to banks and to ensure attendance in the bank) - 

5 appeals; 

c. on violation of business ethics (ill-treatment, etc.) - 7 appeals; 

d. thanks from natural and legal persons tof the Company's employees - 2 appeals 

(Akmola RB and AB "Astana General Post Office"); 

e. on social and labor conflicts and disputes - 20 appeals; 

f. others - 13 appeals. 

Compared with the previous period (2014 - 65 appeals) there is a decline of 18.5%. 

  

7.9. The presence in the regions 

The company provides jobs for more than 22,703 people. Astana general post office - 2165; 

Almaty General Post Office - 1224; Aktobe RB - 981; Atyrau RB - 753; Almaty RB - 2255; EKRB - 

2074; Zhambyl RB - 1161; Karaganda RB - 1784; Kyzylorda RB - 820; Kostanay RB - 1342; 

Mangystau RB - 508; Pavlodar RB - 1087; NKRB - 1675; WKRB - 809; SKRB - 1797; branch of 

Kazpost JSC ILC "Yug" - 1148; branch "RSCS" - 280; branch "Technical service" - 52; branch 

"Postal Service" - 57; branch "Information Systems Operation Department" - 99; branch "Corporate 

sales management" - 105; branch "Sorting Center" - 566; branch "EMS Kazpost" - 175. 

  

Number of workers 

          
Name 2013 2014 2015 +/- 

Headcount, people 21957 22907 22703  -204* 

Administrative 948 901 926 25 
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Production 20967 21974 21 744 -230 

Support 42 32 33 1 

The number of staff, units. 16983 17466 17435 -31 

Administrative 918 848 897 49 

Production 16021 16586 16506 -80 

Support 44 32 32 0 

     
  
* Reduction in numbers is due to the following factors:  
reduction of economists under Grant Tornton Program; 
reduction (specialists, accountants), the translation of specialists in civil defense and mobilization work by 0.5 units. 
  

7.10. Occupational Safety and Health 

At the end of 2015, the Company recorded 11 accidents at work. Studying the dynamics of 

occupational injuries in "Kazpost" JSC for 2014 and 2015 shows a relatively similar results and is in 

the range of 10-11 cases. 

  

Dynamics of industrial injuries 

        

Name 2013 2014 2015 

        

Falls (fracture, contusion) 7 3 8 

Traffic accident 2 1 - 

Armed assault 2 1 - 

Other circumstances 3 5 3 

Total:  14 10 11 

    

  

Key performance indicator of the LPS (KPIs) is to determine the number of industrial 

accidents per 1000 people. 

The company managed to minimize the indicators "number of accidents at work per 1,000 

people" in recent years. The indicator in 2014 and 2015 is in the range of 0,44-0,48 percent.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The number of accidents at work per 

thousand people 

            

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

            

0,81 0,76 0,60 0,63 0,44 0,48 
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It should also be noted that the indicator of the number of accidents at work per thousand 

people for 2015 is less respectively by 0.33, 0.28, 0.12 and 0.15 per cent in comparison with 2010, 

2011, 2012 and 2013. Thus, it should be noted a tendency to decrease the number of industrial 

accidents per 1000 people. 

  

Dynamics of industrial injuries 

              

Name 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

              

The number of victims of accidents, 

including: 
18 17 13 14 10 11 

Received a disability - - 1 -   - 

With fatal 1 - - 1 1 - 

Total:  19 17 14 15 11 11 

       

  

For minimization and anticipation of accidents at work the Company held all kinds of 

briefings on occupational safety and health. With the current employees, with all the newly hired 

workers, regardless of their education, work experience in the profession or position, with temporary 

workers, business travelers, students, and students who came to the job training or practice.  

Funds under "Expenses for labor protection" item of the budget of the Company are sent for 

the improvement of working conditions and the acquisition of personal and collective protection, 

special clothing, special food, specials shoes, medicine, masks, respirators, sanitary treatments of 

buildings and structures, activities of compulsory insurance of employees, medical examinations of 

employees, and more.  

At the end of 2015 the Company spent 65731.0 thousand KZT for labor protection measures, 

including budget items: 

1) clothing - 21176.0 thousand KZT. 

2) medical examination - 7853.0 thousand KZT. 

3) drugs - 3011.0 thousand KZT. 

4) special food - 7339.0 thousand KZT. 

5) other - 17914.0 thousand KZT.. 

6) medical examination - 8438.0 thousand KZT.. 

The contract of compulsory insurance of workers against accidents at execution of labor 

(service) duties was signed with "Life Insurance Company "Grandes" JSC. 

Company employees were insured against accidents at work in the amount of 17 342.19 

people totaling 5641.7 thousand KZT. Signed a contract for the purchase of medical kits with 

"Company Adonis" LLP in the amount of 50 pieces in the amount of 111 607,00 KZT. Signed a 

contract on procurement of blood pressure monitors in the amount of 25 pieces totaling 401,785.75 

KZT. Signed a contract on procurement of masks from the cold for postmen in the amount of 173 

pieces totaling 311 400 KZT. 

Conducted organizational arrangements, prepared and issued administrative documents for 

compensation payments for the summer and winter footwear of postmen and other categories of 

workers, with the preparation of lists of payments and settlements. The size of compensation for the 
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summer shoes made up 55 836.9 thousand KZT per 7043 workers, and winter boots -. respectively 

69944.8 thousand KZT per 7058 workers. A total amount is  125,781.7 thousand KZT. 

Certification of industrial facilities on labor conditions is carried out in all branches of the 

Company in accordance with established deadlines.  

In order to improve the professional knowledge and skills about labor protection of branches' 

employees, minimization and prevention of accidents at work Kazpost JSC held republican seminar-

meeting in Karaganda regional branch.  

Measures are taken for corrective and preventive actions in the structural units of the 

Company, where there have been accidents at work. There is an ongoing control to compensate for 

damage caused to life and health of workers in the performance of job duties.  

The Company's budget plan for 2016 includes: 

1) voluntary medical insurance of sorters in the amount of 30316.0 thousand KZT for medical 

services both for emergency and planned (medical) reasons.; 

2) for compulsory insurance of workers against accidents at execution of labor (service) duties 

in the amount of 64100.5 thousand KZT.  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Company's environmental activities are carried out in accordance  

with the Environmental Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, other normative legal acts of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan in the field of environmental protection, as well as regulated by the Policy 

in the field of occupational health, safety and environmental protection of the Company. 
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Prevention of unauthorized and excessive air emissions, continuous improvement in the 

environmental management system of the environment are the main areas of the Company's policy 

in the field of environmental protection.  

The company is constantly working to improve the efficiency of impacts management on the 

environment.  

The company implements a wide range of measures to prevent accidents, working to improve 

the environmental responsibility, assures compliance with Kazakhstan legislation, industry and 

corporate standards and norms. 

  

8.1. Emissions Optimization  

In 2015 it managed to reduce the amount of excess (unauthorized) emissions by 0.858 tons 

compared to the previous same period and is 0.9 tons. For objects that are potential sources of 

pollutants in the atmosphere, the emissions standards are set within the framework of permits for 

emissions into the environment.  

Branches of the company over the years carried out work for the implementation of the Action 

Plan for environmental protection measures. In particular, a significant work  

for sanitation, beautification of branches and post offices' areas in the regions. The resulting solid 

waste and other industrial waste is transported in a timely manner, in accordance with the contracts 

concluded with specialized organizations. 

The volume of non-hazardous waste to be placed in the landfill, tons: 

 2013 - 6 248 

 2014 - 6 157 

 2015 - 6 065 

In order to reduce pollutant emissions from boilers operated in Atbasar, Yenbekshilder, Akkol 

RPOC of Akmola RB they installed dust filters and cyclone of ЦН 15-500*1УП, ЦН 11-600, ЦН-

15 type with a cleaning efficiency of 85%, 92%, 90% respectively.  

In order to ensure resource conservation, reduction of a negative impact  

on the environment, the Company is taking all possible measures to reduce emissions. 

The volume of pollutant emissions, tons/year: 

 2013 - 963 

 2014 - 933 

 2015 - 871 

In 2015, the actual volume of emissions is below by 62 tonnes compared to 2014. 

  

Structure of significant pollutants  

by type and weight, tons 

        

Indicators 2013 2014 2015 

NO 2 69 67 63 

SO 2 123 119 111 

solid particles 429 415 387 

Other 342 332 310 

Total: 963 933 871 
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The company uses coal, diesel and natural gas as fuel for the heating of industrial and office 

premises in the autumn-winter period. To minimize the impact of the materials used the company 

annually conducts works on gasification of heating facilities.  

The company in 2015 completed the implementation of the project to transfer the vehicle fleet 

on gas equipment, the number of converted vehicles totaled 320 units. 

The project will reduce operating costs for the maintenance of vehicles and significantly 

reduce the amount of harmful emissions into the atmosphere.  

As a whole for 2015, in connection with the installation of GPS (global positioning system), as 

well as transition of 320 motor transport units from the consumption of liquid fuels to the use of 

LPG (LPG equipment) Company managed to achieve savings in fuel consumption of at least by 

67.0 mln. KZT. This positive experience of the use of LPG on the Company's motor vehicles will be 

be postponed to 2016. 

Also, the use of renewable energy sources is planned, such as solar, wind, which will result in 

a significant reduction in emissions in atmosphere. 

The company has developed and approved a plan for environmental protection measures for 

2016-2020. Within the framework of which a number of activities on the protection of air basin, 

production and consumption waste management , and other measures are planned to prevent 

violations of the environmental legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

For 2015 there are no penalties, and other non-monetary sanctions for noncompliance with 

environmental laws.  

Affiliates of the Company spent 13.0 mln. KZT aimed at the following list of measures to 

protect the environment: 

1. Development of the draft standards for maximum permissible emissions, in order to obtain a 

permit for emissions into the environment; 

2. Contracts for the removal and disposal of wastes of production and consumption; 

3. Carrying out industrial environmental monitoring at the Company's facilities, and others. 

In 2015, in connection with the expiration of terms, the following branches obtained 42 

permits for emissions into the environment: Aktobe RB, East Kazakhstan RB, West Kazakhstan RB, 

South Kazakhstan RB, AB "Astana General Post Office", Akmola RB, Atyrau RB, East Kazakhstan 

RB, NKRB, a subsidiary "ILC "Yug", Kyzylorda RB, Karaganda RB, AB "Almaty general post 

office." 

  

8.2. Energy preservation 

As part of the implementation of the Law "On energy preservation and energy efficiency" and 

"Energy preservation and energy efficiency program of Kazpost JSC for 2014-2020." they 

developed and approved a plan of measures on energy saving and energy efficiency in the 

Companies for 2017-2020.  

This Plan provides for modernization of lighting systems with LED lighting equipment, 

installation of thermostatic controls on radiators, insulation of attic floors, automatic regulation of 

heat flow, replacement, insulation of windows, facade renovation, replacement and insulation of 

elevator assembly, flushing of heating radiators, replacement and insulation of piping of the 

distribution system, installation of door closers and more. 

In order to implement the capital investment plan for 2015 on the conduct of the overhaul, 

they carried out activities in the field of energy saving and energy efficiency in the following 

branches of the Company: 

Aktobe RB 

- Alginsky RPOC - a major repairs totaling 6 mln. KZT, including replacement of window 

units in the amount of 1 mln. KZT. 
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Almaty RB 

-. Raiymbek RPOC - overhaul totaling 13 mln. KZT, including replacement of window units 

in the amount of 1.6 mln. KZT. 

Pavlodar RB 

- Aktogay RPOC - replacement of roofing in the amount of 2.3 mln. KZT. 

- Lebyazhye RPOC - boiler repair and replacement of boiler equipment in the amount of 3 

mln. KZT. 

WKRB 

- Replacement of boiler equipment in Syrymsky, Karatobinsky, Terektinsky, Zhangalinsky 

and Zelenovskiy RPOCs totaling 1.3 mln. KZT. 

Atyrau RB 

- Inder RPOC - an overhaul amounted to 8.9 mln. KZT, of which - the replacement of 

windows in the amount of 800 thousand KZT. 

- Makhambet RPOC - an overhaul totaling 7.8 mln. KZT, including replacement of window 

units in the amount of 1.2 mln. KZT. 

North Kazakhstan regional branch: 

- In the building of RB - reconstruction of roofing of the building in the amount of 14 mln. 

KZT. 

Akmola RB 

-.Atbasar RPOC - overhaul totaling 10 mln. KZT, including replacement of window units in 

the amount of 1.8 mln. KZT. 

Mangystau RB 

- Karakiyan CPOC overhaul of buildings totaling 9.2 mln. KZT, including the repair of 

roofing of the building in the amount of 6 mln. KZT. 

Kostanay RB 

- Amangeldy RPOC replacement of boiler equipment in the amount of 537 thousand KZT. 

The fuel used by the Company for the heating of industrial and office premises in the autumn-

winter period, as noted above is coal, diesel and gas. Below is information on the volume of energy 

consumption.  

  

Electric power 

          

Name Un. 2013 2014 2015 

Annual electricity consumption 
Mln kW/h 

кВт.ч 
20,383 20,635 18,907 

Annual cost of purchasing electricity Mln KZT. 287,491 331,288 281,932 

Average purchase electricity tariff KZT./kW/h 13,5 16,055 14,91 

          

Thermal energy 

          

Name Un. 2013 2014 2015 

Annual consumption of thermal energy thous. Gcal 48,725 33,48 31,818 

Annual costs of thermal energy purchase mln. tg. 145,417 146,492 123,191 

The average purchase tariff for thermal energy n./ Gcal 2984,46 4375,45 3871,74 
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Natural gas 

          

Name Un. 2013 2014 2015 

Annual natural gas consumption 
thous. m. 

cu. 
1108,26 1933,36 1709,9 

Annual costs for the purchase of natural gas mln. tg. 14,868 18,499 23,452 

          

Thermal coal 

          

Name Un. 2013 2014 2015 

Annual electricity consumption t.n.t. 10342,2 8543 7610,3 

Annual cost of purchasing electricity mln. tg. 91,491 81,742 51,857 

Average purchase electricity tariff n. / t.n.t. 8846,4 9568,3 6814,05 

     

  

In 2015, the Company, as a subject of the State Energy registry, was a pioneer in Kazakhstan 

for the launch of a project aimed at improvement of energy efficiency through the mechanism of an 

energy service contract, through energy service company. The project is aimed at modernization of 

internal and external lighting system in the administrative building of Company's central office. 

Modernization includes replacement of metal halide and fluorescent lamps to lamps for economical 

and eco-friendly LED lamps and fixtures. As a result of this modernization the annual savings in 

electricity consumption of about 140 MW of electricity and 2.9 mln. KZT is planned.  

Also in 2015, for the development of service networks and energy preservation, they 

implemented supply and installation of modular buildings (MPOC- mobile post office center) for 

RPOC, using modern materials and energy-saving technologies in the following branches of the 

Company: 

  

No RB Name Site location 

1. South Kazakhstan RB Turbat village, Kazygurt District, South Kazakhstan region 

2.  South Kazakhstan RB Saryagash, Saryagash district of South Kazakhstan region 

3.  Almaty RB Panfilov district of Almaty region, Akzhazyk village 

4.  Pavlodar RB Pavlodar region, Yevgenevka village 

5. Karaganda RB Karaganda region, Zhezdy village 

6.  AB "Astana General Post 

Office" 

Akmola region, Arshaly village 

  

Design and use of modern and innovative materials in construction allow to obtain the best 

option for energy saving heat and electricity in a subsequent operation. 

Water supply for Company's facilities - a centralized, some post offices use imported water. 

The resulting household and industrial waste water is drained into the existing sewer network or a 

septic tank. 

The Company's operations do not have a negative impact on flora and fauna. The company has 

no facilities located on the territory of national parks or nature reserves, specially protected natural 

areas. 
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9. ABOUT THE REPORT 
  

9.1. General information 

The company annually presents to the reader the reports, which contain the necessary 

information about the economic, social and environmental aspects of the work. The main objective 

of the report - to inform interested parties about the results of the work and to ensure information 

transparency of the Company. 

This document - is the fourth annual report of the Company, containing information about the 

current state of sustainable development, key performance indicators and corporate governance, best 

practices required the preparation of corporate annual reports. 

Contents of the report is determined in accordance with the main aspects of the Company's 

development strategy. It describes isolated areas of development, including the plans and the 

Company's ability to be implement them in the short term. 

For inquiries on the information contained in this report, contact the main office at the address: 

010000, Republic of Kazakhstan, Astana, 8 D.Kunayev str., Department for Corporate Governance; 

Phone: +7 (7172) 61-16-99, fax: +7 (7172) 61-16-87, e-mail: kazpost@kazpost.kz. 

  

9.2. Reporting period and report boundaries 

The reporting period is the period from 1 January to 31 December 2015. Performance of the 

Company is presented in dynamics for 2013, 2014 and 2015.  

Information on the results of financial and economic activities is shown in the consolidated 

financial statements as of December 31, 2015,  in Appendix 1 to this report, and is also published on 

the corporate website: www.kazpost.kz . 

The report covers the activities of the Company as a whole. Subsidiaries and affiliated 

organizations have no significant effect on the Company, in view of this information  their activity is 

limited to the financial and economic indicators. 

There are no significant changes from previous reporting periods in the scope, boundary, or 

measurement methods applied in the report in the reporting period. 

  

9.3.  Methodology 

The report is based on the Sustainability Reporting Guidelines (GRI - Global Reporting 

Initiative) version 3.1. Calculation, collection and consolidation of economic, social and 

environmental performance are conducted in accordance with the requirements of this Guidance. In 

calculating the quantity of data a common practice of system of units was used.  

In the future, the Company plans to conduct an independent assurance of the report for 

completeness and accuracy of the information provided and compliance with the GRI level. 

  

9.4. Glossary 

AP      Administrative personnel 

AC      The Administrative Council (Universal Postal Union) 

SP      supporting personnel 

UPU      Universla Postal Union 

CPO      City post office  

CPOC      City post office center 

SCPP      State Center for Pension Payments 

http://www.kazpost.kz/
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Postage 

stamps      postage stamps 

ILC      Information and Logistics Center 

IS      Information system 

CI      capital investment 

LPI      Large postal items 

CSR      Corporate Social Responsibility 

IB      The International Bureau of the Universal Postal Union 

IFAD      International Fund for Agricultural Development 

NBK      The National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 

PO      Post office 

RB      The regional branch 

PP      Production personnel 

RK      The Republic of Kazakhstan 

PSCS      Republican service of special communication 

RPOC      The regional post office center 

BoD Directors.  

VPOC      Village post office center 

POC      The Postal Operations Council (Universal Postal Union) 

Fund "Samruk-Kazyna" JSC.  

CO      Central office 

GRI 
     Global Reporting Initiative (according to the Sustainability Reporting 

Guidelines) 
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10. Appendicies: 
  

10.1.  GRI compliance table  

 

 № 

№ G4 GENERAL STANDARD DISCLOSURES 

DISC

LOSU

RE 

Comments 

(Section, 

degree of 

disclosure) 

1.   STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS 
 

 

2. G4 – 1 Statement from the most senior decision-maker in the organization + 1.1, 1.2 

3. 

  

Provide a statement from the most senior decision-maker of the organization (such as 

CEO, chair, or equivalent senior position) about the relevance of sustainability to the 

organization and the organization’s strategy for addressing sustainability 

-  

4. 

  

The statement should present the overall vision and strategy for the short term, medium 

term, and long term, particularly with regard to managing the significant economic, 

environmental and social impacts that the organization causes and contributes to, or the 

impacts that can be linked to its activities as a result of relationships with others (such as 

suppliers, people or organizations in local communities). The statement should include: 

+ Частично 

5. 

  

 Strategic priorities and key topics for the short and medium term with regard to 

sustainability, including respect for internationally recognized standards and how such 

standards relate to long term organizational strategy and success  
+ Частично 

 Broader trends (such as macroeconomic or political) affecting the organization and 

influencing sustainability priorities  
+ Частично 

 Key events, achievements, and failures during the reporting period  + Частично 

 Views on performance with respect to targets  +  

 Outlook on the organization’s main challenges and targets for the next year and goals 

for the coming 3–5 years  
-  

 Other items pertaining to the organization’s strategic approach  -  

 Strategic priorities and key topics for the short and medium term with regard to 

sustainability, including respect for internationally recognized standards and how such 

standards relate to long term organizational strategy and success  

+  

6. G4 – 2 Description of key impacts, risks and opportunities + 4.3, 5.6 

7. 

  

Section One should focus on the organization’s key impacts on sustainability and effects 

on stakeholders, including rights as defined by national laws and relevant internationally 

recognized standards. This should take into account the range of reasonable expectations 

and interests of the organization’s stakeholders. This section should include: 

+  

8.   · A description of the significant economic, environmental and social impacts of the 

organization, and associated challenges and opportunities. This includes the effect on 

stakeholders’ rights as defined by national laws and the expectations in internationally 

recognized standards and norms ; 

+ 6, 7, 8 

· An explanation of the approach to prioritizing these challenges and opportunities; -  

· Key conclusions about progress in addressing these topics and related performance in 

the reporting period. This includes an assessment of reasons for underperformance or 

over-performance; 

-  

· A description of the main processes in place to address performance and relevant 

changes. 
-  

9. 

  

Section Two should focus on the impact of sustainability trends, risks, and opportunities 

on the long-term prospects and financial performance of the organization. This should 

concentrate specifically on information relevant to financial stakeholders or that could 

become so in the future. Section Two should include the following: 

-  

10.   · A description of the most important risks and opportunities for the organization arising -  
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from sustainability trends; 

Prioritization of key sustainability topics as risks and opportunities according to their 

relevance for long-term organizational strategy, competitive position, qualitative, and (if 

possible) quantitative financial value drivers; 

-  

· Table(s) summarizing:  -  

- Targets, performance against targets, and lessons learned for the current reporting 

period; 
  

- Targets for the next reporting period and medium term objectives and goals (that is, 3–

5 years) related to key risks and opportunities; 
-  

· Concise description of governance mechanisms in place specifically to manage these 

risks and opportunities, and identification of other related risks and opportunities. 
-  

11.   Organizational Profile   

12. G4 – 3 Report the name of the organization. + 1 

13. G4 – 4 Report the primary brands, products, and services. + 4.1 

14. G4 – 5 Report the location of the organization’s headquarters. + 9 

15. 

G4 – 6 

Report the number of countries where the organization operates, and names of countries 

where either the organization has significant operations or that are specifically relevant 

to the sustainability topics covered in the report. 

+ 4.4 

16. G4 – 7 Report the nature of ownership and legal form. + 4.4 

17. 
G4 – 8 

Report the markets served (including geographic breakdown, sectors served, and types 

of customers and beneficiaries). 
-  

18. G4 – 9 Report the scale of the organization, including:   

19.   ·    Total number of employees; + 2.2 

20.   ·    Total number of operations; + 2.2 

21. 
  

·    Net sales (for private sector organizations) or net revenues (for public sector 

organizations); 
+ 2.2 

22. 
  

·    Total capitalization broken down in terms of debt and equity (for private sector 

organizations); 
+ 6.8 

23.   ·    Quantity of products or services provided. + 2.2 

24. 
  

In addition to the above, organizations are encouraged to provide additional relevant 

information, such as: 
  

25.   ·    Total assets; + 10.1 

26. 
  

·    Beneficial ownership (including identity and percentage of 

ownership of largest shareholders)  
+ 10.1 

27.   ·    Breakdowns by country or region of the following:   

28. 
  

–   Sales and revenues by countries or regions that make up 

5% or more of total revenues; 
-  

29. 
  

–   Costs by countries or regions that make up 5% or more 

of total costs 
-  

30.   –   Employees + 2.2 

31. 
G4 – 10 a.  Report the total number of employees by employment contract and gender. + 2.2 - частично 

32.   b.  Report the total number of permanent employees by employment type and gender. -  

33.   c.   Report the total workforce by employees and supervised workers and by gender. -  

34.   d.  Report the total workforce by region and gender. + 7.8 

35. 

  

e.  Report whether a substantial portion of the organization’s work is performed by 

workers who are legally recognized as selfemployed, or by individuals other than 

employees or supervised workers, including employees and supervised employees of 

contractors. 

-  

36. 

  

f.    Report any significant variations in employment numbers (such as seasonal 

variations in employment in the tourism or 

agricultural industries). 

-  

37. G4 – 11 Report the percentage of total employees covered by collective bargaining agreements + 7.3 

38. G4 – 12 Describe the organization’s supply chain -  
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39. 

G4 – 13 

Report any significant changes during the reporting period regarding the organization’s 

size, structure, ownership, or its supply chain, including: 
  

·    Changes in the location of, or changes in, operations, including facility openings, 

closings, and expansions; 
  

·    Changes in the share capital structure and other capital formation, maintenance, and 

alteration operations (for private sector 

organizations); 

  

·    Changes in the location of suppliers, the structure of the supply chain, or in 

relationships with suppliers, including selection 

and termination. 

  

40. 
G4 – 14 

Report whether and how the precautionary approach or principle is addressed by the 

organization. 
-  

41. 
G4 – 15 

List externally developed economic, environmental and social charters, principles, or 

other initiatives to which the organization subscribes or which it endorses. 
+ 4.12 

42. 

G4 – 16 

List memberships of associations (such as industry associations) and national or 

international advocacy organizations in which the organization: 
+ 4.12 

·    Holds a position on the governance body; + 4.12 

·    Participates in projects or committees; -  

·    Provides substantive funding beyond routine membership dues; -  

·    Views membership as strategic. -  

43.   Identified Material Aspects and Boundaries   

44. 

G4 – 17 

a. List all entities included in the organization’s consolidated financial statements or 

equivalent documents. 
+ 4.4 – частично 

b. Report whether any entity included in the organization’s consolidated financial 

statements or equivalent documents is not covered by the report. 
-  

45. 

G4 – 18 

a. Explain the process for defining the report content and the Aspect Boundaries. +  

b. Explain how the organization has implemented the Reporting Principles for Defining 

Report Content. 
+  

46. G4 – 19 List all the material Aspects identified in the process for defining report content. -  

47. 

G4 – 20 

a. For each material Aspect, report the Aspect Boundary within the organization, as 

follows: 
  

·    Report whether the Aspect is material within the organization;   

·    If the Aspect is not material for all entities within the organization (as described in 

G4-17), select one of the following two 

approaches and report either: 

  

- The list of entities or groups of entities included in G4-17 for which the Aspect is not 

material or 
  

The list of entities or groups of entities included in G4-17 for which the Aspects is 

material 
  

b. Report any specific limitation regarding the Aspect Boundary within the organization. 

  

  

  

48. 

G4 – 21 

a. For each material Aspect, report the Aspect Boundary outside the organization, as 

follows: 
-  

· Report whether the Aspect is material outside of the organization;   

· If the Aspect is material outside of the organization, identify the entities, groups of 

entities or elements for which the Aspect is material. In addition, describe the 

geographical location where the Aspect is material for the entities identified; 

  

· Report any specific limitation regarding the Aspect Boundary outside the organization.   

49. 
G4 – 22 

Report the effect of any restatements of information provided in previous reports, and 

the reasons for such restatements. 
-  



110 

 

50. 
G4 – 23 

Report significant changes from previous reporting periods in the Scope and Aspect 

Boundaries. 
-  

51.   Stakeholder Engagement   

52. G4 – 24 Provide a list of stakeholder groups engaged by the organization. + 4.12 

53. G4 – 25 Report the basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with whom to engage. + 4.12 

54. 

G4 – 26 

Report the organization’s approach to stakeholder engagement, including frequency of 

engagement by type and by stakeholder group, and an indication of whether any of the 

engagement was undertaken specifically as part of the report preparation process 

+ 4.12 

55. 

G4 – 27 

Report key topics and concerns that have been raised through stakeholder engagement, 

and how the organization has responded to those key topics and concerns, including 

through its reporting. Report the stakeholder groups that raised each of the key topics 

and concerns. 

+ 4.12 

56.   Report Profile   

57. G4 – 28 Reporting period (such as fiscal or calendar year) for information provided. + 9.2 

58. G4 – 29 Date of most recent previous report (if any). + 9.1 - частично 

59. G4 – 30 Reporting cycle (such as annual, biennial). + 9.2 

60. G4 – 31 Provide the contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents. + 9.1 

61. G4 – 32 a. Report the ‘in accordance’ option the organization has chosen. -  

62.   b. Report the GRI Content Index for the chosen option (see tables below). + Приложение 2 

63. 

  

c. Report the reference to the External Assurance Report, if the report has been 

externally assured. (GRI recommends the use of external assurance but it is not a 

requirement to be ‘in accordance’ with the Guidelines.) 

-  

64. 

G4 – 33 

а. Report the organization’s policy and current practice with regard to seeking external 

assurance for the report 
-  

b. If not included in the assurance report accompanying the sustainability report, report 

the scope and basis of any external assurance provided. 
-  

c. Report the relationship between the organization and the assurance providers. -  

d. Report whether the highest governance body or senior executives are involved in 

seeking assurance for the organization’s sustainability report. 
-  

65.   GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND COMPOSITION   

66. 

G4 – 34 

Report the governance structure of the organization, including committees of the highest 

governance body. Identify any committees responsible for decision-making on 

economic, environmental and social impacts. 

+ 5 

67. 
G4 – 35 

Report the process for delegating authority for economic, environmental and social 

topics from the highest governance body to senior executives and other employees. 
-  

68. 

G4 – 36 

Report whether the organization has appointed an executive-level position or positions 

with responsibility for economic, environmental and social topics, and whether post 

holders report directly to the highest governance body. 

- 5.1. 

69. 

G4 – 37 

Report processes for consultation between stakeholders and the highest governance 

body on economic, environmental and social topics. If consultation is delegated, 

describe to whom and any feedback processes to the highest governance body. 

-  

70. 

G4 – 38 

Report the composition of the highest governance body and its committees by: + 5 

·    Executive or non-executive; + 5 

·    Independence; + 5 

·    Tenure on the governance body; -  

·    Number of each individual’s other significant positions and commitments, and the 

nature of the commitments; 
-  

·    Gender; -  

·    Membership of under-represented social groups; -  

·    Competences relating to economic, environmental and social impacts -  

·    Stakeholder representation. -  
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-  

71. 

G4 – 39 

Report whether the Chair of the highest governance body is also an executive officer 

(and, if so, his or her function within the organization’s management and the reasons for 

this arrangement). 

+ 5.4 

72. 

G4 – 40 

Report the nomination and selection processes for the highest governance body and its 

committees, and the criteria used for nominating and selecting highest governance body 

members, including: 

  

·    Whether and how diversity is considered; -  

·    Whether and how independence is considered; -  

·    Whether and how expertise and experience relating to economic, environmental and 

social topics are considered, 
-  

·    Whether and how stakeholders (including shareholders) are involved. 
-  

-  

73. 

G4 – 41 

Report processes for the highest governance body to ensure conflicts of interest are 

avoided and managed. Report whether conflicts of interest are disclosed to stakeholders, 

including, as a minimum: 

-  

· Cross-board membership   

· Cross-shareholding with suppliers and other stakeholders   

· Existence of controlling shareholder   

· Related party disclosures   

74. 

G4 – 42 

Report the highest governance body’s and senior executives’ roles in the development, 

approval, and updating of the organization’s purpose, value or mission statements, 

strategies, policies, and goals related to economic, environmental and social impacts 

-  

75. 
G4 – 43 

Report the measures taken to develop and enhance the highest governance body’s 

collective knowledge of economic, environmental and social topics. 
-  

76. 

G4 – 44 

a. Report the processes for evaluation of the highest governance body’s performance 

with respect to governance of economic, environmental and social topics. Report 

whether such evaluation is independent or not, and its frequency. Report whether 

such evaluation is a self-assessment.  

+ 5.3 

b. Report actions taken in response to evaluation of the highest governance body’s 

performance with respect to governance of economic, environmental and social topics, 

including, as a minimum, changes in membership and organizational practice. 

+ 5.3 

77. 

G4 – 45 

a. Report the highest governance body’s role in the identification and management of 

economic, environmental and social impacts, risks, and opportunities. Include the 

highest governance body’s role in the implementation of due diligence processes. 

+ 5.1 

b. Report whether stakeholder consultation is used to support the highest governance 

body’s identification and management of economic, environmental and social impacts, 

risks, and opportunities. 

-  

78. 

G4 – 46 

Report the highest governance body’s role in reviewing the effectiveness of the 

organization’s risk management processes for economic, environmental and social 

topics. 

+ 5.1 

79. 
G4 – 47 

Report the frequency of the highest governance body’s review of economic, 

environmental and social impacts, risks, and opportunities. 
-  

80. 
G4 – 48 

Report the highest committee or position that formally reviews and approves the 

organization’s sustainability report and ensures that all material Aspects are covered. 
+ 5.1 

81. G4 – 49 Report the process for communicating critical concerns to the highest governance body. -  

82. 
G4 – 50 

Report the nature and total number of critical concerns that were communicated to the 

highest governance body and the mechanism(s) used to address and resolve them. 
+ 5.1 

83. 

G4 – 51 

a. Report the remuneration policies for the highest governance body and senior 

executives for the below types of remuneration: 
+ 5.3 - частично 

·    Fixed pay and variable pay: -  

–    Performance-based pay; -  

–    Equity-based pay; -  
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–    Bonuses; -  

–    Deferred or vested shares; -  

·    Sign-on bonuses or recruitment incentive payments; -  

·    Termination payments; -  

·    Clawbacks; -  

·    Retirement benefits, including the difference between benefit schemes and 

contribution rates for the highest governance 

body, senior executives, and all other employees. 

-  

b. Report how performance criteria in the remuneration policy relate to the highest 

governance body’s and senior executives’ 

economic, environmental and social objectives. 

-  

84. 

G4 – 52 

Report the process for determining remuneration. Report whether remuneration 

consultants are involved in determining remuneration and whether they are independent 

of management. Report any other relationships which the remuneration consultants have 

with the organization. 

+ 5.3 - частично 

85. 

G4 – 53 

Report how stakeholders’ views are sought and taken into account regarding 

remuneration, including the results of votes on remuneration policies and proposals, if 

applicable. 

+ 5.3 - частично 

86. 

G4 – 54 

Report the ratio of the annual total compensation for the organization’s highest-paid 

individual in each country of significant operations to the median annual total 

compensation for all employees (excluding the highest-paid individual) in the same 

country. 

-  

87. 

G4 – 55 

Report the ratio of percentage increase in annual total compensation for the 

organization’s highest-paid individual in each country of significant operations to the 

median percentage increase in annual total compensation for all employees (excluding 

the highest-paid individual) in the same country. 

-  

88. 
G4 – 56 

Describe the organization’s values, principles, standards and norms of behavior such as 

codes of conduct and codes of ethics. 
+ 5.3 - частично 

89. 

G4 – 57 

Report the internal and external mechanisms for seeking advice on ethical and lawful 

behavior, and matters related to organizational integrity, such as helplines or advice 

lines. 

-  

90. 

G4 – 58 

Report the internal and external mechanisms for reporting concerns about unethical or 

unlawful behavior, and matters related to organizational integrity, such as escalation 

through line management, whistleblowing mechanisms or hotlines. 

+ 4.9 - частично 

91.   SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES   

92. G4 – 

DMA 
Generic Disclosures on Management Approach (DMA) -  

93. 

  

а. Report why the Aspect is material. Report the impacts that make this Aspect material.   

b. Report how the organization manages the material Aspect or its impacts.   

c. Report the evaluation of the management approach, including:   

·    The mechanisms for evaluating the effectiveness of the management approach;   

·    The results of the evaluation of the management approach;   

·    Any related adjustments to the management approach.   

94.   CATEGORY: ECONOMIC   

95.   Aspect: Economic Performance   

96. G4-

EC1 
DIRECT ECONOMIC VALUE GENERATED AND DISTRIBUTED + 6.2 

97. 

  

a. Report the direct economic value generated and distributed (EVG&D) on an accruals 

basis including the basic components for the organization’s global operations as listed 

below. If data is presented on a cash basis, report the justification for this decision 

and report the basic components as listed below: 

  

·    Direct economic value generated:   

–    Revenues; + 6.2 

·    Economic value distributed:   
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–    Operating costs; + 6.2 

–    Employee wages and benefits; -  

–    Payments to providers of capital; -  

–    Payments to government (by country); -  

–    Community investments; -  

· Economic value retained (calculated as ‘Direct economic value generated’ less 

‘Economic value distributed’).  
+ 6.2 

· b. To better assess local economic impacts, report EVG&D separately at country, 

regional, or market levels, where significant. Report the criteria used for defining 

significance. 

-  

98. G4-

EC2 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND OTHER RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE 

ORGANIZATION’S ACTIVITIES DUE TO CLIMATE CHANGE 
  

99. 

  

a. Report risks and opportunities posed by climate change that have the potential to 

generate substantive changes in operations, revenue or expenditure, including: 
  

·    A description of the risk or opportunity and its classification as either physical, 

regulatory, or other; 
+ 5.6 - частично 

·    A description of the impact associated with the risk or opportunity; -  

·    The financial implications of the risk or opportunity before action is taken; -  

·    The methods used to manage the risk or opportunity; -  

·    The costs of actions taken to manage the risk or opportunity. -  

100. G4-

EC3 
COVERAGE OF THE ORGANIZATION’S DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS -  

101. 

  

a. Where the plan’s liabilities are met by the organization’s general resources, report the 

estimated value of those liabilities. 
  

b. Where a separate fund exists to pay the plan’s pension liabilities, report:   

·    The extent to which the scheme’s liabilities are estimated to be covered by the assets 

that have been set aside to meet them; 
  

·    The basis on which that estimate has been arrived at;    

·    When that estimate was made.   

c. Where a fund set up to pay the plan’s pension liabilities is not fully covered, explain 

the strategy, if any, adopted by the employer to work towards full coverage, and the 

timescale, if any, by which the employer hopes to achieve full coverage.  

  

d. Report the percentage of salary contributed by employee or employer.   

e. Report the level of participation in retirement plans (such as participation in 

mandatory or voluntary schemes, regional or country-based schemes, or those with 

financial impact). 

  

102. G4-

EC4 
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE RECEIVED FROM GOVERNMENT   

103. 

  

a. Report the total monetary value of financial assistance received by the organization 

from governments during the reporting period, including, as a minimum: 
  

·    Tax relief and tax credits;   

·    Subsidies;   

·    Investment grants, research and development grants, and other relevant types of 

grants 
  

·    Awards;   

·    Royalty holidays; 
  

  

·    Financial assistance from Export Credit Agencies (ECAs);   

·    Financial incentives;   

·    Other financial benefits received or receivable from any government for any 

operation. 
+ 6.6 
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b. Report the information above by country. -  

c. Report whether, and the extent to which, the government is present in the 

shareholding structure. 
-  

104.   Aspect: Market Presence   

105. G4-

EC5 

RATIOS OF STANDARD ENTRY LEVEL WAGE BY GENDER COMPARED TO 

LOCAL MINIMUM WAGE AT SIGNIFICANT LOCATIONS OF OPERATION 
-  

106. 

  

a. When a significant proportion of the workforce is compensated based on wages 

subject to minimum wage rules, report the ratio of the entry level wage by gender at 

significant locations of operation to the minimum wage. 

  

b. Report whether a local minimum wage is absent or variable at significant locations of 

operation, by gender. In circumstances in which different minimums could be used as a 

reference, report which minimum wage is being used. 

  

c. Report the definition used for ‘significant locations of operation.   

107. G4-

EC6 

PROPORTION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT HIRED FROM THE LOCAL 

COMMUNITY AT SIGNIFICANT LOCATIONS OF OPERATION 
-  

108. 

  

a. Report the percentage of senior management at significant locations of operation that 

are hired from the local community. 
  

b. Report the definition of ‘senior management’ used.   

c. Report the organization’s geographical definition of ‘local’.   

d. Report the definition used for ‘significant locations of operation’.   

109.   Aspect: Indirect Economic Impacts   

110. G4-

EC7 

DEVELOPMENT AND IMPACT OF INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS AND 

SERVICES SUPPORTED 
  

111. 

  

a. Report the extent of development of significant infrastructure investments and 

services supported. 
-  

b. Report the current or expected impacts on communities and local economies. Report 

positive and negative impacts where relevant. 
-  

c. Report whether these investments and services are commercial, in-kind, or pro bono 

engagements. 
-  

112. G4-

EC8 

SIGNIFICANT INDIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACTS, INCLUDING THE EXTENT OF 

IMPACTS 
  

113. 

  

a. Report examples of the significant identified positive and negative indirect economic 

impacts the organization has. These may include: 
  

·    Changing the productivity of organizations, sectors, or the whole economy; + 6.1 - частично 

·    Economic development in areas of high poverty; -  

·    Economic impact of improving or deteriorating social or environmental conditions; -  

·    Availability of products and services for those on low incomes; -  

·    Enhancing skills and knowledge amongst a professional community or in a 

geographical region; 
-  

·    Jobs supported in the supply chain or distribution chain; -  

·    Stimulating, enabling, or limiting foreign direct investment; -  

·    Economic impact of change in location of operations or activities; -  

·    Economic impact of the use of products and services. -  

b. Report the significance of the impacts in the context of external benchmarks and 

stakeholder priorities, such as national and international standards, protocols, and policy 

agendas. 

-  

114.   Aspect: Procurement Practices   

115. G4-

EC9 

PROPORTION OF SPENDING ON LOCAL SUPPLIERS AT SIGNIFICANT 

LOCATIONS OF OPERATION 
+ 6.10 

116. 

  

a. Report the percentage of the procurement budget used for significant locations of 

operation spent on suppliers local to that operation (such as percentage of products and 

services purchased locally). 

-  

b. Report the organization’s geographical definition of ‘local’. -  

c. Report the definition used for ‘significant locations of operation’. -  

117.   CATEGORY: ENVIRONMENTAL   
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118.   Aspect: Materials   

119. G4-

EN1 
MATERIALS USED BY WEIGHT OR VOLUME   

120. 

  

Report the total weight or volume of materials that are used to produce and package the 

organization’s primary products and services during the reporting period, by: 
  

·    Non-renewable materials used; + 8.1 - частчно 

·    Renewable materials used.   

121. G4-

EN2 
PERCENTAGE OF MATERIALS USED THAT ARE RECYCLED INPUT MATERIALS -  

122. 
  

Report the percentage of recycled input materials used to manufacture the organization’s 

primary products and services 
-  

123. G4-

EN3 
Aspect: Energy   

124.   ENERGY CONSUMPTION WITHIN THE ORGANIZATION   

125. 

  

a. Report total fuel consumption from non-renewable sources in joules or multiples, 

including fuel types used. 
+ 8.2 

b. Report total fuel consumption from renewable fuel sources in joules or multiples, 

including fuel types used. 
+ 8.2 

c. Report in joules, watt-hours or multiples, the total:   

·    Electricity consumption; + 8.2 

·    Heating consumption; -  

·    Cooling consumption; -  

·    Steam consumption. -  

d. Report in joules, watt-hours or multiples, the total: -  

·    Electricity sold; -  

·    Heating sold; -  

·    Cooling sold; -  

·    Steam sold.   

e. Report total energy consumption in joules or multiples. + 8.2 

f. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used. -  

g. Report the source of the conversion factors used. -  

126. G4-

EN4 
ENERGY CONSUMPTION OUTSIDE OF THE ORGANIZATION   

127. 

  

a. Report energy consumed outside of the organization, in joules or multiples. -  

b. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used. -  

c. Report the source of the conversion factors used. -  

128. G4-

EN5 
ENERGY INTENSITY   

129. 

  

a. Report the energy intensity ratio. -  

b. Report the organization-specific metric (the ratio denominator) chosen to calculate 

the ratio. 
-  

c. Report the types of energy included in the intensity ratio: fuel, electricity, heating, 

cooling, steam, or all. 
+ 8.2 

d. Report whether the ratio uses energy consumed within the organization, outside of it 

or both. 
-  

130. G4-

EN6 
REDUCTION OF ENERGY CONSUMPTION -  

131. 

  

a. Report the amount of reductions in energy consumption achieved as a direct result of 

conservation and efficiency initiatives, in joules or multiples. 
  

b. Report the types of energy included in the reductions: fuel, electricity, heating, 

cooling, and steam. 
  

c. Report the basis for calculating reductions in energy consumption such as base year or 

baseline, and the rationale for choosing it. 
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d. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

132. G4-

EN7 
REDUCTIONS IN ENERGY REQUIREMENTS OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES -  

133. 

  

a. Report the reductions in the energy requirements of sold products and services 

achieved during the reporting period, in joules or multiples. 
  

b. Report the basis for calculating reductions in energy consumption such as base year 

or baseline, and the rationale for choosing it. 
  

c. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

134.   Aspect: Water   

135. G4-

EN8 
TOTAL WATER WITHDRAWAL BY SOURCE -  

136. 

  

a. Report the total volume of water withdrawn from the following sources:   

·    Surface water, including water from wetlands, rivers, lakes, and oceans;   

·    Ground water;   

·    Rainwater collected directly and stored by the organization;   

·    Waste water from another organization;   

·    Municipal water supplies or other water utilities.   

b. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

137. G4-

EN9 
WATER SOURCES SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECTED BY WITHDRAWAL OF WATER -  

138. 

  

a. Report the total number of water sources significantly affected by withdrawal by type:   

·    Size of water source;   

·    Whether or not the source is designated as a protected area (nationally or 

internationally); 
  

·    Biodiversity value (such as species diversity and endemism, total number of 

protected species); 
  

·    Value or importance of water source to local communities and indigenous peoples;   

b. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

139. G4-

EN10 
PERCENTAGE AND TOTAL VOLUME OF WATER RECYCLED AND REUSED   

140. 

  

a. Report the total volume of water recycled and reused by the organization.   

b. Report the total volume of water recycled and reused as a percentage of the total 

water withdrawal reported under Indicator 

G4-EN8. 

  

c. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

141.   Aspect: Biodiversity   

142. 
G4-

EN11 

OPERATIONAL SITES OWNED, LEASED, MANAGED IN, OR ADJACENT TO, 

PROTECTED AREAS AND AREAS OF HIGH BIODIVERSITY VALUE OUTSIDE 

PROTECTED AREAS 

-  

143. 

  

Report the following information for each operational site owned, leased, managed in, 

or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected 

areas: 

  

·    Geographic location;   

·    Subsurface and underground land that may be owned, leased, or managed by the 

organization; 
  

·    Position in relation to the protected area (in the area, adjacent to, or containing 

portions of the protected area) or the high 

biodiversity value area outside protected areas; 

  



117 

 

·    Type of operation (office, manufacturing or production, or extractive);   

·    Size of operational site in km2;   

·    Biodiversity value characterized by:   

–    The attribute of the protected area or high biodiversity value area outside the 

protected area (terrestrial, freshwater, or maritime ecosystem); 
  

–    Listing of protected status (such as IUCN Protected Area Management 

Categories67, Ramsar Convention78, national legislation). 
  

144. 
G4-

EN12 

DESCRIPTION OF SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS OF ACTIVITIES, PRODUCTS, AND 

SERVICES ON BIODIVERSITY IN PROTECTED AREAS AND AREAS OF HIGH 

BIODIVERSITY VALUE OUTSIDE PROTECTED AREAS 

-  

145. 

  

a. Report the nature of significant direct and indirect impacts on biodiversity with 

reference to one or more of the following: 
  

·    Construction or use of manufacturing plants, mines, and transport infrastructure;   

·    Pollution (introduction of substances that do not naturally occur in the habitat from 

point and non-point sources); 
  

·    Introduction of invasive species, pests, and pathogens;   

·    Reduction of species;   

·    Habitat conversion;   

·    Changes in ecological processes outside the natural range of variation (such as 

salinity or changes in groundwater level); 
  

b. Report significant direct and indirect positive and negative impacts with reference to 

the following: 
  

·    Species affected;   

·    Extent of areas impacted;   

·    Duration of impacts;   

·    Reversibility or irreversibility of the impacts.   

146. G4-

EN13 
HABITATS PROTECTED OR RESTORED -  

147. 

  

a. Report the size and location of all habitat protected areas or restored areas, and 

whether the success of the restoration measure was or is approved by independent 

external professionals. 

  

b. Report whether partnerships exist with third parties to protect or restore habitat areas 

distinct from where the organization has overseen and implemented restoration or 

protection measures. 

  

c. Report on the status of each area based on its condition at the close of the reporting 

period.  
  

d. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

148. 
G4-

EN14 

TOTAL NUMBER OF IUCN RED LIST SPECIES AND NATIONAL CONSERVATION 

LIST SPECIES WITH HABITATS IN AREAS AFFECTED BY OPERATIONS, BY 

LEVEL OF EXTINCTION RISK 

  

149. 

  

Report the total number of IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species 

with habitats in areas affected by the operations of the organization, by level of 

extinction risk: 

  

·    Critically endangered;   

·    Endangered;   

·    Vulnerable;   

·    Near threatened;   

·    Least concern.   

150.   Aspect: Emissions   
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151. G4-

EN15 
DIRECT GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) EMISSIONS (SCOPE 1)   

152. 

  

a. Report gross direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent, 

independent of any GHG trades, such as purchases, sales, or transfers of offsets or 

allowances. 

+ 8.1 - частично  

b. Report gases included in the calculation (whether CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, 

SF6, NF3, or all). 
-  

c. Report biogenic CO2 emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent separately from the 

gross direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions. 
-  

d. Report the chosen base year, the rationale for choosing the base year, emissions in the 

base year, and the context for any significant changes in emissions that triggered 

recalculations of base year emissions. 

-  

e. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used. -  

f. Report the source of the emission factors used and the global warming potential 

(GWP) rates used or a reference to the GWP 

source. 

-  

g. Report the chosen consolidation approach for emissions (equity share, financial 

control, operational control). 
-  

153. G4-

EN16 
ENERGY INDIRECT GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) EMISSIONS (SCOPE 2) -  

154. 

  

a. Report gross energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions in metric tons of CO2 

equivalent, independent of any GHG trades, such as purchases, sales, or transfers of 

offsets or allowances. 

  

b. Report gases included in the calculation, if available.   

c. Report the chosen base year, the rationale for choosing the base year, emissions in the 

base year, and the context for any significant changes in emissions that triggered 

recalculations of base year emissions. 

  

d. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

e. Report the source of the emission factors used and the global warming potential 

(GWP) rates used or a reference to the GWP source, if available. 
  

f. Report the chosen consolidation approach for emissions (equity share, financial 

control, operational control). 
  

155. G4-

EN17 
OTHER INDIRECT GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) EMISSIONS (SCOPE 3) -  

156. 

  

a. Report gross other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions in metric tons of CO2 

equivalent, excluding indirect emissions from the generation of purchased or acquired 

electricity, heating, cooling, and steam consumed by the organization (these indirect 

emissions are reported in Indicator G4-EN16). Exclude any GHG trades, such as 

purchases, sales, or transfers of offsets or allowances. 

  

b. Report gases included in the calculation, if available.   

c. Report biogenic CO2 emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent separately from the 

gross other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions. 
  

d. Report other indirect (Scope 3) emissions categories and activities included in the 

calculation. 
  

e. Report the chosen base year, the rationale for choosing the base year, emissions in the 

base year, and the context for any significant changes in emissions that triggered 

recalculations of base year emissions. 

  

f. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

g. Report the source of the emission factors used and the global warming potential 

(GWP) rates used or a reference to the GWP source, if available. 
  

157. G4-

EN18 
GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) EMISSIONS INTENSITY -  
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158. 

  

a. Report the GHG emissions intensity ratio.   

b. Report the organization-specific metric (the ratio denominator) chosen to calculate 

the ratio. 
  

c. Report the types of GHG emissions included in the intensity ratio: direct (Scope 1), 

energy indirect (Scope 2), other indirect (Scope 3): 
  

·    прямые выбросы (Область охвата 1), косвенные энергетические выбросы 

(Область охвата 2),  
  

·    прочие косвенные выбросы (Область охвата 3).   

d. Report gases included in the calculation.   

159. G4-

EN19 
REDUCTION OF GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) EMISSIONS -  

160. 

  

a. Report the amount of GHG emissions reductions achieved as a direct result of 

initiatives to reduce emissions, in metric tons of CO2 equivalent. 
  

b. Report gases included in the calculation (whether CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, 

SF6, NF3, or all). 
  

c. Report the chosen base year or baseline and the rationale for choosing it.   

d. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

e. Report whether the reductions in GHG emissions occurred in direct (Scope 1), energy 

indirect (Scope 2), other indirect (Scope 3) emissions. 
  

161. G4-

EN20 
EMISSIONS OF OZONE-DEPLETING SUBSTANCES (ODS) -  

162. 

  

a. Report production, imports, and exports of ODS in metric tons of CFC-11 equivalent.   

b. Report substances included in the calculation.   

c. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

d. Report the source of the emission factors used.   

163. G4-

EN21 
NOX, SOX, AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT AIR EMISSIONS   

164. 

  

a. Report the amount of significant air emissions, in kilograms or multiples for each of 

the following: 
  

·    NOX; + 8.1 

·    SOX; + 8.1 
·    Persistent organic pollutants (POP); -  

·    Volatile organic compounds (VOC); -  

·    Hazardous air pollutants (HAP); -  

·    Particulate matter (PM); -  

·    Other standard categories of air emissions identified in relevant regulations. -  

b. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used. -  

c. Report the source of the emission factors used. -  

165.   Aspect: Effluents and Waste   

166. G4-

EN22 
TOTAL WATER DISCHARGE BY QUALITY AND DESTINATION -  

167. 

  

a. Report the total volume of planned and unplanned water discharges by:   

·    Destination;   

·    Quality of the water including treatment method;   

·    Whether it was reused by another organization.   

b. Report standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.   

168. G4-

EN23 
TOTAL WEIGHT OF WASTE BY TYPE AND DISPOSAL METHOD   
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169. 

  

a. Report the total weight of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, by the following 

disposal methods: 
  

·    Reuse;   

·    Recycling;   

·    Composting;   

·    Recovery, including energy recovery;   

·    Incineration (mass burn);   

·    Deep well injection;   

·    Landfill;   

·    On-site storage;   

·    Other (to be specified by the organization).   

b. Report how the waste disposal method has been determined:   

·    Disposed of directly by the organization or otherwise directly confirmed;   

·    Information provided by the waste disposal contractor;   

·    Organizational defaults of the waste disposal contractor.   

170. G4-

EN24 
TOTAL NUMBER AND VOLUME OF SIGNIFICANT SPILLS -  

171. 

  

a. Report the total number and total volume of recorded significant spills.   

b. For spills that were reported in the organization’s financial statements, report the 

additional following information for each such spill  

  

  

·    Location of spill;   

·    Volume of spill;   

·    Material of spill, categorized by:   

–    Oil spills (soil or water surfaces);   

–    Fuel spills (soil or water surfaces);   

–    Spills of wastes (soil or water surfaces);   

–    Spills of chemicals (mostly soil or water surfaces);   

–    Other (to be specified by the organization).   

c. Report the impacts of significant spills.   

172. 

G4-

EN25 

WEIGHT OF TRANSPORTED, IMPORTED, EXPORTED, OR TREATED WASTE 

DEEMED HAZARDOUS UNDER THE TERMS OF THE BASEL CONVENTION2 

ANNEX I, II, III, AND VIII, AND PERCENTAGE OF TRANSPORTED WASTE 

SHIPPED INTERNATIONALLY 

-  

173. 

  

a. Report the total weight for each of the following:   

·    Hazardous waste transported;   

·    Hazardous waste imported;   

·    Hazardous waste exported;   

·    Hazardous waste treated.   

b. Report the percentage of hazardous waste shipped internationally.   

174. 
G4-

EN26 

IDENTITY, SIZE, PROTECTED STATUS, AND BIODIVERSITY VALUE OF WATER 

BODIES AND RELATED HABITATS SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECTED BY THE 

ORGANIZATION’S DISCHARGES OF WATER AND RUNOFF 

-  

175. 

  

a. Report water bodies and related habitats that are significantly affected by water 

discharges based on the criteria described in the Compilation section below, adding 

information on: 

  

·    Size of water body and related habitat;   
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·    Whether the water body and related habitat is designated as a protected area 

(nationally or internationally); 
  

·    Biodiversity value (such as total number of protected species).   

176.   Aspect: Products and Services   

177. G4-

EN27 

EXTENT OF IMPACT MITIGATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF 

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
-  

178. 

  

a. Report quantitatively the extent to which environmental impacts of products and 

services have been mitigated during the reporting period. 
-  

b. If use-oriented figures are employed, report the underlying assumptions regarding 

consumption patterns or normalization factors. 
  

179. G4-

EN28 

PERCENTAGE OF PRODUCTS SOLD AND THEIR PACKAGING MATERIALS THAT 

ARE RECLAIMED BY CATEGORY 
-  

180. 

  

a. Report the percentage of reclaimed products and their packaging materials for each 

product category. 
-  

b. Report how the data for this Indicator has been collected. -  

181.   Aspect: Compliance   

182. 
G4-

EN29 

MONETARY VALUE OF SIGNIFICANT FINES AND TOTAL NUMBER OF NON-

MONETARY SANCTIONS FOR NONCOMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS 

AND REGULATIONS 

-  

183. 

  

a. Report significant fines and non-monetary sanctions in terms of:   

·    Total monetary value of significant fines;   

·    Total number of non-monetary sanctions;   

·    Cases brought through dispute resolution mechanisms.   

b. Where organizations have not identified any non-compliance with laws or 

regulations, a brief statement of this fact is sufficient. 
  

184.   Aspect: Transport   

185. 
G4-

EN30 

SIGNIFICANT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF TRANSPORTING PRODUCTS AND 

OTHER GOODS AND MATERIALS FOR THE ORGANIZATION’S OPERATIONS, 

AND TRANSPORTING MEMBERS OF THE WORKFORCE 

+ 4.7 частично 

186. 

  

a. Report the significant environmental impacts of transporting products and other goods 

and materials for the organization’s operations, and transporting members of the 

workforce. Where quantitative data is not provided, report the reason. 

-  

b. Report how the environmental impacts of transporting products, members of the 

organization’s workforce, and other goods and materials are mitigated. 
-  

c. Report the criteria and methodology used to determine which environmental impacts 

are significant. 
-  

187.   Aspect: Overall   

188. G4-

EN31 

TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION EXPENDITURES AND INVESTMENTS BY 

TYPE 
-  

189. 

  

a. Report total environmental protection expenditures by:   

·    Waste disposal, emissions treatment, and remediation costs;   

·    Prevention and environmental management costs.   

190.   Aspect: Supplier Environmental Assessment   

191. G4-

EN32 

PERCENTAGE OF NEW SUPPLIERS THAT WERE SCREENED USING 

ENVIRONMENTAL CRITERIA 
-  

192. 
  Report the percentage of new suppliers that were screened using environmental criteria.   

193. G4-

EN33 

SIGNIFICANT ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL NEGATIVE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

IN THE SUPPLY CHAIN AND ACTIONS TAKEN 
-  
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194. 

  

a. Report the number of suppliers subject to environmental impact assessments.   

b. Report the number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative environmental impacts. 
  

c. Report the significant actual and potential negative environmental impacts identified 

in the supply chain. 
  

d. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative environmental impacts with which improvements were agreed upon as a result 

of assessment. 

  

e. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative environmental impacts with which relationships were terminated as a result of 

assessment, and why. 

  

195.   Aspect: Environmental Grievance Mechanisms   

196. G4-

EN34 

NUMBER OF GRIEVANCES ABOUT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS FILED, 

ADDRESSED, AND RESOLVED THROUGH FORMAL GRIEVANCE MECHANISMS 
-  

197. 

  

a. Report the total number of grievances about environmental impacts filed through 

formal grievance mechanisms during the reporting period. 
  

b. Of the identified grievances, report how many were:   

·    Addressed during the reporting period;   

·    Resolved during the reporting period.   

c. Report the total number of grievances about environmental impacts filed prior to the 

reporting period that were resolved during the reporting period. 
  

198.   CATEGORY: SOCIAL   

199. 
  

SUB-CATEGORY: LABOR PRACTICES AND DECENT WORK SUB-

CATEGORY: LABOR PRACTICES AND DECENT WORK 
  

  

200.   Aspect: Employment   

201. G4-

LA1 

TOTAL NUMBER AND RATES OF NEW EMPLOYEE HIRES AND EMPLOYEE 

TURNOVER BY AGE GROUP, GENDER AND REGION 
  

202. 

  

a. Report the total number and rate of new employee hires during the reporting period, 

by age group, gender and region. 
+ 7.8 

b. Report the total number and rate of employee turnover during the reporting period, by 

age group, gender and region. 
+ 7 

203. 
G4-

LA2 

BENEFITS PROVIDED TO FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES THAT ARE NOT PROVIDED 

TO TEMPORARY OR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES, BY SIGNIFICANT LOCATIONS OF 

OPERATION 

+ 7.3 

204. 

  

a. Report the benefits which are standard for full-time employees of the organization but 

are not provided to temporary or part-time employees, by significant locations of 

operation. These include, as a minimum: 

  

·    Life insurance; + 7.1 

·    Health care; + 7.3 

·    Disability and invalidity coverage; -  

·    Parental leave; + 7.3 

·    Retirement provision; -  

·    Stock ownership; -  

·    Others.   

b. Report the definition used for ‘significant locations of operation’. -  

205. G4-

LA3 

RETURN TO WORK AND RETENTION RATES AFTER PARENTAL LEAVE, BY 

GENDER 
-  

206.   a. Report the total number of employees that were entitled to parental leave, by gender.   
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b. Report the total number of employees that took parental leave, by gender.   

c. Report the total number of employees who returned to work after parental leave 

ended, by gender. 
  

d. Report the total number of employees who returned to work after parental leave 

ended who were still employed twelve months after their return to work, by gender. 
  

e. Report the return to work and retention rates of employees who took parental leave, 

by gender. 
  

207.   Aspect: Labor/Management Relations   

208. 
G4-

LA4 

MINIMUM NOTICE PERIODS REGARDING OPERATIONAL CHANGES, 

INCLUDING WHETHER THESE ARE SPECIFIED IN 

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS 

  

209. 

  

a. Report the minimum number of weeks’ notice typically provided to employees and 

their elected representatives prior to the implementation of significant operational 

changes that could substantially affect them. 

+ 7.3 

b. For organizations with collective bargaining agreements, report whether the notice 

period and provisions for consultation and negotiation are specified in collective 

agreements. 

  

210.   Aspect: Occupational Health and Safety   

211. 
G4-

LA5 

PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL WORKFORCE REPRESENTED IN FORMAL JOINT 

MANAGEMENT–WORKER HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEES THAT HELP 

MONITOR AND ADVISE ON OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY PROGRAMS 

-  

212. 

  

a. Report the level at which each formal joint management-worker health and safety 

committee typically operates within the organization. 
  

b. Report the percentage of the total workforce represented in formal joint management-

worker health and safety committees. 
  

213. 
G4-

LA6 

TYPE OF INJURY AND RATES OF INJURY, OCCUPATIONAL DISEASES, LOST 

DAYS, AND ABSENTEEISM, AND TOTAL NUMBER OF WORK-RELATED 

FATALITIES, BY REGION AND BY GENDER 

+ 7.9 

214. 

  

a. Report types of injury, injury rate (IR), occupational diseases rate (ODR), lost day 

rate (LDR), absentee rate (AR) and workrelated fatalities, for the total workforce (that 

is, total employees plus supervised workers), by: 

-  

Region;   

Gender.   

b. Report types of injury, injury rate (IR), occupational diseases rate (ODR), lost day 

rate (LDR), absentee rate (AR) and workrelated 

fatalities for independent contractors working on-site to whom the organization is liable 

for the general safety of the 

working environment, by: 

-  

Region;   

Gender.   

c. Report the system of rules applied in recording and reporting accident statistics.   

215. G4-

LA7 

WORKERS WITH HIGH INCIDENCE OR HIGH RISK OF DISEASES RELATED TO 

THEIR OCCUPATION 
-  

216. 
  

Report whether there are workers who are involved in occupational activities who have 

a high incidence or high risk of specific diseases. 
  

217. G4-

LA8 

HEALTH AND SAFETY TOPICS COVERED IN FORMAL AGREEMENTS WITH 

TRADE UNIONS 
+ 7.3 

218. 

  

a. Report whether formal agreements (either local or global) with trade unions cover 

health and safety. 
+ 7.3 - частично 

b. If yes, report the extent, as a percentage, to which various health and safety topics are 

covered by these agreements. 
-  

219.   Aspect: Training and Education   

220. G4-

LA9 

PROGRAMS FOR SKILLS MANAGEMENT AND LIFELONG LEARNING THAT 

SUPPORT THE CONTINUED EMPLOYABILITY OF EMPLOYEES AND ASSIST 
-  
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THEM IN MANAGING CAREER ENDINGS 

221. 

  

Report the average hours of training that the organization’s employees have undertaken 

during the reporting period, by: 
-  

·    Gender;   

·    Employee category.   

222. 
G4-

LA10 

PROGRAMS FOR SKILLS MANAGEMENT AND LIFELONG LEARNING THAT 

SUPPORT THE CONTINUED EMPLOYABILITY OF EMPLOYEES AND ASSIST 

THEM IN MANAGING CAREER ENDINGS 

-  

223. 

  

a. Report on the type and scope of programs implemented and assistance provided to 

upgrade employee skills. 
  

b. Report on the transition assistance programs provided to facilitate continued 

employability and the management of career endings resulting from retirement or 

termination of employment. 

  

224. 
G4-

LA11 

PERCENTAGE OF EMPLOYEES RECEIVING REGULAR PERFORMANCE AND 

CAREER DEVELOPMENT REVIEWS, BY GENDER AND BY EMPLOYEE 

CATEGORY 

  

225. 

  

a. Report the percentage of total employees by gender and by employee category who 

received a regular performance and career development review during the reporting 

period. 

+ 7.5 - частично 

226.   Aspect: Diversity and Equal Opportunity   

227. 
G4-

LA12 

COMPOSITION OF GOVERNANCE BODIES AND BREAKDOWN OF EMPLOYEES 

PER EMPLOYEE CATEGORY ACCORDING TO GENDER, AGE GROUP, MINORITY 

GROUP MEMBERSHIP, AND OTHER INDICATORS OF DIVERSITY 

-  

228. 

  

a. Report the percentage of individuals within the organization’s governance bodies in 

each of the following diversity categories: 
  

·    Gender;   

·    Age group: under 30 years old, 30-50 years old, over 50 years old;   

·    Minority groups;   

·    Other indicators of diversity where relevant.   

b. Report the percentage of employees per employee category in each of the following 

diversity categories: 
  

·    Gender;   

·    Age group: under 30 years old, 30-50 years old, over 50 years old;   

·    Minority groups;   

·    в Other indicators of diversity where relevant.   

229.   Aspect: Equal Remuneration for Women and Men   

230. G4-

LA13 

RATIO OF BASIC SALARY AND REMUNERATION OF WOMEN TO MEN BY 

EMPLOYEE CATEGORY, BY SIGNIFICANT LOCATIONS OF OPERATION 
-  

231. 

  

a. Report the ratio of the basic salary and remuneration of women to men for each 

employee category, by significant locations of operation. 
  

b. Report the definition used for ‘significant locations of operation’.   

232.   Aspect: Supplier Assessment for Labor Practices -  

233. G4-

LA14 

PERCENTAGE OF NEW SUPPLIERS THAT WERE SCREENED USING LABOR 

PRACTICES CRITERIA 
  

234. 
  

a. Report the percentage of new suppliers that were screened using labor practices 

criteria. 
  

235. G4-

LA15 

SIGNIFICANT ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL NEGATIVE IMPACTS FOR LABOR 

PRACTICES IN THE SUPPLY CHAIN AND ACTIONS TAKEN 
  

236. 

  

a. Report the number of suppliers subject to impact assessments for labor practices.   

b. Report the number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative impacts for labor practices. 
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c. Report the significant actual and potential negative impacts for labor practices 

identified in the supply chain. 
  

d. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative impacts for labor practices 

with which improvements were agreed upon as a result of assessment. 

  

e. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative impacts for labor practices with which relationships were terminated as a result 

of assessment, and why. 

  

237.   Aspect: Labor Practices Grievance Mechanisms   

238. G4-

LA16 

NUMBER OF GRIEVANCES ABOUT LABOR PRACTICES FILED, ADDRESSED, 

AND RESOLVED THROUGH FORMAL GRIEVANCE MECHANISMS 
+ 4.9 - частично 

239. 

  

a. Report the total number of grievances about labor practices filed through formal 

grievance mechanisms during the reporting period. 
-  

b. Of the identified grievances, report how many were: -  

·    Addressed during the reporting period;   

·    Resolved during the reporting period.   

c. Report the total number of grievances about labor practices filed prior to the reporting 

period that were resolved during the reporting period. 
-  

240.   SUB-CATEGORY: HUMAN RIGHTS   

241.   Aspect: Investment   

242. 
G4-

HR1 

TOTAL NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT 

AGREEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT INCLUDE HUMAN RIGHTS CLAUSES OR 

THAT UNDERWENT HUMAN RIGHTS SCREENING 

-  

243. 

  

a. Report the total number and percentage of significant investment agreements and 

contracts that include human rights clauses or that underwent human rights screening. 
  

b. Report the definition of ‘significant investment agreements’ used by the organization.   

244. 

G4-

HR2 

TOTAL HOURS OF EMPLOYEE TRAINING ON HUMAN RIGHTS POLICIES OR 

PROCEDURES CONCERNING ASPECTS OF HUMAN RIGHTS THAT ARE 

RELEVANT TO OPERATIONS, INCLUDING THE PERCENTAGE OF EMPLOYEES 

TRAINED 

-  

245. 

  

a. Report the total number of hours in the reporting period devoted to training on human 

rights policies or procedures concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to 

operations. 

  

b. Report the percentage of employees in the reporting period trained in human rights 

policies or procedures concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to 

operations. 

  

246.   Aspect: Non-discrimination   

247. G4-

HR3 

TOTAL NUMBER OF INCIDENTS OF DISCRIMINATION AND CORRECTIVE 

ACTIONS TAKEN 
-  

248. 

  

a. Report the total number of incidents of discrimination during the reporting period.   

b. Report the status of the incidents and the actions taken with reference to the 

following: 
  

·    Incident reviewed by the organization;   

·    Remediation plans being implemented;   

·    Remediation plans have been implemented and results reviewed through routine 

internal management review processes; 
  

·    Incident no longer subject to action.   

249. 
  Aspect: Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining   

250. 

G4-

HR4 

OPERATIONS AND SUPPLIERS IDENTIFIED IN WHICH THE RIGHT TO 

EXERCISE FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION AND COLLECTIVE BARGAINING MAY 

BE VIOLATED OR AT SIGNIFICANT RISK, AND MEASURES TAKEN TO SUPPORT 

THESE RIGHTS 

-  
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251. 

  

a. Report operations and suppliers in which employee rights to exercise freedom of 

association or collective bargaining may be violated or at significant risk either in terms 

of:: 

  

·    Type of operation (such as manufacturing plant) and supplier   

·    Countries or geographical areas with operations and suppliers considered at risk.   

b. Report measures taken by the organization in the reporting period intended to support 

rights to exercise freedom of 

association and collective bargaining. 

  

252. G4-

HR5 
Aspect: Child Labor   

253. 

  

OPERATIONS AND SUPPLIERS IDENTIFIED AS HAVING SIGNIFICANT RISK FOR 

INCIDENTS OF CHILD LABOR, AND MEASURES TAKEN TO CONTRIBUTE TO 

THE EFFECTIVE ABOLITION OF CHILD LABOR 

-  

254. 

  

a. Report operations and suppliers considered to have significant risk for incidents of: 
  

  

·    Child labor;   

·    Young workers exposed to hazardous work.   

b. Report operations and suppliers considered to have significant risk for incidents of 

child labor either in terms of: 
  

·    Type of operation (such as manufacturing plant) and supplier;   

·    Countries or geographical areas with operations and suppliers considered at risk.   

c. Report measures taken by the organization in the reporting period intended to 

contribute to the effective abolition of child labor. 
  

255.   Aspect: Forced or Compulsory Labor   

256. 

G4-

HR6 

OPERATIONS AND SUPPLIERS IDENTIFIED AS HAVING SIGNIFICANT RISK FOR 

INCIDENTS OF FORCED OR COMPULSORY LABOR, AND MEASURES TO 

CONTRIBUTE TO THE ELIMINATION OF ALL FORMS OF FORCED OR 

COMPULSORY LABOR 

-  

257. 

  

a. Report operations and suppliers considered to have significant risk for incidents of 

forced or compulsory labor either in terms of: 
  

·    Type of operation (such as manufacturing plant) and supplier  

 
  

·    Countries or geographical areas with operations and suppliers considered at risk.   

b. Report measures taken by the organization in the reporting period intended to 

contribute to the elimination of all forms of 

forced or compulsory labor. 

  

258.   Aspect: Security Practices   

259. 
G4-

HR7 

PERCENTAGE OF SECURITY PERSONNEL TRAINED IN THE ORGANIZATION’S 

HUMAN RIGHTS POLICIES OR PROCEDURES THAT ARE RELEVANT TO 

OPERATIONS 

-  

260. 

  

a. Report the percentage of security personnel who have received formal training in the 

organization’s human rights policies or specific procedures and their application to 

security. 

  

b. Report whether training requirements also apply to third party organizations 

providing security personnel. 
  

261.   Aspect: Indigenous Rights   

262. G4-

HR8 

TOTAL NUMBER OF INCIDENTS OF VIOLATIONS INVOLVING RIGHTS OF 

INDIGENOUS PEOPLES AND ACTIONS TAKEN 
-  

263. 

  

a. Report the total number of identified incidents of violations involving the rights of 

indigenous peoples during the reporting period. 

  

  

b. Report the status of the incidents and actions taken with reference to:   

·    Incident reviewed by the organization;   
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·    Remediation plans being implemented;   

·    Remediation plans have been implemented and results reviewed through routine 

internal management review processes; 
  

·    Incident no longer subject to action.   

264.   Aspect: Assessment   

265. G4-

HR9 

TOTAL NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF OPERATIONS THAT HAVE BEEN 

SUBJECT TO HUMAN RIGHTS REVIEWS OR IMPACT ASSESSMENTS 
-  

266. 
  

Report the total number and percentage of operations that have been subject to human 

rights reviews or human rights impact assessments, by country. 
  

267.   Aspect: Supplier Human Rights Assessment   

268. G4-

HR10 

PERCENTAGE OF NEW SUPPLIERS THAT WERE SCREENED USING HUMAN 

RIGHTS CRITERIA 
-  

  a. Report the percentage of new suppliers that were screened using human rights criteria.   

269. G4-

HR11 

SIGNIFICANT ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL NEGATIVE HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACTS 

IN THE SUPPLY CHAIN AND ACTIONS TAKEN 
-  

270. 

  

a. Report the number of suppliers subject to human rights impact assessments.   

b. Report the number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative human rights impacts. 
  

c. Report the significant actual and potential negative human rights impacts identified in 

the supply chain. 
  

d. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative human rights impacts with which improvements were agreed upon as a result 

of assessment. 

  

e. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative human rights impacts with which relationships were terminated as a result of 

assessment, and why. 

  

271.   Aspect: Human Rights Grievance Mechanisms   

272. 
G4-

HR12 

NUMBER OF GRIEVANCES ABOUT HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACTS FILED, 

ADDRESSED, AND RESOLVED THROUGH FORMAL 

GRIEVANCE MECHANISMS 

-  

273. 

  

a. Report the total number of grievances about human rights impacts filed through 

formal grievance mechanisms during the reporting period. 
  

b. Of the identified grievances, report how many were:   

·    Addressed during the reporting period;   

·    Resolved during the reporting period.   

c. Report the total number of grievances about human rights impacts filed prior to the 

reporting period that were resolved 

during the reporting period. 

  

274.   SUB-CATEGORY: SOCIETY   

275.   Aspect: Local Communities   

276. G4-

SO1 

PERCENTAGE OF OPERATIONS WITH IMPLEMENTED LOCAL COMMUNITY 

ENGAGEMENT, IMPACT ASSESSMENTS, AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS 
-  

277. 

  

Report the percentage of operations with implemented local community engagement, 

impact assessments, and development programs, including the use of: 
  

·    Social impact assessments, including gender impact assessments, based on 

participatory processes; 
  

·    Environmental impact assessments and ongoing monitoring;   

·    Public disclosure of results of environmental and social impact assessments;   
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·    Local community development programs based on local communities’ needs;   

·    Stakeholder engagement plans based on stakeholder mapping;   

·    Broad based local community consultation committees and processes that include 

vulnerable groups; 
  

·   Works councils, occupational health and safety committees and other employee 

representation bodies to deal with impacts; 
  

·    Formal local community grievance processes.   

278. G4-

SO2 

OPERATIONS WITH SIGNIFICANT ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL NEGATIVE 

IMPACTS ON LOCAL COMMUNITIES 
-  

279. 

  

Report operations with significant actual and potential negative impacts on local 

communities, including  

  

  

·    The location of the operations;   

·    The significant actual and potential negative impacts of operations.   

280.   Aspect: Anti-corruption   

281. G4-

SO3 

TOTAL NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF OPERATIONS ASSESSED FOR RISKS 

RELATED TO CORRUPTION AND THE SIGNIFICANT RISKS IDENTIFIED 
-  

282. 

  

a. Report the total number and percentage of operations assessed for risks related to 

corruption. 
  

b. Report the significant risks related to corruption identified through the risk 

assessment. 
  

283. G4-

SO4 

COMMUNICATION AND TRAINING ON ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES 
-  

284. 

  

a. Report the total number and percentage of governance body members that the 

organization’s anti-corruption policies and 

procedures have been communicated to, broken down by region. 

  

b. Report the total number and percentage of employees that the organization’s anti-

corruption policies and procedures have 

been communicated to, broken down by employee category and region. 

  

c. Report the total number and percentage of business partners that the organization’s 

anti-corruption policies and procedures 

have been communicated to, broken down by type of business partner and region. 

  

d. Report the total number and percentage of governance body members that have 

received training on anti-corruption, broken 

down by region. 

  

e. Report the total number and percentage of employees that have received training on 

anti-corruption, broken down by 

employee category and region. 

  

285. G4-

SO5 
CONFIRMED INCIDENTS OF CORRUPTION AND ACTIONS TAKEN -  

286. 

  

a. Report the total number and nature of confirmed incidents of corruption.   

b. Report the total number of confirmed incidents in which employees were dismissed 

or disciplined for corruption. 
  

c. Report the total number of confirmed incidents when contracts with business partners 

were terminated or not renewed due 

to violations related to corruption. 

  

d. Report public legal cases regarding corruption brought against the organization or its 

employees during the reporting period 

and the outcomes of such cases. 

  

287. 
 

Aspect: Public Policy -  

 G4-

SO6 

TOTAL VALUE OF POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS BY COUNTRY AND 

RECIPIENT/BENEFICIARY 
  

288. 

  

a. Report the total monetary value of financial and in-kind political contributions made 

directly and indirectly by the organization by country and recipient/beneficiary. 
  

b. Report how the monetary value of in-kind contributions was estimated, if applicable.   
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289.   Aspect: Anti-competitive Behavior -  

290. G4-

SO7 

TOTAL NUMBER OF LEGAL ACTIONS FOR ANTI-COMPETITIVE BEHAVIOR, 

ANTI-TRUST, AND MONOPOLY PRACTICES AND THEIR OUTCOMES 
  

291. 

  

a. Report the total number of legal actions pending or completed during the reporting 

period regarding anti-competitive behavior and violations of anti-trust and monopoly 

legislation in which the organization has been identified as a participant. 

  

b. Report the main outcomes of completed legal actions, including any decisions or 

judgments. 
  

292.   Aspect: Compliance   

293. 
G4-

SO8 

MONETARY VALUE OF SIGNIFICANT FINES AND TOTAL NUMBER OF NON-

MONETARY SANCTIONS FOR NONCOMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 

REGULATIONS 

-  

294. 

  

a. Report significant fines and non-monetary sanctions in terms of:   

·    Total monetary value of significant fines;   

·    Total number of non-monetary sanctions;   

·    Cases brought through dispute resolution mechanisms.   

b. If the organization has not identified any non-compliance with laws or regulations, a 

brief statement of this fact is sufficient. 
  

c. Report the context against which significant fines and non-monetary sanctions were 

incurred. 
  

295.   Aspect: Supplier Assessment for Impacts on Society   

296. G4-

SO9 

PERCENTAGE OF NEW SUPPLIERS THAT WERE SCREENED USING CRITERIA 

FOR IMPACTS ON SOCIETY 
-  

297. 
  

а. Report the percentage of new suppliers that were screened using criteria for impacts 

on society. 
  

298. G4-

SO10 

SIGNIFICANT ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL NEGATIVE IMPACTS ON SOCIETY IN 

THE SUPPLY CHAIN AND ACTIONS TAKEN 
-  

299. 

  

a. Report the number of suppliers subject to assessments for impacts on society.   

b. Report the number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative impacts on society. 
  

c. Report the significant actual and potential negative impacts on society identified in 

the supply chain. 
  

d. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative impacts on society with which improvements were agreed upon as a result of 

assessment. 

  

e. Report the percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 

negative impacts on society with which relationships were terminated as a result of 

assessment, and why. 

  

300.   Aspect: Grievance Mechanisms for Impacts on Society   

301. 
G4-

SO11 

NUMBER OF GRIEVANCES ABOUT IMPACTS ON SOCIETY FILED, ADDRESSED, 

AND RESOLVED THROUGH FORMAL 

GRIEVANCE MECHANISMS 

+ 4.9 

302. 

  

a. Report the total number of grievances about impacts on society filed through formal 

grievance mechanisms during the 

reporting period. 

  

b. Of the identified grievances, report how many were:   

·    Addressed during the reporting period;   

·    Resolved during the reporting period.   

c. Report the total number of grievances about impacts on society filed prior to the 

reporting period that were resolved during the reporting period. 
  

303.   SUB-CATEGORY: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY   

304.   Aspect: Customer Health and Safety   
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305. 

G4-PR1 

PERCENTAGE OF SIGNIFICANT PRODUCT AND SERVICE CATEGORIES FOR 

WHICH HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPACTS ARE 

ASSESSED FOR IMPROVEMENT 

-  

306. 
  

a. Report the percentage of significant product and service categories for which health 

and safety impacts are assessed for improvement. 
  

307. 

G4-PR2 

TOTAL NUMBER OF INCIDENTS OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS 

AND VOLUNTARY CODES CONCERNING THE HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPACTS 

OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES DURING THEIR LIFE CYCLE, BY TYPE OF 

OUTCOMES 

-  

308. 

  

a. Report the total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and 

voluntary codes concerning the health and safety impacts of products and services 

within the reporting period, by: 

  

·    Incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a fine or penalty;   

·    Incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a warning;   

·    Incidents of non-compliance with voluntary codes.   

b. If the organization has not identified any non-compliance with regulations and 

voluntary codes, a brief statement of this fact is 

sufficient. 

  

309.   Aspect: Product and Service Labeling   

310. 

G4-PR3 

TYPE OF PRODUCT AND SERVICE INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE 

ORGANIZATION’S PROCEDURES FOR PRODUCT 

AND SERVICE INFORMATION AND LABELING, AND PERCENTAGE OF 

SIGNIFICANT PRODUCT AND SERVICE 

CATEGORIES SUBJECT TO SUCH INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS 

-  

311. 

  

a. Report whether the following product and service information is required by the 

organization’s procedures for product and service information and labeling (yes/no): 
  

·    The sourcing of components of the product or service - yes/no   

·    Content, particularly with regard to substances that might produce an environmental 

or 

social impact - yes/no 

  

·    Safe use of the product or service - yes/no   

·    Disposal of the product and environmental/social impacts  

 - yes/no 
  

·    Other (explain)   

312. 
  

b. Report the percentage of significant product or service categories covered by and 

assessed for compliance with such procedures. 
  

313. 

G4-PR4 

TOTAL NUMBER OF INCIDENTS OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS 

AND VOLUNTARY CODES CONCERNING PRODUCT AND SERVICE 

INFORMATION AND LABELING, BY TYPE OF OUTCOMES 

-  

314. 

  

a. Report the total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and 

voluntary codes concerning product and service information and labeling, by: 
  

·    Incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a fine or penalty;   

·    Incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a warning;   

·    Incidents of non-compliance with voluntary codes.   

b. If the organization has not identified any non-compliance with regulations and 

voluntary codes, a brief statement of this fact is 

sufficient. 

  

315. G4-PR5 RESULTS OF SURVEYS MEASURING CUSTOMER SATISFACTION -  

316. 

  

a. Report the results or key conclusions of customer satisfaction surveys (based on 

statistically relevant sample sizes) conducted 

in the reporting period relating to information about:  

  

·    The organization as a whole;   

·    A major product or service category;   
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·    Significant locations of operation.   

317.   Aspect: Marketing Communications   

318. 
G4-PR6 SALE OF BANNED OR DISPUTED PRODUCTS -  

319. 

  

a. Report whether the organization sells products that are:   

·    Banned in certain markets;   

·    The subject of stakeholder questions or public debate.   

b. Report how the organization has responded to questions or concerns regarding these 

products. 
  

320. 

G4-PR7 

TOTAL NUMBER OF INCIDENTS OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH 

REGULATIONS AND VOLUNTARY CODES CONCERNING MARKETING 

COMMUNICATIONS, INCLUDING ADVERTISING, PROMOTION, AND 

SPONSORSHIP, BY TYPE OF OUTCOMES 

-  

321. 

  

a. Report the total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and 

voluntary codes concerning marketing 

communications, including advertising, promotion, and sponsorship, by: 

  

·    Incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a fine or penalty;   

·    Incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a warning;   

·    Incidents of non-compliance with voluntary codes.   

b. If the organization has not identified any non-compliance with regulations and 

voluntary codes, a brief statement of this fact is 

sufficient. 

  

322.   Aspect: Customer Privacy   

323. 

G4-PR8 

TOTAL NUMBER OF SUBSTANTIATED COMPLAINTS REGARDING BREACHES 

OF CUSTOMER PRIVACY AND LOSSES OF 

CUSTOMER DATA 

-  

324. 

  

a. Report the total number of substantiated complaints received concerning breaches of 

customer privacy, categorized by: 
  

·    Complaints received from outside parties and substantiated by the organization;   

·    Complaints from regulatory bodies    

b. Report the total number of identified leaks, thefts, or losses of customer data.   

c. If the organization has not identified any substantiated complaints, a brief statement 

of this fact is sufficient. 
  

325.   Aspect: Compliance   

326. 

G4-PR9 

MONETARY VALUE OF SIGNIFICANT FINES FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH 

LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING THE PROVISION AND USE OF 

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 

-  

327. 

  

a. Report the total monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance with laws and 

regulations concerning the provision and use of products and services. 
  

b. If the organization has not identified any non-compliance with laws or regulations, a 

brief statement of this fact is sufficient. 
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10.2. Consolidated financial statements 

Independent Auditors' Report  

  

To the Board of directors of "Kazpost" JSC 

  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of "Kazpost" JSC and its 

subsidiaries (hereinafter - the "Group"), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position as of 31 December 2015 and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 

comprising a summary of the main accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for the 

internal controls that management considers necessary for the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error.  

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 

our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements, planing and performance of the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performance of procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the disclosure of information. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 

assessing these risks, the auditor considers internal control over the preparation and fair presentation 

of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluation of the appropriateness of the accounting principles used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluation of the 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements as a whole.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate for our audit 

opinion. 

  

Opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the Group as of 31 December  

2015 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in are ib 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

  

Kim Ye.V. 

Certified auditor 

of the Republic of Kazakhstan 

Qualification certificate of the auditor  

No. MF-0000042 as of August 8, 2011 
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"KPMG Audit" LLP  

State license on auditing No 0000021, issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan on December 6, 2006 

  

  

  

Khairova A.A. 

General Director of "KPMG Audit" LLP  

acting on the basis of the Charter  

  

  

March 15, 2016 

  

Consolidated statement of financial position 

  Note 
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Assets        
long-term assets       
Fixed assets  4 23,058,531 19,852,501 

Investment property  5 1,384,294 1,223,017 

Intangible assets  6 564,409 679,209 

Investment securities available-for-sale 10 7,863,295 10,172,347 

Loans to employees, long-term portion  7 545,716 721,210 

Other non-current assets and prepaid expenses  
 

593,808 579,264 

  
 

34,010,053 33,227,548 

  
   short-term assets  
   Resources  8 745,036 746,572 

Trade and other receivables and other current assets  9 8,608,852 3,660,323 

Loans to employees, current portion 7 22,255 49,520 

Advance payment of income tax  
 

24,017 137,317 

Investment securities available-for-sale 10 2,472,034 1,421,321 

Deposits in banks  11 4,200,000 1,000,000 

Cash and cash equivalents  12 10,683,146 10,955,443 

Total current assets 
 

26,755,340 17,970,496 

Total assets  
 

60,765,393 51,198,044 

  
   Equity and liabilities  
   Capital 
   Authorized capital  13 18,632,275 14,067,051 

Reserve capital  13 480,587 480,587 

Revaluation reserve for securities available for sale 13 (1,305,903) (886,835) 

Retained earnings/(accumulated loss) 
 

2,048,390 (477,766) 

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent 

Company 
 

19,855,349 13,183,037 

Non-controlling shareholders  
 

- (778) 

Total equity  
 

19,855,349 13,182,259 

  
   Long term liabilities 
   Customer accounts and deposits  14 17,148 57,591 

Loans to financial institutions 15 1,938,453 2,768,529 

Other payables 17 982,821 - 

Employee benefits 16 412,143 501,516 

Deferred tax liabilities 24 1,024,579 869,549 

  
 

4,375,144 4,197,185 
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Consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, which are an integral part hereof. 
  

  Note  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Short-term liabilities        
Trade and other payables and other current liabilities 17 6,526,530 4,321,416 

Payables to subscribers and publishers on the received 

subscription 18 4,611,704 4,898,009 

Arrears on the received remittances 
 

1,193,434 1,037,610 

Arrears on the received transfers of pensions, salaries and 

other payments 
 

65,879 127,965 

Future periods incomes 18 1,408,385 1,573,538 

Customer accounts and deposits 14 21,134,424 20,703,262 

Loans to financial institutions 15 1,175,526 1,106,860 

Income tax liabilities 
 

310,213 - 

Employee benefits 16 108,805 49,940 

  
 

36,534,900 33,818,600 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 
 

40,910,044 38,015,785 

Total equity and liabilities 
 

60,765,393 51,198,044 

  

  
Signed and authorized for release on behalf of the Chairman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC: 

        
        
Mussin B.B.     Chairman of the Management Board  
        
        
Kabdykalykova M.A.     Chief Accountant  

    

  
Consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, which are an integral part hereof. 
  

Consolidated statement of profit or loss 

  
Note 

 
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
 

Incomes 19 33,982,387 30,365,539  

Sales prime cost  20 (29,409,000) (26,760,180)  

Gross profit  
 

4,573,387 3,605,359  

General and administrative expenses  21 (6,196,311) (5,169,880)  

Financial income  22 2,084,736 1,663,423  

Financial expenses  22 (392,886) (381,103)  
Accrued provision for impairment of trade and other 

receivables, and loans to employees  7,9 (580,446) (107,415) 
 

Sales expenses  
 

(89,334) (50,110)  

Operating loss  
 

(600,854) (439,726)  

Net positive exchange rate difference  
 

3,843,555 329,793  
Net (loss) / gain on investment securities available-for-

sale  
 

(96,896) 102,314 
 

Net other non-operating income  23 96,882 300,745  

Profit before tax  
 

3,242,687 293,126  

Income tax expense  24 (646,763) (148,067)  
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Net profit for the year  
 

2,595,924 145,059  

  
   

 

Profit attributable to: 
   

 

The shareholders of the parent company  
 

2,595,924 146,006  

Non-controlling interests  
 

- (947)  

  
 

2,595,924 145,059  

Other comprehensive income 
   

 
Articles that have been or may subsequently be 

reclassified to profit or loss: 
   

 

Unrealized loss on investment securities available-for-

sale  
 

(422,424) (390,787) 
 

Realized gains from investment securities available for 

sale reclassified within profit or loss  
 

3,356 (2,168) 
 

  
 

(419,068) (392,955)  
Articles that are not subsequently reclassified within 

profit or loss: 
   

 

Revaluation of the pension plan liabilities with a defined 

paym, net of deferred taxes  16, 24 (32,180) 108,664 
 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  
 

(451,248) (284,291)  

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 
 

2,144,676 (139,232)  

  
   

 

Due: 
   

 

to the shareholders of the parent company  
 

2,144,676 (138,285)  

Non-controlling interests 
 

- (947)  

  
 

2,144,676 (139,232)  

Basic and diluted earnings per share: 
   

 
Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the Parent Company, in KZT  13 162.01 11.34 
 

  
Signed and authorized for release on behalf of the Chairman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC: 
        
        
Mussin B.B.     Chairman of the Management Board  
        
        
Kabdykalykova M.A.     Chief Accountant  

        

  
  
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, which are an integral part hereof. 
  

Consolidated statement of changes in equity; 

thousand KZT     Equity attributable to owners of the parent company     

  Note Authorized capital Reserve capital 

Revaluation reserve for 

securities available for 

sale 

Retained 

earnings/(accumulated 

loss) Total 

Non-

controlling 

shareholders Total equity 

 

January 1, 2014  
 

12,251,855 480,587 (493,880) (730,083) 11,508,479 (1,683) 11,506,796  

Net profit for the year  
 

- - - 146,006 146,006 (947) 145,059  
Net change in fair value of 

financial assets available for 

sale 
 

- - (392,955) - (392,955) - (392,955) 

 

Revaluation of the pension 

 

- - - 108,664 108,664 - 108,664  
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plan liabilities with a defined 

payments, net of deferred 

taxes 
Total comprehensive 

income 
 

- - (392,955) 254,670 (138,285) (947) (139,232) 
 

  
        

 

Issue of shares  13 1,815,196 - - - 1,815,196 - 1,815,196  

Exchange rate difference 
 

- - - (2,353) (2,353) 1,852 (501)  

December 31, 2014 
 

14,067,051 480,587 (886,835) (477,766) 13,183,037 (778) 13,182,259  

  
        

 

Net profit for the year 
 

- - - 2,595,924 2,595,924 - 2,595,924  
Net change in fair value of 

financial assets available for 

sale 
 

- - (419,068) - (419,068) - (419,068) 

 

Revaluation of the pension 

plan liabilities with a defined 

payments, net of deferred 

taxes 
 

- - - (32,180) (32,180) - (32,180) 

 

Total comprehensive 

income 
 

- - (419,068) 2,563,744 2,144,676 - 2,144,676 
 

dividends 
 

- - - (21,759) (21,759) - (21,759)  

Issue of shares  13 4,565,224 - - - 4,565,224 - 4,565,224  

Exchange rate difference  
 

- - - (15,829) (15,829) - (15,829)  
Acquisition of non-

controlling interest without 

change in control 
 

- - - - - 778 778 

 

December 31, 2015  
 

18,632,275 480,587 (1,305,903) 2,048,390 19,855,349 - 19,855,349  

  

Signed and authorized for release on behalf of the Chairman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC: 

      

              
Mussin B.B.     Chairman of the Management Board        

              
              
Kabdykalykova 

M.A. 
    

Chief Accountant        

               

  
Consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, which are an integral part hereof. 
  

Consolidated cash flow statement 

  Note  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
              Cash flows from operating activities       
Profit before tax  

   Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows 
 

3,242,687 293,126 

Depreciation and loss on impairment of fixed assets and 

investment property 
   Depreciation and impairment loss of intangible assets  4,5 2,121,191 1,802,817 

Net gain on disposal of fixed assets 6 402,077 126,735 

Financial income 23 (84,610) (10,994) 

Financial expenses  22 (2,084,736) (1,663,423) 

Accrued provision for impairment of trade and other 

receivables and other current assets 22 392,886 381,103 

Accrued provision for obsolete inventories 7,9 580,446 107,415 



137 

 

Charge/(recovery) of provision for impairment of investment 

securities available-for-sale 21 1,337 7,641 

Employee benefit liabilities  10 100,252 (100,252) 

Unrealized positive exchange rate difference  16 (84,130) 228,200 

              Cash flows from operating activities before 

changes in working capital 
 

(3,523,410) (194,266) 

Changes in inventories  
 

1,063,990 978,102 

Change in trade and other receivables and other current 

assets 
 

198 (39,047) 

Changes in loans to employees 
 

(2,064,183) (693,132) 

Change in trade and other payables and other current 

liabilities 
 

119,552 5,591 

Changes in accounts payable to publishers for subscriptions 

received  
 

886,387 224,418 

Changes in trade accounts payable for the money transfers  
 

(286,305) (379,564) 

Changes in accounts payable on transfers of pensions, 

salaries and other payments 
 

149,266 128,364 

Changes in deferred income on subscription  
 

(62,086) (79,218) 

Changes in deferred income for delivered mail 
 

(142,501) (52,087) 

Changes in accounts and deposits from customers 
 

(22,652) (25,759) 

Changes in employee benefit obligations 
 

323,985 (117,949) 

Changes in bank deposits  
 

(22,233) (59,154) 

Cash flows from operating activities before income taxes 

and fees paid and received 
 

(3,200,000) (500,000) 

Income tax paid  
 

(3,256,582) (609,435) 

Interest paid  
 

(28,603) (46,012) 

Interest received  
 

(294,359) (319,618) 

Net cash used in operating activities  
 

1,997,686 1,630,600 

  
Consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which 

are an integral part hereof. 
  

  Note  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Cash flows from investing activities        
Acquisition of fixed assets 4 (4,184,978) (2,720,571) 

Purchase of intangible assets  
 

(287,277) (261,505) 

Gains on sales of fixed assets 
 

108,160 - 

Acquisition of investment securities available for sale 
 

- (980,094) 

Sale and redemption of investment securities available-for-

sale 
 

1,554,207 499,319 

Net cash used in investing activities  
 

(2,809,888) (3,462,851) 

  
   Cash flows from financing activities  
   Issue of shares  13 4,565,224 1,815,196 

Attraction of loans from financial institutions  
 

743,600 971,691 

Repayment of loans from financial institutions 
 

(2,020,482) (550,950) 

Dividends paid to shareholders of the Parent Company  13 (21,759) - 

Net cash flow from financing activities 
 

3,266,583 2,235,937 

  
   Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

852,866 66,950 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  
 

(1,125,163) (504,429) 

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1  
 

10,955,443 11,459,872 

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31  12 10,683,146 10,955,443 

  

  
Signed and authorized for release on behalf of the Chairman of the Management Board of Kazpost JSC: 
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Mussin B.B.     Chairman of the Management Board  
        
        
Kybdykalykova MA     Chief Accountant  

    

  
Consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which 

are an integral part hereof. 
  

General provisions 

(a)           Organization and operations 

"Kazpost" JSC (the "Company") was established in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan in the form of a joint stock company. Company's registered office is located at: 010000, Astana, 

37 Beybitshilik str.  

On December 31, 2015 and 2014 100% of the shares of the Company are owned by Samruk-Kazyna 

Sovereign Wealth Fund JSC (hereinafter - Samruk-Kazyna JSC or Sole Shareholder ). 

The main activity of the Company includes the reception, transport and delivery of ordinary and express mail 

and parcels, and provision of all kinds of banking transactions. In addition, the company is an agent for the 

delivery of newspapers and magazines, subscription to periodicals - newspapers and magazines. The 

company also acts as an agent for a number of Kazakh banks for the issuance and repayment of loans. 

The company has a license of Kazakhstan Agency for financial market and financial organizations regulation 

and supervision (hereinafter "FSA") No14 as of February 24, 2006 to conduct banking operations in national 

and foreign currency: deposits, opening and maintaining bank accounts of individuals and legal entities . In 

addition, the company also has a FSA No 0401200704 as of February 3, 2004, the license to engage in 

broker-dealer activities in the securities market with the right to manage client accounts as a nominal holder, 

as well as FSA license No 001 as of 12 May 2006 on the transfer and agency activities. 

The Company's activities related to the sphere of natural monopolies on public postal services and, 

accordingly, the Company is subject to regulation of the Ministry of Transport and Communications of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan, which approves the methodology for calculation of tariffs and rates for these 

services. 

On December 31, the Company had the following subsidiaries: 

Name Place of registration Operating activity 
Ownership share  

2015 2014 

«Electronpost.kz» LLP 
The Republic of 

Kazakhstan Printing and publishing 100% 100% 

«Kazpost GmbH» LLP Germany 
Postal and logistics 

activities 100% 50% 

     

The Company and its subsidiaries, together referred to as the Group. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 were authorized for issue by 

Management of the Group on 15 March 2016. 

(b)           Business environment in the Republic of Kazakhstan 

The Group operates mainly in the territory of Kazakhstan. Consequently, the Group is exposed to the 

economic and financial markets of Kazakhstan which display characteristics of an emerging market. The 
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regulatory framework and tax laws continue to evolve, but it is subject to varying interpretations and frequent 

changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities 

operating in Kazakhstan. In addition, the recent significant depreciation of the Kazakh KZT, as well as the 

decline in international oil prices, raised the level of uncertainty in the business environment.  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect management's assessment about the possible 

impact of conditions to the implementation of the financial and economic activity, on the operations and 

financial position of the Group. The subsequent development of the conditions of the financial and economic 

environment may differ from management's assessment. 

2 BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARATION 

(a)           applicable standards 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter - "IFRS") as issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Standards Committee (IFRS). 

(b)           Basis of financial indicators measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the principle of historical cost, 

except for investment securities available-for-sale stated at fair value. 

(c)           Functional and the currency for the presentation of data of the consolidated financial 

statements 

The functional currency of the Company and one of its subsidiaries is the Kazakhstani KZT, which, being the 

national currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan, reflects the economic substance of the majority of the 

operations conducted by the Group and related circumstances effecting its activities. 

The KZT is also the presentation currency of these consolidated financial statements. 

All consolidated financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousands KZT.  

(d)           Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and amounts of assets and 

liabilities, incomes and expenses reported in the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ 

from those estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods that are affected.  

Notes listed below provide information about significant uncertainty in estimation and critical judgments in 

accounting policies application: 

i.     in terms of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables and other 

current assets - Note 9; 
ii.     in terms of impairment of financial instruments available for sale - Note 10; 

iii.     in terms of the useful life of fixed assets - Note 3 (з); 
iv.     in terms of commitment to employee benefits - Note 16; 

v.     in terms of assessment of a fair value of financial assets and liabilities - Note 27. 
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KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by Group entities to all periods 

presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

(a)           Basis of consolidation 

(i)              Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for by the acquisition at the acquisition date, which is the date of 

control transfer to the Group.  

The Group assesses goodwill at the acquisition date as follows: 

i.     the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 
ii.     the amount recognized for non-controlling interest in the acquiree; plus 
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iii.     the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquired business, if the business combination is 

achieved in stages; minus 
iv.     the net amount of recognized amounts (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired less 

the liabilities assumed. 

If the difference is negative, then in profit or loss for the period the profit from bargain purchase is 

recognized. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts relating to the settlement of pre-existing 

relationships. Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.  

Transactions costs incurred by the Group as a result of operations on a business combination, other than the 

costs associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred. 

Any contingent consideration is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 

consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Otherwise, changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss for the 

period. 

(ii)            Non-controlling interests 

Non-controlling interest is estimated as the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree at 

the acquisition date.  

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 

transactions with equity. 

(iii)          Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls the subsidiary, when the Group is 

exposed to risks associated with variable income from the participation in the investee or has the right to 

receive such income, and is able to use its powers in respect of the enterprise for the purpose of influencing 

the magnitude of this income. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date the control commences until the date that control ceases. Accounting 

policies of subsidiaries have been changed when it had been necessary to align them with the accounting 

policies adopted by the Group. Losses attributable to non-controlling interest in a subsidiary are allocated to 

the account of non-controlling interests, even if this leads to a debit balance ( "deficit") on this account.  

 

 

 

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(a)           Basis of consolidation, continued 

(iv)          Business Acquisitions from entities under common control 

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 

shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of 

the earliest comparative period, or on the date when common control commences if the latest came later; for 

these purposes, comparative figures are restated. The acquired assets and liabilities are recognized at the 

carrying amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements of the Group's controlling shareholder. 

The equity component of the acquired entities are added to the Group's equity components with the exception 
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of the authorized capital of the acquired entities, which is recognized as part of additional capital. Any cash 

paid for the acquisition is recognized directly in equity.  

(v)            Loss of control 

If loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities and the related non-

controlling interests and other capital components. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 

recognized in profit or loss for the period. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then 

such interest is measured at fair value at the date of loss of control. Subsequently, this share is accounted for 

as investment in an associate (using the equity method), or as a financial asset available for sale, depending 

on the extent to which the Group continues to affect the company said.  

(vi)          Participation in investees accounted for using the equity method 

Participation of the Group in investees accounted for using the equity method, including participation in joint 

ventures and associates.  

Associates are those entities, the financial and operating policies of which is significantly influenced by the 

Group. At the same time the Group does not exercise control or joint control over the financial and operating 

policies of these companies. If the Group holds 20 to 50 percent of voting rights in the company, the 

existence of significant influence is assumed. Joint ventures are agreements objects over which the Group has 

joint control, over which the Group has rights to the net assets of these objects. The Group has no rights to the 

assets of joint ventures and shall not be liable for their obligations.  

Shares in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method and are recognized at prome 

cost. Cost of investment includes transaction costs.  

In the consolidated financial statements, the Group recognizes its share of the profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income of investees accounted for by the equity method. This share is calculated taking into 

account the adjustments required to bring the accounting policies of a particular object in accordance with the 

accounting policies of the Group, from the date of significant influence or exercise of joint control until the 

date of cessation of significant influence or joint control. 

When the Group's share of losses in an investee accounted using the equity method, exceeds its interest in this 

subject, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to zero and 

further losses are not recognized by the Group, unless the Group has a commitment to compensate losses of 

the investee or has made payments on its behalf.  

  

  

  

 

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(a)           Basis of consolidation, continued 

(vii)        Transactions eliminated (eliminable) on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses from intercompany 

transactions are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with investments accounted for using 

the equity method are eliminated by reducing the value of the investment to the extent of the Group's interest 

in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent 

when they are not evidence of impairment. 
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(b) Income and expense recognition 

Revenues are recognized when the economic benefit of the Group is assessed as probable, and if the income 

can be reliably measured, regardless of the time of payment. Revenues are measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and 

excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its agreements providing income generation, in accordance with 

certain criteria in order to determine whether it is acting as principal or agent. The group concluded that it is 

acting as principal on all such agreements, except as noted below. Revenues from services are recognized 

based on the stage of completion. When the outcome of the contract can not be estimated reliably, revenue is 

recognized only to the extent of costs incurred that are recoverable. 

(i)              Services in delivery of postal items 

Revenue from the delivery of simple and registered mail is recognized by reference to the stage of completion 

at the balance sheet date. The stage of completion of services is estimated based on the average time of 

delivery of postal items. The costs of delivery of such items are recognized as incurred. 

(ii)            Fee and commission income 

In cases where the Group acts as an agent rather than a principal, revenue from related transactions is 

recognized in the net amount of commission made by the Group. The Group earns commission income from 

different types of services it provides to its customers. Fee and commission income includes fee and 

commission income for the transfer of pensions, salaries and benefits of civil servants, the Commission for 

the processing of utility and other payments, money transfer fee, as well as fees received for the issuance of 

loans for a third party, such as a second-tier banks. Fee and commission income is recognized upon 

completion of the relevant transaction to which it relates.  

(iii)          Income from rentals 

Income from facilities provided under operating leases are accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term and included in revenue due to its operating nature. 

(iv)          Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognized when there is a persuasive evidence (usually in the form of an executed contract of 

sale) that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, to obtain 

appropriate compensation likely costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, participation in 

the management of the goods sold was stopped and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue 

is measured at the fair value of the transferred or receivable compensation, net of reimbursement of sums of 

returns, trade discounts and volume discounts.  

  

  

  

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(b)           Recognition of income and expenses, continued 

(v)            other expenses 

When the Group's contributions to social benefit programs is aimed to the community as a whole but not 

restricted to the Group's employees, they are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

(c)           Financial income and expenses 
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The Group's financial income and expenses include: 

i.     interest income; 
ii.     interest expense; 

iii.     dividend income. 

Interest income and expense are recognized by the effective interest rate. Dividend income is recognized in 

profit or loss on the date when the Group's right to receive payment. 

(g)           Deferred revenue on subscription 

Deferred revenue on a subscription is an amount of money that the Group has collected to the end of the year 

for the services of the delivery of periodicals to be provided in the next year. 

(d)           Foreign currency 

(I) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the 

functional currency at the exchange rate operative at that date. Positive or negative exchange differences on 

monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the 

reporting period, adjusted for interest accrued on the effective interest rate and payments during the period, 

and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.  

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 

translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the date when fair value was 

determined. Non-monetary items that are measured on the basis of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss, except for differences 

that arise in terms of equity instruments classified as financial assets available for sale, and are recognized in 

other comprehensive income.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(d)           Foreign currency, continued 

(I) Foreign currency transactions, continued 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements KZT exchange rates were used in relation to the 

following currencies: 

  December 31, December 31, 
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2015 2015 
SDR 471.56 264.17 

USA dollar 339.47 182.35 

EUR 371.31 221.97 

British Pounds 503.3 283.34 

Russian rubles 4.65 3.17 

  

(ii) Foreign units 

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and adjustments to fair value amount on 

acquisition, are translated into the presentation currency at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. 

Income and expenses of foreign entities are translated into the reporting currency using the exchange rates at 

the dates of the transactions. 

Exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and are recognized as part of equity 

under reserve cumulative translation differences on foreign currency translation. However, if the foreign unit 

is not a 100-percent subsidiary of the Group, a part of these exchange rate differences relates to the 

corresponding proportion in the non-controlling interest.  

On disposal of a foreign operation, in which the Group loses control, significant influence or joint control, the 

amount deferred in the reserve cumulative translation differences from the translation of other currencies, is 

reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of a foreign division. 

In the case when the Group disposes of only part of its investment in a subsidiary that includes a foreign 

operation while retaining control of it, part of the reserve of accumulated exchange rate differences on 

translation of foreign currency is redistributed to non-controlling interest in the appropriate proportions. 

When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign 

operation, and stores with significant influence or joint control, corresponding to the proportional part of the 

reserve of accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss for the period. 

In the event when the Group does not expect and does not intend in the near future to carry out calculations 

on a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign division, the positive and negative exchange 

differences arising in respect of such articles form a part of a net investment in a foreign division; 

accordingly, they are recognized in other comprehensive income and are presented as part of equity under 

reserve of cumulative translation differences on foreign currency translation. 

(f)           Stock 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost of inventories is determined based 

on the FIFO method ( "first-in - first-out"), and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, 

production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 

and bring them to the appropriate condition. 

  

  

  

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(f)           Stocks, continued 

Net selling price is the estimated (calculated) price of the sale of inventory in the ordinary course of 

business, less the estimated costs to complete production and stocks to sell them. 

(g)           Assets held for sale or distribution 
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Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, the carrying value of which 

is expected to be recovered primarily through sale or distribution to owners rather than through 

continuing use, are classified as assets held for sale or distribution to the owners' benefit. 

These assets or disposal groups are measured, usually at the lower of the two values - the carrying 

amount of the asset (group) and its fair value less sale costs. Any impairment loss on a disposal 

group refers first to reduction of goodwill and then proportionally to the rest of its assets and 

liabilities, except for inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets or assets under the employee 

benefits payment plans, investment property, which continue to be measured in accordance with the 

relevant provisions of the Group's accounting policies. Impairment losses arising on initial 

classification of assets and disposal groups held for sale or distribution to owners, as well as gains or 

losses resulting from their subsequent measurement are recognized in profit or loss for the period. 

The amount, which recognizes the income does not exceed the total amount of the impairment loss. 

Intangible assets and fixed assets are not amortized since the classification to the category of assets 

held for sale or distribution to owners. In addition, investments accounted by equity method, 

discontinued to be reflected using this method since their classification as assets held for sale or 

distribution to owners. 

(h)           fixed assets 

(I) Recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses.  

The Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 

assets constructed (built) on their own include the cost of materials, direct labor costs, all other costs 

directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, the costs of 

dismantling and removing the items and restoration of area they occupy and capitalized borrowing 

costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized 

as part of that equipment. 

If significant components that make up a fixed asset have different useful lives, they are accounted 

for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount and is recognized in net value within "other 

income" item or "other expenses" in profit or loss for the period.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(h)           Property and equipment, continued 

(ii) Subsequent costs 

The costs associated with the replacement of an item of fixed asset increase the carrying amount of 

the item if it is probable that the Group will receive the future economic benefits associated with the 
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specified component and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 

is derecognized. The costs for day to day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized 

in profit or loss as incurred. The fixed assets recognize special spare parts and accessories with a 

significant initial value and useful life of more than one (1) year. Other spare parts and accessories 

are recognized in inventories and are reflected in expenses at the time of transfer to the service. 

(iii) Depreciation 

Fixed assets are amortized from the date on which they are installed and ready to use, and for fixed 

assets that were built using own forces - from the date of completion of the facility and its readiness 

for use. Depreciation is calculated based on the cost of the asset less its estimated residual value. 

As a rule, each component of a fixed asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated 

useful lives, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 

benefits embodied in the asset and the depreciation charges are included in profit or loss. Leased 

assets are depreciated over the shorter of the two periods: lease term and their useful lives, except 

when the Group has a reasonable assurance that it will obtain ownership to the relevant assets at the 

end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated. 

Estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

     Buildings and structures 6-60 years 

     Machinery and equipment 2-15 years 

     Vehicles 3-28 years 

     Other fixed assets 5-10 years. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if necessary.  

(i)           Intangible assets 

(i) Research and development 

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or 

technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(i)           Intangible assets 

(I) Research and development, continued 
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Development activities include the planning and design of the production of new or substantially 

improved products and processes. Development costs are capitalized only if they can be estimated 

reliably, the production of the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, there is a 

probability to receive future economic benefits and the Group intends to complete the development 

process and to use or sell the asset and has sufficient resources for this. The expenditure capitalized 

includes the cost of materials, direct labor and overhead costs that are directly attributable to 

preparing the asset for its intended use, and capitalized borrowing costs. Other development 

expenditure is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  

After initial recognition, capitalized development costs are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

(ii) The customer base 

The client base of the Group was acquired in a business combination. Upon initial recognition the 

asset is measured at fair value at the date of its acquisition. 

(iii) Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets, represented mainly by software, are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

(iv) Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the cost of a particular asset only when it increases the 

future economic benefits embodied in the asset. All other expenditure, including expenditure on 

internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

(v) Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated based on the cost of the asset less its estimated residual value. 

With regard to intangible assets, other than goodwill, depreciation is usually calculated from the 

date of readiness of these assets for use and is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the estimated useful lives, since this most closely reflects the expected character the company 

consumes future economic benefits from these assets. The estimated useful lives for the current and 

comparative periods are as follows: 

     The client base 5 years; 

     Other intangible assets 5-10 years. 

At the end of each financial year the depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed for the need for their review and, if necessary, revised.  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(j)           Investment property 
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Investment property is property held to generate profits from the rental and / or capital appreciation, and not 

for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 

administrative purposes. Investment property is accounted for in accordance with the model accounting at 

prime cost. Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the service life of 10-60 years, and is recognized in the 

income statement. Land and construction in progress are not amortized.  
If the nature of the use of a property changes and it is reclassified as fixed assets, the carrying value at the 

date of reclassification becomes the cost for this property for the purpose of its subsequent reflection in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

(k)        Lease 

(i) Determination of whether an agreement contains a lease element 

At the date of the beginning of the relationship on the agreement the Group determines whether the 

agreement is a lease in whole or contains a lease element. This occurs if the execution of the agreement 

depends on the use of a specific asset and the agreement conveys the right to use the asset.  
At the date of the beginning of the relationship or re-evaluation of the agreement, the Group separates 

payments and interest on it to those that apply to rent and those that are related to other elements of the 

agreement, in proportion to their fair value. If, in the case of a finance lease, the Group concludes that a 

significant separation of payments is impracticable, the asset and liability are recognized at an amount equal 

to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an 

imputed finance charge is recognized, which is calculated based on the borrowing rate used by the Group. 

(ii) Leased assets 

If the Group holds assets on the basis of lease contracts, under which the Group assumes substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership, in respect of these assets, these contracts are classified as finance 

leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 

and the present (discounted) value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequently, the asset is accounted for 

in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.  
Other leases are classified as operating leases and the leased assets are not recognized in the Group's financial 

position. 

(iii) Lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss at a straight-line period basis over the 

lease term. The amount of incentives received is recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense over 

the lease term.  
Minimum lease payments under finance leases are distributed between finance charges and reduction of the 

outstanding liability. Financial expenses shall be allocated to each period during the lease term so that the 

periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability remains constant.  

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(l)           Financial instruments 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: loans and receivables, as 

well as financial assets available for sale. 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. 

(I) Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities - Recognition and derecognition 

The Group initially recognizes loans and accounts receivable. Initial recognition of all other financial assets 

and liabilities is carried out on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset at the time of the expiration of the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset, or when the Group transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the 
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financial asset in a transaction in which the other side transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of these financial assets. Any involvement in transferred financial assets that is created or retained 

by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability. 
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or expire as well 

as executed or canceled. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and presented in the statement of financial 

position on a net basis only if the Group currently has legal protection of the right to carry out offset of the 

recognized amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  
The Group currently has legal protection of the right to carry out netting, if this right is not due to an event in 

the future, is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, and in the event of default, insolvency or 

bankruptcy of the Group or any of the contractors.  

Loans and receivables  

The category of loans and receivables does not include an active market, financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction costs. After initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost, which is 

calculated using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  
In the category of loans and receivables, financial assets of the following classes are included: Employee 

loans (see note 7.), Trade and other receivables (see note 9.), Banks deposits (see note 11.), cash and cash 

equivalents ( see. note 12). 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank demand deposits, accounts receivable under "reverse 

repurchase agreements" with up to 30 days and highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or 

less than since the date of acquisition, and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value. 

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and used by the Group as part of an integrated management 

system over the monetary funds are included in cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows.  
  

 (l)           Financial instruments 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities - the recognition and derecognition, continued 

Financial assets available-for-sale  

Financial assets available for sale are non-derivative financial assets that have been identified in the specified 

category or not classified in any of the above categories of financial assets. On initial recognition, these assets 

are measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign exchange gains 

on debt instruments classified as available for sale are recognized in other comprehensive income and 

presented within equity in the account of the fair value reserve. At the time the investment is derecognized 

amount of the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss for the period. Unquoted 

equity instruments the fair value of which can not be reliably determined, are carried at prime cost.  
Assets classified as available for sale are classified as equity and debt securities. 

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities - Assessment 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. Such financial liabilities 

are recognized initially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Other financial liabilities include accounts and deposits from customers, loans to other financial institutions, 

trade and other payables, payables for the receipt of remittances, payables for receipt of pensions, wages and 

other payments, and securities sold under "repo" agreements.  

(iii) REPO and reverse REPO transactions 
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Securities sold under sale agreements to repurchase (hereinafter - REPO transactions) are accounted for as 

funds raising transactions pledged by securities with the securities retained in the consolidated statement of 

financial position and the liability to counterparties are included in current liabilities as securities sold under 

sale and repurchase agreements. The difference between the sale and repurchase price represents interest 

expense and is recognized in profit or loss for the "REPO" transaction the period using the effective interest 

method. 
Securities purchased under the reverse repo agreements (hereinafter - the reverse REPO transaction) are 

recorded as reverse REPO transactions with a maturity of up to 90 days as part of cash and cash equivalents. 

The difference between the purchase and resale prices represents interest income and is recognized in profit 

or loss over the term of "REPO" using the effective interest method. 
If the assets acquired under the reverse repo transaction are sold to third parties, the obligation to return 

securities is recorded as a liability held for trading and measured at fair value. 
  

 (l)           Financial instruments, continued 

(iv) The amortized cost 

The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is 

measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the accumulated amortization of 

the difference between the initial amount recognized and the value at maturity, determined using the method 

of effective interest rate, and net of any impairment loss. Premiums and discounts, including initial 

transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortized based on the 

effective interest rate of the instrument.  
Financial assets or liabilities / issued at interest rates different from market rates are re-measured at/issue at 

fair value, which represents the future value of payments of interest and principal amount (principal) 

discounted at market interest rates for similar instruments . The resulting difference is recognized in profit or 

loss as gains or losses from the receipt/delivery of financial instruments at rates different from market ones. 

Subsequently, the carrying amount of such assets or liabilities is adjusted for amortization of the gains/losses 

on the time of receipt/delivery, and the related income/expense is recorded in interest income/expense in 

profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

(v) The principle of fair value assessment 

Fair value is the price that was received at a sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in a normal 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the underlying market or, in its absence, 

the most advantageous market to which the Group has access to that date. The fair value of the liability 

reflects the risk of default. 
As far as possible, the Group estimates the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices of the instrument 

in an active market. The market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability occur with 

sufficient frequency and in sufficient quantities to determine quotations on a regular basis.  
In the absence of current prices in an active market, the Group uses valuation techniques that make maximum 

use of observable input data and minimal use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 

incorporates all factors that market participants would take into account under these circumstances. 
The best evidence of fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction 

price, ie the fair value of consideration paid or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial 

recognition differ from the transaction price and the fair value is not supported by the current quotations in an 

active market for similar assets or liabilities, and is not based on assessment methods that use only observable 

input data, financial instruments are initially measured at fair value adjusted to defer the difference between 

the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. After initial recognition, the difference is 

recognized in profit or loss accordingly for the duration of the life of the tool, but not later than the time when 

the assessment is fully supported by observable input data, or when the operation is completed. 
If the asset or liability at fair value, have a price of demand and price of proposal, assets and long positions 

are measured at a demand price, but liabilities and short positions are measured at an asking price. 
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(l)           Financial instruments, continued 

(vi) Offsetting of assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position on 

a net basis in the event when this involves the right provided by legal protection and the intention of the 

parties to resolve outstanding basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; and this right 

is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy 

of the Group or any of the contractors. 

(m) Depreciation 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 

As at each balance sheet date the financial asset, not referred to the category of financial instruments is 

measured at fair value with changes in fair value through profit or loss, including interest in the investee 

accounted for using the equity method, it is checked whether there is objective evidence of impairment . A 

financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that after the initial recognition of the asset, an 

event occurred leading to the loss and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash 

flows of the financial asset that can be estimated reliably. 
Objective evidence of the financial assets impairment (including equity securities) may include:  

i.     default or delinquency by a debtor; 
ii.     restructuring of debt owed to the Group on terms that would otherwise not have been considered by the 

Group; 

iii.     signs of the future bankruptcy of the debtor or issuer; 
iv.     adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group; 
v.     economic conditions that correlate with defaults; 

vi.     the disappearance of an active market for a security, or 

vii.     observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of 

financial assets. 
In addition, objective evidence of impairment of investments in equity securities is significant or continuing 

decline in its fair value below its cost.  

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

The Group considers the evidence of impairment of these assets to be at the level of individual assets and, 

together, at the level of groups of assets. All assets that are individually significant are collectively assessed 

for impairment on an individual basis. Those assets for which no impairment has been identified at the level 

of an individual asset, jointly assessed for impairment that has been incurred but has not yet been identified. 

Assets that are individually insignificant are assessed for impairment by bringing together assets with similar 

risk characteristics. 

In assessing impairment at the level of groups of assets the Group uses historical trends of the probability of 

losses, the timing of recovery and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management's judgment about 

whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses will probably prove higher or 

lower than expected based on historical loss trends. 

  

 

 

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(m)           Impairment, continued 

(i) Non financial assets, continued 
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Financial assets at amortized cost, continued  

The impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value 

of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the asset. Losses are 

recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account for impairment losses. If the Group 

considers that asset reimbursement prospects are not realistic, the corresponding amount is written off. 

Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the "release of the discount." In the event of 

any subsequent event that leads to a decrease in the value of the impairment loss and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the recovered amount 

previously allocated to an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial assets available-for-sale 

Impairment losses on financial assets classified as available-for-sale securities are recognized by the 

reclassification to profit or loss for the period of the loss amount accumulated in the fair value reserve in 

equity. The cumulative impairment loss excluded from equity and recognized in profit or loss is the 

difference between the cost of the asset acquisition (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and 

current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss. 

Changes arising from allowances for impairment in connection with the application of the effective interest 

method are reflected as a component of interest income. If subsequently the fair value of an impaired debt 

securities classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, then the impairment loss is reversed with 

the recoverable amount is recognized in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of 

an impaired equity securities classified as available-for-sale is recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Objects of investments accounted for using the equity method 

Impairment for investments accounted for using the equity method is evaluated by comparing the recoverable 

amount of the investment and its book value. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss and reversed 

in the case of a favorable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

(ii) Non-financial assets 

The carrying value of non-financial assets, other than investment property, inventories and deferred tax 

assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether indications of impairment exist. If any such 

indication exists the recoverable amount of the asset is calculated. With respect to goodwill and intangible 

assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet ready for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each 

year at the same time. 
  

 (m) Impairment, continued 

(ii) Non-financial assets, continued 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that can not be tested individually are grouped together into the 

smallest group that generates cash inflows from continuing use of the related assets, largely independent of 

those from other assets or CGU. Subject to the limitations related to the fact that the level of testing can not 

be above the level of the operating segments, for verification purposes of impairment of goodwill those 

CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the impairment test was carried out at the 

lowest level, in the which the goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a 

business combination is allocated to the CGU groups that are expected to benefit from the synergies of this 

business combination. 

Group's corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by more than one CGU. The cost 

of corporate assets distributed among the CGU on a reasonable and consistent basis, and their check for 

impairment is carried out within the framework of the testing of the CGU to which the relevant corporate 

asset has been allocated.  
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The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of two values: the value in use of the asset (this 

unit) and its fair value less sale costs. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 

to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 

of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

Impairment losses are recognized when the carrying amount of an asset or CGU to which the asset belongs, 

exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss for the period. CGU impairment losses at first relate to 

reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the relevant CGU (or CGU group), and then to reduce 

the carrying value of other assets in the CGU (CGU group). 

Amounts written off by the impairment loss of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets at each 

reporting date an analysis of impairment losses is recognized in prior periods in order to identify signs that 

the loss has decreased or no longer exists. Amounts written off for impairment losses are reversed in the 

event that there have been changes in the estimates used in the calculation of the recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extent of the amount, the asset to its carrying amount at which they 

would be reflected (less accumulated depreciation) if it had not been recognized as an impairment loss. 

(n) Reserves 

A provision is recognized if as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation resulting from past practice, the value of which can be estimated reliably, and there is a probability 

of an outflow of economic benefits to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the liability. The amounts that reflect the amortization of the discount are 

recognized as finance cost.  
  

 (o) Employee benefits, continued 

(i) Short-term benefits 

In determining the amount of the obligation in respect of short-term employee benefits the discounting is not 

applied and the relevant expenses are recognized upon the services are provided by employees. The amounts 

expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus payments or profit-sharing liability is recognized when the 

Group has a present legal or due to past practice obligation to pay this amount as a result of the provision of 

services to workers in the past, and the value of this the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(ii) Defined contribution plans 

The defined contribution plan is the plan of post-employment benefits in the company, under which the 

company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (or fund), and does not bear any legal or arising from 

past practice obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations to the Single Accumulative Pension Fund of 

Kazakhstan (hereinafter, "SAPF" JSC) are recognized as expenses for employee benefits in profit or loss in 

the periods in which the employees render the related service.  

(iii) Defined benefit plans 

Defined benefit plans is the employee benefit plan at the end of their employment at the company, other than 

a defined contribution plan. Net value of the Group's obligations in respect of pension plans with defined 

benefit is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have 

earned in the current and prior periods. Thus defined benefit is discounted to its present value with a fair 

value of any plan assets is deducted. The liabilities discount rate used is a market return at the end of the 

reporting period of governmental bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group's 

obligations and that are denominated in the currency of the expected payment of awards.  
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The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary, applying the projected unit credit method. 

When as a result of the calculations the Group obtained a potential asset, the recognized asset is limited by 

the reduced (discounted) value of economic benefits available in the form of future refunds from the plan or 

in the form of reductions in future contributions to the plan. When calculating the reduced (discounted) value 

of the economic benefits are taken into account all the requirements for the minimum amount of funding that 

apply to any plan in the Group. An economic benefit is available to the Group if the Group can implement it 

during the term of the plan, or on the final settlement of the plan liabilities. 

Reassessment of the net liabilities of defined benefit plan, including actuarial gains and losses, return on plan 

assets (except for interest) and the effect of the limit value of assets (excluding interest, if any) are recognized 

immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the amount of net interest expense 

(income) at a net liability (asset) plan for the period by applying the discount rate used to estimate liabilities 

of the defined benefit plan at the beginning of the annual period to net liabilities (assets) plan on that date in 

view of any changes in the net liability (asset) plan for the period as a result of contributions and benefits. 

The net amount of interest and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit or loss. 

 (o) Employee benefits, continued 

(iii) Defined benefit plans, continued  

If you change the payments under the plan or the sequestration, the arising change in payments relating to 

past service, or the profit or loss on sequestration is recognized immediately in profit or loss. The Group 

recognizes a gain or loss from the calculation of the obligations of the plan when the settlement occurs. 

(iv) other long-term employee benefits 

Net obligation in respect of the Group's long-term employee benefits, other than the payment of pension 

plans, is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods. These 

future benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. 

The liabilities discount rate used is a market return at the end of the reporting period of governmental bonds 

that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group's obligations and that are denominated in the 

currency of the expected payment of awards. Calculations are made using the projected conditional unit 

method. Revaluations are recognized in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.  

(p) Equity 

Equity capital 

Common shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares and share 

options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

In the case of redemption of own shares by the Group the amount paid, including the costs directly associated 

with the redemption are recognized in the consolidated financial statements as a deduction from equity, net of 

any tax effects. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are recognized in the reserve for own 

shares. In the case of sale or subsequent reissue of treasury shares amounts received is recorded as an increase 

in capital and the resulting operation of the gain or loss is recorded as an increase in additional paid-in 

capital.  

Funds recognized in equity 

Funds recognized in equity (other comprehensive income) in the consolidated statement of financial position 

include the following components:  

Revaluation reserve for investments available for sale, reflecting changes in the fair value of investments 

available-for-sale. 

The reserve fund includes funds transferred from retained earnings based on the decision of the shareholders 

and can not be distributed as dividends.  

Dividends 
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Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity at the balance sheet date only if they are 

declared before the balance sheet date inclusive. Dividends are disclosed in the consolidated financial 

statements when they are proposed before the reporting date or proposed or declared after the balance sheet 

date but before the date the financial statements were authorized for issue. 

 (q) Income tax 

Income tax expense includes the current income tax and deferred tax and is recognized in profit or loss for the 

period except for that part which relates to a business combination or to items recognized directly in equity or 

in other comprehensive income . 

(i) Current tax 

Current income tax includes the amount of tax which is expected to be paid or refunded in respect of taxable 

income or loss for the year, and which is calculated based on the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 

the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to income tax of previous years. The calculation of liabilities for 

current income tax also includes any tax liability arising in connection to dividends. 

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

determined for the purposes of their reflection in the financial statements and their tax bases. Deferred tax is 

not recognized for: 

i.     temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction which 

is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or tax loss; 

ii.     temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, to the 

extent that the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 

the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

iii.     taxable temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill. A deferred tax asset is 

recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences only to the extent of 

probable future taxable profit available against which they can be implemented. Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent when the occurrence of the related tax 

benefit is no longer probable. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that will apply in the future, at the time of reversal of temporary 

differences based on the enacted or substantively enacted laws at the balance sheet date. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that follow from the manner in which the 

Group intends to recover or settle the carrying amount of assets and settle the liabilities at the end of the 

reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in the event that there is a legally enforceable 

right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and these assets and liabilities relate to income 

taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities intend to 

settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or tax assets of these enterprises will be carried out 

simultaneously with repayment of their tax liabilities. 

 (q) Income tax 

(ii) Deferred income tax, continued  

In accordance with the tax regulations of the Republic of Kazakhstan, a Group company may not set off tax 

losses and assets for current income tax against taxable profits and liabilities, current income tax expense of 

other Group's companies. In addition, the tax base is determined by each principal activity of the Group 

individually. Therefore, tax losses and taxable profits related to different activities can not be offset. 

When determining the amount of current and deferred income taxes the Group takes into account the impact 

of uncertain tax positions and the possibility of additional taxes and penalties and interest for late payment of 
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tax. Based on the results of its assessment of a number of factors, as well as on the interpretation of the 

Kazakhstan tax legislation and experience of previous years, the Group's management believes that the 

obligation to pay taxes for all tax periods for which the tax authorities have the right to check the calculations 

of completeness with the budget are reflected in full volume. This assessment is based on estimates and 

assumptions and may involve the formation of a number of judgments about the impact of future events. 

Over the time the Group may receive new information thus causing the need to change its judgment regarding 

the adequacy of existing obligations to pay taxes. Such changes in the value of tax liabilities affect the 

amount of tax for the period in which these judgments have changed. 

(r) Value added tax (VAT) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except: 

i.    When the VAT incurred on the acquisition of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 

authorities, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or part of a 

expense item, depending on the circumstances 

ii.    Amounts receivable and payable were accounted along with VAT. 

The net amount of VAT recoverable or payable to the tax authorities is included in the receivable or payable 

in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

VAT recoverable relates to the acquisitions that have not been settled at the balance sheet date. VAT 

receivable can be taken to offset VAT payable, as well as at the request of the company the VAT for receipt 

can be refunded by the tax authorities of the state. If according to the norms of the existing tax laws refund or 

offset of VAT receivable is deferred to the following twelve (12) months after the balance sheet date, a VAT 

receivable is transferred to the long-term assets. In the case of non-refundable VAT, the receivable VAT is 

recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

(s)           New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective as of 

December 31, 2015 and have not been applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The 

Group plans to adopt these standards when they become effective. 

  

KEY PROVISIONS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY 

(s)           New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

The new 

standard/amendment 

to the standard   Brief description of requirements   

The possible impact on 

the consolidated 

financial statements 
IFRS  
(IFRS 9), "Financial 

Instruments"  

  IFRS (IFRS) 9, published in July 2014, replaces the 

existing IFRS (IAS) 39 "Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement". IFRS (IFRS 9) 

includes revised guidance on the classification and 

measurement of financial assets, including a new model 

of expected credit losses for the evaluation of 

impairment, and new general requirements for hedge 

accounting. Also new standard upholds guidance on 

the recognition and derecognition of financial 

instruments adopted in the IFRS (IAS) 39. 
IFRS (IFRS) 9 becomes effective for annual periods 

beginning on January 1, 2018 or after this date. Earlier 

application of standard is permitted. 

  The Group has not yet 

analyzed the likely 

impact of the new 

standard in terms of its 

impact on the financial 

position and results of 

operations. 
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IFRS  
(IFRS) 15 "Revenue 

from contracts with 

customers" 

  IFRS (IFRS) 15 establishes the general principles of the 

system to determine whether or not to be recognized as 

revenue, in what amount and when. The standard 

replaces the existing guidance on revenue recognition, 

including the IFRS (IAS) 11, "Construction Contracts", 

IFRS (IAS) 18 "Revenue" and explanation of IFRIC 

(IFRIC) 13 "Customer Loyalty Programs". 
The underlying principle of the new standard is that the 

company recognizes revenue to reflect the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in the amount 

corresponding to the compensation to which the 

company, in line with its expectations will be entitled 

in exchange for those goods or services. The new 

standard provides a detailed disclosure in respect of 

revenue, includes guidance on accounting for 

transactions that were not previously considered in a 

whole, as well as improves the guidance on accounting 

for arrangements composed of many elements. 
IFRS (IFRS) 15 comes into effect for annual reporting 

periods beginning January 1, 2018 or after this date. 

Earlier application of standard is permitted. 

  The Group has not yet 

analyzed the likely 

impact of the new 

standard in terms of its 

impact on the financial 

position and results of 

operations. 

  

 (s)           New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

The new 

standard/amendment 

to the standard   Brief description of requirements   

The possible impact on 

the consolidated 

financial statements 
IFRS (IFRS) 16, 
"Leases" 

  
IFRS (IFRS) 16 replaces the existing guidance on 

accounting for leases, including the IFRS (IAS) 17, 

"Leases", IFRIC (IFRIC) 4 "Determining whether an 

Arrangement contains a Lease" Explanation of SIC 15 

"Operating Leases - Incentives", Explanation of SIC 27 

"Analysis of the nature of transactions that involve the 

legal form of a lease." The new standard cancels double 

accounting model applied currently in the account of 

the lessee. This model requires the lease classification 

into financial lease, recognized on the balance sheet 

and operating leases, accounted for the balance. 

Instead, they introduced a single accounting model, 

which assumes a reflection of the lease on the balance 

sheet and has similarities with that currently in force, 

taking into account the financial lease. 

For lessors accounting rules currently in force are 

preserved in general - lessee continue to classify the 

lease on the financial and operating.  

IFRS (IFRS) 16 comes into effect for annual periods 

beginning January 1, 2019 or after this date. Earlier 

application of standard provided that the IFRS (IFRS) 

15 "Revenue from contracts with customers" will also 

be applied is permitted. 

  The Group has not yet 

analyzed the likely 

impact of the new 

standard in terms of its 

impact on the financial 

position and results of 

operations. 
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The following new standards and amendments to standards are not expected to have a material impact on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

i.         IFRS (IFRS) 14 "Deferred tariff adjustment." 

ii.         Accounting for the acquisition of interests in joint operations (amendments to IFRS (IFRS) 11). 
iii.         Clarification of allowable depreciation methods (Amendments to IFRS (IAS) 16 and IFRS (IAS) 38). 
iv.         Defined benefit plans: employees' contributions (Amendments to IFRS (IAS) 19). 
v.         "Improvements to IFRS" project. Cycle: 2010-2012. 

vi.         "Improvements to IFRS" project. Cycle: 2011-2013. 
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Fixed assets  

Fixed assets include the following: 

thousand KZT Land 
Buildings and 

constructions 
Cars and 

equipment Vehicles  
Other fixed 

assets 
Construction 

in progress Total 
Cost price                
As of January 1, 2014 1,219,447 11,950,372 7,785,065 5,682,539 1,603,672 145,132 28,386,227 

Incomes 9,611 31,599 950,622 1,322,481 176,870 287,119 2,778,302 

Reclassified from investment property structure - 468,359 - - - - 468,359 

Reclassified to investment property structure - (306,394) - - - - (306,394) 

Impairment loss - (2,835) - - - - (2,835) 

Transfers (67,526) 230,912 (263) - 263 (163,386) - 

Disposals (432) (13,027) (289,720) (157,652) (94,283) - (555,114) 

As of December 31, 2014 1,161,100 12,358,986 8,445,704 6,847,368 1,686,522 268,865 30,768,545 

Incomes 129,248 759,697 2,162,877 1,310,437 283,670 866,119 5,512,048 

Reclassified to investment property structure (621) (207,194) - - - - (207,815) 

Transfers - 360,486 (3,211) 1,734 1,477 (360,486) - 

Disposals (3,310) (28,334) (649,815) (98,218) (98,977) (443) (879,097) 

As of December 31, 2015 1,286,417 13,243,641 9,955,555 8,061,321 1,872,692 774,055 35,193,681 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. FIXED ASSETS, CONTINUED  

thousand KZT Land 

Buildings 

and 

constructions 
Cars and 

equipment Vehicles  
Other fixed 

assets 
Construction 

in progress Total 
  
Accumulated depriciation and impairment losses 

       As of January 1, 2014 - 1,396,109 4,931,246 2,263,888 1,102,597 - 9,693,840 

Depreciation for the year - 400,816 793,407 482,341 116,729 - 1,793,293 

Reclassified from investment property structure - 29,440 - - - - 29,440 
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Reclassified to investment property structure - (66,290) - - - - (66,290) 

Disposals  - (4,751) (289,667) (151,810) (88,011) - (534,239) 

As of December 31, 2014 - 1,755,324 5,434,986 2,594,419 1,131,315 - 10,916,044 

Depreciation for the year - 354,702 906,262 652,726 144,211 - 2,057,901 

Impairment loss - - 4,258 29,027 1,245 - 34,530 

Reclassified to investment property structure - (17,778) - - - - (17,778) 

Transfers - - (1,725) 73 1,652 - - 

Disposals  - (20,817) (649,603) (89,439) (95,688) - (855,547) 

As of December 31, 2015 - 2,071,431 5,694,178 3,186,806 1,182,735 - 12,135,150 

Book value 
       As of January 1, 2014 1,219,447 10,554,263 2,853,819 3,418,651 501,075 145,132 18,692,387 

As of December 31, 2014 1,161,100 10,603,662 3,010,718 4,252,949 555,207 268,865 19,852,501 

As of December 31, 2015 1,286,417 11,172,210 4,261,377 4,874,515 689,957 774,055 23,058,531 
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4 FIXED ASSETS, CONTINUED 

In 2015, the Group entered into an agreement with a related party Kazakhstan Electricity Gird Operating 

Company JSC (KEGOC) for the purchase of a building with an adjacent plot of land in the amount of 

2,161,476 thousand KZT, including VAT, with a deferred payment until 2027 . On initial recognition, the 

Group recognized the cost of the building, adjacent land and buildings related to the acquisition of other fixed 

assets in the amount of 647.410 thousand KZT 123.769 thousand KZT and 84.833 thousand KZT, 

respectively, equal to the present value of future contractual cash payments. As of December 31, 2015, the 

carrying amount of accounts payable for the purchase of these assets was equal to 1,081,070 thousand KZT 

(Note 17).  

As of December 31, 2015 value of fully depreciated fixed assets amounted to 4,504,164 thousand KZT 

(December 31, 2014: 4,652,902 thousand KZT). 

As of December 31, 2015 the fixed assets with a book value of 1,388,911 thousand KZT were pledged as 

collateral for the loan from the Islamic Development Bank and Xerox Kazakhstan LLP (2014: 116.751 

thousand KZT.) (Note 15). 

In 2015 and 2014 the Group has not capitalized any borrowing costs. 

5 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

(i) Reconciliation of the book value 

thousand KZT Note 2015 2014 
Cost price 

 

1,422,514 1,584,479 

Balance as of January 1 4 207,815 306,394 

Reclassification of plant and equipment 4 - (468,359) 

Reclassification to fixed assets 
 

1,630,329 1,422,514 

Balance as of December 31 
   Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 
 

199,497 153,123 

Balance as of January 1 
 

28,760 9,524 

Depreciation for the year 4 17,778 66,290 

Reclassification of plant and equipment 4 - (29,440) 

Reclassification to fixed assets 
 

246,035 199,497 

Balance as of December 31 
 

1,384,294 1,223,017 

The carrying amount as of December 31 
 

1,422,514 1,584,479 

  
Investment property comprises a number of commercial properties that are leased to third parties. 

(ii) Fair value assessments hierarchy 

The fair value of investment property was determined by internal evaluators and for most of the property - an 

independent appraiser.  
As of December 31, 2015 the value of the lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases amounts to 

442.063 thousand KZT (December 31, 2014: 457.812 thousand KZT) and is receivable in less than one year. 

Contingent rents are not available. For further information on these leases see note 25. 
The total amount of rental income recognized in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 

amounted to 458.914 thousand KZT (2014: 448.225 thousand KZT.) (Note 19). There are no direct operating 

expenses except for depreciation costs and property tax, according to lease agreements, commitments for all 

costs of maintenance are carried out by lessees. 
As of December 31, 2015, on the basis of market data available to on recent transactions in the market with 

similar objects of commercial real estate, which have a similar location and specifications, investment 

property fair value is 1,459,525 thousand KZT and is classified within Level 3 of the hierarchy of fair value 

based on the initial data for the application of assessment methods (31 December 2014: 2,512,048 thousand 

KZT.).  
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6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets include the following: 
  

thousand KZT 

Clients 

database 
 

Other 

intangible 

assets 
 

Assets under 

development Total 
Cost price          
As of January 1, 2014 

    Incomes 34,149 1,521,618 163,649 1,719,416 

Disposals - 233,029 33,022 266,051 

As of December 31, 2014 (3,193) (30,113) (107) (33,413) 

Incomes 30,956 1,724,534 196,564 1,952,054 

Disposals  -   222,406   41,266   263,672  

As of December 31, 2015  -   (13,523)  (2,481)  (16,004) 

   30,956   1,933,417   235,349   2,199,722  

Accumulated depriciation and 

impairment losses 
    As of January 1, 2014 
    Depreciation for the year 4,938 1,170,039 - 1,174,977 

Disposals 6,259 120,476 - 126,735 

As of December 31, 2014 (3,193) (25,674) - (28,867) 

Depreciation for the year 8,004 1,264,841 - 1,272,845 

Impairment losses 5,880 123,594 - 129,474 

Disposals  -  49,953   196,564   246,517  

As of December 31, 2015 - (13,523) - (13,523) 

   13,884   1,424,865   196,564   1,635,313  

Book value 
    As of January 1, 2014 
    As of December 31, 2014 29,211 351,579 163,649 544,439 

As of December 31, 2015 22,952 459,693 196,564 679,209 

  
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 other intangible assets mainly consist of software to support the bank, 

mail and logistics services, book keeping. 
  

7 LOANS TO EMPLOYEES 

In 2009-2014, the Group has provided its employees interest-free loans and loans at the rate of 6% per annum 

for the purchase of property in connection with the head office move from Almaty to Astana. In 2015, the 

Group did not provide new loans to employees. 

These loans are collateralized by the purchased property and are linked to the ongoing activities of employees 

in the Group. On initial recognition, loans are discounted to their fair value. The amount of deferred 

consideration amortization is recognized in financial expenses (Note 22), and interest income on loans is 

reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as finance income 

(Note 22). 

As of December 31, 2015 loans to employees are recorded net of provision for impairment in the amount of 

38.247 thousand KZT. (2014: Absent). Loans must be repaid within the 2014-2028 period. 
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Resources 

thousand KZT 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
Materials 662,358 650,028 

Stamps 60,104 68,885 

Consumer goods 22,574 27,659 

Total 
745,036 746,572 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Trade and other receivables and other current assets comprised the following: 

thousand KZT 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
Trade receivables 8,408,944 3,547,962 

Amounts to clarify and payable for damage, loss and theft 1,416,769 922,581 
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Advances paid for goods and services 167,430 88,941 

Other receivables 101,447 93,287 

Advances paid to publishers 8,654 2,303 

Prepaid taxes other than income tax 5,865 7,087 

  10,109,109 4,662,161 

Less: provision for impairment of trade and other receivables and 

other current assets (1,500,257) (1,001,838) 

Total 8,608,852 3,660,323 

As of December 31 the amount to determine the arrears for violations where suspects and perpetrators are not 

known at the balance sheet date, or the true nature of these amounts has not been established by the Group. 

Receivables from damage, loss and theft is a theft loss on cash and other assets that the Group's management 

expects to recover from the suspects and perpetrators, is currently in the process of administrative 

proceedings under investigation or under the trial. The Group has made a provision for the full amount of 

such damages. Provisions for arrears of damage, loss and theft will be reversed as compensation by violators 

who caused losses for the Group. In the event that such losses will not be recovered, they are written off in 

accordance with the Kazakhstan legislation. 

Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

thousand KZT 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
SDR 6,589,226 1,093,029 

KZT  1,387,653 2,190,513 

Russian rubles 366,021 245,869 

U.S. dollars 81,181 34,278 

Other currencies 7,752 5,306 
Total 

8,431,833 3,568,995 

Analysis of trade and other receivables by maturity as of December 31 is as follows: 

thousand 

KZT Total 

Are not 

overdue and 

not impaired 

Past due but not impaired 
<30 
days 

30-60 
days 

60-90 
days 90-120 days 

> 120 
days 

2015 8,431,833 2,486,216 344,926 330,944 337,589 344,409 4,587,749 

2014 3,568,995 1,870,670 235,471 185,901 175,283 175,283 926,387 

        

During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for 2015 the management 

updated the distribution of the amounts in terms of overdue accounts receivable as of December 31, 2014. As 

a result of the conversion the amount of 1,627,519 thousand KZT from "neither past due nor impaired" 

category has been moved to the category of "past due but not impaired." Past due but not impaired 

receivables are mainly represented by the debt of postal organizations of foreign countries on operations of 

international unequal exchange, in which the Group has never suffered losses due to non-payment. At the 

date of preparation of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, to issue, the debtors on 

international unequal exchange paid 1,065,416 thousand KZT (2.2 mln. SDR). 

  

9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS, CONTINUED 

Change in provision for impairment for the year ended 31 December may be summarized as follows: 

thousand KZT 

Amounts to clarify 

and payable for 

damage, loss and 

theft 
Trade 

receivables 
Other 

receivables Advances paid Total 
As of January 1, 2014 843,504 49,307 6,827 7,003 906,641 

Charge for the year 91,295 8,831 7,289 - 107,415 
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Write-off during the year (12,218) - - - (12,218) 

As of December 31, 2014 922,581 58,138 14,116 7,003 1,001,838 

Charge for the year  517,935 21,824 2,053 387 542,199 

Recovery for the year (20,379) (15,187) (2,386) - (37,952) 

Write-off during the year (5,828) - - - (5,828) 

As of December 31, 2015 1,414,309 64,775 13,783 7,390 1,500,257 

The Group establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts and balances to determine. Significant judgment is 

used to estimate doubtful accounts. To assess the impairment of accounts receivable they account for 

recorded historical and projected financial performance of the client. Changes in the economy, industry or 

specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts recognized in 

the consolidated financial statements. 

10 INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE 

Investment securities available-for-sale, include the following: 

thousand KZT 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
Treasury bills of Ministry of Finance of the Republic of 

Kazakhstan 6,756,735 7,858,293 

Bonds of local financial institutions 3,578,594 3,635,123 

Corporate bonds 100,252 100,252 

  10,435,581 11,593,668 

Less: Provision for impairment of investment securities available-

for-sale (100,252) - 

Total 10,335,329 11,593,668 

Bonds of local financial institutions include the following: 

thousand KZT Credit rating 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 

Kazkommertsbank JSC 
Moody's: B3 / Negative / 

NP 1,743,092 1,080,963 

Eurasian Bank JSC Moody's: B3 / Negative 1,339,208 1,442,720 

Bank CenterCredit JSC Moody's: B2/stable/NP 496,294 774,842 

Kaspi Bank JSC  
Moody's: B1 / negative / 

NP - 336,598 

    3,578,594 3,635,123 

Interest rates and maturities of investment securities available for sale are as follows: 

thousand KZT December 31, 2015 December 31, 2015 

  % Maturity % Maturity  
Treasury bills of Ministry of Finance of the 

Republic of Kazakhstan 5%-8.75% 2016-2032 4.3%-8.75% 2015-2032 
 

Bonds of local financial institutions 4.9% - 6.77% 2016-2023 5.5%-11.0% 2015-2023  

Corporate bonds 13% 2028 13% 2028  

       

  

10 INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE, CONTINUED 

In 2015, the Group recognized an unrealized loss on investment securities available for sale, in the amount of 

419.068 thousand KZT (2014: loss in the amount of 392.955 thousand KZT.). In 2015, the Group recognized 

a realized gain on sale of investment securities available-for-sale, a total of 3,356 thousand KZT. (2014: 

2,062 thousand KZT.). 

Impairment of financial investments available-for-sale 
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At each reporting date, the Group carries out an impairment test on securities classified as investments 

available for sale. In particular, the Group's management uses judgment to estimate the amount and timing of 

future cash flows on an individual basis to determine the amount of the impairment loss. These calculations 

are based on an assumption about the number of factors and the actual results may be different, leading to 

changes in the provision in the future. 

As of December 31, 2015 the Group had corporate bonds of the issuer Kazakhstan Kagazy JSC, who have 

been found to be impaired during the year. These bonds were also recognized as impaired and were written 

off by the Group in 2013. In 2014, the Group has partially restored the bonds of Kazakhstan Kagazy JSC in 

the amount of 100.252 thousand KZT after repayment schedule is added, as amended, in accordance with the 

restructuring plan, the analysis of the issuer's financial position and cash in the amount of 7.974 thousand 

KZT, received as part of the restructuring plan by the issuer. During 2015, the issuer does not pay coupon 

payments made under the payment schedule, so that the Group has accrued 100% provisions on these bonds, 

in the amount of 100.252 thousand KZT. 

11 Deposits with banks 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, short-term bank deposits represent deposits in KZT placed in local banks 

and have remaining terms to maturity of 12 (twelve) months or less, at a rate of 12-14% per annum. 

thousand KZT Credit rating 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
  
ATF Bank JSC 

Moody's: Caa2 / negative / 

NP 
 

1,200,000 

 

500,000 

Eurasian Bank JSC Moody's: B3 / Negative / NP 
1,000,000 - 

Bank CenterCredit JSC Moody's: B2 / stable / NP 500,000 500,000 

SB Alfa-Bank JSC Fitch: B + / Stable / B 500,000 - 

Bank Astana JSC S & P: B / Stable / B 500,000 - 

AsiaCredit Bank JSC Fitch: B / Stable / NF 500,000 - 

Total   4,200,000 1,000,000 

12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

thousand KZT 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
Cash on hand 3,131,390 2,282,158 

Current accounts with domestic banks  
  - With a credit rating «B-» to «B +» 805,001 598,380 

- With a credit rating of BB- to BB + 34 - 

- With a credit rating of BBB - 16,354 

- Without assigned credit rating 6,646,721 5,503,002 

Contracts of "reverse repurchase agreements" for up to 90 days 100,000 2,555,549 

Total 10,683,146 10,955,443 

  

12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, CONTINUED 

In 2015 and 2014 the Group entered into "Reverse repurchase agreements" with counterparts on the 

Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (KASE). These agreements relate to treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of 

the Republic of Kazakhstan and the notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan, having a fair 

value of 107.085 thousand KZT as of December 31, 2015 (2014: 2,685,071 thousand KZT). 

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: 

thousand KZT 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
KZT  10,084,040 10,593,052 

EUR 264,751 22,018 
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USA dollar 260,742 323,486 

Russian ruble 51,344 12,778 

Other currencies 22,269 4,109 

Total 10,683,146 10,955,443 

  

13 EQUITY 

Equity capital 

Shareholders' equity includes the following: 

  2015 
Placement 

price, KZT 

2015 

thousand 

KZT 
 2014 

Placement 

price, 

KZT 

2014 

thousand 

KZT 
 

The number of authorized, issued 

and outstanding common shares as of 

January 1, 14,067,052 1,000 14,067,051 12,251,856 1,000 12,251,855 
Common shares authorized, issued 

and paid during the year 4,565,224 1,000 4,565,224 1,815,196 1,000 1,815,196 

Total 18,632,276 

 

18,632,275 14,067,052 

 

14,067,051 

  

  

In accordance with the decision of Kazpost JSC Shareholders' Meeting in July 2015 the Group approved the 

issuance of additional common shares in the amount of 4,565,224 shares for a total amount of 4,565,224 

thousand KZT (2014: 1,815,196 thousand KZT). In 2015 and 2014 the issued ordinary shares were fully paid 

by Samruk-Kazyna JSC's funds. 

Reserve capital 

Reserve capital includes funds transferred from retained earnings in 2003-2006 on the basis of a decision of 

the Shareholder. Funds for capital reserve account are not subject to distribution. 

Revaluation reserve for investment securities available-for-sale  

Revaluation reserve reflects changes in the fair value of investment securities available for sale (Note 10).  

Dividends 

In 2015, the Group declared and paid dividends in the amount of 21,759 thousand KZT, which amounted to 

1.17 KZT per share. (2014: None).  

Earnings per share 

The calculation of basic earnings per share was calculated based on the profit attributable to ordinary 

shareholders of the Parent Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the year. The company has no potential ordinary shares, having a dilutive effect. 

13 EQUITY, CONTINUED  

  2015 2014 
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Parent Company, in thousand 

KZT 2,595,924 146,006 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 16,023,577 12,872,593 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Parent Company, for the 

calculation of basic earnings per share, in KZT 162.01 11.34 

  

14 ACCOUNTS AND DEPOSITS OF CLIENTS  
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Accounts and deposits from customers include: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Customer current accounts 19,943,945 19,199,166 

Demand deposits 1,174,568 1,443,620 

Term deposits 33,059 118,067 

Total 21,151,572 20,760,853 

Less: time deposits with a maturity of over one year (17,148) (57,591) 

Deposit accounts with a maturity of up to one year 21,134,424 20,703,262 

Accounts and deposits from customers represent the following accounts: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 

Customer current accounts:     
Pensions and state benefits accounts 13,211,862 13,750,634 

Plastic cards 1,676,554 1,126,844 

Current accounts of individual entrepreneurs 1,555,216 1,271,361 

Current accounts of legal entities 1,311,742 1,234,909 

Payroll accounts 720,011 731,282 

Current accounts of budgetary organizations 666,007 582,935 

Current accounts of individuals 536,088 298,602 

Brokerage services accounts 163,413 101,814 

Other 103,052 100,785 

Total 19,943,945 19,199,166 

Demand deposits 1,174,568 1,443,620 

Term deposits: 
  Term deposits - up to one year 15,911 60,476 

Term deposits - more than one year 17,148 57,591 

Total 33,059 118,067 

During 2015 and 2014 the interest rate on term deposits have been established in a range from 0.8% to 5.3% 

per year. Deposits from customers were mainly denominated in KZT. The total amount of deposits 

denominated in foreign currencies as of 31 December 2015 amounted to 2,996 thousand KZT. 

  

15 LOANS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS  

Loans from financial institutions include the following: 

  

Eff. 

interest 

rate,% Maturity Currency Guarantee 
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Islamic Bank Al 

Hilal JSC 7.35-8.42 May 2018 KZT  Absent  1,839,441 2,850,733 

The Islamic 

Development Bank 6.00 June 2019 SDR 

Machinery and 

equipment (Note 4), 

the Ministry of 

Finance of RK 

guarantee and cash 

deposit 1,139,112 809,321 

Kazakhstan 

BankPozitiv JSC 9.23 January 2017 KZT  Absent  96,824 166,938 

Kazakhstan Xerox 

LLP 19.70 2016-2018  KZT  Equipment (Note 4) 35,124 41,459 

Deutsche Bank 8.99 October 2017 EUR Absent  3,478 6,938 

          3,113,979 3,875,389 

Less amount due within 12 months 
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The amounts to be repaid after 12 months 
 

 

       

  

Undrawn credit facilities  

As of December 31, 2015 the Group had unused lines of credit limits (as of December 31, 2014: no). 

16 Employee benefit obligations 

Reconciliation of the discounted liability for employee benefits for the years ended December 31 is presented 

below: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
The total amount of liabilities as of January 1 551,456 479,863 

Included in the profit or loss for the period: 
  Current services cost 40,031 26,757 

The cost of past service (124,161) 201,443 

Interest expense (Note 22) 43,675 38,377 

Included in other comprehensive income: 
  Actuarial (gain) loss arising from: 
  - Demographic assumptions 45,715 291,981 

- Financial assumptions (64,994) (131,463) 

- Adjustments based on experience 59,504 (296,348) 

  40,225 (135,830) 

Other: 
  Benefits paid during the year (30,278) (59,154) 

Total liabilities as of December 31, 520,948 551,456 

  
short-term 

 

108,805 49,940 

long-term 412,143 501,516 

Employee benefits 

The Group has a long-term commitment to employee benefits in accordance with IFRS (IAS) 19, "Employee 

Benefits", which is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves various 

assumptions, which may differ from the actual development of events in the future. The assumptions include 

determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to 

the complexity of the evaluation and its long-term nature, the obligation under the plan with defined benefit is 

highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 

16 Employee benefit obligations, CONTINUED 

The collective agreement of the Group, approved for 2014-2016 years, stated that employees receive a lump 

sum payment upon retirement of old age at a rate of one (1) average monthly salary if the employee has less 

than twenty (20) years of work experience in the Group, and in the amount of 2 times average monthly wage 

at the experience of working in the Group for over 20 years. Also, the Group has the following types of 

payments subject to the actuarial valuation: 

     a lump sum payment on retirement due to disability; 

     funeral benefit for unemployed pensioner; 

     funeral benefit for the employee; 

     payments for disability resulting from an accident at work. 

These benefits are unfunded. 

The key assumptions used to determine the liabilities of the Group are listed below: 
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  2015 2014 
Discount rate 8.00% 7.92% 

The increase in wages in the future 7.00% 8.0% 

The growth of the monthly calculation index (MCI) 6.40% 4.0% 

The average inflation rate 6.00% 7.0% 

In 2015 and 2014 the Group used the average long-term rate of inflation to adjust the fair value of future cash 

flows and current discounted to net present value of cash flows at the risk-free interest rate of government 

bonds with a similar maturity. 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and demographic deaths tables of 

the Republic of Kazakhstan in 2014.  

Sensitivity Analysis 

Below is how the amount of obligations can affect the defined benefit with the reasonably possible change in 

one of the most significant actuarial assumptions at the reporting date, if other actuarial assumptions remain 

unchanged. 

December 31, 2015 Commitment to a defined benefit plan 

thousand KZT Increase/ decrease 

The discount rate (1% change) (44,281) 53,658 

Future wage growth (1% change) 53,137 (44,802) 

The rate of staff turnover (1% change) (9,898) 10,419 

Life expectancy (change to 1 year) (7,293) 6,772 

   

Despite the fact that this analysis does not take into account the full distribution of the expected cash flows 

under the plan, it provides a rough idea of the sensitivity of these assumptions. 

  

  

  

  

  

17 TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other receivables, and other current liabilities include the following: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Trade payables  1,445,549 557,419 

Payables for fixed assets 2,395,134 850,793 

Payables to employees 1,580,725 1,231,173 

Advances received  719,686 671,761 

Arrears of payments received from customers  550,579 218,402 

Accounts payable for taxes other than income tax  377,368 362,900 

Other liabilities 440,310 428,968 

Total 7,509,351 4,321,416 

  
  long-term 982,821 - 

short-term 6,526,530 4,321,416 

  7,509,351 4,321,416 

  

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30-180 days.  
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Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 

thousand KZT 
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
KZT   4,454,905   2,017,417  

SDR  376,667   38,165  

Total  4,831,572   2,055,582  

As of December 31, 2015, payable on fixed assets includes debt that arose in 2015 to a related party 

Kazakhstan Electricity Gird Operating Company JSC(« KEGOC ») for the acquisition of a building with 

adjacent land plot in the amount of 1,081,070 thousand KZT, which is part of the long-term debt in the 

amount of 982.821 thousand KZT and current portion in the amount of 98.249 thousand KZT. The cost of the 

contract is equal to 2,161,476 thousand KZT, including VAT, payment is made in equal monthly installments 

with a grace period until 2027. On initial recognition, the Group recognized long-term liabilities at amortized 

cost in the consolidated statement of financial position, calculated at the market rate of interest of 14% per 

annum. 

18 Deferred income/DEBT BEFORE subscribers and Publishers on the subscription received 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Deferred revenue on subscription 963,699 1,077,834 

individuals 405,794 434,160 

entities 1,369,493 1,511,994 

  38,892 61,544 

Deferred revenue for the delivery of postal items  1,408,385 1,573,538 

  
  Payables to subscribers and publishers on subscription received: 2,609,450 2,652,937 

Prepayment from individuals 1,998,376 2,146,091 

Prepayment of legal entities 3,878 98,981 

Amounts owed to publishers 4,611,704 4,898,009 

  963,699 1,077,834 

  

Incomes 

Revenues include the following: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Postal items delivery services;     

-           Within the country 10,854,867 10,181,612 

-           international 1,044,294 931,542 

-           The international unequal exchange 3,084,272 2,433,547 

  14,983,433 13,546,701 
The Commission for the transfer of pensions, salaries and other payments 7,123,489 6,169,045 
The Commission for the handling of municipal and other payments 4,883,282 4,226,772 
Fee for delivery of periodicals  2,005,922 2,113,233 
Agency fees for the services of transfer and recovery of loans  1,359,272 1,326,279 
Maintenance of customer accounts  1,186,285 726,283 
Remittances fee 817,465 755,330 
Transportation of cash 793,452 709,598 
Rental of premises  458,914 448,226 
Sale of postal products  211,817 234,920 
Brokerage  65,611 67,264 
Consumer goods selling  7,718 18,936 

Other income 85,727 22,952 

Total 33,982,387 30,365,539 
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International unequal exchange transactions 

The international unequal exchange is a service rendered to other countries for the delivery of postal items. 

Incoming mail is the income of the Group, as it includes services for mail delivery in Kazakhstan. Outgoing 

mail items are the costs of the Group. 

Sales prime cost 

Cost of sales includes the following: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Staff costs 18,500,191 16,824,308 

Transportation services 2,168,965 2,163,044 

Resources 2,013,220 1,904,412 

Depreciation 1,932,615 1,714,954 

Maintenance and repair of fixed assets  935,667 966,721 

Security costs  794,013 760,525 

Communication services 791,256 529,365 

Utilities 601,238 615,848 

IT Services 427,019 298,507 

Rent  387,604 295,006 

travel expenses  270,125 196,447 

Insurance 45,028 44,012 

Loss on impairment of fixed assets (Note 4) 34,530 1,467 

Other  507,529 445,564 

Total 29,409,000 26,760,180 

Rental expenses represent the expenses incurred by the Group in the preparation of commercial premises 

under an operating lease for its normal operations. In all such cases, all the risks and rewards associated with 

the leased assets are retained by the lessor for the duration of such operating leases. 

  

  

  

21 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

General and administrative expenses include the following: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Staff costs 3,369,442 3,211,123 

Taxes other than income tax  1,041,354 878,906 

professional services 717,120 58,283 

Depreciation 283,520 214,598 

Rental expenses 209,633 246,472 

Travel expenses 134,144 135,837 

Communication services  65,537 71,564 

Banking services 59,515 47,665 

Representation expenses and charitable donations  47,651 88,996 

Repair and maintenance of office 45,161 24,354 

Utilities 24,792 16,579 

Accrued provision for obsolete inventories 1,337 7,641 

Other  197,105 167,862 

Total 6,196,311 5,169,880 
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The structure of professional services include costs incurred by the Group under the "Business 

Transformation" program, which aims to improve the efficiency of the Group's performance. 

22 FINANCIAL INCOME / FINANCE COSTS 

Financial income and financial expenses include the following: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Financial income     
Interest income on "reverse repo" agreements 1,022,327 675,656 
Interest income on investment securities available-for-sale 810,064 834,837 
Interest income on bank deposits 206,007 63,136 
Interest income on loans to employees (Note 7) 46,338 89,794 

Total  2,084,736 1,663,423 

  
  Financial expenses 
  Interest expense on loans of financial institutions (219,753) (271,590) 

Amortization of deferred interest on loans to employees (Note 7) (79,564) (42,960) 
Interest expense on employee benefit obligations (Note 16) (43,675) (38,377) 
Depreciation of other payables for fixed asset purchases (35,073) - 
Interest expense on finance leases (7,061) (13,619) 
Interest expense on customer accounts and deposits (4,319) (12,996) 
Interest expense on "repo" agreements (3,441) (1,561) 

Total  (392,886) (381,103) 

23 NET OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME 

Other net non-operating expenses include the following: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Income from penalty fees on commercial contracts 120,676 40,293 

Net gain on disposal of fixed assets 84,610 10,994 

Reduction of over-accruals of previous years, including interest expense on 

customer deposits 
 

57,010 

 

132,308 

Income from cancellation of obligations at the expiration of the limitation period 48,106 63,236 

Other non-operating income  59,083 53,914 

Other non-operating income 369,485 300,745 

  
Loss on impairment of intangible assets and value-added tax  

 

(272,603) 

 

- 

Other non-operating expenses (272,603) - 

Net other non-operating income 96,882 300,745 

  

24 Income tax expense 

Savings on corporate income tax for the year ended December 31, includes the following: 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Current income tax costs 483,688 - 

Deferred income tax 163,075 148,067 

Total expenditure on income tax 646,763 148,067 

Reconciliation of income tax expense in relation to profit before income tax expense calculated using the 

statutory rate of 20%, with income tax expense for 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 

  
2015  

thousand KZT 
2014  

thousand KZT 
Profit before tax 3,242,687 293,126 

Income tax expense calculated at the statutory tax rate of 20%  648,537 58,625 
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  Other non-deductible expenses  145,662 62,180 

Disposal of fixed assets - 1,870 

Change in unrecognized deferred assets  - 25,392 

Tax-exempt interest income on investment securities available-for-sale (147,436) - 

Expense on income tax 646,763 148,067 

24 Income tax expense, CONTINUED 

The assets and deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, include: 

  

Consolidated statement  
of financial position 

Consolidated statement  
profit and loss and other comprehensive 

income 

  Profit or loss 

Other 

comprehensive 

income 

thousand KZT 
December 31, 

2015. 
December 31, 

2014. 2015 2014 
  

2015 
Deferred tax assets           
Award for customer deposits and loans 

of financial institutions 
     

Provisions against trade and other 

receivables 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

(24,023) - 

Charges 
 

15,945 

 

11,933 

 

4,012 

 

1,766 - 

Provision for inventories 383,994 251,768 132,226 65,424 - 

Employee benefits 
 

1,596 

 

1,528 

 

68 

 

(813) - 

  103,873 

 

110,292 

 

(14,464) 

 

41,594 8,045 

Deferred tax liabilities 505,408 375,521 121,842 83,948 8,045 

Plant and equipment and intangible 

assets 
     

  
 

(1,529,987) 

 

(1,245,070) (284,917) (232,015) - 

Deferred income tax (1,529,987) (1,245,070) (284,917) (232,015) - 

Net deferred tax liability 
  

(163,075) (148,067) 8,045 

      

Reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities, net 

  
2015 

thousand KZT 
2014 

thousand KZT 
Balance as of January 1 (869,549) (694,316) 

Deferred income tax expense for the period recognized in profit or loss 
 

(163,075) (148,067) 

Expense/(benefit) for deferred income tax for the reporting period recognized in 

other comprehensive income 8,045 (27,166) 

Balance as of December 31 (1,024,579) (869,549) 

The Group offsets the tax assets and tax liabilities only in cases when it has a legally enforceable right to set 

off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes 

levied by the same taxation authority. 

  

25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND OPERATING RISKS 

Current taxes 
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Kazakhstan's tax legislation and regulations are subject to ongoing changes and varying interpretations. There 

are cases of inconsistent opinions between local, regional and national tax authorities. Currently applied 

regime of penalties related to reported and discovered violations of Kazakhstan's tax laws are severe. 

Penalties include fines, as a rule, 50% of the taxes additionally assessed and interest is assessed at the 

refinancing rate established by the National Bank of Kazakhstan multiplied by 2.5. Fiscal periods remain 

open to review by tax authorities for five (5) calendar years preceding the year of review.  

Under certain circumstances tax reviews may cover longer periods. Because of the uncertainties associated 

with Kazakhstan's tax system, the ultimate amount of taxes, penalties and interest, if any, may exceed the 

amount expensed to date and accrued at December 31, 2015. 

In assessing tax risks, management considers potential areas of tax violation, the Group could not appeal or 

does not believe that it could successfully appeal, if the additional taxes will be assessed by the tax 

authorities. This determination requires significant judgment and subject to change as a result of changes in 

tax legislation and normative-legal acts, the definition of expected outcomes from pending tax proceedings 

and outcome of ongoing audits by tax authorities for compliance. Management believes that it has accrued 

the required amount and created all the necessary provisions with regard to taxation as of December 31, 2015.  

Litigation 

In the course of its normal activity in the market the Group is faced with different kinds of legal claims. 

Management believes that the ultimate liability arising from legal proceedings (if any), will not have a 

material adverse effect on the financial position or future operations.  

Contractual obligations 

As of December 31, 2015 the Group had contractual commitments for the acquisition of fixed assets and 

intangible assets in the amount of 3,825,005 thousand KZT (as of December 31, 2014 as follows: in the 

amount of 157.976 thousand KZT). As of 31 December 2015 the Group had no commitments for the 

acquisition of inventories (materials and spare parts) and other services (December 31, 2014: absent). 

  

  

25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND OPERATING RISKS, 

CONTINUED 

Insurance 

The insurance industry in the Republic of Kazakhstan is in a developing state and many forms of insurance 

protection common in other countries are not yet available in Kazakhstan. The Group does not have full 

coverage for its plant facilities, business interruption, or any third party liability in respect of damage caused 

to the property or the environment as a result of accidents or operations of the Group. Until the Group obtains 

adequate insurance coverage, there is a risk that the loss or destruction of certain assets could have a material 

adverse effect on operations and the financial position of the Group. 

Operating lease commitments - Group as a lessee 

The Group is the lessee in a number of commercial real estate lease agreements, as well as vehicles and 

computer equipment for its normal operations. 

In all such cases, all the risks and benefits associated with the leased assets are retained by the supplier for the 

period of such operating leases in cases where the Group acts as a lessee. Validity for lease agreements is not 

more than twelve (12) months from the reporting date, and the Group has no non-cancellable contracts. 

Operating lease commitments - Group as a lessor 

The Group is the lessor in a number of agreements on the lease of commercial real estate, which in most 

cases is a surplus of office and production areas of the Group. The Group has no non-cancellable leases. 
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, OBJECTIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY  

Group activities are subject to risks. The Group performs risk management during ongoing process of 

measurement and monitoring, as well as subject to risk limits and other controls. The risk management 

process is critical to the Group's continuing profitability and each employee is responsible for the risks 

associated with his or her duties.  

The Group is exposed to financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk. 

The Group is also exposed to operational risks. 

Risk management structure 

The structure of risk management in the Group is listed on several levels with the involvement of the 

following organs and divisions of the Group: The Board of Directors, Management Board, Risk Management 

Service, Internal Audit Service, other structural subdivisions. 

The Board of Directors.  

The Board of Directors plays a key role in overseeing the system of corporate risk management. The Board of 

Directors sets the objectives for the Group's activity, as well as approves documents in the field of risk 

management, establishes the possibility of taking the risk and acceptable risk parameters. 

Management Board  

The Management Board is responsible for the organization of an effective risk management system and the 

establishment of the risk control framework to ensure compliance with corporate policy requirements. 
 

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, OBJECTIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, 

CONTINUED 

The structure of risk management, continued 

Risk Management Service 

Risk Management Service is responsible for monitoring over compliance with the principles of risk 

management policies and risk limits of the Group. Risk Management Service is also responsible for the 

independent control of risks, including control over the size of the risk of exposures against limits and the 

assessment of risks of new products and structured transactions. This service also provides a complete 

information system in the risk assessment and risk reporting. 

Internal Audit Service 

The function of the Internal Audit Service of the Group during risk management process is an audit of the 

risk management procedures and methodologies for risk assessment and development of proposals to 

improve the effectiveness of risk management procedures. Internal Audit discusses the results of all 

assessments with management, and reports its findings and recommendations to the Internal Audit 

Committee. 

Structural units 

One of the important elements in the structure of the risk management system is structural divisions of the 

Group. Subdivisions are responsible for the implementation of the action plan for risk management, early 

detection and communication of significant risks in their activities. Their duties also include making 

proposals for risk management for inclusion in the action plan. 

Credit risk 
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Credit risk - the risk of non-performance or improper performance by the counterparty of its obligations on 

time and in full. 

Credit risk can arise due to the deteriorating financial condition of counterparties and issuers, falling of 

goodwill of the counterparty and issuer. 

Credit risk management methods of the Group are as follows: creation of reserves for possible losses, 

compliance with established limits for transactions with customers, in-depth credit analysis, reduction of the 

risk of defaulting counterparties to minimum. Also, when placing funds the Group provides for the conditions 

- the triggers, the implementation of which gives the full right to the Group for direct debiting of the deposit 

amount to the relevant counterparty's correspondent accounts. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of default by other parties of their obligations under 

financial instruments is equal to the carrying value of financial assets as presented in the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements and the disclosed financial commitments, if any, at the end of the year. 

The risks associated with credit-related commitments 

The carrying value of items in the consolidated statement of financial position excluding the effect of 

mitigation through the use of collateral agreements, most accurately reflects the maximum exposure under 

these items. 

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the carrying value represents the current credit risk 

exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 

Credit quality per class of financial assets 

The Group manages the credit quality of financial assets using internal credit ratings. The table below shows 

the credit quality by class of assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, based on the Group's 

credit rating system. 
 

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, OBJECTIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, 

CONTINUED 

Credit risk, continued 
    Neither past due nor impaired 

Overdue or 

individually 

impaired  
2015 

Total 
2015 thousand KZT Note 

High 
rating 
2015 

Standard 

rating 
2015 

Below 

standard 

rating 
2015 

Loans to employees 7 - 567,971 - - 567,971 

Cash deposit, limited in use 

(other long-term assets) 
 

- - 235,931 - 235,931 

Trade and other receivables 9 - 2,486,216 - 5,945,617 8,431,833 

Investment securities available-

for-sale 10 - 10,335,329 - - 10,335,329 

Deposits in banks 11 - 4,200,000 - - 4,200,000 

Cash and cash equivalents 

(excluding cash on hand) 12 - 7,551,756 - - 7,551,756 

Total 
 

- 25,141,272 235,931 5,945,617 31,322,820 

        

  

  

    Neither past due nor impaired 
Overdue or 

individually 

impaired  
2014 

Total 
2014 thousand KZT Note 

High rating 
2014 

Standard 

rating 
2014 

Below 

standard 

rating 
2014 
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Loans to employees 7 - 770,730 - - 770,730 

Cash deposit, limited in use 

(other long-term assets) 
 

- - 126,758 - 126,758 

Trade and other receivables 9 - 1,870,670 - 1,698,325 3,568,995 

Investment securities 

available-for-sale 10 - 11,593,668 - - 11,593,668 

Deposits in banks 11 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 

Cash and cash equivalents 

(excluding cash on hand) 12 - 8,673,285 - - 8,673,285 

Total 
 

- 23,908,353 126,758 1,698,325 25,733,436 

        

According to the policy the Group has to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the receivables 

portfolio. This facilitates the management to focused on the applicable risks and perform the comparison of 

credit exposures across all lines of business, geographic regions and products. The rating system is supported 

by a variety of financial analytics, combined with processed market information to provide the main inputs 

for the measurement of counterparty risk. All internal risk ratings are determined taking into account various 

categories and rating assignment policy of the Group. The attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated 

regularly.  
  

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, OBJECTIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, 

CONTINUED 

Credit risk, continued 

The maximum exposure to credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables at the reporting date by 

geographic region was as follows: 

    Book value 

thousand KZT   2015 2014 

Within the country   1,426,441 1,415,626 

Chinese People's Republic   3,956,420 705,611 

Germany   551,423 449,049 

USA   519,497 234,254 

Russian Federation   279,353 317,604 

Other countries   1,698,699 446,851 

    8,431,833 3,568,995 

    
  

Liquidity risk and funding sources management  

Liquidity risk - the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due 

under normal and stress conditions. In order to limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding 

sources in addition to the existing minimum amount of customer deposits. Management performs also the 

management of assets taking into account the liquidity and daily monitors future cash flows and liquidity. 

This process includes an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high grade collateral 

which could be used to secure additional funding if required. The Group plans to further increase the volume 

and cost of services provided.  

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining term to maturity  

The table below shows the Group's financial liabilities as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 in the context of 

time left to maturity based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Obligations that are repayable 

on demand are treated as if the requirement for repayment was made at the earliest possible date. However, 

the Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be 
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required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group on the basis of 

the information about deposit retention history. 
  

thousand KZT 
Financial liabilities  
As of December 31, 2015 On demand 

Less than 

3 months 
From 3 to 

12 months 
From 1 to 

5 years 

More than 

5 years  
 Total 

Trade and other payables  4,831,572 - 114,624 982,489 1,064,363 6,993,048 

Amounts owed to publishers on the 

received subscription - 1,837,958 2,773,746 - - 4,611,704 

Arrears on the received remittances 1,193,434 - - - - 1,193,434 

Arrears on the received transfers of 

pensions, salaries and other payments 65,879 - - - - 65,879 

Customer accounts and deposits  21,114,706 7,903 11,815 17,148 - 21,151,572 

Loans to financial institutions - 284,143 1,199,081 2,356,855 - 3,840,079 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 27,205,591 2,130,004 4,099,266 3,356,492 1,064,363 37,855,716 

  

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, OBJECTIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, 

CONTINUED 

Liquidity risk and funding management, continued  

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining term to maturity, continued  

thousand KZT 
Financial liabilities  
As of December 31, 2014 On demand 

Less than 

3 months 
From 3 to 

12 months 
From 1 to 

5 years 

More than 

5 years  
5 years Total 

Trade and other payables  2,055,582 - - - - 2,055,582 

Amounts owed to publishers on the received 

subscription - 1,654,436 3,243,573 - - 4,898,009 

Arrears on the received remittances 1,037,610 - - - - 1,037,610 

Arrears on the received transfers of 

pensions, salaries and other payments 127,965 - - - - 127,965 

Customer accounts and deposits  20,642,784 14,727 62,873 40,469 - 20,760,853 

Loans to financial institutions - 20,346 1,389,406 3,224,575 - 4,634,327 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 23,863,941 1,689,509 4,695,852 3,265,044 - 33,514,346 

  

Analysis of differences in maturities does not reflect the historical stability of current accounts, the 

liquidation of which has historically taken place over a longer period than indicated in the table above. 

Market risk  

Market risk - the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to 

changes in market variables such as interest rates, exchange rates and equity prices. The Group classifies its 

market risk in the risk category by non-trading portfolio. Non-trading positions are managed and monitored 

using sensitivity analyzes. The Group has no significant concentration of market risk. 

Market risk - non-trading portfolio 

Interest risk  

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or fair 

values of financial instruments.  

Fair value sensitivity analysis 
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risk management of interest rates based on the analysis of interest rate repricing is supplemented by 

monitoring over the sensitivity of financial assets and liabilities. Net profit or loss and equity sensitivity 

analysis (net of taxes) to changes in interest rates (repricing risk), based on a simplified scenario of a parallel 

income curves shift by 100 bp towards increase or decrease in interest rates and positions of interest-bearing 

assets and liabilities existing as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, can be represented as follows. 

  
2015  

thousand KZT   
2014  

thousand KZT 
Parallel shift by 100 basis points towards decrease of rates 26,998 

 

29,190 

Parallel shift by 100 basis points towards increase of rates (26,998) 

 

(29,190) 

  
  
  

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, OBJECTIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, 

CONTINUED 

Market risk - non-trading portfolio, continued 

Fair value sensitivity analysis, continued 

Profit or loss sensitivity analysis for the year ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and equity to 

changes in the fair value of investment securities available for sale with changes recognized in equity during 

the period, due to interest rate changes (created on the basis of positions existing as of December 31, 2015 

and December 31, 2014 and a simplified scenario of a parallel shift of the income curve by 100 bp towards 

increase or decrease in interest rates) can be represented as follows: 

thousand KZT 2015 2014 
  

Profit or loss Equity  Profit or loss Equity  
The parallel shift by 100 basis points towards 

increase of rates - (445,773) - (450,108) 

The parallel shift by 100 basis points towards 

decrease of rates - 483,267 - 491,509 

     
  
  

CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK 

Currency risk - the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates. The Management Board has set limits on positions by currency based on the regulations of 

the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Positions are monitored on a daily basis. 

The following table shows the currency in which the Group had significant exposure as of December 31, 

2015 and 2014 for non-trading monetary assets and liabilities and the forecasted cash flows. The analysis 

calculates the effect of a possible change in foreign exchange rates relative to KZT, with all other variables 

held constant (as a result of non-trading monetary assets and liabilities the fair value of which is sensitive to 

changes in the exchange rate). The effect on equity does not differ from the effect on the consolidated income 

statement. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in profit or loss, or equity, while a 

positive amount reflects a net potential increase. 

Currency 

Increase/ 
decrease in the 

exchange rate 
2015 

Effect on profit 

before tax 
2015 

thousand KZT 

Increase/ 
decrease in the 

exchange rate 
2014 

Effect on profit 

before tax 
2014 

thousand KZT 
U.S. dollars 30.00% 499,784 30.00% 332,800 

EUR 30.00% 67,061 30.00% 7,964 

Russian rubles  20.00% 36,293 20.00% 9,686 

SDR 30.00% 1,228,346 30.00% 68,090 
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    U.S. dollars 10.00% 166,595 10.00% 110,933 

EUR 10.00% 22,354 10.00% 2,655 

Russian rubles  (20.00%) (36,293) (20.00%) (9,686) 

SDR 10.00% 409,449 10.00% 22,697 

  
  

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, OBJECTIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY, 

CONTINUED 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss arising due to a failure in internal processes and systems, human 

error, fraud, human factors, or due to external factors. When controls fail to perform, operational risks can 

cause damage to reputation, have legal implications or lead to financial losses (Notes 7,9). The Group can not 

make an assumption that all operational risks were eliminated, but through a control framework and by 

monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group can manage the risks. Controls include effective 

segregation of duties, access, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff training and assessment 

processes, including internal audit. 

  

27 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Group uses the following hierarchy of assessment methods for determining and disclosing the fair value 

of financial instruments: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 

directly or indirectly based on observable market; 

Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 

based on observable market data. 

Financial instruments carried at fair value 

Investment securities available for sale, the value of which is determined using a valuation technique, are 

primarily represented by unquoted equity and debt securities. These securities are valued using models which 

sometimes incorporate only the data observable in the market, while others - the data both observable and 

unobservable. Thesource data not observable in the market, include assumptions regarding the future 

financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and 

geographical jurisdiction in which the investee operates. 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 the fair value of securities available for sale refers to Level 2. 

Changes in categories of fair value of financial instruments 

During 2015 and 2014, the Group did not make transfers of financial instruments between levels. 

Financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value in the statement of financial position 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not accounted at fair value in the consolidated statement of 

financial position approximates their carrying value as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.  

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial 

instruments which are not reflected in these consolidated financial statements at fair value. 

 

27 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, CONTINUED 
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Assets the fair value of which approximates their carrying value 

In the case of financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short maturity term (less than 

three months) it is assumed that fair value approximates the carrying value. This assumption is also applied to 

the deposits and accounts without a specific maturity and financial instruments with a floating rate. 

Financial instruments with fixed and floating rate 

In the case of quoted debt instruments the fair value is based on quoted market prices. In the case of unquoted 

debt instruments the model of discounted future cash flows at the current interest rate is used for the 

remaining term to maturity for debt with similar terms and credit risk. 

The fair value of financial instruments  

In cases where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities was recognized in the consolidated 

statement of financial position, can not be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation 

techniques, including discounted cash flow model. The initial data for these models as possible are taken 

from observable markets, but in cases where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required to establish 

fair value. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. 

Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments 

recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  

  

28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY 

The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business.  

The main objective of capital management for the Group is to ensure the Group's compliance with external 

capital requirements needed to support its business and maximize shareholder value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the activities performed. Compared to previous years, in the 

objectives, policies and processes for capital management no changes have occurred. 

The National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan requires from the national mail operator to maintain capital 

adequacy ratio of not less than 12% of total assets. 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 the capital adequacy ratio of the Group meet the requirements specified 

above. 

  2015 2014 
Shareholders' equity calculated in accordance with the rules of the NBK, thousand 

KZT 
 

19,544,828 12,654,503 

Total assets in thousand KZT 60,765,393 51,198,044 

The coefficient of capital adequacy,% 32% 25% 

  

29               TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

In accordance with IFRS (IAS) 24 "Disclosures about related parties" the related parties are the parties one of 

which has the ability to control or exercise significant influence over operating and financial decisions of the 

other. In deciding whether the parties are related the substance of the relationship is taken into account and 

not merely the legal form.  

  

29               TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES, CONTINUED 

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 



184 

 

Mail delivery and financial services to related parties are made on terms agreed between the parties. Sale of 

goods, including envelopes, postcards, etc and the purchase from related parties for the year ended December 

31, 2015, were carried out at market conditions. 

Outstanding balances at the year end are not secured, they are interest free and settlement occurs in cash. 

Evaluation of receivables for impairment is made each reporting year through examining the financial 

position of the related party and the market in which it operates. For the year ended December 31, 2015, as 

well as for the year ended December 31, 2014, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables 

from related parties. 

The relationships with the related parties that the Group entered into significant transactions with or had 

significant balances outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are detailed below.  

The balance of transactions with companies under common control or significant influence of Samruk-

Kazyna JSC 

thousand KZT 2015 2014 
Trade and other receivables as of January 1  91,096 92,625 

Arising during the year  1,596,904 1,827,403 

Paid during the year  (1,607,483) (1,828,932) 

Trade and other receivables as of December 31 80,517 91,096 

  
Trade and other payables as of January 1 256,306 358,309 

Accumulated for the year 3,927,657 3,032,502 

Paid during the year (2,896,462) (3,134,505) 

Trade and other payables as of December 31 1,287,501 256,306 

  
  Customer Deposits as of January 1 - 100,000 

Paid - (100,000) 

Customer deposits as of December 31 - - 

  
  Customer current accounts 65,682 75,693 

Transactions with companies under common control or significant influence of Samruk-Kazyna JSC 

thousand KZT 2015 2014 
Sales to related parties - postal services 1,125,023 1,504,535 

Shopping 672,260 770,673 

Procurement of service 1,896,558 1,808,154 

Acquisition of fixed assets 982,821 - 

Amortization of deferred payment for other payables for acquisition of fixed assets 35,073 - 

The balance of transactions with other state-owned companies 

thousand KZT 2015 2014 
Cash and cash equivalents  6,463,352 7,728,063 

Investment securities available-for-sale 6,756,735 7,858,293 

Transactions with other state-owned companies 

thousand KZT 2015 2014 
Interest income on investment securities available-for-sale  431,734 407,418 

Interest income on "reverse repo" agreements  
 

1,022,327 675,656 

Interest expense on "repo" agreements 
 

3,441 1,561 

  

  

29               TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES, CONTINUED 
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Remuneration of key management personnel 

Key management personnel comprises 10 persons as of December 31, 2015 (2014: 10 persons). Total short-

term and long-term remuneration of key management personnel amounted to 140.241 thousand KZT for the 

year ended December 31, 2015 (in 2014: 107.092 thousand KZT).  

Control relationships  

The Parent company of the Group is Sovereign Wealth Fund Samruk-Kazyna JSC ( Shareholder). The 

ultimate controlling party of the Group is the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The parent 

company of the Group prepares its financial statements available to external users. 

During 2015 the Group provided postal and other services to shareholders in the total amount of 34.520 

thousand KZT, and recognized a receivable as of December 31, 2015 in the amount of 1,179 thousand KZT 

(2014: 14,194 thousand KZT and 1,192 thousand KZT, respectively) which were included in the amount of 

transactions and balances for transactions with "entities under common control" in the table above. During 

2015, the Group paid dividends to shareholders, the details of which are given in Note 

 


